

Proteomic Analysis and Molecular Characterization of Anisakis pegreffii Allergenic and Immunogenic Proteins

A Thesis submitted in fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Ibukun Eniola AIBINU

B.Sc. (Hons.) Microbiology (University of Ibadan, Nigeria).M.Sc.Medical Microbiology (University of Lagos, Nigeria).M.Sc. Biotechnology (RMIT University, Melbourne, Australia).

School of Science,

College of Science, Engineering and Health

RMIT University

MARCH 2018

DECLARATION

I certify that except where due acknowledgement has been made, the work is that of the author alone; the work has not been submitted previously, in whole or in part, to qualify for any other academic award; the content of the thesis is the result of work which has been carried out since the official commencement date of the approved research program; and, any editorial work, paid or unpaid, carried out by a third party is acknowledged. I acknowledge the support I have received for my research through the provision of an Australian Government Research Training Program Scholarship.

07/03/2018

Ibukun E. Aibinu

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

First, I would like to thank the person who gave me the opportunity to embark on the journey to obtain this doctoral degree, my primary supervisor Professor Peter Smooker, your support has enhanced me and allowed me to to meet great people who have impacted my life positively. Through this enriching support I received from you, I have been able to fulfil this much desired dream. You are linked to almost everyone I am thanking on these pages and every 'Thanks' reverberates back to you. Peter, I am truly grateful.

One of the great people I came across in my doctoral journey in Australia is Professor Andreas Lopata, my second supervisor. How do I thank you Andreas? You do not just supervise, you inspire, you motivate and you go all the way to birth excellence in those you are committed to oversee. I have seen you with other students you supervise at JCU, they radiate what you give to them, care, attention, love and confidence; and that is what I have also enjoyed. I am eternally grateful that my path crossed yours. I have learnt a lot from you and your attention to details has enhanced me greatly. Thank you Andreas!

Through both of you, Peter and Andreas, I have also been given the privilege to work with Professor Robin Gasser at the University of Melbourne. Robin, your intellectual acuity, integrity, foresight, dedication and insight is unparalleled. I came across you and I just wanted to do research and publish good papers like you do. Thank you for your time to teach and attend to me during the period of my research that I was in your laboratory. Thank you for setting my proteomic experiment straight from the very beginning. Thank you for the opportunity to be at your laboratory to pick from your brain. You inspire me. I use this opportunity to thank Dr. Anson Koehler at Gasser's Laboratory, The University of Melbourne, for putting me through my first molecular identification of *Anisakis pegreffii*.

I would also like to thank Dr. Abdoslam Asnoussi for kick starting my PhD research experiments with me. Abdol, you went with me to the fish market to show me what Tiger Flathead fish look like, where to buy the fish, how to dissect fish and how to recognize L3 larvae of *Anisakis* from the heaps of other parasite worms harboured by the fish. Abdol, I appreciate the time, the energy and the guidance you gave to see me established in my research. Thank you.

I cannot but mention the immense assistance, support and guidance I got from Dr. Anna Walduck of the Biotechnology Laboratory, RMIT University. Thank you for providing me with resources, books, and materials to enrich my work. I appreciate your assistance with immunohistochemistry. Thank you for your willingness and availability to support me anytime I came to you for help. I am grateful, Anna.

Dr. Bronwyn Campbell, in the short time I have known you, I have come to see the "Gem" that you are. Thank you for offering to read through my thesis. Thank you for your valuable comments which set so many things right in my thinking process as I wrote up the result of my work. I appreciate you for also being a friend. Thank you indeed.

To Dr. Lisa, Oh Lisa, to you all students come crying and your smile, always ever big to stop all the tears as we approach you. Your comforting laughter, your lovely shoulders to lean and cry on have indeed provide succour and strength to pick things up again from where we left them before coming to you crying. Lisa, I am grateful for your support, your counsel, your advice, your guidance during this doctoral degree research journey. Oh, I can't thank you enough.

How would my journey have been as a research student at RMIT without Danka Jovetic and Kim Stevenson? I cannot imagine it! Both of you rock! You are the best. Where do I start the recounting? Is it from the provision of amazing protocols when all other protocols have failed or provision of materials that no one else has but can only be found with either of you? Or Is it the reassurance you give with your words of encouragement and smile when everything is falling apart and there seems to be no hope? Thinking about having you around with me on this amazing journey to obtain a doctoral degree, brings tears to my eyes. All I can say is "Thank you" for everything.

I was very fortunate to interact with many great researchers and teachers during my PhD candidature at RMIT University, Melbourne. I would like to thank Professor Mark Osborn, Professor Trevor Stevenson, Professor Ian Macreadie, Professor Aidyn Mouradov and of course my able supervisor, Professor Peter Smooker for the teaching/demonstrating opportunities given to me.

To all the memebers of Molecular Allergy Research laboratory at James Cook University, I am immensely grateful for your care and attention in looking after me and embracing me as one of yours while I was down there. Roni Nugraha, I am grateful to you for being my teacher and for your time. Thimo Reuters, Nick, Dr. Sandip, Dr. Aya, Dr. Elecia, Thu and every one. I appreciate you all. Thanks heaps!

I would also like to thank all the members of Biotechnology laboratory, RMIT University, Bundoora for the skills and co-operation we shared, the encouragement and support given. Thank you Associate Prof Paul Ramsland, Dr. Istivan Taghrid, Dr. Thi Thu Hao, Dr. Luke Norbury, Dr. Aya Taki, Dr. Natalie Kikidopoulos, Dr. Thomas McLean, Dr. Alekhya Penumarthi, Huan Yong, Ivana, Sophie, Jasmine, Caroline, Moshina, Simon and Lachlan.

My sincere gratitude goes to the team at Bio21 where all my protemic work was done. I thank Nicholas Williamson, Shuai Nie and Ching-Seng Ang for the support, expertise and knowledge offered to me while I worked at Bio21 at The Melbourne University, on my samples. I appreciate you all.

I also acknowledge RMIT microscopy and microanalysis facility staff, especially Dr. Chaitali for her technical assistance. I am grateful to all the administrative and technical personnel in our department-Helen, Jacintha, Leanne, Lilliana and every other person. Thank youf for your kind support throughout this period. I am so grateful to you all for making the journey great.

I thank Pastor Funsho Akin-Ojelabi, Pastor Dr. Mrs. Funmilola Akin-Ojelabi and every member of RCCG Strong Tower Assembly Church for their love, support, encouragement and prayers. Thank you all for being an important part of my life.

To my parents, Jonathan Oladosu Abe and Felicia Abimbola Abe, thank you for your love and prayers all the time. I love you mum and dad.

To my Wonderful husband Tunde Adebimpe Aibinu, what can I say? Gentle and enduring, always ready to give and support, consistently believing in me even in times when there's nothing to celebrate and when I don't see anything in myself to believe in. My friend, my brother, my confidant, my love and my prayer partner. A man of great Faith! Thank you for your time with the children, thank you for giving your all. Thank you for taking in good stride and faith, all the pressures I have thrown at you when I was at my lowest. Thank you for standing true and through. Thank you for your sacrifice. Thank you sweetheart!

To my gorgeous and adorable daughters Damilola and Oreoluwa, I am blessed to have you. I had meals waiting for me at home when I came back from working late in the laboratory, you kept the home when I was not there, you welcomed me with great cheer and love when I returned from my unending lab works, you never complained of my absence or places you would want to go but which my absence did not permit, rather you made sure when I returned home, I was happy. My bed would have been neatly done, my bathroom sparkling, you did excellently well at school, you made meals for yourselves and your dad and you prayed for Mum. You didn't allow me to have the concern most parents have over their teenage children. With your dad you stood for me and by me, you faith in me was my booster. I can't thank God enough for blessing me with you both. I love you, you are my inspiration. Thank you so much.

To my Father and God, my Lord Jesus Christ, to whom this work is dedicated, I have so many reasons to lift my hands to you in praise and to bow my knees in humble adoration of you, for these my hands are powerless to help me or to do any work without the strength that has come from you. Thank You for Strength, Thank you for your Mercy and Thank you for your Faithfulness that never failed once throughout this period. I am forever grateful.

Thank you RMIT University, Melbourne and the Australian Government for supporting me to accomplish this!

Table of Contents

DECLAF	RATIC	ON	II
ΑϹΚΝΟ	WLE	DGEMENT	III
TABLE	OF CO	ONTENTS	VIII
LIST OF	FIGL	URES	xv
LIST OF	ТАВ	SLES	XVIII
ABSTR	АСТ		xıx
PUBLIC	ATIO	DNS	xxIII
СНАРТЕ	ER 1:	LITERATURE REVIEW	1
1.1	IN	NTRODUCTION	2
1.2	Н	HISTORY OF ANISAKIS SPP	4
1.3	A	ANISAKID NEMATODE CLASSIFICATION	4
1.4	С	CURRENT DISTRIBUTION OF Anisakis SPP	5
1.5	A	A <i>NISAKIS</i> NATURAL LIFE CYCLE	6
1.6	L	ARVAL BURDEN AND ECONOMIC IMPACT OF <i>Anisakis</i> in Fish	8
1.7	R	RISK FACTORS OF INFECTION IN HUMAN	8
1.8	A	A <i>nisakis</i> human infection (Anisakiasis)	9
1.	8.1	Gastric Anisakiasis	
1.	8.2	Intestinal Anisakiasis	
1.	8.3	Ectopic or Extraintestinal Anisakiasis	
1.	8.4	Gastroallergic Anisakiasis	
1.	8.5	Anisakiasis complications	
1.9	Ρ	PROBABLE REASON FOR THE HIGH PREVALENCE OF CLINICALLY OVERT ALLERGIC CONDITIONS IN ANISAKIASIS	
1.10	A	A <i>NISAKIS</i> SHORT-TERM INFECTION	14
1.11	A	ANISAKIASIS DIAGNOSIS	14

1.12	ANISAKIASIS MANAGEMENT/TREATMENT	15
1.13	Control measures to minimise Anisakiasis	15
1.14	IMMUNOGENIC PROTEINS OF ANISAKIS AND THE EXCRETORY/SECRETORY SYSTEM	16
1.15	INTEGRATION OF BIOINFORMATICS AND PROTEOMIC TOOLS IN IDENTIFYING IMMUNOGENIC PROTEINS	17
1.16	DESCRIBED ALLERGENS OF A. SIMPLEX	
1.16	6.1 Ani s 1 Protein (Serine Protease Inhibitor)	21
1.16	6.2 Ani s 2 (Paramyosin)	22
1.16	6.3 Ani s 3 (Tropomyosin)	24
1.16	6.4 Ani s 4 (Cysteine protease inhibitor)	27
1.16	6.5 SXP/RAL-2 family Protein Allergens in Anisakis (Ani s 5, Ani s 8, Ani s 9)	29
1.16	6.6 Ani s 6 (Serine protease inhibitor)	
1.16	6.7 Anisakis simplex Allergenic Proteins with Repetitive Sequences	
1	L.16.7.1 Ani s 7	
1	L.16.7.2 Ani s 12	
1	L.16.7.3 Ani s 14	
1	L.16.7.4 Ani s 10	
1	16.7.5 Ani s 11 and Ani s 11-like allergens	
1.16	6.8 Ani s 13 (Haemoglobin)	
1.17	OTHER ALLERGENS IN A. SIMPLEX	40
1.18	IMPLICATION FOR INVERTEBRATE CROSS-SENSITIVITY/CROSS-REACTIVITY	41
1.19	IMPLICATIONS FOR ALLERGY DIAGNOSIS	42
1.20	NON-ALLERGENIC PROTEINS IN A. SIMPLEX BUT WITH IMMUNOGENIC ACTIVITY	42
1.20	0.1 AniSerp	
1.20	0.2 Macrophage Migration Inhibitory Factor	
1.21	PAUCITY OF DATA ON THE PROTEIN REPERTOIRE OF A. PEGREFFII	43
CHAPTER	2 : GENERAL METHODS	46
2.1	Parasite Materials	47
2.1.	1 Preparation of parasite crude extracts (CE)	47

2.2 MOLECULAR CHARACTERIZATION	48
2.2.1 Isolation of Genomic DNA	48
2.2.2 ITS-1 and ITS-2 Region Amplification and Sequencing	49
2.2.3 PCR-RFLP analysis	49
2.3 MASS SPECTROMETRY	49
2.3.1 Gel electrophoresis	49
2.3.2 In-Gel Tryptic Digestion	50
2.3.3 In-Solution Tryptic Digestion and LC-MS/MS Analysis	50
2.3.4 LC-MS/MS Analysis	51
2.3.5 Protein identification	51
2.3.5.1 Identification of Peak list obtained from MS/MS spectra	51
2.3.5.2 Protein identification and Database Used	52
2.3.5.3 Identification setting	52
2.3.5.4 Peptide and Protein Inference	52
2.3.5.4.1 Peptide Shaker for peptide and protein inference	52
2.3.5.4.2 Scaffold for peptide and protein inference	53
2.3.5.4.3 Data deposited in Proteome Exchange	54
2.4 ANISAKIS ALLERGENS- MOLECULAR EVOLUTIONARY RELATIONSHIP WITH HOMOLOGOUS PROTEINS	54
2.5 TEMPLATE SEARCH FOR A. SIMPLEX ALLERGENIC PROTEIN STRUCTURE MODELLING	58
2.5.1 Template Selection	58
2.5.2 Model Building	58
2.5.3 Model Quality Estimation	58
2.5.4 Ligand Modelling	59
2.5.5 Oligomeric State Conservation	59
CHAPTER 3: PROTEOMIC ANALYSIS OF THE SOMATIC AND EXCRETORY/SECRETORY PRODUCTS OF ANISAKIS	
PEGREFFII	60

3.1.1	Helminth and the Th-2 Immune response	61
3.1.2	The Hygiene Hypothesis	62
3.1.3	Helminth Infection and Immunomodulation	62
3.1.4	Use of Helminth for Treatment of Immune-Mediated Disease	63
3.1.5	Somatic Extract and Excretory/Secretory Products of Helminth	64
3.2 S	PECIFIC METHODS	68
3.2.1	Experimental Design and Statistical Rationale	68
3.2.2	Morphological Characterization by Scanning Electron Microscopy	68
3.2.3	Secretome Prediction	68
3.2.4	Bioinformatic analysis	69
3.3 R	ESULTS	70
3.3.1	Morphological Identification of Anisakis	70
3.3.2	Molecular Characterization	73
3.3.2	2.1 ITS-1 and ITS-2 amplification	73
3.3.2	2.2 PCR-RFLP analysis	73
3.3.3	Sodium Dodecyl Sulphate–Polyacrylamide Gel Electrophoresis (SDS–PAGE) analysis	76
3.3.4	Database searching and protein identification	77
3.3.5	Secretory pathway prediction of A. pegreffii proteins	
3.3.6	Crude extract of A. pegreffii	
3.3.7	Excretory/Secretory Proteins of Anisakis pegreffii	83
3.3.8	Proteins common to both crude and excretory/secretory products	87
3.3.9	Allergens identified	
3.4 D	IISCUSSION	92
3.4.1	Proteins common to both crude and excretory/secretory products	92
3.4.2	Excretory/Secretory proteins of A. pegreffii	
3.4.3	Allergens identified in A. pegreffii	
3.4.4	Absence of potential allergy-reducing molecules in the A. pegreffii proteome	95
CHAPTER 4:	PROTEOMIC ANALYSIS OF ANISAKIS PEGREFFII EXOSOMES	97

4.1	INTRODUCTION	98
4.1.1	Biogenesis of Exosomes	98
4.1.2	History and Origin of Exosomes	. 101
4.1.3	Functions of Exosomes	. 101
4.1.4	Mechanisms of Exosomes Cell-to-Cell Communication	. 102
4.1.5	Exosomes in Parasites	. 102
4.1.6	Cell-to-Cell Communication by means of Parasite Exosomes	. 102
4.1.7	Communication with Hosts	. 103
4.2	Specific Methods	. 105
4.2.1	Purification of extracellular vesicles	. 105
4.2.2	Transmission Electron Microscope	. 105
4.2.3	1-D LC-MS/MS	. 106
4.3	RESULTS	. 108
4.3.1	SDS-PAGE Analysis	. 108
4.3.2	Transmission Electron Microscopy (TEM)	. 109
4.3.3	LC-MS/MS Analysis	. 110
4.3.4	GO Annotation	. 110
4.3.5	Relative abundance and expression of 4 antigenic proteins identified in the exosomes	. 113
4.3.6	Secretory Pathways of Proteins Identified In Exosomes	. 120
4.4	DISCUSSION	. 121
CHAPTER	5: IMMUNOPROTEOMIC IDENTIFICATION OF CROSS-REACTIVE ALLERGENIC PROTEINS IN A. PEGREFFII	124
5.1	INTRODUCTION	. 125
5.1.1	Anisakis and Allergic reactions	. 125
5.1.2	Seafoods and Allergy	. 126
5.1.3	Seafoods, Anisakis and Allergy Cross-Reactivity	. 127
5.2	Specific Methods	. 130
5.2.1	Patient sera	. 130
5.2.2	Immunoblotting	. 130

5.2.3	Mass spectrometry (LC-MS/MS) and analysis of proteins	
5.2.4	Bioinformatic Analysis	
5.2.5	Molecular phylogenetic analysis	
5.3 R	ESULTS	
5.3.1	Immunoblotting with allergen specific Antibodies	133
5.3.2	Patient IgE immunoblotting analysis	
5.3.3	Identification of IgE-binding proteins by MS analysis	
5.3.4	Bioinformatic Analysis	
5.3.5	Molecular phylogenetic analysis	
5.4 D	NSCUSSION	151
CHAPTER 6:	IDENTIFICATION AND MOLECULAR CHARACTERISATION OF LEUCINE AMINOPEPTIDASE	155
6.1 In	NTRODUCTION	
6.1.1	Proteases of Anisakis Described	
6.1.2	Leucine Aminopeptidases (LAPs)	
6.1.3	LAP in other parasites and localization	
6.2 N	ЛЕТНОДЅ	
6.2.1	Specific Materials	
6.2.2	Specific Methods	
6.2.2	2.1 Leucine Aminopeptidase Gene Synthesis	
6.2.2	2.2 PCR Primer Design	
6.2.2	2.3 Appropriate Gene Size Confirmation	162
6.2.2	2.4 Digestion of Gene and Plasmid	162
6.2.2	2.5 Ligation of Gene (LAP) into Plasmid (pET28a)	163
6.2.2	2.6 Sequencing	164
6.2.2	2.7 Competent Cells Preparation	165
6.2.2	2.8 Transformation	165
6.2.2	2.9 Protein Expression.	166
6.2.2	2.10 Protein Purification	166
6.2.2	2.11 Preparation and Packing of Immobilized Metal Affinity Chromatography (IMAC).	167

6.2.2	2.12 Optimization of IMAC protein purification.	
6.2.2	2.13 SDS-PAGE Electrophoresis and Western blotting	
6.2.2	2.14 Evolutionary relationships of <i>Anisakis</i> LAP with homologs	
6.2.2	2.15 Enzymatic analysis of <i>Anisakis</i> LAP.	
6	2.2.15.1 Optimum pH for LAP of <i>Anisakis</i> spp	
6	2.2.15.2 Effect of Metal ions on enzymatic activity of <i>Anisakis</i> spp LAP.	170
6	2.2.15.3 Inhibition studies for LAP of <i>Anisakis</i> spp	170
6.2.2	Processing of procathepsin L5 protease of <i>Fasciola hepatica</i> by <i>Anisakis</i> LAP	170
6.2.2	Histochemical Staining of Leucine Aminopeptidase of <i>A. pegreffii</i> in L3 Larvae	171
6.3 R	ESULTS	
6.3.1	Database searched	
6.3.2	Anisakis simplex and A. pegreffii LAP proteins	
6.3.3	Restriction Digestion.	
6.3.4	Expression and Purification of Anisakis LAP	
6.3.5	Sequence Alignment and Phylogenetic Analysis.	
6.3.6	Activation of ProCathepsin L5 of Fasciola hepatica by Anisakis LAP	
6.3.7	Enzymatic properties of recombinant Anisakis LAP.	
6.3.7	7.1 Optimal pH	
6.3.7	7.2 Metal ion activity on <i>Anisakis</i> LAP	
6.3.7	7.3 Effect of Inhibitors on <i>Anisakis</i> LAP.	
6.3.8	Localization of Leucine Aminopeptidase of A. pegreffii by Histochemistry	
6.4 D	ISCUSSION	185
HAPTER 7:	GENERAL DISCUSSION	
Future Dii	RECTION	
PPENDIX 1		222
GENERAL N	1ATERIALS	
PPENDIX 2		238
OPPLEIVIEN	IIART IADLES	

List of Figures

FIGURE 1.1: THE LIFE CYCLE OF ANISAKIS SPP.	7
FIGURE 1.2. ANI S 1-MODELLED STRUCTURE AND PHYLOGENETIC TREE.	22
FIGURE 1.3. ANI S 2-MODELLED STRUCTURE AND PHYLOGENETIC TREE.	24
FIGURE 1.4. ANI S 3-MODELLED STRUCTURE AND PHYLOGENETIC TREE.	26
FIGURE 1.5. ANI S 4-MODELLED STRUCTURE AND PHYLOGENETIC TREE.	
FIGURE 1.6. ANI S 5, ANI S 8 AND ANI S 9-MODELLED STRUCTURE AND PHYLOGENETIC TREE	
FIGURE 1.7. ANI S 6-MODELLED STRUCTURE AND PHYLOGENETIC TREE.	
FIGURE 1.8. ANI S 7, ANI S 12 AND ANI S 14-MODELLED STRUCTURE AND PHYLOGENETIC TREE	35
FIGURE 1.9. ANI S 11-MODELLED STRUCTURE AND PHYLOGENETIC TREE FOR ANI S 11 AND ANI S 10.	
FIGURE 1.10. ANI S 13-MODELLED STRUCTURE AND PHYLOGENETIC TREE	40
FIGURE 3.1. TIGER FLATHEAD (<i>PLATYCEPHALUS RICHARDSONI</i>)	70
FIGURE 3.2. ENCYSTED LARVAE (L3) IN THE INTESTINAL TISSUE OF DISSECTED TIGER FLATHEAD	70
FIGURE 3.3. MORPHOLOGICAL CHARACTERIZATION BY OPTICAL MICROSCOPIC EXAMINATION	71
FIGURE 3.4: MORPHOLOGICAL CHARACTERIZATION BY ELECTRON MICROSCOPIC EXAMINATION.	72
FIGURE 3.5. ITS-1 AND ITS-2 OF A. PEGREFFII AMPLIFICATION BY PCR	73
FIGURE 3.6. AMPLIFICATION OF THE RRNA ITS-1 REGION OF ANISAKIS L3 LARVAE	75
FIGURE 3.7. MOLECULAR CHARACTERIZATION OF AP BY PCR-RFLP OF RRNA ITS REGION	75
FIGURE 3.8. 12% SDS-PAGE PROTEIN PROFILES OF SOMATIC AND EXCRETORY/SECRETORY PROTEINS OF ANISAKIS PEGREFFII	76
FIGURE 3.9. VENN DIAGRAM SHOWING THE DISTRIBUTION OF ANISAKIS PEGREFFII PROTEOME PROTEINS.	78
FIGURE 3.10. MOLECULAR FUNCTION TERMS (LEVEL 2) FOR PROTEINS IN A. PEGREFFII CRUDE EXTRACT.	80
FIGURE 3.11. GO ANNOTATION OF THE CELLULAR COMPONENT OF A. PEGREFFII PROTEINS IN CRUDE EXTRACT.	80
FIGURE 3.12. DISTRIBUTION OF GENE ONTOLOGY MOLECULAR FUNCTION TERMS (LEVEL 2) FOR PROTEINS UNIQUELY IDENTIFIED	N A .
<i>pegreffil</i> Excretory/Secretory Products	83
FIGURE 3.13. GO ANNOTATION OF THE CELLULAR COMPONENT OF A. PEGREFFII PROTEINS UNIQUE TO EXCRETORY/SECRETORY PRO	орист. 84
FIGURE 3.14. BIOLOGICAL PROCESSES OF PROTEINS IN THE CRUDE AND EXCRETORY/SECRETORY PROTEINS OF A. PEGREFFII.	

FIGURE 3.15. MOLECULAR FUNCTIONS OF PROTEINS COMMON TO CRUDE EXTRACT AND EXCRETORY/SECRETORY PRODUCTS OF <i>A. P</i>	EGREFFII.
	87
FIGURE 3.16. BIOLOGICAL PROCESSES OF PROTEINS COMMON TO CRUDE EXTRACT AND EXCRETORY/SECRETORY PRODUCTS	88
FIGURE 3.17. GO ANNOTATION OF THE CELLULAR COMPONENT OF A. PEGREFFII PROTEINS COMMON TO BOTH CRUDE AND	
EXCRETORY/SECRETORY PRODUCTS	89
FIGURE 4.1. A SCHEMATIC DIAGRAM OF PROTEIN AND RNA TRANSFER BY EXTRACELLULAR VESICLES	100
FIGURE 4.2. SDS-PAGE ANALYSIS OF ANISAKIS PEGREFFII EXOSOMES STAINED WITH COOMASSIE BLUE.	108
FIGURE 4.3. (A-D)- TRANSMISSION ELECTRON MICROSCOPY (TEM) OF A. PEGREFFII EXOSOME PROTEINS.	109
FIGURE 4.4. UNIPROT GO ANNOTATION OF THE MOLECULAR FUNCTIONS OF A. PEGREFFII EXOSOMES PROTEINS.	111
FIGURE 4.5. UNIPROT GO ANNOTATION OF THE BIOLOGICAL PROCESSES OF A. PEGREFFII EXOSOMES PROTEINS.	112
FIGURE 4.6. UNIPROT GO ANNOTATION OF THE CELLULAR COMPONENT ORIGIN OF A. PEGREFFII EXOSOMES PROTEINS.	112
FIGURE 4.7: RELATIVE ABUNDANCE OF TROPOMYOSIN NORMALIZED SPECTRA (ANI S 3) IN A. PEGREFFII PROTEOME	113
FIGURE 4.8: RELATIVE ABUNDANCE OF POLYPROTEIN ABA-1 ALLERGEN NORMALIZED SPECTRA IN A. PEGREFFII PROTEOME	114
FIGURE 4.9: RELATIVE ABUNDANCE OF GLYCERALDEHYDE-3-DEHYDROGENASE NORMALIZED SPECTRA IN A. PEGREFFII PROTEOME	114
FIGURE 4.10: RELATIVE ABUNDANCE OF VITELLOGENIN-6 NORMALIZED SPECTRA IN A. PEGREFFII PROTEOME	115
FIGURE 4.11: RELATIVE ABUNDANCE OF LEUCINE AMINOPEPTIDASE (LAP) IN A. PEGREFFII PROTEOME.	116
FIGURE 5.1: SDS-PAGE AND IMMUNOBLOTTING PROFILE USING ANTI-PARVALBUMIN MONOCLONAL ANTIBODY.	133
FIGURE 5.2: SDS-PAGE AND IMMUNOBLOTTING PROFILE USING ANTI-MYOSIN LIGHT CHAIN MONOCLONAL ANTIBODY	134
FIGURE 5.3: SDS-PAGE AND IMMUNOBLOTTING PROFILE USING ANTI-ALDOLASE ANTIBODY.	135
FIGURE 5.4: SDS-PAGE AND IMMUNOBLOT ANALYSIS USING MONOCLONAL ANTI-TROPOMYOSIN AND POLYCLONAL ANTI-CRUSTACE	AN
ANTIBODY.	136
FIGURE 5.5. IGE ANTIBODY REACTIVITY TO <i>A. PEGREFFII</i> CRUDE EXTRACTS.	138
FIGURE 5.6. IGE ANTIBODY REACTIVITY TO A. PEGREFFII EXCRETORY/SECRETORY PRODUCT.	143
FIGURE 5.7. THE PHYLOGENETIC TREE OF A. PEGREFFI PUTATIVE NOVEL CROSS-REACTIVE ALLERGENS.	149
FIGURE 5.8. THE PHYLOGENETIC TREE OF A. PEGREFFI TROPOMYOSIN, A CROSS-REACTIVE ALLERGEN.	150
FIGURE 6.1. PROTEIN SEQUENCE BLAST OF A. SIMPLEX LAP AND A. PEGREFFII LAP-2.	173
FIGURE 6.2. SEQUENCE ALIGNMENT OF A. SIMPLEX LAP GENE (A0A0M3KDK6) AND A. PEGREFFII LAP-2 (CL3092).	174
FIGURE 6.3. VECTOR MAP OF PET 28A (5369 BP): KAN ^R , LACL, F1 ORIGIN OF REPLICATION.	175

FIGURE 6.4. AGAROSE GEL ELECTROPHORESIS OF RESTRICTION DIGESTS.	. 176
FIGURE 6.5. LEUCINE AMINOPEPTIDASE OF ANISAKIS EXPRESSION AND PURIFICATION BY IMAC.	. 177
FIGURE 6.6. PHYLOGENETIC ANALYSIS OF LEUCINE AMINOPEPTIDASE OF ANISAKIS SPP.	. 178
FIGURE 6.7. 4-12% SDS-PAGE ACTIVITY OF ANISAKIS LAP.	. 179
FIGURE 6.8. WESTERN BLOT SHOWING ACTIVITY OF ANISAKIS LAP ON CATHEPSIN L5	. 180
FIGURE 6.9. THE OPTIMAL PH OF RECOMBINANT ANISAKIS LAP.	. 181
FIGURE 6.10. THE EFFECT OF INHIBITORS ON THE ENZYMATIC ACTIVITY OF ANISAKIS LAP AT A CONCENTRATION OF 1MM.	. 183
FIGURE 6.11. EFFECT OF DIFFERENT CONCENTRATION OF BESTATIN ON THE ENZYMATIC ACTIVITY OF ANISAKIS LAP.	. 183
Figure 6.12. : LAP Localisationin Anisakis pegreffii L3 larvae tissues.	. 184

List of Tables

TABLE 1.1: LIST OF ALLERGENS OF A. SIMPLEX IN IUIS DATABASE.	20
TABLE 3.1: TOP THIRTY ABUNDANT PROTEINS IDENTIFIED IN A. PEGREFFII L3 LARVAE CRUDE EXTRACT	81
TABLE 3.2: TOP THIRTY ABUNDANT PROTEINS IDENTIFIED IN A. PEGREFFII EXCRETORY/SECRETORY PRODUCTS.	85
TABLE 3.3: ALLERGENS OF A. SIMPLEX IDENTIFIED IN A. PEGREFFII L3 LARVAE PROTEOME.	90
TABLE 3.4: TRANSCRIPTOME-DESCRIBED ALLERGENS OF A. PEGREFFII IDENTIFIED IN THE PROTEOME	91
TABLE 4.1: A. PEGREFFII EXOSOME PROTEINS AND HOMOLOGS IN EXOCARTA DATABASE.	117
TABLE 5.1: INFORMATION AND CLINICAL FEATURES OF ENROLLED SUBJECTS SENSITISED TO SHELLFISH.	137
TABLE 5.2: ALLERGOGRAM OF IGE BINDING PATTERNS TO PROTEINS FROM CRUDE EXTRACT OF A. PEGREFFII.	139
TABLE 5.3: LIST OF PROTEINS IN A. PEGREFFII CRUDE EXTRACT REACTIVE BANDS AND SEQUENCE IDENTITY TO ALLERGENS.	140
TABLE 5.4: ALLERGOGRAM OF IGE BINDING PATTERNS TO EXCRETORY/SECRETORY PROTEINS OF A. PEGREFFII.	144
TABLE 5.5: LIST OF PROTEINS IN A. PEGREFFII EXCRETORY/SECRETORY PRODUCT REACTIVE BANDS AND SEQUENCE IDENTITY TO ALLERGE	NS145
TABLE 6.1: DOUBLE DIGESTION PROTOCOL.	163
TABLE 6.2: LIGATION PROTOCOL.	164
TABLE 6.3: THE EFFECT OF VARIOUS DIVALENT CATIONS ON THE ENZYMATIC ACTIVITY OF ANISAKIS LAP.	182

ABSTRACT

In the nematode genus *Anisakis*, nine species are currently genetically recognized among which *Anisakis simplex* (*s. s.*) and *Anisakis pegreffii* have been recognised to be relevant for humans as a result of their zoonotic role in causing the disease, Anisakiasis. In addition to infection with this parasite, *Anisakis* can also cause allergic sensitisation. To date, *A. simplex* allergens have been described to represent the largest number for any parasite nematode accepted by the WHO/IUIS nomenclature committee. However, few data exist on the existence of such proteins in the sibling species, *A. pegreffii*. *A. pegreffii* has been reported as the causative agent of invasive anisakiasis in Europe, Japan and South Korea. It is reported as the most widespread anisakid species known to affect commercial fish from Mediterranean waters. Studies on *A. pegreffii* and identification of molecules released at the interface of host-parasite relationship are of crucial importance and may provide a basis for designing better novel diagnostic and therapeutic strategies.

A detailed review on the current knowledge regarding *Anisakis* spp, particularly *A. simplex*, and its immunogenic proteins is presented in Chapter 1. This chapter presents an understanding of the current status on the increasing number of *Anisakis simplex* molecules identified to attack key pathways in the mammalian immune system. Through phylogenetic analysis, relationships of these proteins with homologs in other nematodes and invertebrates are presented and major *A. simplex* allergenic protein structures were modelled. This provides the foundation for further investigation of these proteins and their presence in *A. pegreffii*, and further guides their biological and genomic explorations.

Chapter 2 describes the materials and methods generally used in this study while Chapter 3 follows up on the information provided in Chapter 1 on *A. simplex* immunogenic proteins. These proteins were investigated in *A. pegreffii* using high throughput mass spectrometry (LC/MS-MS). This method analysed and identified proteins present in the crude extract (CE) as well as excretory/secretory (ES) products of *A. pegreffii*. The results obtained showed that over 90 % of allergenic and immunogenic proteins identified in *A. pegreffii* proteome have also been described in *A. simplex*. Furthermore, most of the proteins identified in *A. pegreffii* ES (~80%) were found to be homologs of proteins in the ES of other helminths. The results of this chapter therefore emphasizes the cryptic speciation of the two sibling species, *A. simplex* and *A. pegreffii*, as well as affirming the notion that parasites employ a conserved set of proteins for parasite–host interaction mechanisms and host immune response evasion. Furthermore, the result from this chapter also suggests the probable absence of allergy-reducing molecules in *A. pegreffii*, which may be a contributing factor as to why *Anisakis* nematodes are able to elicit overt hypersensitivity reactions (allergy); in addition to inducing a Th-2 biased immune response.

One of the main discoveries in the proteomic analysis of *A. pegreffii* CE and ES in chapter 3 was the observation that a number of proteins identified as part of *A. pegreffii* ES molecules in this study were not predicted to be secreted molecules. This raised the thought that such proteins must have reached the exterior or released by novel or alternative mechanisms, Hence, Chapter 4 was initiated to investigate and identify by LC-MS/MS, the exosomes of *A. pegreffii* and their cargo content. Abundant round-shaped materials with the expected size of exosomes were obtained after ultracentrifugation and they were visualized by transmission electron microscopy (TEM). Among the proteins identified were key exosome markers which include Heat Shock protein (HSP)-70, enolase and elongation factor 1-alpha. The result from this chapter constitutes the first report of the existence and composition of exosome-like vesicles in the L3 larvae of the parasite, *A. pegreffii*. The identified structures appear to play critical role in transportation of immunomodulatory and allergenic proteins such as leucine aminopeptidase (LAP) and tropomyosin (TM), respectively. In addition, high portions of proteins enriched in *A. pegreffii* exosomes were implicated in carbohydrate metabolism, indicative that the parasite's main energy source is probably derived from carbohydrate metabolism.

Exosomes might be involved in transporting proteins needed for this function within the parasites and to the host for parasite survival. These proteins are stabilized against degradation by encapsulation within vesicles. It is demonstrated in this study for the first time, that parasite exosomes contain high concentrations of allergens, including the pan-allergen tropomyosin, providing evidence for the route of allergic sensitisation to live parasites. The result of this chapter, suggests that the secretion of certain proteins in this parasite, follow non-conventional pathways.

Chapter 5 investigates, through immunoproteomic analysis, proteins from the CE and ES of *A*. *pegreffii* that are cross-reactive with serum IgE antibody of confirmed shellfish allergic patients. In the ES, we identified 2 different reactive proteins that satisfied the criteria for putative cross-reactive allergens as defined for this study and these were fructose bisphosphate aldolase 1 and enolase. In the CE, these proteins were also identified- tropomyosin as fructose bisphosphate aldolase 1 and enolase 1 and enolase. Tropomyosin, one of the three proteins identified, had been previously described as a cross-reactive allergen in both shellfish and *Anisakis* parasite. The two other novel putative cross- reactive allergens described in this chapter are proteins with close homologues in fish.

Finally, in Chapter 6, a protease, leucine aminopeptidase (LAP) reported to be implicated in immunomodulation in other helminths, was characterized. LAP of *Anisakis* was cloned, expressed and purified by IMAC in a bacterial host. The activity of the enzyme was investigated and its location in *A. pegreffii* determined using histochemical methods. This protease was found predominantly in the gut lumen of *A. pegreffii* and in addition was shown to interact with cathepsin proteases by cleaving in particular, the inactivated cathepsin L5 of *Fasciola hepatica* and releasing the activated form. The result of this study depicts *Anisakis* LAP as a protein of interest in immunomodulatory activities and further investigation of this enzyme as a potential therapeutic candidate could be explored.

In summary, the results of this study highlights the proteins that are enriched in the proteome of *A*. *pegreffii* and the mechanisms employed by this parasite to release secreted molecules to sites of activity. It also demonstrates that *A. pegreffii* secretes specific sets of proteins that are preserved against degradation by being enclosed within vesicles. In addition, putative cross-reactive allergens were defined for *A. pegreffii* and an immunogenic protein (LAP) was characterized. Opportunities for further exploitation of the proteins identified in *A. pegreffii*, in a therapeutic context, are provided by the results of this study.

Publications

Publications arising from this work

Published in part (Chapter 5) (Co-first author)

 ASNOUSSI, A., <u>AIBINU, I. E</u>., GASSER, R. B., LOPATA, A. L. & SMOOKER, P. M. 2017. Molecular and immunological characterisation of tropomyosin from *Anisakis pegreffii*. *Parasitol Res*, 116, 3291-3301.

Publication related to the research

- BAIRD, F. J., SU, X., <u>AIBINU, I.</u>, NOLAN, M. J., SUGIYAMA, H., OTRANTO, D., LOPATA, A. L. & CANTACESSI, C. 2016. The *Anisakis* Transcriptome Provides a Resource for Fundamental and Applied Studies on Allergy-Causing Parasites. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis*, 10, e0004845.
- •

Peer-reviewed Conference proceedings

- <u>Aibinu, I.</u>, Smooker, P. & Lopata A.L. (2016). Distinct Biological Functions of *Anisakis pegreffii* Proteome. 12th European Multicolloquium of Parasitology (EMOP 2016), Finland. July, 2016.
- <u>Aibinu, I.</u>, Lopata, A.L. & Smooker, P. (2015). Zymography and Proteomic Analysis of Proteases from Excretory/Secretory Product of *Anisakis pegreffii*. *School of Applied Sciences (SAS), RMIT Annual Research Day Symposium*, June 12, 2015.
- <u>Aibinu, I.</u>, Asnoussi, A., Lopata, A.L. and Smooker, P. (2014). Molecular Characterization of *Anisakis pegreffii from* Australia. Poster presentation. EMBL Australia (Molecular Biology) PhD Course, *Australia National University, Canberra*. July, 2014.

CHAPTER 1: LITERATURE REVIEW

Chapter 1

1.1 Introduction

This review aims to provide an overview of the current status of knowledge regarding *Anisakis* species, and their immunogenic proteins. *Anisakis* species are marine parasitic nematodes, of which the larvae are considered to be the most important biological hazards present in "seafood" products. Accidental consumption of raw, undercooked, or improperly processed (e.g. marinated) seafood infested by the third stage larvae (L3) of *Anisakis* spp. causes a parasitic zoonosis, known as anisakidosis.

In this review, firstly, the history, classification, current distribution, life cycle, larval burden and economic impact on fish, as well as risk factors of infection in humans, are discussed. This is followed by the description of disease (Anisakiasis) and the complications caused by this parasitic nematode, the probable reason for prevalence of allergic conditions associated with this disease, diagnosis, management, and control of the disease. Thirdly, the review describes the immunogenic proteins of *Anisakis* and excretory/secretory products. Secretory products are molecules secreted from cells or glands with particular biological functions. On the contrary, excretory products are metabolic products released from the body. Both may sometimes be difficult to distinguish from one another and they vary from one parasite to another (Ditgen et al., 2014) . Hence, the term ES describes molecules actively secreted by helminths and by-products that are released during physiological processes (White and Artavanis-Tsakonas, 2012, Hewitson et al., 2009). These molecules are known to play important roles in inducing a Th2-skewed immune response, and are known to consist of regulatory and anti-inflammatory components as well.

In addition, this review emphasizes the importance of proteomic and bioinformatics analysis in the study of the excretory/secretory products (ES) of parasites. Finally, the review summarises the current status of allergenic and immunogenic proteins described so far in *A. simplex*, as well as addressing

proteins with immunogenic relevance, which are not necessarily allergens in *Anisakis* spp. In this review, gaps in the current understanding of immunogenic proteins identified in the food-borne parasite, *A. pegreffii* are identified, which has resulted in the rationale for this study.

Chapter 1

1.2 History of Anisakis spp

Anisakis spp. is a parasite with worldwide distribution. It is a nematode which belongs to the Phylum Nemathelmintes, Class Nematoda, Ascarida order, suborder Ascaridina, subfamily Anisakinae, superfamily Ascaridoidea and Anisakidae family. This family includes the genera *Pseudoterranova, Contracaecum, Hysterothylacium* and *Anisakis* (Smith and Wootten, 1978). The *Anisakis* genus was created from the genus *Ascaris* Linnaeus as a subgenus, in 1845, by Felix Dujardin (Dujardin, 1845). The name *Anisakis* was coined from two Greek words 'anis' (which means 'different') and 'akis' (which means 'spine' or 'spicule'). Dujardin named this new subgenus '*Anisakis*'' as he stated that the new subgenus consisted of species which have males with unequal spicules. Phylogenetic studies have shown that the human parasite most closely related to *Anisakis* is *Ascaris* (Blaxter et al., 1998). *Anisakis* spp, are parasitic nematodes, known to have complex life-cycles involving a number of different hosts, including squid and fish as paratenic or intermediate hosts, while having marine mammals such as seals as final definitive hosts (Ubeira et al., 2000, Akbar and Ghosh, 2005).

1.3 Anisakid nematode classification

Anisakis is found worldwide, but are differentially distributed geographically and employ different host species (Jabbar et al., 2013). The larvae of Anisakid nematodes were classified into two types, Anisakis type 1 and II by Berland (Berland, 1961). The classification was based on some of their morphological features, which include presence, or absence of mucron at the tail tip and the length of the ventriculus. However, due to lack of precise detailed characteristics for species identification using morphological features, molecular tools such as the sequencing of the internal transcribed spacer (ITS) region of ribosomal DNA, allozyme analysis and polymerase chain reaction coupled with restriction fragment length polymorphism have been employed to allow species-specific identification (Shamsi et al., 2009, Umehara et al., 2006, Iglesias et al., 2008). Several studies have shown that the first and

second internal transcribed spacers (ITS-1 and ITS-2) of nuclear ribosomal DNA (rRNA) provide appropriate genetic markers for anisakid species identification irrespective of their stage of development (Jabbar et al., 2013, Jabbar et al., 2012, Shamsi et al., 2011). In addition, PCR-coupled mutation scanning of the ITS-1 and/or ITS-2, integrated with targeted sequencing (Gasser et al., 2006) and phylogenetic analysis furnishes a powerful approach for investigating the genetic composition of populations of anisakid (Jabbar et al., 2013, Jabbar et al., 2012).

Using molecular approaches therefore, identifying Anisakid nematodes to the species level and revealing cryptic species has been made possible (Mattiucci and Nascetti, 2006, Mattiucci et al., 2008). With these molecular approaches, the genus *Anisakis* has been described to comprise two major clades; the first clade includes the *A. simplex*-complex (*A. simplex* sensu stricto [s.s.], *A. pegreffii*, *A. simplex* C) as well as *A. typica* and two sister-species *A. nascettii* and *A. ziphidarum* (Mattiucci et al., 2014). The second clade consists exclusively of the *A. physeteris*- complex (*A. brevispiculata*, *A paggiae*, *A. physeteris*) (Kuhn et al., 2011, Mattiucci et al., 2014). Both *A. simplex*-complex and *A. physeteris*-complex are considered cryptic species, distinguishable only by means of molecular analyses as well as slight morphological differences (e.g. tail length/total body length ratio; spicule length) (Mattiucci et al., 2014, Chen et al., 2008). *A. simplex* and *A. pegreffii* have been reported as the most important zoonotic species of the genera *Anisakis*. The other genera in the subfamily Anisakinae, collectively known as the anisakids, are *Pseudoterranova, Contracaecum* and *Hysterothylacium* (Nieuwenhuizen and Lopata, 2013).

1.4 Current distribution of Anisakis spp.

Anisakis simplex s.s. has exclusively been recorded by means of molecular methods from hosts in the northern hemisphere, mainly in the Atlantic and Pacific Ocean, whilst *Anisakis pegreffii* is predominant in the southern hemisphere and the Mediterranean Sea (Kuhn et al., 2016, Ceballos-Mendiola et al., 2010,

Martin-Sanchez et al., 2005, Mattiucci and Nascetti, 2008, Mattiucci et al., 2008). According to Kuhn *et al* (Kuhn et al., 2016), an accumulation of occurrences along Japanese coastal waters has also been observed for *A. pegreffii*, and this was explained to likely be as a result of increased economic research interests in potential harmful organisms in commercially highly significant and often consumed raw fish species. In addition, *Anisakis pegreffii* has also been identified to have a distribution along the North American West Coast, between South America and the Antarctic Peninsula, as well as South Africa and New Zealand.

1.5 Anisakis natural life cycle

Anisakis eggs hatch in sea water and the larvae developing from the eggs are eaten by crustaceans (copepods, decapods, isopods, amphipods, and euphausiids) with molluscs. It is known that the most important first intermediate hosts in the *Anisakis* life cycle are the Euphasiids (Krill) (Smith and Wootten, 1978). Infected krill eaten by fish or squid becomes a source of *Anisakis* for the fish or squid. The *Anisakis* larvae encyst on the intestines and other visceral organs of these intermediate hosts; the parasite does not develop further and remains at the third stage of the larvae development (L3 stage). The life-cycle comes to a completion when such infected fish/squid are eaten by marine mammals such as whales, seals and dolphins. In these definitive hosts, the larvae grow to the L4 stage and subsequently to the adult stage. The nematode feeds, grows, mates and then release eggs in the host faeces into the sea water (Pozio, 2013).

As it is common among parasites with complex life cycle, the morphology of *Anisakis* varies with the different stages in which it is found and the host it infects. In fish, it is found in a coiled shape, which when uncoiled, is about 2cm long. As shown in figure 1.1, humans become accidental hosts when undercooked or raw fish and cephalopods, contaminated with the parasite, *Anisakis*, are consumed.

Chapter 1



7

Chapter 1

1.6 Larval burden and economic impact of *Anisakis* in fish

The repeated transfer of larvae among fish may result in the extensive accumulation of larvae, particularly in large and older fish (Chou et al., 2011). These fish hence, can harbour hundreds or thousands of encapsulated larvae and thus increase the probability of infecting other fish and subsequently humans. It is thought that most species of cephalopods and fish can potentially harbour these marine parasitic nematodes as 200 fish and 25 cephalopods species have been identified to act as hosts for *Anisakis* spp (Abollo et al., 2001). However, prevalence has also been associated with the biology and the feeding behaviour of these intermediate hosts.

Recently, the prevalence of infection among cephalopods and fish is reported to be on the increase and among factors that may contribute to this is the increased attention focused on this parasite and its public health importance. From a public health point of view, migration to the muscles of the fish by these parasites (depending on the condition of the fish after they are caught and the time between death and evisceration) may result in higher number of larvae in the muscles, which is the part of the fish that is consumed by humans (Pozio, 2013). A high prevalence of *Anisakis* larvae have been found in species of fish, crustaceans and cephalopods that are commercially important (Vidaček et al., 2009), decreasing the commercial value of fish and impacting human health. This has resulted in economic and public health concerns with regards to *Anisakis* and its infection (Smith and Wootten, 1978, Audicana et al., 2002).

1.7 Risk factors of infection in human

The most commonly implicated species of *Anisakis* in human infections are *A. simplex*, *A. pegreffii* and *Pseudoterranova* spp (Chai et al., 2005). There is frequent diagnosis of this parasite infection in countries where it is common for humans to ingest raw or lightly cooked fish infected with L3 larvae (Pozio, 2013). Consumption of undercooked or marinated fish, such as Japanese sushi and sashimi,

Scandinavian gravlax (dry, cured salmon), Dutch salted or smoked herring, Hawaiian lomilomi salmon (raw salmon), Spanish boquerones en vinagre (pickled anchovies), Filipino kinilaw (chopped, marinated fish), Latin American ceviche (raw fish seasoned with lemon juice), Italian raw anchiove, (traditionally served with vinegar sauce without prior freezing), and Spain ungutted sardines (charcoal-grilled) are risk factors of infection with this zoonotic parasite (Alonso-Gomez et al., 2004, Chai et al., 2005).

1.8 Anisakis human infection (Anisakiasis)

Anisakiasis is the infection caused by the consumption of raw or partially cooked fish contaminated with the third stage larvae (L3) of *Anisakis* (Bucci et al., 2013). Anisakiasis was first described in the Netherlands (van Thiel et al., 1960). The symptom in the patient was acute localized enteritis of terminal ileum. Surgical operation showed a small nematode penetrating the mucus membrane. The larva was identified as *Anisakis simplex* 3rd-stage larva. Since then, several cases of this zoonotic infection have been described in other countries (Bucci et al., 2013).

Two main mechanisms are reported to be responsible for Anisakiasis: allergic reactions and direct tissue damage (Choi et al., 2009). The allergic reactions range from urticaria and angioedema to life-threatening anaphylactic shock, usually associated with gastrointestinal symptoms (Choi et al., 2009). Allergic reactions may occur subsequent to the primary infection of *Anisakis* and exposure to allergens in the food. Invasion of the gut wall by the parasite sometimes results in development of eosinophilic granuloma or perforation, which causes direct tissue damage (Choi et al., 2009). The part of the digestive tract in which *Anisakis* larvae is lodged, after consumption of raw or lightly cooked fish infected with L3 larvae and the type of *Anisakis* spp ingested, determines largely the clinical manifestation of Anisakiasis observed. Penetration of the gastric mucous results in inflammation, which gives rise to some of the symptoms (Valls et al., 2003). *Anisakis* can cause gastrointestinal

infection, which may be classified as acute, chronic, ectopic or allergic reactions (<u>Bucci et al., 2013</u>). Gastric infections have been reported mostly in Japan while in Europe, intestinal diseases are more commonly reported (<u>Hochberg and Hamer, 2010</u>).

Over 20,000 cases of Anisakiasis had been reported worldwide prior to 2010 and over 90% of these were from Japan and the remaining cases from Italy, Netherlands, Spain, Germany, Asia and South America (EFSA BIOHAZ, 2010).

1.8.1 Gastric Anisakiasis

Gastric anisakiasis usually develops from 1 to 8 hours after ingestion of raw fish (Park et al., 2008). It presents with a sudden onset of pain in the epigastric region of the gut and it is accompanied by nausea and vomiting. Expulsion of live larva through the nose or mouth may occur (Ramanan et al., 2013). This acute anisakiasis usually involves the stomach and sometimes mimics angina-like chest pain (Machi et al., 1997). It is known to completely resolve upon removal of the ingested larvae within 12 h of consumption by upper endoscopy (Bucci et al., 2013).

1.8.2 Intestinal Anisakiasis

Enteric anisakiasis may sometimes take up to a few days to develop in contrast to gastric anisakiasis (Park et al., 2008). Intestinal anisakiasis (including duodenal anisakiasis) causes direct damage to the gut wall. In many cases of intestinal anisakiasis, the terminal ileum is involved (Shirahama et al., 1992, Repiso Ortega et al., 2003). Symptoms are presented as constant or intermittent abdominal pain, vomiting or diarrhoea and sometimes fever. These symptoms are usually seen 5-7 days after seafood ingestion (Hochberg and Hamer, 2010). Misdiagnosis is common with intestinal anisakidosis because of the non-specific nature of the symptoms. It has been misdiagnosed as Crohn's disease, appendicitis and colon cancer (Ramanan et al., 2013). Localization of *A. simplex* in the intestinal wall presents the chronic form of Anisakiasis. In this form, symptoms would usually persist for months with weight

Chapter 1

loss, abdominal cramp, diarrhoea and may present with difficulty in diagnosis. In the chronic stage, larvae may cause formation of granuloma (Pozio, 2013).

1.8.3 Ectopic or Extraintestinal Anisakiasis

Ectopic anisakiasis is less common than the other forms of anisakiasis (<u>Nawa et al., 2005</u>). In some cases, the larvae are able to migrate to other organs or in the peritoneal cavity presenting symptoms related to the organs in which they are localized. Penetration into the peritoneal cavity or other visceral organs (extraintestinal anisakiasis) by larvae may cause eosinophilic granuloma, which may be confused with neoplasm (<u>Nawa et al., 2005</u>). It may also result in haemorrhagic ascites (<u>Akbar and Ghosh, 2005</u>). Tonsillar and laryngeal ansiakiasis, where the larvae migrate up into the tonsils from the back of the oesophagus, has been reported (<u>Bhargava et al., 1996</u>, <u>Kwak and Yoon, 2012</u>). Pulmonary anisakiasis resulting from anisakid entry into the pleural cavity through penetration of the diaphragm causing eosinophilic pleural effusion has also been described (<u>Saito et al., 2005</u>, <u>Matsuoka et al., 1994</u>).

1.8.4 Gastroallergic Anisakiasis

The allergic form presents within hours of consumption of infected undercooked fish and may result in cases of hypersensitivity reactions, urticaria, angioedema, anaphylactic shock and chronic debilitating conditions (Fernandez de Corres et al., 1996, Bucci et al., 2013).

Sometimes, concurrent gastrointestinal symptoms may also be present (<u>Choi et al., 2009</u>). High levels of IgE specific to *A. simplex* characterises allergic anisakiasis (<u>Caballero and Moneo, 2002</u>). Though rare, it has however been shown that allergic reactions could present as autoimmune pancreatitis, nephrotic syndrome, allergic gingivostomatitis, intractable chronic pruritus or rheumatic disease (Eguia et al., 2003, Gallo et al., 2012, Pezzilli et al., 2007, Meseguer et al., 2007, Cuende et al., 1998).

Bronchial hyperactivity and dermatitis have been associated with Anisakid sensitization in fishprocessing workers (Nieuwenhuizen et al., 2006). Many *Anisakis* allergens are resistant to degradation by the digestive enzyme pepsin, implying immunological reactions might occur after exposure to *Anisakis* antigens alone (Audicana et al., 2002). There are also some cases where consumption of cooked or canned fish appears to have led to *Anisakis*-specific allergic reactions (del Pozo et al., 1996). Hence, Anisakiasis disease shows an interesting interaction between allergic response and parasitic infections even though both do not usually intermingle inspite of having many facets of immune responses that are similar (Nieuwenhuizen and Lopata, 2013).

1.8.5 Anisakiasis complications

Anisakiasis sometimes presents as a disease with few specific manifestations but then mimics other disease conditions (Yeum et al., 2002). In the stomach, chronic gastric anisakidosis usually occurs as a result of an inflammatory response to dying larvae and may mimic peptic ulcers, gastric cancer or chronic gastritis (Hwang et al., 2012, Hochberg and Hamer, 2010). Sometimes patients presents with pneumoperitoneum and gastric perforation (Ito et al., 2007). A few reports exists of the discovery by endoscopy, of *Anisakis* worm at the base of a gastric ulcer (Takeuchi et al., 2000).

Intestinal anisakiasis may present as eosinophilic gastroenteritis (<u>Gomez et al., 1998</u>). However, it has been reported that eosinophilic granuloma formation around the larvae sometimes presents as a tumor or intestinal obstruction (<u>Montalto et al., 2005</u>, <u>Ishii et al., 2009</u>). Colonic anisakiasis has been reported to sometimes simulate a tumor of the colon, since this infection is associated with edema, acute phlegmonous reaction, and/or granuloma formations around the larvae, which results in a mass effect thereby resulting in misdiagnosis as a colon cancer (<u>Matsumoto et al., 1992</u>).

Other complications of Anisakiasis include a case of duodenal anisakiasis associated with duodenal ulcer (<u>Hwang et al., 2012</u>), diagnosis of spontaneous spleen rupture and appendicitis secondary to

Anisakis simplex infection (Valle et al., 2012). In another report by (Rushovich et al., 1983), a patient presented with symptoms resembling those of acute appendicitis, and was found to have an inflammatory omental mass as a cause of his illness. Subsequent examination showed that the omental mass contained *Anisakis* larvae (Rushovich et al., 1983). The florid inflammatory response released by the host as a result of the penetration of the larva(e) through the intestinal wall was thought to have resulted in the death of the parasite (Rushovich et al., 1983).

1.9 Probable reason for the high prevalence of clinically overt allergic conditions in Anisakiasis

While all patients with the different forms of gastric or intestinal anisakiasis produce specific IgE, the high prevalence of clinically overt allergic conditions in *Anisakis* spp parasitism has been suggested to be due to the fact that humans are not a natural host for this parasite, and parasitism by *Anisakis* is only acute or 'intermittent' (repeated acute parasitism by *Anisakis*). Hence, differences may be expected between the pathogenesis of *Anisakis* compared to those of other helminths in humans.

In addition, more than 90% of Anisakiasis cases described have been reported to be caused by a single larva (Audicana and Kennedy, 2008), as compared to helminths in which numerous larvae are required for established infections. The chronicity and the burden of helminth infection are considered essential factors with regards to protection against allergy. In a study performed in Venezuela, it was shown that individuals with heavy infection by helminths were less likely to have a positive skin test to house dust mite (HDM) (Lynch et al., 1987). Symptoms of allergy improved after anti-parasitic treatment in lightly infected individuals but became worse in those who were heavily infected (Lynch et al., 1993). This study showed that a heavy parasitic infection protects against allergy whilst a light exposure to helminths lead to increase in airway symptoms due to potentiation of Th2 responses (Ndiaye and
Bousquet, 2004). Due to this factor, it is suggested that *Anisakis* may lack immunoregulatory features typical of other chronic helminthiasis.

1.10 Anisakis short-term infection

It has been reported that anisakiasis is usually a self-limiting disease, which is cured by conservative management for 1 to 2 weeks after the onset of symptoms (<u>Hwang et al., 2012</u>). *A. simplex* L3 is not known to survive *in vivo* beyond 3 weeks post infection. This cannot be explained solely by the fact that humans are accidental hosts for this parasite. Rather, differences in the immunological-inducing properties of this nematode from other helminth parasites must be taken into account.

Toxocara canis, an ascaridoid parasite has been reported to be able to avoid the damaging effects of cellular component type of inflammatory responses associated with tissue-invading helminths, by a rapid sloughing off of the areas of its cuticle in contact with the immune response, hence, it is continuously releasing surface antigens (Deardorff et al., 1991). This may explain the ability of *T. canis* infective juveniles to evade the host's immune attack and complete its complex tissue migration through all organs in the hosts' body. In contrast, it has been established that *A. simplex* L3 do not slough their cuticle and macrophages are able to degrade the *Anisakis* cuticle. The inability of *Anisakis* to slough the cuticle and also escape the deleterious effect of adherence of macrophages *in vivo*, may be a contributing factor to the short-time infection period of *Anisakis* spp in human hosts (Deardorff et al., 1991).

1.11 Anisakiasis diagnosis

The diagnosis of anisakiasis can be made in several ways: (1) by endoscopic examination, which may reveal an ulcerated bleeding lesion within the stomach or duodenum, at the centre of which may be a worm measuring approximately 2 to 2.5 cm by 1 to 2 mm. Recently, a capsule endoscopy

demonstrated small intestine anisakiasis out of reach of fibre endoscopy (<u>Nakaji, 2009</u>). (2) By barium studies, which may show narrowing of the intestinal lumen in areas with mucosal inflammation, a thread-like filling defect suggestive of a worm on imaging studies in some cases (<u>Matsui et al., 1985</u>); and (3) serial measurement of specific and total IgE when it is not known if the presence of specific IgE is due to a past infection or is associated with the present case (<u>Daschner et al., 1999</u>).

Imaging may be useful in guiding the diagnosis although standard X-ray is non-specific. However, localized stenosis as a result of focal edema may be shown by small-bowel X-ray (<u>Matsui et al., 1985</u>). When history and clinical suspicion are integrated with sonography, an easy and inexpensive alternative, that is noninvasive and with high sensitivity, is provided (<u>Matsui et al., 1985</u>).

1.12 Anisakiasis management/treatment

Since treatment for acute anisakiasis is dependent on endoscopic removal of the nematode parasite from the gastrointestinal wall if performed within 12 h from time of ingestion, it has been suggested that this parasitosis should be considered in the accident and emergency department (Bucci et al., 2013). Where the larvae are not removed, the disease can become chronic as the larval remains become surrounded by inflammatory cells, which permits Anisakiasis disease to mimic other diseases (Audicana et al., 2002). Treatment with anthelminthics has also been reported as there are some reports of albendazole or thiabendazole treatment in isolated cases of human anisakiasis (Pacios et al., 2005).

1.13 Control measures to minimise Anisakiasis

Storage, after-harvest handling and fish preparation are the focus of preventive measures. Migration of larvae into the muscle might be prevented by immediate evisceration of fish after being caught, thus reducing the zoonotic potential of the parasite. However, since this immediate cleaning may most

likely be done at sea, with the high possibility of removed contaminated viscera being thrown back into the sea and eaten by other fish, the prevalence of infection may actually be heightened (McClelland et al., 1990).

Fish intended for raw or semi-raw consumption have been recommended to be frozen at -35°C or below for 15 hours or at -20°C or below for at least 7 days by the United States Food and Drug Administration (F.D.A., 2011). However, it has been noted that fish freezing does not prevent the occurrence of allergic reactions. Anisakid larvae are known to be resistant to marinating, cold-smoking and salting. They have also been shown to survive being microwaved. Hence, for consumption at home, it is recommended that fish is cooked until the core temperature reaches 60°C or higher for a minimum of 10 minutes (Sakanari and McKerrow, 1989).

1.14 Immunogenic proteins of Anisakis and the Excretory/Secretory System

Several proteins associated with allergens and antigenicity have been discovered in *Anisakis* spp. Anisakiasis, in many cases, leads to IgE-mediated allergic reactions such as urticaria, angioedema, asthma and sometimes even anaphylaxis in highly sensitized persons (Daschner and Pascual, 2005). Ventura and colleagues (Ventura et al., 2008) highlighted three possible antigen sources of *A. simplex* that are responsible for an immune response in the parasitized host (1) somatic antigens with a molecular mass of between 13 and 150 kDa (2) Secretory/excretory proteins (ES antigens) that allow the penetration of *A. simplex* into the gastric mucosa (Sakanari and McKerrow, 1990) and (3) superficial antigens present in the parasite cuticle, which are likely involved in chronic inflammation (Baeza et al., 2001).

Parasites are known to be masterful modulators of the immune systems of their hosts. They are known to divert host responses to their own advantage (<u>Tritten et al., 2017</u>). The excretory/secretory molecules released by parasites have been identified as major contributors in the host-parasite

interaction (<u>Tritten et al., 2017</u>) and are known as significant players in immunomodulation. Several parasite-derived proteins have been demonstrated to induce a Th2-biased immune response, in combination with regulatory and anti-inflammatory components (<u>Harnett, 2014</u>, <u>Ditgen et al., 2014</u>). ES products have several functions during infection, and these include host tissue penetration and host immune response evasion as they elicit immune responses (including antibody production) both in fish and mammals (<u>Mehrdana and Buchmann, 2017</u>).

Anisakis infection of human hosts is not an exception. It involves complex interactions mediated by excretory/secretory (ES) products (<u>Bahlool et al., 2013</u>). ES proteins from anisakid nematodes, in particular *Anisakis simplex*, are currently used for diagnostic purposes and recent evidence suggests that they may also have a therapeutic potential in immune-related diseases (<u>Mehrdana and Buchmann</u>, 2017).

1.15 Integration of bioinformatics and proteomic tools in identifying

immunogenic proteins

Scientific research has changed in recent years, mainly due to the completion of numerous genomes in addition to the development and application of high-throughput technologies including gene expression microarrays and mass spectrometry. This has also brought about new and increasing opportunities to enhance our knowledge of biological systems (<u>Uloa and Rodriguez, 2008</u>).

Proteomics is the large scale identification and characterization of all expressed proteins in a given cell (in a given state). This includes all protein modifications and isoforms, protein interaction networks, and high order complexes of proteins (Uloa and Rodriguez, 2008). An important advancement in proteomics has been achieved by the integration of bioinformatics tools to analyze the results of those experiments (Uloa and Rodriguez, 2008). In the last few decades, the isolation and identification of a potential allergenic/immunogenic molecule of an organism or tissue includes protein component

extraction, extracted protein separation and detection. (Mari et al., 2010). Advances in mass spectrometry-based proteomics now enable the measurement of multiple properties for thousands of proteins, including their isoform expression, turnover rate, abundance, subcellular localization, interactions and post-translational modifications (Larance and Lamond, 2015). Together, these advances in the multidimensional analysis of the proteome are transforming our understanding of various cellular and physiological processes (Larance and Lamond, 2015). The helminth secretomes have become a rich source of novel drug targets, diagnostic markers and immunomodulatory proteins (Ditgen et al., 2014). The proteomic analysis of many helminths has been performed on a large scale using both bioinformatics and proteomics, including the secretome of *Ascaris suum* (Jex et al., 2011) and *Brugia malayi* (Bennuru et al., 2009). Little data exists on large scale analysis of the secretome of *Anisakis* spp, particularly *A. pegreffii*, which is further explored in this study.

1.16 Described allergens of A. simplex

In an investigation carried out by Faeste and colleagues (Faeste et al., 2014) in which potential allergens were characterized using sera from *A. simplex*-sensitized patients and proteome data obtained by mass spectrometry, a considerable number of the detected *A. simplex* proteins could be classified into 33 allergen families. According to the authors, the classification was only made with respect to specific peptide sequence motifs and domains and is without prejudice to the actual allergenicity of the respective proteins. Another study by Arcos et al. (Arcos et al., 2014) using proteomic assay, identified twenty-eight different allergenic proteins in *Anisakis* spp. Recently, a transcriptome study of both *A. simplex and A. pegreffii* was performed by Baird et al. (Baird et al., 2016) using comparative analyses with sequence data available in public databases. Thirty-six (*A. simplex*) and 29 (*A. pegreffii*) putative allergens were identified.

Of all these allergens described for *A. simplex* (Baird et al., 2016, Faeste et al., 2014, Arcos et al., 2014), fourteen of them have been accepted in the International Union of Immunological Societies (IUIS) database. The method and accession numbers of all protein sequences described, in this chapter to infer evolutionary relationship between *Anisakis* spp. proteins and homologues from other organisms, are detailed in the method section.

Name	Protein Name	Molecular Weight (kDa)	Organism	References
Ani s 1	Ani s 1	21	A. simplex	(<u>Moneo et al., 2000</u>)
Ani s 2	Paramyosin	100	A. simplex	(<u>Perez-Perez et al., 2000</u>)
Ani s 3	Tropomyosin	33	A. simplex	(<u>Asturias et al., 2000a</u>)
Ani s 4	Cystatin	9	A. simplex	(<u>Rodriguez-Mahillo et al., 2007</u> , <u>Moneo</u> <u>et al., 2005</u>)
Ani s 5	SXP/RAL-2	15	A. simplex	(<u>Kobayashi et al., 2007</u>)
Ani s 6	Serine protease inhibitor	7	A. simplex	(<u>Kobayashi et al., 2007</u>)
Ani s 7	Ua3 recognized allergen	139	A. simplex	(Rodriguez et al., 2008)
Ani s 8	SXP/RAL-2	16	A. simplex	(Kobayashi et al., 2007)
Ani s 9	SXP/RAL-2	15	A.simplex	(Rodriguez-Perez et al., 2008)
Ani s 10	Not given	23	A.simplex	(Caballero et al., 2011)
Ani s 11	Not given	30	A. simplex	(Kobayashi et al., 2011)
Ani s 12	Not given	33	A. simplex	(Kobayashi et al., 2011)
Ani s 13	Haemoglobin	37	A. simplex	(Gonzalez-Fernandez et al., 2015)
Ani s 14	New major allergen	23.5	A. simplex	(Kobayashi et al., 2015)

 Table 1.1: List of Allergens of A. simplex in IUIS Database.

Note: Allergens accepted in the International Union of Immunological Societies (IUIS) Database.

1.16.1 Ani s 1 Protein (Serine Protease Inhibitor)

Ani s 1 (a serine protease inhibitor), is described as a major allergen from *A. simplex. It* is an excretory/secretory gland protein (Quiazon et al., 2013b) and the first Kunitz-type protease inhibitor to be purified from a nematode. It was demonstrated to be a major allergen because it is recognized by sera from more than 80% of *Anisakis*-allergic patients (Kobayashi et al., 2008). The amino acid sequence of Ani s 1 lacks similarity to other known allergenic proteins (Moneo et al., 2000) This may explain the absence of cross-reactivity (Moneo et al., 2000). In addition, Ani s 1 has no similarity to other *A. simplex* serine protease inhibitors but was found to be homologous to troponin C of *Onchocerca volvulus* (Arrieta et al., 2000). The native function of Ani s 1 of *A. simplex* is still unknown. The modeled structure of Ani s 1 is shown in Figure 1.2A. This protein was found to have a functional EF-hand Ca²⁺ binding motif (Arrieta et al., 2000). The phylogeny of Ani s 1 with homologous proteins from other nematodes and invertebrates shows Ani s 1 of both *A. simplex* and *A. pegreffii* clustered closest to major allergen of Ani s 1 homologue of *Toxocara canis* (Figure 1.2B).



Figure 1.2. Ani s 1-modelled structure and phylogenetic tree.

(A). *A. simplex* Ani s 1-modelled structure. (Model Template PDB ID: 1bik.1A, Sequence identity- 28 %; SWISS-MODEL platform) (B) *A. simplex* Ani s 1 – Molecular evolutionary relationship with homologous proteins.

1.16.2 Ani s 2 (Paramyosin)

Ani s 2, also named paramyosin (100kDa), is known to be a somatic antigen. It is a highly conserved protein found in the muscle of invertebrates. Kagawa *et al.* (Kagawa et al., 1989) suggested it has an alpha helical-coiled structure as described for *C. elegans*. It has been reported to behave as a strong immunogen in a number of infections caused by *Dirofilaria, Taenia, Schistosoma* and *Onchocerca* (Grandea et al., 1989b, Steel et al., 1990, Laclette et al., 1991). Native paramyosin (n-paramyosin) from the fish parasite *A. simplex* has been reported to exhibit 80% specific IgE-binding as compared with only 20% reactivity with its recombinant form (rParamyosin) (Perez-Perez et al., 2000). According to Perez-Perez *et al.* (Perez-Perez et al., 2000), possibilities that may exist to explain this difference include the presence of conformational epitopes in the n-paramyosin, which is absent in the r-paramyosin as a result of improper protein folding (Perez-Perez et al., 2000). The modeled structure

of Ani s 2 is shown in Figure 1.3A. The phylogenic tree (Figure 1.3B) shows close evolutionary relationship between paramyosin proteins of *A. simplex, A. pegreffii, A. suum* and *T. canis*. A closer relationship between the paramyosin (Der f 11) of house dust mite (HDM) [*Dermatophagoides pteronnysinus*] and the paramoysin of some helminths was observed in the phylogenetic tree. It has been established that HDM antigens are major causative agents of allergic diseases such as asthma, rhinitis, conjunctivitis, and atopic dermatitis (Acevedo and Caraballo, 2011, Valmonte et al., 2012); and some antigens have been shown to be commonly shared between intestinal parasites and the environment. This may play a role in the modulation of allergic immune responses resulting in a growing interest in the investigation of cross-reactivity between common helminths and dust mites allergy diseases affecting humans (Valmonte et al., 2012).



Figure 1.3. Ani s 2-modelled structure and phylogenetic tree.

(A). *A. simplex* Ani s 2 modelled structure. (Model Template PDB ID 5tby.1.A, Sequence identity- 18 %; SWISS-MODEL platform) (B) A. simplex Ani s 2 - Molecular evolutionary relationship with homologous proteins.

1.16.3 Ani s 3 (Tropomyosin)

Ani s 3 is a heat stable somatic allergen and has an alpha helical protein coiled-coil secondary structure. *Anisakis* tropomyosin belongs to a family of phylogenetically conserved structural proteins. The amino acid sequence has regions of high percentage identity among and between different invertebrate and vertebrate tropomyosins (Asturias et al., 2000a, DeWitt et al., 2004, Jenkins et al., 1998). Tropomyosin is associated with muscle contraction in invertebrates and is found to be present in low concentrations in mite bodies and extracts. The invertebrate tropomyosins cause allergy in humans with high IgE cross-reactivity and, therefore, are referred to as pan-allergens (Aki et al., 1995).

It is also known as an important source of cross-reactivity between *Anisakis* and other invertebrates, suggesting clinical relevance of the immunological cross-reactivity of Ani s 3 (Sereda et al., 2008). Allergic cross-reactivity between *Anisakis* and the domestic mites *A. siro* and *L. destructor* has been reported, in which tropomyosin was implicated (Johansson et al., 2001). Hence it is not surprising to see their relatedness in the phylogenetic tree shown in Figure 1.4B. Tropomyosin has also been implicated in the cross-reactivity between mites and human parasites (Acevedo et al., 2009). Hence, sensitization to mite tropomyosin could be a marker of previous exposure to parasites, and other allergens and vice versa. The modeled structure of Ani s 3 is shown in Figure 1.4A. Phylogenetic analysis (Figure 1.4B) shows Ani s 3 clustering closest to the tropomyosin of *A. lumbricoides* and *Loa loa.* It is also interesting to note from the phylogeny that tropomyosin of mites (*A. siro, D. farina, B. tropicalis, L. destructor*) cluster closer to tropomyosin of crustaceans (crab-*P. sanguinoletus* and lobster-*J. lalandii*). Studies have demonstrated that allergens from snails, crustaceans, cockroaches, and others cross-react with house dust mite allergens (Johansson et al., 2001).



Figure 1.4. Ani s 3-modelled structure and phylogenetic tree.

(A). A. simplex Ani s 3 modelled structure. (Model Template PDB ID 1c1g; Sequence identity-59 %; SWISS-MODEL platform) (B) A. simplex Ani s 3 - Molecular evolutionary relationship with homologous proteins.

1.16.4 Ani s 4 (Cysteine protease inhibitor)

Ani s 4 was identified from *A. simplex* and defined as an allergen of somatic origin. It has however, also been identified as a significant component of the ES products of *A. simplex*. It is a low molecular weight protein, which is characterized by high stability to pepsin-digestion, heat and freezing. It is recognised by only 27–30% of patients' sera, but seems to be particularly important in provoking anaphylaxis in allergic consumers (Moneo et al., 2005). Although Ani s 4 is classified as a minor allergen (< 50% IgE sero-positivity), it is considered an important allergic protein due to its clinical relevance in being implicated in allergic reactions after eating well-cooked or canned fish (Rodriguez-Perez et al., 2008). Figure 1.5A shows the modelled structure of Ani s 4. The phylogeny of Ani s 4, shown in Figure 1.5B, indicates Ani s 4 clusters closest to the cysteine protease inhibitor (CPI) of *Halioitis discus hannai* (abalone) and *Loa loa* (filarial nematode of humans).



Figure 1.5. Ani s 4-modelled structure and phylogenetic tree.

(A). *A. simplex* Ani s 4 modelled structure. (Model Template PDB ID 4it7.1.A; Sequence identity-53 %; SWISS-MODEL platform) (B) *A. simplex* Ani s 4 - Molecular evolutionary relationship with homologous proteins.

1.16.5 SXP/RAL-2 family Protein Allergens in Anisakis (Ani s 5, Ani s 8, Ani s 9)

The SXP/RAL-2 family of proteins have been detected exclusively in nematodes infecting both plants and animals (Jones et al., 2000, Chandrashekar et al., 1994, Tytgat et al., 2005a). Apparently, homologs of these proteins have not been identified outside the Nematoda. This family of proteins are hence termed 'nematode-specific proteins.' The SXP/RAL-2 family contains the DUF 148 domain, which consists of two conserved motifs, SXP-1 and SXP-2; however the functions of these domains are unknown. A number of members of this protein family have been described as immunologically active proteins (Tytgat et al., 2005a). They are known to have a signal peptide indicative of a secreted protein and they have also been reported to be secreted on the surface of the nematode's cuticle where they appear to carry out a structural or protective function (Tytgat et al., 2005b). Some of these proteins have been identified as targets for nematode vaccines due to the protection they conferred upon immunization (Fujiwara et al., 2007). Members of this protein family in nematodes include the immunodominant hypodermal antigen OV17 from Onchocerca volvulus (Fujiwara et al., 2007, Gallin et al., 1989), Ac-16 from Ancylostoma caninum, Bm-SXP-1 of Brugia malayi, AS16, AS14 protein from Ascaris suum and the antigens WB14 and SXP from Wuchereria bancrofti (Fujiwara et al., 2007, Rao et al., 2000). This protein has also been predicted from the C. elegans genome (Garcia-Mayoral et al., 2014).

Three SXP/RAL-2 proteins have been detected in *A. simplex* and described as allergens namely: Ani s 5 (15kDa), Ani s 8 (15kDa) and Ani s 9 (14kDa). The 3D structure of Ani s 5 was the first structure of an *Anisakis* allergen to be solved (Figure 1.6A) and also the first structure of an SXP/RAL-2 protein (Garcia-Mayoral et al., 2014). It is assumed that Ani s 5 and other members of the SXP/RAL-2 family of proteins of *Anisakis* spp (Ani s 8 and 9) are secreted into the human gastrointestinal tract from ingested third-stage larvae of *A. simplex* (Kobayashi et al., 2007). The SXP/RAL-2 proteins of *A. simplex s.s.* have been described as clinically relevant even though they are minor allergens. This is

because they are heat stable allergens implicated in allergic episodes with canned or well-cooked fish (Moneo et al., 2005).

The phylogeny of the SXP/RAL-2 proteins of *A. simplex* (Figure 1.6B) showed Ani s 8 and Ani s 9 to be distantly related while Ani s 9 is observed to be closely related to As14 of *A. suum* and Ani s 8 is shown to be evolutionary closer to *Onchocerca volvulus* protein. Furthermore, Ani s 5 clustered closer to OV-17 antigen of *T. canis* than with intra-species protein homologs of *Anisakis* SXP/RAL-2 proteins. The similarity of the SXP/RAL-2 family of proteins suggests these homologous proteins might share some biological properties. No cross reactivity has been reported yet between *A. simplex* SXP/RAL-2 proteins and other homologous protein in other nematodes.



Figure 1.6. Ani s 5, Ani s 8 and Ani s 9-modelled structure and phylogenetic tree.

(A). *A. simplex* Ani s 5 solved structure and also the modelled structure for Ani s 8 with Ani s 9. (PDB ID: 2mar.1.A; SWISS-MODEL platform) (B) A. simplex Ani s 5, Ani s 8 and Ani s 9 - Molecular evolutionary relationship with homologous proteins.

1.16.6 Ani s 6 (Serine protease inhibitor)

Ani s 6 (a cysteine-rich serine protease inhibitor, 7kDa), is a minor allergen of *Anisakis simplex* as it is recognized by <50% of infected allergic patients. It was the first protease inhibitor experimentally identified as an allergen in nematodes, sharing high sequence identity with serine protease inhibitors from other animals such as the protease inhibitor Api m 6 of honeybee (*Apis mellifera-* 29% sequence identity); PrInh6 of tsetse fly (*Glossina morsitans morsitans-*30% sequence identity); malaria mosquito (30% sequence identity) and chymotrypsin-elastase inhibitor ixodidin of cattle tick (*Boophilus microplus-*36% sequence identity) (Kobayashi et al., 2007). The modelled structure and the phylogenetic analysis of Ani s 6 are shown in Figure 1.7A and B, respectively. Ani s 6 is observed to clusters closer to protease inhibitors of *Anopheles sinensis*, a mosquito, and of *T. canis*.





(A). A. simplex Ani s 6-modelled structure. (Model Template PDB ID 2p3f.1.C; Sequence identity- 42 %; SWISS-MODEL platform) (B) A. simplex Ani s 6 - Molecular evolutionary relationship with homologous proteins.

1.16.7 Anisakis simplex Allergenic Proteins with Repetitive Sequences.

A number of parasites have been described to have antigenic proteins with short repetitive sequences, which usually would elicit a strong humoral immune response in the infected host. Such parasites include the malaria parasite (Tetteh et al., 2005). In *Anisakis simplex*, 5 different proteins (Ani s 7, Ani s 10, Ani s 11, Ani s 11-like and Ani s 12) have been identified with repetitive sequences (Kobayashi et al., 2011). Repetitive unique motifs including four Cys residues at regular intervals, which have not been recognized in any proteins from any other organisms, have been found in *A. simplex*. However, no significant sequence similarities have been observed among the repeats (Kobayashi et al., 2011).

1.16.7.1 Ani s 7

Ani s 7, a protein of 139kDa molecular weight, has been found to be the most important excretory/secretory product *Anisakis simplex* allergen, since it is recognized by 100% of allergic patients and it is the only allergen of *A. simplex* discovered so far with this property (Anadon et al., 2009). The allergenicity of this molecule has been attributed mainly to the presence of a novel ($CX_{17-25}CX_{9-22}CX_8CX_6$) tandem repeat motif not seen in any previously reported protein. The result of a study by Anadon *et al.* (Anadon et al., 2009) demonstrated that native Ani s 7 is a secreted protein and is recognized by the rats immune system from only live larvae (i.e. during the acute phase of infection). Another investigation by Cuellar *et al.* (Cuellar et al., 2012) concluded that Ani s 7 could be used to detect active infections while Ani s 1 would detect old infections from the complex mixture of proteins in *A. simplex.* Ani s 7's modelled structure is shown in Figure 1.8A, while its phylogenetic relationship with homologous proteins is shown in Figure 1.8D.



Figure 1.8. Ani s 7, Ani s 12 and Ani s 14-modelled structure and phylogenetic tree.

(A). *A. simplex* Ani s 7-modelled structure. (Model Template PDB ID 3gqc.1.A; Sequence identity-14 %; SWISS-MODEL platform) (B) *A. simplex* Ani s 12 modelled structure. (Model Template PDB ID 1bbi.1.A; Sequence identity- 27 %; SWISS-MODEL platform) (C). *A. simplex* Ani s 14 modelled structure. (Model Template PDB ID 5ydg.1.A; Sequence identity- 17 %; SWISS-MODEL platform); (D). *A. simplex* Ani s 7, Ani s 12 and Ani s 14 - Molecular evolutionary relationship with homologous proteins.

1.16.7.2 Ani s 12

Ani s 12 of *A. simplex* is a newly discovered allergen found to have novel tandem motif with four Cys residues (Kobayashi et al., 2011). Little knowledge is so far available on whether their allergenic epitope is conformational or not. It is described as having a tandem repeat structure with its repetitive sequence $CX_{13-25}CX_9CX_{7,8}CX_6$ made up of 40–52 amino acid residues and which has been found to be much longer than those of the Ani s 11 and Ani s 11-like proteins. Ani s 7 has also been described as a novel protein with nineteen repeats ($CX_{17-25}CX_{9-22}CX_8CX_6$) of a closely similar motif to Ani s 12 (Rodriguez et al., 2008). Ani s 7 and Ani s 12 have been found to have no significant similarity with each other even though similar tandem motifs are

contained in both. According to Kobayashi *et al.* (Kobayashi et al., 2011), this suggests that Ani s 12 has specific IgE epitopes differing from the major IgE epitope proposed for Ani s 7. The modeled structure and phylogeny of Ani s 12 are shown in Figures 1.8 B and D, respectively.

1.16.7.3 Ani s 14

Ani s 14, a 24kDa protein, is the most recently described major allergen of A. simplex as it is recognized by more than 50% of Anisakis allergic patients. It is the sixth major allergen of A. simplex described to date. Two homologous sequences at positions 5-44 and 54-97 have been described to date characterize this protein. These two regions in this allergen share 36% sequence identity and their common structure has been defined as CX₈CX₆CX_{22, 26}. It is interesting to know that while Ani s 7 and Ani s 12 possess tandem repeats of similar structure with four residues of Cys at regular intervals, there are however no sequence similarity among the repeats of Ani s 7, Ani s 12 and Ani s 14. Another unique feature found in Ani s 14 is the presence of three kinds of redundant sequences- Gly-Gly-Met (positions 127-129 and 200-202), Ser-Ser-Met-Leu-Ser (positions 14-19 and 21-26) and Cys-Ile-Ala (positions 5-7 and 97-99) (Kobayashi et al., 2015). Kobayashi et al. (Kobayashi et al., 2015) suggested that these redundant sequences might represent IgE binding epitopes as repetitive sequences tend to be recognized by the human immune system. In addition, it is reported that Ani s 14 has no known domain or motifs and does not belong to any protein family, even though it has similarity in its amino acid sequence with Ani s 7, Ani s 12 and a hypothetical protein from dog roundworm (Toxocara *canis*). The biological functions of these proteins are not known and neither is the function of Ani s 14. The modelled structure and phylogeny of Ani s 14 with homologous proteins (Ani s 7 and Ani s 12) is shown in Figures 1.8C and D.

1.16.7.4 Ani s 10

Ani s 10, a protein of 22kDa molecular weight, has been reported to possess a sequence composed of seven almost identical repetitions of 29 amino acids each; with each of these repeats having theoretical cleavage sites for trypsin and pepsin (Caballero et al., 2011). Ani s 10 is presumed to be either a somatic or cuticular antigen as the protein band corresponding to Ani s 10 was not observed in the excretion/secretion products from the parasite (Caballero et al., 2011). Though classified as a minor allergen as a result of 39% positive reactivity by Anisakis allergic patients, it has been found to be clinically important. This is because the IgE binding capacity of this allergen is not affected by heat treatment, implying its stability to heat (Caballero et al., 2011). This signifies that the standard precaution of cooking seafood before consumption may not be sufficient to prevent allergic reaction to this allergen. Hence, in a dead larvae found in fish derived food, this allergen could elicit an allergic response. Among the 39% of patients with sero-positivity against the Ani s 10 allergen, patients with urticarial symptoms were the most frequent (53%), followed by patients with anaphylaxis, epigastralgia and vomiting symptoms (23%) (Caballero et al., 2011). Ani s 10 has been shown to be homologous to Ani s 11 and two Ani s 11-like proteins from A. simplex share 49 and 43% sequence identity, respectively. The phylogeny of Ani s 10 with other homologous proteins is shown in Figure 1.9B. No template was found for Ani s 10 to model its structure.

1.16.7.5 Ani s 11 and Ani s 11-like allergens

Ani s 11 and Ani s 11-like protein are described as structurally unique allergens as they have five or six types of short repetitive 6-15 amino acids sequences (Kobayashi et al., 2011). This structural feature has been found in Ani s 10 allergen, which has 43% sequence identity to Ani s 11-like protein. It is suggested that both Ani s 11 and Ani s 11-like protein might be surface antigens because parasite antigenic proteins with tandem repeats have been found to be localized on the body surface and are

often readily recognized by hosts, probably for protection against host immune responses (Leid et al., 1987). Both proteins have different chain lengths, (Ani s 11-307 amino acids, Ani s 11-like- 160 amino acids), yet they share 78% sequence identity. Ani s 11 and Ani s 11-like allergens from *A. simplex* were identified by a chemiluminescent immunoscreening method developed by Kobayashi *et al.* (Kobayashi et al., 2011). Functions for these proteins are still unknown. A recent study by Carballeda-Sangiao *et al.* (Carballeda-Sangiao et al., 2016) has shown the Ani s 11-like allergen to be a pepsin and heat resistant major allergen of *A. simplex*. Figure 1.9A and B shows the modelled structure and the molecular relationship of Ani s 11 of *A. simplex* to homologous proteins.



Figure 1.9. Ani s 11-modelled structure and phylogenetic tree for Ani s 11 and Ani s 10.

(A). *A. simplex* Ani s 11-modelled structure. (Model Template PDB 5van.1.A; Sequence identity-24 %; SWISS-MODEL platform); (B). *A. simplex* Ani s 10 and Ani s 11 - Molecular evolutionary relationship with homologous proteins.

1.16.8 Ani s 13 (Haemoglobin)

The haemoglobin protein was first described in the stage 3 larvae of *A. pegreffii* by Nieuwenhuizen *et al.* (Nieuwenhuizen et al., 2013). It was found associated with the excretory-secretory ducts and was a highly expressed protein. Their result showed that *A. pegreffii* haemoglobin has high similarity to haemoglobin of a related marine nematode, *Psuedoterranova decipiens*. Gonzalez-Fernandez *et al.* (Gonzalez-Fernandez et al., 2015) extended their investigation to describe that this haemoglobin protein is also present in *A. simplex* and has no cross-reactivity to *Ascaris* haemoglobin. Over 50% of studied patient sera (64.3%) with features of *Anisakis* parasitism recognized *A. simplex* haemoglobin and it has therefore been classified as a new major allergen of *A. simplex* (Ani s 13). Five epitopes have been defined on this protein with the most important epitopes being Epitope 2 and 5 for IgE binding and specificity (Gonzalez-Fernandez et al., 2015). Epitope 5 in *A. simplex* haemoglobin has been found to be absent in *Ascaris* haemoglobin and has been suggested to be probably responsible for the specificity of IgE reactivity from *Anisakis*-positive patients. Modelled structure of A. simplex haemoglobin is shown in Figure 1.10A. In comparison with other nematodes, the phylogeny (Figure 1.10B) shows closer clustering to the haemoglobin protein of *T. canis* than to other nematode haemoglobin.



Figure 1.10. Ani s 13-modelled structure and phylogenetic tree

(A). A. simplex Ani s 13-modelled structure. (Model Template PDB ID 101m.1.A; Sequence identity- 19 %; SWISS-MODEL platform) (B) A. simplex Ani s 13 - Molecular evolutionary relationship with homologous proteins.

1.17 Other Allergens in A. simplex

Other allergens of *A. simplex* still under investigation include the fructose-1, 6-bisphosphatase family (Ani s FBPP), and is already reported to be a wheat flour allergen (Baur and Posch, 1998, Kim et al., 2006). Others include Cytochrome c oxidase subunit 3 (Ani s CCOS3), cytochrome b (Ani s Cytochrome B), NADH dehydrogenase subunit 4L (Ani s NADHDS4L), and Troponin-like protein (Ani s Troponin) (Kim et al., 2006, Mohandas et al., 2014). These above-named proteins have been given allergome codes; however, little literature exists to establish their allergenicity. In addition, an antigenic protein of 42kDa molecular weight was described in the somatic extract of *Anisakis* larvae by Sugane *et al.* (Sugane et al., 1992). This protein was reported to

react only with *A. simplex* infected human sera. However, investigation into this protein as an allergen is still inconclusive.

Enolase, another allergenic protein found in *A. simplex* (Rodriguez et al., 2006) has also been investigated for immunogenic activity. Enolases from several microorganisms have been implicated in tissue invasion as well as in allergic disorders in humans (Ito et al., 1995, Simon-Nobbe et al., 2000, Baldo and Baker, 1988, Pancholi, 2001). Recent *Anisakis* transcriptome identified this protein as a putative allergen of *Anisakis* based on >70% sequence similarity with already described allergens in allergen database from other organsims (Baird et al., 2016).

1.18 Implication for invertebrate cross-sensitivity/cross-reactivity

When a specific IgE to a particular antigen binds with another allergen, which shares significant structural and sequential similarity to the specific allergen, then a cross-reactivity syndrome is present (Singh et al., 2008). The implication of this is that a patient can be caught in a web of continuous reactivity to allergens (i.e. when patients try to avoid a specific allergen source, an allergen that a patient is already sensitized to could be hiding in another food source). Several studies have shown by a variety of methods, possible cross-reactivity with *Anisakis simplex* by carbohydrates, phosphorylcholine, other anisakid or ascarid nematodes, and in addition, other arthropods such as dust mites, chironomids or crustaceans (Perteguer et al., 2003a, Daschner et al., 2000, Valero et al., 2003, Pascual et al., 1997, Johansson et al., 2001, Lozano et al., 2004, Perteguer et al., 2003b, Fernandez-Caldas et al., 1998, Iglesias et al., 1996, Lorenzo et al., 2000). This is not surprising as homologs of some of these proteins in other nematodes were found to perform similar functions when in human hosts.

1.19 Implications for allergy diagnosis

Clinical history may be less clear if patients are exposed to multiple agents in their environment at the same time. Furthermore, use of specific IgE alone to diagnose *Anisakis* allergy is confronted by the fact that even asymptomatic individuals can have *Anisakis*-specific IgE as a result of immunologic cross-reactivity with other helminths (e.g. *Ascaris*, hookworm) or invertebrates such as cockroaches, dust mites and shrimp (Asturias et al., 2000b, Moneo et al., 1997). Cross-reactivity to other allergens complicates the diagnosis of *Anisakis* allergy and is responsible for the cause of false diagnosis (Valls et al., 2003).

1.20 Non-allergenic proteins in A. simplex but with immunogenic activity

1.20.1 AniSerp

AniSerpin (44.6kDa), a novel serpin with anticoagulant capacity was identified in *A. simplex* and unlike other serine protease inhibitors of *A. simplex* which inhibit Kunitz and elastase proteases, this protease inhibitor inhibited human thrombin. It was also found to reversibly inhibit a cathepsin G and L. This ability to inhibit human thrombin makes this serine inhibitor suitable for use as an anticoagulant (Valdivieso et al., 2015). No parasitic nematode serpin has yet been described to have this anticoagulant property. Experimental evidence has shown the serpin (SPN-2) of *B. malayi* to be involved in evasion of host immune response by its ability to inhibit two serine neutrophil-derived proteases (Zang et al., 1999).

1.20.2 Macrophage Migration Inhibitory Factor

One of the earliest cytokines derived from activated T cells is the macrophage migration inhibitory factor (MIF), which is believed to prevent the random migration of macrophages (Bloom and Bennett, 1966). A number of MIF homologs have been isolated from parasitic nematodes; two types have thus far been identified: the type 1 MIF homologs and the type 2 MIF homologs (Gregory et al., 1997,

Pastrana et al., 1998). The type 1 MIF homologs were reported to bear a greater amino acid similarity with mammalian MIFs than the type 2 MIF homologs. Parasite MIF homologs were also found to have similar ability with those of mammalian MIF (Pastrana et al., 1998). However, it was reported recently by Cho *et al.* (Cho et al., 2007) that the MIF of hookworms, which is type 2 MIF structurally, functions differently from those of the mammalian MIF. MIF-like protein of *A. simplex* (As)-MIF) from larvae of *Anisakis simplex* third-stage larvae was cloned by Park *et al.* (Park et al., 2009) and was shown to induce a complete inhibition of eosinophilia and goblet cell hyperplasia in mice and reduce profoundly the quantity of Th2-related cytokines (IL-4, IL-5, and IL-13) in the bronchial alveolar lavage fluid among other immunological responses elicited by this protein. The result of this study suggests that As-MIF may be one of the molecules that affects host immune regulation and therefore may be functioning as a host immune modulator.

1.21 Paucity of Data on the Protein Repertoire of A. pegreffii

This review has summed up the present understanding and the current status of *Anisakis simplex* and its increasing number of molecules used to attack key pathways in the mammalian immune system. Five allergenic proteins Ani s 1, Ani s 2, Ani s 9, Ani s 12 and Ani s 13 have been compared between *Anisakis simplex* and *A. pegreffii*. Quiazon *et al.* (Quiazon *et al.*, 2013a) reported that *A. simplex s.s* and *A. pegreffii* share the same amino acid sequences for Ani s 9. Tropomyosin as an allergen has also been described for *A. pegreffii* (Asnoussi et al., 2017). However, the presence of other IUIS allergens described for *A. simplex* are yet to be identified in *A. pegreffii* proteome. In addition, in all the large-scale proteomic experiments described for *Anisakis* spp (Faeste et al., 2014, Arcos et al., 2014), the whole worm extract of the L3 stage of *Anisakis* had been used. There is paucity of data on how much of all these proteins identified are from the excretory/secretory channel.

This study seeks to identify what proportion of proteins already described for *A. simplex* are present in *A. pegreffii* proteome using 1D-Gel LC-MS/MS. Furthermore, this study aimed to explore the protein repertoire of *A. pegreffii* excretory/secretory product in comparison with the whole parasite extract as well as with other helminths. In addition, similarities of *Anisakis* allergenic proteins, in structure and immunochemistry, to allergenic proteins from other invertebrates, particularly TPM, are a major reason for difficulty in diagnosis of *Anisakis* allergy. It is anticipated that knowledge on cross-reactivity would minimise the number of allergens for diagnosis as well as allergic disorder therapies (Singh et al., 2008). This study extends investigation of cross-reactive allergens of *Anisakis* to *A. pegreffii* as well as identification of immunomodulatory molecules of *A. pegreffii*.

The **aims** of this study therefore are:

- Chapter 3: To identify and compare the immunogenic proteins from the secretome and whole parasite extract of *Anisakis pegreffii*.
- Chapter 4: To elucidate the role of microvessicles (exosomes) in the cargo and dissemination of *Anisakis pegreffii* immunogenic molecules.
- Chapter 5: To analyze in *Anisakis pegreffii*, novel cross-reactive allergens to shellfish.
- Chapter 6: To characterize medically important protease molecules of Anisakis pegreffii.

CHAPTER 2: GENERAL METHODS

2.1 Parasite Materials

Anisakis larvae were collected from *Neoplatycephalus richardsoni* (Tiger flathead), purchased from a local seafood market in Melbourne without cleaning and transported immediately on ice to the RMIT Biotechnology laboratory. Each fish was dissected according to established protocols, and the body cavity and internal organs (liver, gut, stomach and gonads) were examined for the presence of L3s of *Anisakis* spp. (Jabbar et al., 2013). When detected, live *Anisakis* larvae were removed, encapsulated larvae were freed from the capsule and thoroughly washed three times in physiological saline (pH 7.4) (Werner et al., 2011). Approximately 50 *Anisakis* L3s were stored in 70% ethanol at -20 °C for molecular identification and the preparation of crude protein extract (CE). A part of the nematodes were cleared in lactophenol and another part dehydrated in ascending grades of ethanol (20%, 30%, 50%, 70% and 100%) for morphological identification. The remaining live larvae (~50) were subjected to further experimental procedures for collection of excretory/secretory (ES) products.

2.1.1 Preparation of parasite crude extracts (CE)

Proteins were extracted from *A. pegreffii* L3s (n = 50) by snap freezing in liquid nitrogen, followed by homogenization in 2.5 ml of extraction buffer (0.1M Tris (hydroxymethy1) aminomethane and 0.5M glycine buffer; pH 8.7). Sonication (3 cycles; 30s on 15 s off; amplitude of 37%) was performed and protein extracts centrifuged at 4 °C for 10 minutes at 14,000 x g using in-house developed laboratory protocols for protein extraction. The supernatant was filtered (0.45 μ m filter; Millipore, Billerica, MA, USA) and concentrated using Millipore protein concentration columns (3kDa, 5 kDa and 10kDa cut-off; Amicon Ultra). Protease inhibitor cocktail (Sigma Aldrich; P8340) was added to sample aliquots which would not be used for protease activity study following the manufacturer's instruction. This was to avoid proteolytic degradation. Protein concentrations were measured with the Bradford reagent and samples stored at – 80 °C prior to further use.

2.1.2 Preparation of excretory/secretory products (ES)

Live *A. pegreffii* L3s were thoroughly washed in physiological saline (pH 7.4) to remove contaminant fish tissues, and subsequently maintained in RPMI 1640 culture medium with 10 mM L-glutamine (GIBCO, Invitrogen) containing 0.2 mg/ml gentamycin (10 mg/ml GIBCO, Invitrogen), 1 mg/ml streptomycin (Sigma) and 1,000 U/ml penicillin (Kelapharma). Individual L3s were incubated in 500 μ l of medium per well for 3 days (Zhu et al., 1998). Parasite viability (motility) was checked daily under a stereomicroscope, and the culture fluid collected every 24 h and replaced with fresh medium. The filtered supernatant (0.22 μ m filter; Millipore, Billerica, MA, USA) was stored at -80 °C prior to further use. Following molecular identification of each L3, the filtrates were pooled. Pooled ES products were concentrated using Millipore protein concentration columns (5 kDa cut-off; Amicon Ultra), and the total protein content was determined using the Bradford assay (Okutucu et al., 2007). The filtered and concentrated protein extracts were stored at -80 °C until further use.

2.2 Molecular Characterization

2.2.1 Isolation of Genomic DNA

Genomic DNA was extracted from the mid-section of individual larvae as described by Jabbar *et al.* (Jabbar et al., 2012). Briefly, the tissue was suspended in 200 μ L of 20mM Tris-HCl (pH 8.0), 100mM EDTA, and 1% sodium dodecyl-sulphate containing 10 mg/mL proteinase K (Amresco, USA). Incubation was at 37^oC for 18 h. Total genomic DNA was isolated from the homogenised suspension using a mini-column (Wizards DNA Clean-Up System, Promega, WI, USA) according to the manufacturer's protocol.

2.2.2 ITS-1 and ITS-2 Region Amplification and Sequencing

Two nuclear ribosomal loci were PCR-amplified using the primers SS1/NC13R (ITS-1) and SS2/NC2 (ITS-2) as described by Jabbar *et al.* (Jabbar et al., 2012). Briefly, PCR was conducted in a 50 μ L volume containing 10mM of Tris-HCl (pH 8.4), 50mM of KCl (Promega), 3.5mM MgCl₂, 200 μ M of each of deoxynucleotide triphosphate (dNTP), 5 pmol of each primer and 1 U of GoTaq polymerase (Promega) under the following cycling conditions: 94^oC/5 min (initial denaturation), followed by 35 cycles of 94^oC/30 s (denaturation), 55^oC/40 s (annealing), 72^oC/40 s (extension), followed by a final extension at 72^oC/5 min. For each set of PCRs, negative (no-DNA) and known positive controls were included, 5 μ L of each amplicon was examined on a 1.5% w/v agarose gel stained with ethidium bromide and photographed. Amplicons representing the ITS-2 profile was subjected to bi-directional, automated sequencing using (separately) the same primers employed in PCR (308bp).

2.2.3 PCR-RFLP analysis

The genetic marker described by Zhu *et al.* (Zhu et al., 1998), D'Amelio *et al.* (D'Amelio et al., 2000) and Abe and Yagi (Abe and Yagi, 2005) were used to distinguish the L3 larvae of the *Anisakis* spp. PCR amplification of the 5.8S rRNA region of the parasite with NC5 (forward 5"-CGTAGGTGAACCTGCG-3') and NC2 (reverse'-TTAGTTTCTTTCCTCCGCT-3') primers was performed. The restriction endonucleases, *HhaI and* HinfI, were used in RFLP analyses of the amplified product of the ITS rRNA region. Digested products were analysed by electrophoresis on a 3% agarose gel and visualized using the Gel doc system (Biorad) (Lee et al., 2009).

2.3 Mass Spectrometry

2.3.1 Gel electrophoresis

The extracted proteins were subjected to SDS-PAGE gel-electrophoresis as previously described (Abdel Rahman et al., 2010, Kamath et al., 2014b). In brief, the protein extracts (CE and ES,
separately) were briefly heated in Laemmli buffer and 15 μ g (per lane) separated on a 12% bisacrylamide gel (BioRad, Hercules, CA, USA). The separated proteins were detected by staining with Coomassie brilliant blue R250 (BioRad, Hercules, CA, USA).

2.3.2 In-Gel Tryptic Digestion

Tryptic in-gel digestion was performed by cutting the entire gel lane for excretory/secretory (ES) products and crude extract (CE) separately, after staining with Coomassie brilliant blue R250 (BioRad, Hercules, CA, USA). Each gel lane was cut into 24 piece slices (horizontally) with each gel piece kept in sterile eppendorf tubes (1.5ml) for liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometric (LC-MS/MS) analysis. The destained gel piece was reduced with 10 mM DTT in 50mM triethylammonium bicarbonate (TEAB) (55 °C/45 min) and alkylated with 55 mM iodoacetamide made up in 50mM TEAB (incubated at room temperature (in the dark/30 min). Samples were then incubated with 200 ng/µl sequencing grade trypsin (Sigma Aldrich) (incubated at 37 °C/ overnight). The digestion was stopped by the addition of formic acid (FA) to a final concentration of 1% and dried in a vacuum centrifuge.

2.3.3 In-Solution Tryptic Digestion and LC-MS/MS Analysis

The in-solution digestion was performed by using 1mg/ml each of the ES and CE as well as pellets obtained from exosome proteins precipitated by acetone. This was mixed with 500µl of 0.5 M triethylammonium bicarbonate buffer (TEAB), reduced with 100 µl of 10 mM dithiothreitol and incubated at 60° C for 1 h. Subsequently, 200 µl of 200 mM methyl methanethio-sulfonate in isopropanol was added and incubated for 10 min at room temperature. The solution was digested with trypsin (resuspended in TEAB) at a ratio of 1/50 (amount trypsin/protein) overnight at 37° C. Dried peptides were dissolved in 40µl 0.1% formic acid and subsequently analysed.

2.3.4 LC-MS/MS Analysis

The digested sample was analysed by LC-MS/MS using a Q-Exactive mass spectrometer (Thermo Scientific). Peptides were resuspended in 0.1% formic acid and analyzed by LC-MS/MS using a Q Exactive Plus mass spectrometer coupled to an Ultimate Ultra High Performance Liquid Chromatography [3000 UHPLC] (Thermo Fisher Scientific, San Jose, CA). Sample was injected onto a PepMap C18 trap column (75 μ M x 2 cm, 3 μ M, 100 Å, Thermo Fisher Scientific, San Jose, CA) at 5 μ L/min for 5 min using 0.05% trifluoroacetic acid (TFA), /3% acetonitrile and then separated through a PepMap C18 analytical column (75 μ M x 50 cm, 2 μ M, 100 Å, Thermo Fisher Scientific, San Jose, CA) at a flow rate of 300 nL/min. The temperature of both columns was maintained at 50 °C. During separation, the percentage of solvent B (solvent B is 0.1% FA in acetonitrile) in mobile phase was increased from 3% to 25% in 23 min, from 25% to 40% in 2 min and from 40% to 85% in 2 min. Then the columns were cleaned at 85% solvent B for 2 min before decreasing the % B to 3% in 0.1min and re-equilibrating for 10.9 min. LC-MS/MS procedures were performed at the Mass Spectrometry and Proteomics Facility Bio21, The University of Melbourne, Australia.

2.3.5 Protein identification

2.3.5.1 Identification of Peak list obtained from MS/MS spectra

Peak lists obtained from MS/MS spectra were identified using, Mascot (Matrix Science, London, UK; v. 2.4.1), X! Tandem version X! Tandem Vengeance (2015.12.15.2) [PMID 14976030] (Craig and Beavis, 2004); MS-GF+ (version Beta; v10282) (Kim and Pevzner, 2014), and MyriMatch version 2.2.140 [PMID 17269722]. The search was conducted using SearchGUI version [3.2.20] [PMID 21337703] (Vaudel et al., 2011).

2.3.5.2 Protein identification and Database Used

Protein identification was conducted against two concatenated target/decoy databases. The first database was *A. pegreffii* transcriptome database (Baird et al., 2016) holding 33747 target sequences (version of December 24th 2016). The second database was of concatenated target/decoy [PMID 20013364] version of the *Anisakis simplex* (20990, 99.3%), *Anisakis pegreffii* (96, 0.5%), *Anisakis berlandi* (16, <0.1%), *Contracaecum osculatum* (12, <0.1%), *Contracaecum rudolphii* (12, <0.1%), *Anisakis simplex x Anisakis pegreffii* (2, <0.1%), *Ascaris suum* (1, <0.1%), *Haemonchus contortus* (1, <0.1%), *Scomber japonicus* (1, <0.1%), *Trichuris trichiura* (1, <0.1%) complement of the UniProtKB [PMID 14681372] (version of [29012018], 21132 (target) sequences).The decoy sequences were created by reversing the target sequences in SearchGUI.

2.3.5.3 Identification setting

The identification settings were as follows: Trypsin, Specific, with a maximum of 2 missed cleavages 20 ppm as MS1 and 0.5 Da as MS2 tolerances; fixed modifications: Carbamidomethylation of C (+57.021464 Da), variable modifications: Oxidation of M (+15.994915 Da), fixed modifications during refinement procedure: Carbamidomethylation of C (+57.021464 Da), variable modifications during refinement procedure: Acetylation of protein N-term (+42.010565 Da), Pyrolidone from E (--18.010565 Da), Pyrolidone from Q (--17.026549 Da), Pyrolidone from carbamidomethylated C (--17.026549 Da).

2.3.5.4 Peptide and Protein Inference

2.3.5.4.1 Peptide Shaker for peptide and protein inference

Peptides and proteins were inferred from the spectrum identification results using PeptideShaker version 1.16.15 [PMID 25574629]. Peptide Spectrum Matches (PSMs), peptides and proteins were

validated at a 1.0% False Discovery Rate (FDR) estimated using the decoy-hit distribution. All validation thresholds are listed in the Certificate of Analysis available in the supplementary information. Post-translational modification localizations were scored using the D-score [PMID 23307401] and the phosphoRS score [PMID 22073976] with a threshold of 95.0 as implemented in the compomics-utilities package [PMID 21385435]. A phosphoRS score above was considered as a confident localization. Spectrum counting abundance indexes were estimated using the Normalized Spectrum Abundance Factor [PMID 15282323] adapted for better handling of protein inference issues and peptide detectability.

2.3.5.4.2 Scaffold for peptide and protein inference

For a second opinion of protein inference, identification and validation, Scaffold software (version Scaffold_4.5.1, Proteome Software Inc., Portland, OR) was used to validate MS/MS based peptide and protein identifications. Peptide identifications were accepted if they could be established at greater than 95.0% probability. Peptide probabilities from the search engines were assigned by the Peptide Prophet algorithm (Keller et al., 2002) with Scaffold delta-mass correction. Protein identifications were accepted if they could be established at greater than 99.0% probability and contained at least 2 identified peptides. Protein probabilities were assigned by the Protein Prophet algorithm (Nesvizhskii et al., 2003). Proteins that contained similar peptides and could not be differentiated based on MS/MS analysis alone were grouped to satisfy the principles of parsimony. Proteins sharing significant peptide evidence were grouped into clusters. An estimate of the relative abundance of the predicted proteins in the trypsin digestion (within the samples) was assessed using the normalized spectral abundance factor generated in the Scaffold (NSAF) software system.

2.3.5.4.3 Data deposited in Proteome Exchange

The mass spectrometry data along with the identification results have been deposited to the ProteomeXchange Consortium [PMID 24727771] via the PRIDE partner repository [PMID 16041671] with the dataset identifiers [*Project Name*: Proteomic Analysis and Molecular Characterization of *Anisakis pegreffii* Allergenic and Immunogenic proteins; *Project accession*: **PXD008816**; *Project DOI*: **10.6019/PXD008816**].

2.4 *Anisakis* allergens- molecular evolutionary relationship with homologous proteins

Described sequences of *Anisakis* allergens were retrieved from the Uniprot (http://www.uniprot.org/) and NCBI (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/protein/) databases. For a comprehensive search of *Anisakis* allergens homologous proteins, the BlastP program was performed in the non-redundant protein sequences (nr) databases. The result was compared with the TBlastN search. Algorithm parameters were set to the default. Sequences with E-values below 1 X 10^{-4} and bits score of >50 were selected as homologous proteins (Pearson, 2013). Phylogenetic and molecular evolutionary analyses were conducted using MEGA version 6 (Tamura et al., 2013).ClustalW was used for multiple sequence alignments with the default parameters and a neighbour-joining (NJ) tree was constructed with the aligned homologous protein sequences in MEGA. The following parameters were used for the phylogenetic tree construction: Poisson model, bootstrap (1000 replicates; random seed) and complete deletion of gaps or missing data.

Accession Numbers for Ani s 1 and homologous proteins (A)- Ani s 1 *Anisakis simplex* (AGC60035), Ani s 1 *Anisakis pegreffii* (AGC60032), major allergen Ani s 1 *Toxocara canis* (KHN76275.1), Hypothetical protein (HP) of *Loa loa* (EFO13778), *Ancylostoma ceylanicum* (EYC23835) and *Wuchereria bancrofti* (EJW78328); thyroglobulin type-1 (TT-1) and proteinase inhibitor I2 (PII2) domain containing protein of *Haemonchus contortus* (CDJ92662) and *Strongyloides ratti* (CEF62937); uncharacterized protein (UP) of *Caenorhabditis elegans* (NP_504413), Hypothetical protein of *Pristionchus pacificus* (KKA75732), Kunitz/Bovine pancreatic trypsin inhibitor (KBPTI) domain protein of *Necator americanus* (XP_013309260), *Oesophagostomum dentatum* (KHJ91434), *Dictyocaulus viviparous* (KJH50140) and *Ancylostoma duodenale* (KIH61880); Kunitz inhibitor of *C. elegans* (NP_508632) and major allergen Ani s 1 of *Ascaris suum* (ERG81619).

Accession Numbers for Ani s 2 and homologous proteins (B)-Ani s 2 of *A. simplex* (AGC60024) and *A. pegreffii* (AGC60020); Paramyosin protein of *A. suum* (ERG78965), *Onchocerca volvulus* (QO2171), *D. viviparous* (ABO07440), *T.canis* (KHN76665), *A. caninum* (ABC86903), *Dirofilaria immitis* (P13392), *C. elegans* (NP_492085), *Stronglyloides stercoralis* (CEF65593), *Trichuris trichuira* (CDW56486), *Trichinella spiralis* (XP_003371652), *Brugia malayi* (XP_001892373), Blo t 11 allergen of *Blomia tropicalis* (Q8MUF6), Der F 11 allergen of *Dermatophagoides farinae*(AIO08864) and HDM allergen of *Dermatophagoides pteronyssinus* (AA073464); paramyosin-like protein of *W. bancrofti* (AAG31484), Hypothetical protein of *L. loa* (XP_003141094), Myosin tail protein of *H. contortus* (CDJ96841), *Ancylostoma ceylanicum* (EPB69247) and *Necator amerticanus* (XP_013295008).

Accession Numbers for Ani s 3 and homologous proteins (C)-Ani s 3 A. simplex (Q9NAS5), Tropomysoin protein of A. lumbricoides (ACN32322). L. loa (EJD75137), Heligmosomoides polygyrus (ABV44405), Teladorsagia circumcincta (ADB27966.1), Trichinella spiralis (XP_003372651), C. elegans (BAA07540), Jasus lalandii (AFY98827) and P. sanguinolentus (ABL89183);Allergen Der f 10 of D. farinae (ABU97468), Blo t 10 Blomia tropicalis (ABU97466), Allergen Aca s 10 of Acarus siro (ABL09305) and allergen Lep d 10 of Lepidoglyplus destructor (Q9NF24). Accession Numbers for Ani s 4 and homologous proteins (D)-Ani s 4 *A. simplex* (CAK50389), CPI of *A. lumbricoides* (ADR51550), Cysteine protease inhibitor (CPI) of *Haliotis discus hannai* (AEI59124) and *H polygyrus* (AGA95986); Proteinase Inhibitor I25 of *H. contortus* (CDJ92568) and *S. rattii* (CEF69048); Onchocystatin protein of *A. suum* (ERG82219) and *T. canis* (KHN76703); Nippocystatin protein of *Nippostrongylus brasiliensis* (BAB59011), cystatin domain protein of *N. americanus* (XP_013296854), *O.dentatum* (KHJ94005), *C. elegans* (NP_504565) and *D. viviparous* (KJH50325); cystatin proteinase inhibitor (CPI) protein of *L. loa* (XP_003136654), Cystatin 3 protein of *A. duodenale* (AGB07555).

Accession Numbers for the SXP/RAL-2 proteins (Ani s 5, Ani s 8 and Ani s 9) and their homologous proteins (E)-SXP/RAL-2 protein *A. simplex* (BAF43534), solution structure of Ani s 5 *A. simplex*, Ani s 8 -1 *A. simplex* (A7M6Q6), Ani s 9 *A. simplex* (B2XCP1), protein of unknown function DUF of *H. contortus* (CDJ91573), SXP protein of *Strongylus vulgaris* (AGF90534) and *W. bancrofti* (AAC70783); immunodominant hypodermal antigen (Ac16) of *A. caninum* (ABD98404) and *Onchocertca ochengi* (ACB70199), uncharacterised protein (UP) of *C. elegans* (NP_496220), hypothetical protein (HP) of *N. americanus* (XP_013290850), Ag1 of *Baylisascaris schroederi* (ACJ03761) and *A. lumbricoides* (ACJ03764); Ag2 of *Baylisascaris schroederi* (ACJ03762) and *A. lumbricoides* (ADB45852); As14 and As 16 of *A. suum* (BAB67769), (BAC66614); SPX-1 of *L. loa* (XP_003142836) and *B. malayi* (AAA27864), antigen WbL1 of *W. bancrofti* (ABO40019), antigen WB14 of *W. bancrofti* (AAC17637), *B. malayi* antigen (AAA67319) and OV-17 protein of *t. canis* (KHN84076).

Accession Numbers for Ani s 6 (Proteinase inhibitor) and homologous proteins (F)- Ani s 6 of *A. simplex* (BAF43535), chymotrypsin inhibitor-like *Diaschasma alloeum* (XP_015111868), chymotrypsin inhibitor-like proteins of *Megachile rotundata* (XP_003700660), *Nasonia vitripennis*

(XP_001607538), Acromyrmex echinatior (XP_011050597), Polistes canadensis (XP_014599121) and Apis mellifera (KFD56018); hypothetical protein of A. ceylanicum (EYC24268) and T. suis (KFD56018); uncharacterised protein (UP) of C. elegans (NP_001076745), trypsin inhibitor like cysteine rich domain protein O. dentatum (KHJ89305), protease inhibitor 18 domain containing protein H. contortus (CDJ97122), bifunctional nitrile hydratase NIT4B of T. canis (KHN75744), chymotrypsin/elastase isoinhibitor 2 to 5 protein of T. canis (KHN80612) and PC-like protein Anopheles sinensis (KFB35567).

Accession Numbers for Ani s 7, Ani s 12, Ani s 14 and homologous proteins (H)-UA3-recognized allergen of *A. simplex* (ABL77410), hypothetical protein (HP) of *T. canis* (KHN86688), Ani s 12 allergen of *A. pegreffii* (AGC60028), Ani s 12 of *A. simplex* (AGC60030) and Ani s 14 of *A. simplex* (BAT62430)

Accession Numbers for Ani s 10, Ani s 11, Ani s 11-like and homologous proteins (H)- Ani s 10 allergen precursor *A. simplex* (ACZ95445), Ani s 11 allergen precursor *A. simplex* (BAJ78220), Ani s 11-like protein 2 precursor *A. simplex* (BAJ78222), Ani s 11-like protein precursor *A. simplex* (BAJ78221), hypothetical protein of *Branchiostoma floridae* (XP_002592239) and proline-rich extensin-like protein EPR1 *Clupea harengus* (XP_012681730)

Accession Numbers for Ani s 13 (Hemoglobin) and homologous proteins (I)- Hemoglobin of *A. pegrefii* (AFY98826), *P. decipiens* (CAA77743) and *T. canis* (AAL58703); globin-like protein of *C. elegans* (NP_498974) and *Ascaris suum* (ERG78975); unnamed protein product of *N. brasiliensis* (AAA72047), hypothetical protein (HP) of *P. pacificus* (KKA75577), globin domain of *H. contortus* (CDJ94105), *A. ceylanicum* (EPB66765), *S. rattii* (CEF61039), *N. americanus* (XP_013305040), *A. duodenale* (KIH66592), *B. malayi* (XP_001901554), *O. dentatum* (KHJ93008), *W. bancrofti* (EJW76352), *D. viviparus* (KJH47358), *L. loa* (XP_003136972) and glb-1 *P. pacificus* (KKA75692).

2.5 Template Search for A. simplex Allergenic Protein Structure Modelling

Template search with Blast and HHBlits has been performed against the SWISS-MODEL template library (SMTL, last update: 2018-02-07, last included PDB release: 2018-02-02). The target sequence was searched with BLAST (<u>Altschul et al., 1997</u>) against the primary amino acid sequence contained in the SMTL. An initial HHblits profile has been built using the procedure outlined in (<u>Remmert et al., 2011</u>), followed by 1 iteration of HHblits against NR20. The obtained profile has then be searched against all profiles of the SMTL. A total of 16 templates were found.

2.5.1 Template Selection

For each identified template, the template's quality has been predicted from features of the targettemplate alignment. The templates with the highest quality have then been selected for model building.

2.5.2 Model Building

Molecular models are built based on the target-template alignment using ProMod3. Coordinates, which are conserved between the target and the template, are copied from the template to the model. Insertions and deletions are remodelled using a fragment library. Side chains are then rebuilt. Finally, using a force field regularizes the geometry of the resulting model. In case loop modelling with

ProMod3 fails; an alternative model is built with PROMOD-II (Guex and Peitsch, 1997).

2.5.3 Model Quality Estimation

The global and per-residue model quality has been assessed using the QMEAN scoring function (<u>Benkert et al., 2011</u>). For improved performance, weights of the individual QMEAN terms have been trained specifically for SWISS-MODEL.

2.5.4 Ligand Modelling

Ligands present in the template structure are transferred by homology to the model when the following criteria are met (Gallo-Casserino, to be published): (a) The ligands are annotated as biologically relevant in the template library, (b) the ligand is in contact with the model, (c) the ligand is not clashing with the protein, (d) the residues in contact with the ligand are conserved between the target and the template. If any of these four criteria is not satisfied, a certain ligand will not be included in the model. The model summary includes information on why and which ligand has not been included.

2.5.5 Oligomeric State Conservation

Homo-oligomeric structure of the target protein is predicted based on the analysis of pairwise interfaces of the identified template structures. For each relevant interface between polypeptide chains (interfaces with more than 10 residue-residue interactions), the Qscore Oligomer (Mariani et al., 2011) is predicted from features such as similarity to target and frequency of observing this interface in the identified templates (Kiefer, Bertoni, Biasini, to be published). The prediction is performed with a random forest regressor using these features as input parameters to predict the probability of conservation for each interface. The QscoreOligomer of the whole complex is then calculated as the weight-averaged QscoreOligomer of the interfaces. The oligomeric state of the target is predicted to be the same as in the template when QscoreOligomer is predicted to be higher or equal to 0.5.

CHAPTER 3: PROTEOMIC ANALYSIS OF THE SOMATIC AND EXCRETORY/SECRETORY PRODUCTS OF ANISAKIS

PEGREFFII

3.1 Introduction

Anisakis pegreffii is known to be relevant for humans as a result of the zoonotic role it plays in causing the disease, anisakiasis (Mattiucci et al., 2017). To date, *A. pegreffii* has been reported as the causative agent of invasive anisakiasis in Europe (Italy, Croatia) (D'Amelio et al., 1999, Fumarola et al., 2009, Mattiucci et al., 2011, Mladineo et al., 2016, Mattiucci et al., 2013) and also in Japan (Umehara et al., 2007, Arai et al., 2014) and South Korea (Lim et al., 2015). The geographical distribution of *A. pegreffii* includes the Atlantic and Pacific Austral waters as well as the Iberian Atlantic coast waters. It is the most widespread anisakid species known to affect commercial fish from Mediterranean waters (Mattiucci et al., 2017). Although humans are accidental hosts of this parasite in which the parasite can survive for a short period of time but cannot reproduce, studies on this nematode, its infection and molecules released at the interface of host-parasite relationship are of crucial importance (Bao et al., 2017, Pravettoni et al., 2012, Audicana and Kennedy, 2008), To understand the biology of *Anisakis pegreffii*, knowledge of the history of helminth and their immunomodulatory mechanisms is of utmost importance.

3.1.1 Helminth and the Th-2 Immune response

It is known that helminths vary greatly in their biology. They exist within their host, particularly humans, in different developmental stages such as eggs, larvae or adult form. In addition, different species have preferences for different locations in their host, which include the lungs, colon, intestines, liver and others. Inspite of their wide range of characteristics, helminth parasites seem to elicit similar immune responses in their human hosts. Most helminths are known to induce modified T-helper (Th) 2 immune responses, accompanied by a wide range of immunoregulatory mechanisms, which helps to control excessive Th1 immunity that prevents parasite colonization (Ito, 2015, Hernandez et al., 2013, Trinchieri and Gerosa, 1996).

3.1.2 The Hygiene Hypothesis

The emergence of autoimmune diseases in the developed world has been linked to hygiene, some believing that the disappearance of endoparasites has been an important immune modifier (Bach, 2002, Weinstock et al., 2002). The hygiene hypothesis was proposed by Strachan (Strachan, 1989) over 25 years ago, when he suggested that early-life exposure of children to infection stimulates correct development of their immune system and protects them from diseases such as airway allergy, which comes in the form of seasonal rhinitis (Strachan, 1989). He indicated that the absence of these early-life infections predisposes children to hyperactivity and inappropriate immune responses as seen in allergy (Strachan, 1989). It was then observed that over the periods in which early-life infections were eradicated by good hygiene in the developed world (Western world), there was a corresponding positive association with development of epidemic immunopathological diseases such as allergic asthma. Helminth infection which had been eradicated mainly by hygiene practices during this period began to receive attention (McSorley et al., 2013). Epidemiological studies of atopy (Feary et al., 2011) or asthma (Leonardi-Bee et al., 2006), thereafter, suggested that parasitic infection did have a protective effect against these immunopathological diseases.

3.1.3 Helminth Infection and Immunomodulation

Several experiments, since the hygiene hypothesis was proposed, have shown that helminth infection can alleviate immune-mediated diseases such as multiple sclerosis (MS) (Correale, 2014, Fleming, 2013, Correale and Farez, 2013), inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) (Lu et al., 2014, Ferreira et al., 2013, Ruyssers et al., 2009, Smith et al., 2007) and diabetes (Zaccone and Cooke, 2013, Mishra et al., 2013, Lund et al., 2014). This is because it has been discovered that helminths possess immunomodulatory mechanisms that not only ensure their own survival in host body, but also respond to non-helminth antigens such as host self-antigens and allergens (McSorley and Maizels, 2012). Production of immunoregulatory cytokines such as IL-10, TGF-ß, and the increased activity of regulatory T and B cells

with alternatively activated macrophages (AAM), have been associated with establishment of helminths parasites in the host for long periods. Furthermore, helminths have been found to promote B cells to produce IgG4 antibodies, which counteract the IgE responses (Allen and Maizels, 2011, Grencis, 2015, Taylor et al., 2012, Hussaarts et al., 2011). In the last few years, as a result of these attributes of helminths, there have been developments in the field of helminth-therapies that have led to novel strategies in immune-mediated diseases treatment. *Trichuris suis* ova (TSO) has been used for the treatment of MS (Fleming et al., 2011, Rosche et al., 2013) and IBD (Sandborn et al., 2013), a treatment based on the concept of the hygiene hypothesis (Bach, 2017). *T. suis* is also now a commercially available treatment called Ovamed (http://www.ovamed.de/tso/publications).

3.1.4 Use of Helminth for Treatment of Immune-Mediated Disease

The treatment of human immune-mediated diseases with live helminths appeared to have had several drawbacks such as accidental infection, reduced immune response to viral, bacterial, protozoal infection and increased susceptibility to them, atopic reaction, poor acceptance with consuming eggs or live worms, problems with licensing worldwide, reduced efficacy of vaccine and the need to re-treat or re-ingest the parasite to maintain the benefit as well as because species like *T. suis* have a limited survival time in humans (McSorley and Maizels, 2012). However, a proposed solution to this problem was the use of somatic extracts and excretory/secretory (ES) products of helminths. Although, the mechanism of helminth therapy in inflammatory diseases is not clear, the immunomodulatory characteristics of helminths have been linked to the molecules secreted by these parasites. Diverse studies have shown that helminth- secreted products are able to manipulate host immune response and suppress the innate and adaptive immune response to helminths and unrelated antigens (Yatsuda et al., 2003).

3.1.5 Somatic Extract and Excretory/Secretory Products of Helminth

In several models, it has been shown that helminth infections lead to the generation of Th2 responses as well as anti-inflammatory/regulatory responses (van Riet et al., 2007). It is generally known that instructions for the development of specific immune responses are largely mediated by dendritic cells (DC), found in peripheral tissues as sentinel cells, which upon activation, migrate to draining lymph nodes to activate naive T cells. The DCs not only present antigens but also provides signals that determine polarization of T cell development towards a Th1, Th2 or regulatory T cell phenotype (Kapsenberg, 2003).

Helminth excretory/secretory products have been discovered to modify DCs in different ways ranging from influencing the DC maturation status to affecting the downstream signaling within the DCs (van Riet et al., 2007). Well characterized helminth derived molecules such as the filarial secreted glycoprotein ES-62 (Whelan et al., 2000), lyso-phosphatidylserine from *S. mansoni* (lysoPS) (Jenkins and Mountford, 2005, van der Kleij et al., 2002), *Ascaris* derived PAS-1 protein (reference), and others have been found to be associated with Th2 immune skewing as well as induction of tolerogenic immune response stimulating naive T cells to become regulatory T cells. Interaction with hosts' adaptive immune response to down-regulate T- and B-cell responses via the induction of regulatory T cells or the anti-inflammatory cytokines IL-10 and TGF-b in the chronic phase of helminth infection has also been documented for the secretory molecules of helminths (Maizels and Yazdanbakhsh, 2003).

Other parts of the hosts' body defence have also not been spared the deleterious effects of helminth secreted molecules. For instance, complement function compromise has been demonstrated by a schistosomula excretory/secretory molecule (Ouaissi et al., 1981) as well as host immunoglobulin degradation (Auriault et al., 1981). These helminth molecules have also been shown to neutralize host derived immune molecules as shown in *Schistosoma mansoni* eggs which secrete a chemokine binding

protein (smCKP) that blocked IL-8 induced neutrophil migration in a contact hypersensitivity model (<u>Smith et al., 2005</u>), indicating that this molecule may protect the parasite from an inflammatory attack.

Other additional wide range of parasite functions are attributed to these excretory–secretory (ES) products and these include penetration, establishment and survival in host tissues (Rosenzvit et al., 2006). Therefore, the characterization of ES products would aid in increasing the understanding of the mechanisms underpinning the strategies used by parasites for increasing the efficiency and persistence of infection in the host (Virginio et al., 2012). Proteomic analysis including mass spectrometry have helped the identification of ES products from *in vitro* cultures of parasitic helminths and has led to the identification of candidate host protective antigens and immunomodulators alike (Hewitson et al., 2008, Hewitson et al., 2011, Hewitson et al., 2013, Victor et al., 2012, Virginio et al., 2012)

Anisakis pegreffii possesses a complex life cycle involving many species of organisms as hosts (intermediate and definitive hosts) (Bao et al., 2017). A major intermediate host of this nematode are seafoods, particularly fish, which are increasingly being consumed as healthy diets. As much as it has been established that live parasites of *Anisakis* are required to cause infection, it is known that molecules produced by this parasite are very potent being thermostable, pepsin-resistant and being able to survive in low pH (Caballero and Moneo, 2004). The significance of these thermostable and pepsin-resistant molecules is that in food previously contaminated by this parasite, but in which the parasite has been killed due to heat treatment, molecules released by the parasite could still cause gastroallergic reactions in hosts due to their heat and pepsin stability (Caballero and Moneo, 2004). This implies that with the importance of fish and fish products as major source of essential nutrient supply to humans, realistic alteration of food preparation, storage practices as well as the possibility of supplying and certifying fish foods free from *Anisakis* parasites or its secreted molecules to avoid allergic sensitization and recall might lack effectiveness. It is therefore imperative to understand the biology of this organism, the effector

molecules released at the point of host-parasite relationship, the functions of these molecules and how they may affect humans' health. These would aid in the development of better diagnostic platforms and also identify molecules that may be beneficial for human health, particularly for treatment of autoimmune diseases.

A number of studies have been carried out on the protein content of the sibling species of *Anisakis pegreffii*, known as *Anisakis simplex* (Arcos et al., 2014, Faeste et al., 2014, Bahlool et al., 2013). The proteomic analysis of the crude parasite extract of *A. simplex* was investigated by Faeste *et al.* (2014). In addition, a 2D gel proteomic analysis of the crude extract of *A. simplex*, *A. pegreffii* and their hybrid was also investigated by Arcos *et al.* (2014), even though only a few spots from the 2D gel were analysed. Furthermore, a few other studies have looked at individual proteins in the ES of *A. simplex* (Raybourne et al., 1986, Perteguer et al., 1996, Park et al., 2012) and of recent a protein from the ES of *Contracaecum* spp was also investigated (Mehrdana and Buchmann, 2017). To our knowledge there is no report as yet on extensive proteome analysis of *A. pegreffii* and its excretory/secretory molecules.

Recently, the transcriptomes of *A. pegreffii* and *A. simplex* were investigated (Baird et al., 2016), the result of which has provided a first insight into the molecular biology of these parasites. This in addition to the whole genome sequence of *A. simplex* made available by Wellcome Trust Sanger Centre (2015), gives an excellent platform to investigate exclusively, by high thoroughput mass spectrometry (LC/MS/MS), the proteome of *A. pegreffii*, particularly proteins released by its excretory/secretory (ES) system. The knowledge of how the ES protein content of *A. pegreffii* differs from other helminths with regards to allergens and immunomodulation is crucial. This chapter is a follows up on the information provided in Chapter 1 on *A. simplex* immunogenic proteins.

The **aims** of this study therefore are:

- 1) Investigate in *A. pegreffii* the presence of the immunogenic proteins described for *A. simplex* using high throughput mass spectrometry (LC/MS-MS).
- 2) Profile the proteins associated with the excretory/secretory system of *A. pegreffii* and compare them to those obtained in the crude extract of the same species and the sibling species, *A. simplex*.
- 3) Identify the mechanisms employed to release secreted molecules to sites of activity.

3.2 Specific Methods

3.2.1 Experimental Design and Statistical Rationale

Excretory/secretory (ES) product collection, crude extract preparation and SDS-PAGE analysis of protein were performed with at least two biological replicates and three technical replicates. The general methods of parasite materials collection; molecular identification of *A. pegreffii*, preparation of excretory/secretory products (ES) and parasite crude extracts (CE); 1D- LC-MS/MS analysis and protein identification are as described in the general methods in Chapter 2.

3.2.2 Morphological Characterization by Scanning Electron Microscopy

Scanning Electron Microscopy (SEM) was performed on L3 larvae of *Anisakis* spp. The L3 larvae were fixed in 2% paraformaldehyde and 2.5% glutaraldehyde in 0.1 M sodium cacodylate buffer (pH 7.0) (Electron Microscopy Sciences) for 1 hour at room temperature. After fixation, samples were washed with same buffer 3 times and then dehydrated in a series of ethanol solutions (50%, 70%, 90%, 95% and 2X 100%) and embedded in Agar 100 resin (Agar Scientific, Stansted, UK) to anchor the sample for surface coating. Larvae samples were processed in a critical point drier "Bomer-900" with Freon 13, and then sputter coated with a thin layer of gold in an Edwards S150 sputter coater. Samples were mounted on SEM stubs for scanning. SEM imaging was performed using a FEI Quanta 200 ESEM (ESEMTM) or the XL 30 scanning Electron Microscope (Philips) operating under high vacuum. All measurements were in micrometers.

3.2.3 Secretome Prediction

Protein sequences were analysed for the presence of signal peptides and transmembrane regions using SignalP 4.0 (Petersen et al., 2011), TMHMM 2.0 (http://www.cbs.dtu.dk/services/TMHMM/), and information from the Uniprot database. Sequences with no signal peptides were analysed for non-classical secretion pathway, using SecretomeP2.0. The SecretomeP neural network (NN)-score threshold value for

non-classically secreted proteins was >0.6 (<u>Bendtsen et al., 2004</u>). Gene Ontology (GO) annotation of molecular function, subcellular localization and biological processes were performed using Blast2GO (<u>Conesa et al., 2005</u>) and confirmed using Uniprot (<u>Uniprot, 2015</u>).

3.2.4 Bioinformatic analysis

The sequences of identified proteins that were uncharacterized were used in a Blast search of the nonredundant National Centre for Biotechnology Information (NCBI) protein sequence database to identify homologous proteins. In addition, sequences of selected immunomodulatory proteins from other helminths were also used in a Blast search against *A. pegreffii* transcriptome database as well as the *A. simplex* genome database to identify homologous proteins in *Anisakis* spp. Homology was inferred and recognized by using statistical E-values below 1 X 10⁻⁴, bits scores of >50, and in addition a stricter threshold of sequence coverage length percentage (>50%) and sequence similarity of >40%. Domains present in the matched proteins and query proteins were searched using Prosite (http://prosite.expasy.org) to confirm homology.

3.3 Results

3.3.1 Morphological Identification of Anisakis

Tiger flathead fish (Figure 3.1), purchased from seafood retail shops were dissected. Eencysted larvae of *Anisakis* were macroscopically observed lining the gut of infected fish (Figure 3.2).



Figure 3.1. Tiger Flathead (Platycephalus richardsoni)



Figure 3.2. Encysted larvae (L3) in the intestinal tissue of Dissected Tiger Flathead

Morphological characterization was by optical microscopy and the scanning electron microscopy (SEM) visualization of certain features of the L3 larvae, which identified the larvae as *Anisakis* Type 1 larvae. Analysis of the anterior end of the larvae showed the mouth of the larvae rounded with dorsal and ventrolateral lips. The tooth was located ventral to the mouth. At the posterior end, the excretory pore opening was situated between the ventrolateral lips. The rectum opened at the anus and the anal tail is rounded, with a terminal mucron (Figures 3.3 and 3.4). The presence of a tail mucron was the principal character that differentiated *Anisakis* type I from *Anisakis* Type II.



Figure 3.3. Morphological Characterization by Optical Microscopic Examination

A-Posterior end showing mucron (Leica Optical Microscope Mag X40) B-Posterior end showing mucron (S2-11 Stereo Microscope)







(A). Posterior end of *Anisakis* spp, showing mucron. (B) Mucron and anal pore of *Anisakis* spp. (C) Anterior part of *Anisakis* spp showing the mouth, excretory pore, lips and boring tooth.

3.3.2 Molecular Characterization

3.3.2.1 ITS-1 and ITS-2 amplification

First and second internal transcribed spacers of nuclear ribosomal DNA (ITS-1 and ITS-2) from *A. pegreffii* were amplified using PCR from the genomic DNA of the identified type 1 Anisakis L3 larval morphotypes to give a 441- and 308-bp product for ITS-1 and ITS-2 regions, respectively (Figure 3.5).



Figure 3.5. ITS-1 and ITS-2 of A. pegreffii Amplification by PCR

Lanes 1=Molecular marker (100bp ladder from NEB); Lane 2=negative control; Lanes 3-15=Amplified products of DNA samples of Anisakid larvae fom Tiger Flathead fish.

3.3.2.2 PCR-RFLP analysis

Anisakis pegreffii was identified to species level by PCR-RFLP and DNA sequencing of amplified product. Larvae identification of the ITS 5.8 rRNA region of *A. pegreffii* produced a fragment of approximately 1000bp (Figure 3.6). Three clear bands of 330, 280 and 240bp were observed in RFLP

patterns digested with *Hin*fI for *A. pegreffii* (Figure 3.7), whilst digestion with *HhaI* produced two fragments of 550 and 430bp (Figure 3.7). *Anisakis typica* was used as negative control with 2 bands observed for digestion with *Hinf*I (350 and 620bp) and 4 bands for digestion with *Hha*I (320, 240, 180 and 160bp) (Figure 3.7). The *A. typica* larva was recovered along with *A. pegreffii* larvae in infected fishes dissected in this study. For *A. simplex sensu stricto*, three bands would be observed for digestion with *HinfI* (620, 250 and 80bp) and the same 2 fragments as for *A. pegreffii HhaI* digestion if present. No *A. simplex* larva was identified during the period of this study.



Figure 3.6. Amplification of the rRNA ITS-1 region of Anisakis L3 larvae

M=Molecular marker (100bp Ladder from NEB); Lane 1= negative control; Lanes 2-6=A. *pegreffii* L3 larvae amplified product of DNA samples; Lane 7=A negative control of a different *Anisakid* species larvae.



Figure 3.7. Molecular characterization of AP by PCR-RFLP of rRNA ITS region

M=Molecular marker (100bp Ladder from NEB); Lane 1- 6 = *A. pegreffii* L3 larvae ITS-1 region amplified product, digested with *Hinf*1; Lane 7=A negative control of a different *Anisakid* species larva digested with *Hinf*1.

Lanes 1-5 = A. *pegreffii* L3 larvae ITS-1 region amplified product, digested with *Hha*1; Lane 6 = A negative control of a different *Anisakid* species larva digested with *Hha*1.

Three clear bands of 330, 280 and 240bp were observed in RFLP patterns digested with *Hin*fI for *A. pegreffii* whilst digestion with *HhaI* produced two fragments of 550 and 430bp. *Anisakis typica* was used as negative control with 2 bands observed for digestion with *Hin*fI (350 and 620bp) and 4 bands for digestion with *HhaI* (320, 240, 180 and 160bp)

3.3.3 Sodium Dodecyl Sulphate–Polyacrylamide Gel Electrophoresis (SDS–PAGE) analysis

Crude extracts (CE) and excretory/secretory (ES) products of proteins from *A. pegreffii* were separated by SDS-PAGE. The protein profiles of the CE and ES products of L3 larvae of *A. pegreffii* are shown in Figure 3.8. The analysis revealed a complex and distinct banding pattern for both CE and ES. Most of the proteins were distributed between 10 –250 kDa. The ES showed a profile with major bands between >37 and 150 kDa. The ES of *A. pegreffii*, however, appeared to have more proteins at the lower molecular weight sizes, particularly below 15kDa as shown by SDS-PAGE and in the subsequent proteomic analysis obtained thereafter. The crude extract however, showed more proteins profiled than for ES.





Lane M=Molecular Marker (unstained, Biorad); Lane 1=A. *pegreffii* somatic extract; Lane 2=A. *pegreffii* excretory/secretory product.

3.3.4 Database searching and protein identification

The crude extract and ES product SDS-PAGE gel lanes were each cut into 24 gel pieces for tryptic peptide analysis by LC/MS/MS. OMSSA and X! Tandem search engines results, based on spectra assigned to tryptic peptide sequences at the 95% confidence level and a probability of greater than 99.0% with at least 2 identified unique peptides were then linked to protein identification. The resulting peptide masses, patterns and sequences were compared to the protein database entries for the transcriptome of *Anisakis pegreffii* using both Scaffold software and Peptide shaker with SearchGui.

The numbers of unique matching peptides detected varied from 2 to 76. Proteins identified with only 1 unique peptide were excluded from this analysis. A total of 726 proteins (from both crude and ES products) were identified for *A. pegreffii* from *A. pegreffii* transcriptome database. Different isoforms of some specific proteins were found distributed in both the CE and ES. Two hundred and thirty-five proteins identified by molecular masses were unique to *A. pegreffii* crude extract (Figure 3.9) while 148 proteins were unique to the excretory/secretory product. A large number of proteins (a total of 343 proteins) were shared between the ES and CE (Figure 3.9). Eighty one (11%) of total proteins identified was hypothetical proteins. None of the selected allergy-reducing protein molecules from other helminths used in a Blast search against *A. pegreffii* proteome, transcriptome database as well as the *A. simplex* genome resulted in any homolog in *Anisakis*.





Figure 3.9. Venn diagram showing the distribution of *Anisakis pegreffii Proteome* **proteins.** (N=726 proteins).

3.3.5 Secretory pathway prediction of A. pegreffii proteins.

The secretory pathway prediction for all proteins (726 proteins) identified in this study, predicted 5% with signal peptides and 25% as being secreted through the non-classical secretory pathway; resulting in a total of 30% proteins predicted as secretory proteins. However, experimentally, 46% of the total proteins identified were identified as secretory products.

3.3.6 Crude extract of A. pegreffii

Two hundred and thirty-five proteins were identified exclusively in the CE of *A. pegreffii*. Eighteen of these were hypothetical proteins with molecular weights below 45kDa, except for four of these proteins with sizes between 64-102kDa. In the crude extract, the major molecular function categories were binding (GO: 0005198), oxidoreductase (GO: 0016491) and structural molecule (0005198)

activities (Figure 3.10). Highly abundant proteins identified in *A. pegreffii* CE included proteins involved in metabolic processes, proteins associated with oxidoreductase activities, transcription or translation processes (RNA binding/ribonucleoproteins), structural molecule activity proteins, motor proteins and cellular processes proteins. Most of the proteins found in crude extract were derived from cell parts, macromolecular complex, organelles, organelle parts, membrane and membrane parts (Figure 3.11). Table 3.1 shows the top 30 abundant proteins unique to the crude product of *A. pegreffii*.



Figure 3.10. Molecular Function Terms (Level 2) for Proteins in *A. pegreffii* Crude Extract.





#	Presence	SecretomeP	Uniprot	Protein Name	Organism	GO
	of signal peptide	Prediction	Accession	(BlastP)		Annotation
1	Ν	Y	F1L2J6	calponin-like protein ov9m	A. suum	GO:0003779
2	Ν	N	A0A0B2VVW7	Myosin-4 (Unc- 54)	T. canis	GO:0003779 GO:0003774 GO:0005524
3	Ν	N	F1L3R9	naramyosin	A suum	GO·0003774
4	N	N	F1KRV7	pyruvate	A. suum	GO:0004736
				carboxylase 1		GO:0006090
5	Ν	N	F1KT77	nuclease domain- containing protein 1	A. suum	GO:0031047
6	Ν	Y	A0A0B2VZN8	Succinate dehydrogenase [ubiquinone] flavoprotein subunit, mitochondrial	T. canis	GO:0016491 GO:0055114
7	Ν	Ν	F1KU54	dimethylglycine	A. suum	GO:0016491 GO:0055114
8	Ν	Ν	F1L8F3	putative glutamine synthetase	A. suum	GO:0004356 GO:0006542
9	Ν	Ν	F1LBZ4	60s ribosomal protein L6	A. suum	GO:0003735 GO:0006412
10	Ν	Ν	F1KTS9	Glycine cleavage system P-protein domain containing protein	A. suum	GO:0016491 GO:0055114
11	Ν	Ν	A0A0M3KB56	227 kDa spindle- and centromere- associated protein [Ascaris suum] uncharacterized protein in Anisakis simplex	Anisakis simplex	-
12	Ν	Ν	F1KUZ9	vinculin	A. suum	GO:0005198 GO:0051015 GO:0007155
13	Ν	Y	U1MSW0	bm-dap-1 protein (death associated protein)	A. suum	-
14	Ν	Y	F1L9N2	putative enoyl	A. suum	GO:0003824 GO:0008152
15	Ν	Ν	U1M5C9	heat shock 70kDa protein 4	A. suum	GO:0000166 GO:0005524
16	Ν	Ν	U1MRY4	putative trans-2-	A. suum	GO:0016491

Table 3.1: Top Thirty Abundant Proteins Identified In A. *Pegreffii* L3 larvae Crude Extract.

				enoyl- reductase		GO:0055114
17	Ν	Ν	A0A0M3K9A3	small heat shock	A. suum	
				(protein lethal 2		
				essential for life)		
18	Ν	Ν	F1LHE1	40S ribosomal	A. suum	GO:0003735
				protein S14		GO:0006412
19	Ν	Ν	A0A0B2W7B0	hypothetical protein	T. canis	GO:0003779
				(Spectrin beta		GO:0005200
				chain)		GO:0007010
						GO:0051693
20	Ν	Ν	Q9XYS5	dihydrolipoyl	A. suum	GO:0016746
				dehydrogenase-		GO:0008152
				binding protein		
21	Ν	Ν	A0A0B2V0E7	Malonate-CoA	T. canis	GO:0016874
				ligase		GO:0008152
22	Ν	Ν	F1LHC0	60S ribosomal	A. suum	GO:0003735
				protein L30		GO:0006412
23	Ν	Ν	F1KYL5	putative glycogen	A. suum	GO:0016740
				synthase		GO:0005978
24	Ν	Ν	F1LAJ2	40s ribosomal	A. suum	GO:0003735
	• •	N 7		protein SA		GO:0006412
25	Ν	Ν	UIMIY/	succinate-	A. suum	GO:0016491
•	N	NT	F112000	semialdehyde	4	GO:0055114
26	N	N	F1KS22	Irifunctional	A. suum	GO:0016491
				enzyme subunit		GO:0055114
27	NT	NT		aipna	4	GO:0008152
21	IN	IN	FIKPKI	bmkettin (1itin-	A. suum	-
				Immunogiobin-like		
28	N	N	E1KSC5	uoman)	A SUUM	CO:0005524
20	19	1	TIKSU5	anzyme El verient	А. зиит	GO:0005524
				elizyille E1, vallalit		GO:0010874
20	N	N	4040M3I7K3	beta-tubulin isotyne	A simplex	GO:0005200
<u>4</u> 7	ŢĂ	11		1	11. заприел	GO:0005200
				1		GO:0003323
						GO:0007010
30	Ν	Ν	A0A0B2VZB3	40S ribosomal	T. canis	GO:0003735
00	1,	11		protein S17	1. contris	GO:0006412

Note: Selection based on quantitative value of normalized total spectra identified in the crude extract of *A. pegreffii* L3 larvae.

3.3.7 Excretory/Secretory Proteins of Anisakis pegreffii

Of the 148 proteins exclusively found in the ES, twenty-five (17%) were hypothetical proteins for which there were no homologous proteins found. The molecular weights of these ES hypothetical proteins ranged from 9kDa to 44kDa. The three major molecular function categories in the ES were binding (GO: 0005198), peptidase (GO: 0008233) and transferase (GO: 0016740) activities (Figure 3.12). Motor activity was not found in the ES, but was common in the CE. Most of the molecules identified in the ES of *A. pegreffii* were predominantly localized in the intracellular parts, macromolecular complex, membrane, organelles and extracellular region parts (Figure 3.13). Difference in the biological processes of proteins found in both ES and CE is highlighted in Figure 3.14. Table 3.2 shows the top 30 abundant proteins unique to the excretory/secretory product of *A. pegreffii*.



Figure 3.12. Distribution of Gene Ontology Molecular Function Terms (Level 2) for Proteins Uniquely Identified in *A. pegreffii* Excretory/Secretory Products.









	Excretory/Secretory Products.							
#	Signal	SecretomeP	Uniprot	Protein Name	Organism	GO		
	peptide	Prediction		(BlastP)		annotation		
1	Ν	Y	F1LBC9	putative cuticular collagen 12 protein	A. suum	GO:0042302		
2	Ν	Ν	A0A0B2UVC6	Cuticle collagen dpy- 5	T. canis	GO:0042302		
3	Ν	Ν	F1L7L2	Annexin	A. suum	GO:0005509		
4	Ν	Ν	F1L8K5	S-methyl-5'- thioadenosine	A. suum	GO:0016740 Go:0009116		
5	Ν	Ν	A0A0B2VMG6	Maltate- glucoamylase	T. canis	GO:0003824 GO:0005975		
6	Y	Ν	A0A183V4J4	Uncharacterized protein	T. canis	-		
7	Ν	Ν	F1KQL5	Aminopeptidase N	A. suum	GO:0004177 GO:0006508		
8	Y	Ν	U1MUG1	Cbn-ccg-1 protein	A. suum	-		
9	Y	Ν	A0A0M3J0R4	Uncharacterized protein	A .simplex	GO:0016021		
10	Ν	Ν	A0A0M3KJU5	Uncharacterized protein	A .simplex	-		
11	Ν	Ν	A0A0B2VMZ9	Collagen alpha-5(VI) chain	T. canis	GO:0042302		
12	Y	Ν	U1NL31	Uncharacterized protein	A. suum	GO:000847 GO:0043085		
13	Ν	Ν	F1L375	3-hydroxyacyl-CoA dehydrogenase	A. suum	GO:0016491 GO:0006831		
14	Ν	Ν	U1MDI1	Purine nucleoside phosphorylase	A. suum	GO:0004731 GO:0009116		
15	Ν	Ν	U1NJ88	Proteasome subunit alpha type	A suum	GO:0004175 GO:0006508		
16	Ν	Ν	F1L093	Carbonic anhydrase	A suum	GO:0006730		
17	Ν	Ν	U1NGD9	3-oxoacyl-reductase	A suum	GO:0016491		
18	Y	Ν	U1NCC6	Neprilysin-1	A. suum	GO:0004222		
19	Ν	Y	U1LX65	Galectin	A. suum	GO:0030246		
20	Ν	Ν	A0A0M3KJW8	Uncharacterized protein	A .simplex	GO:0004867 GO:0010951		
21	Y	Ν	F4MST7	ANISERP protein	A .simplex	GO:0005615		
22	N	Y	A0A183UR79	Uncharacterized protein	T. canis	GO:0036374 GO:006508 GO:006751		
23	Ν	Ν	A0A0B2VPT0	Snaclec bothrojaracin subunit alpha	T. canis	-		
24	Ν	Ν	A0A0B2V7Q3	Putative serine	T. canis	GO:0008233		

 Table
 3.2:
 Top
 Thirty
 Abundant
 Proteins
 Identified
 in
 A.
 pegreffii

 Excretory/Secretory Products.
				protease		GO:0006508
25	Y	Ν	A0A0B2VW18	Hemicentin-1 thrombospondin type_1 [TSP1] repeat	T. canis	-
26	Ν	Ν	A0A0B2UX03	Uncharacterized protein	T. canis	-
27	Ν	Ν	A0A0B2URF5	Glucosamine-6- phosphate isomerase	T. canis	GO:0016853 GO:0005975
28	Ν	Ν	F1KYX7	UTP-glucose-1- phosphate urisdylyltransferase	A. suum	GO:0016740 GO:0008152
29	Ν	Y	F1LGJ2	Endochitinase	A. suum	GO:0005975
30			F1L6Z5	Sepiapterin	A. suum	-

Note: Selection based on quantitative value of normalized total spectra identified in the crude extract of *A. pegreffii* L3 larvae.

3.3.8 Proteins common to both crude and excretory/secretory products

A total of 335 proteins were shared between the CE and ES. The two major molecular function categories in the proteins shared by CE and ES were binding (GO: 0005198) and transferase (GO: 0016740) activities (Figure 3.15) while major biological processes identified among these groups of proteins are embryo development and metabolic processes (Figure 3.16). The cellular components of these commonly shared proteins between CE and ES are shown in Figure 3.17. The Gene ontology (GO) term assigned to this protein is GO: 0006869 as it is associated with lipid transport.



Figure 3.15. Molecular functions of proteins common to Crude extract and Excretory/Secretory products of *A. pegreffii*.



excretory/secretory products

Figure 3.16. Biological Processes of proteins common to crude extract and excretory/secretory products.



Figure 3.17. GO annotation of the cellular component of *A. pegreffii* proteins common to both crude and excretory/secretory products.

3.3.9 Allergens identified

Of the previously described fourteen IUIS allergens of *A. simplex*, 9 were identified in this study by proteomic analysis in *A. pegreffii* (Table 3.3). Among the 6 non-IUIS allergens accepted for *Anisakis*, 3 were identified in this study from the proteome of *A. pegreffii* (Table 3.3). Of the putative allergens, described in the transcriptome of *A. pegreffii*, Hsp70, cyclophilin, enolase and glutathione–s-transferase were identified in the *A. pegreffii* proteome (Table 3.4).

IUIS Names	Protein name	Molecular Weight (kDa)	Identified in A. pegreffii proteome (This study)		References
			CE	ES	
Ani s 1	Ani s 1	21	Yes	Yes	(<u>Moneo et al., 2000</u>)
Ani s 2	Paramyosin	100	Yes	No	(<u>Perez-Perez et al.,</u>
					<u>2000</u>)
Ani s 3	Tropomyosin	33	Yes	No	(<u>Asturias et al., 2000a</u>)
Ani s 4	Cystatin	9	Yes	Yes	(Rodriguez-Mahillo et
					<u>al., 2007, Moneo et al.,</u>
		1.5			$\frac{2005}{1000}$
Ani s 5	SXP/RAL-2	15	Yes	Yes	(Kobayashi et al., 2007)
Ani s 6	Serine protease		No	No	(<u>Kobayashi et al., 2007</u>)
	inhibitor	120	NT	N/	$(\mathbf{D}, 1)$ $(1, 2)$
Ani s / (major	Ua3 recognized	139	NO	Yes	(Rodriguez et al., 2008)
allergen)	allergen	16	V	V	(Kabarashi at al. 2007)
Ani s 8	SXP/RAL-2	10	Yes	Yes	(<u>Kobayasni et al., 2007</u>)
Ani s 9	SAP/KAL-2	15	res	res	(<u>Rodriguez-Perez et al.,</u> 2008)
Ani s 10	Not given	23	No	No	(Caballero et al., 2011)
Ani s 11	Not given	30	No	No	(Kobayashi et al., 2011)
Ani s 12	Not given	33	No	No	(Kobayashi et al., 2011)
Ani s 13	Haemoglobin	37	Yes	Yes	(Gonzalez-Fernandez et
	C				al., 2015)
Anis 14	New Major	23.5	No	No	(Kobayashi et al., 2015)
	allergen				
Ani s 24kDa	24kDa protein	24	Yes	Yes	(Park et al., 2012)
Ani s FBPP	Fructose-1, 6-	40	Yes	Yes	(Lopez and Pardo, 2011,
	bisphosphatase				Baur and Posch, 1998)
Ani s CCOS3	Cytochrome c	29	No	No	(<u>Kim et al., 2006</u>)
	oxidase subunit 3				
Ani s Cytochrome	cytochrome b	42	No	No	(Mari et al., 2009, Faeste
В					<u>et al., 2014</u>)
Ani s NADHDS4L	NADH	9	No	No	(Mari et al., 2009, Faeste
	dehydrogenase				<u>et al., 2014</u>)
	subunit 4L				
Ani s Troponin	Troponin-like	19	Yes	No	(Mari et al., 2009, Faeste
	protein				<u>et al., 2014</u>)

 Table 3.3: Allergens of A. simplex Identified in A. pegreffii L3 larvae Proteome.

Unigene ID	IUIS Nomenclature	Closest Match in Allergen	Closest Match in Nr	Size (bp)	CE	ES	References
		database					
CL872.Contig1 _AP1A	Unassigned	Heat shock 70 kDa protein	Heat shock protein 70 (A. pegreffii)	644	Yes	Yes	(<u>Baird et</u> <u>al., 2016, Faeste et</u> <u>al., 2014</u>)
CL1265.Contig 1_AP1A	Unassigned	cyclophilin	Peptidyl-prolyl cis-trans isomerase 3 (A. suum)	171	Yes	Yes	(<u>Baird et</u> <u>al., 2016</u>)
Unigene10435_ AP1A	Unassigned	cyclophilin	Peptidyl-prolyl cis-trans isomerase 3 [<i>T. canis</i>]	172	Yes	Yes	(<u>Baird et</u> <u>al., 2016</u>)
Unigene2939_ AP1A	Sal s 2.0101	Enolase 3-2	Enolase [Anisakis simplex]	431	Yes	Yes	(<u>Baird et</u> <u>al., 2016,</u> <u>Faeste et</u> <u>al., 2014</u>)
Unigene6873_ AP1A	Asc s 13.0101	Glutathione S- transferase 1	Sigma class glutathione S- transferase [Baylisascaris schroederi]	203	Yes	Yes	(<u>Baird et</u> <u>al., 2016</u> , <u>Faeste et</u> <u>al., 2014</u> , <u>Arcos et</u> <u>al., 2014</u>)
Unigene8467_ ASIA	Thu a 3.0101	Fructose bisphosphate aldolase 1	Ascaris suum	351	Yes	Yes	(<u>Baird et</u> <u>al., 2016, Faeste et</u> <u>al., 2014</u>)
Unigene2527_ ASIA	Thu a 3.0101	Fructose bisphosphate aldolase 2	Ascaris suum	347	Yes	Yes	(<u>Baird et</u> <u>al., 2016</u>)
CL1712.Contig 2_ASIA	unassigned	Polyprotein allergen/antige n, partial- ABA-1 allergen, partial	Ascaris suum	160	Yes	Yes	(<u>Baird et</u> <u>al., 2016</u>)

Table 3.4: Transcriptome-described Allergens of A. pegreffii Identified in The Proteome.

3.4 Discussion

The result of this study is consistent with the previous proteomic work on crude extract of the sibling species *A. simplex* performed by Arcos and colleagues (Arcos et al., 2014) as well as by Faeste *et al.* (Faeste et al., 2014). Arcos *et al.* (Arcos et al., 2014) performed a proteomic analysis on the crude extract of both *A. simplex* and *A. pegreffii*. Over 95% of proteins identified in these 2 studies were also found by proteomic analysis of *A. pegreffii* CE and ES products in this study. Such proteins include fructose aldolase bisphosphate (FABP), enolase, actin, filamin, haemoglobin, triosephosphate isomerase, glyceraldehyde3-phosphate dehydrogenase and 14-3-3 proteins. These proteins have been previously identified in the CE of *A. simplex* and *A. pegreffii* (Arcos et al., 2014, Faeste et al., 2014) as well as from the ES of other helminths (Sotillo et al., 2010, Liu et al., 2009, El Ridi and Tallima, 2009). This finding affirms the notion that parasites employ a conserved set of proteins for parasite–host interaction mechanisms and host immune response evasion (Liu et al., 2009).

3.4.1 Proteins common to both crude and excretory/secretory products

Some proteins were shared between ES and CE. Several identified in this work, particularly those shared between CE and ES products, had a higher abundance in ES than in CE. Some of these proteins are glycolytic enzymes such as glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GADPH) and enolase. GADPH has been identified in ES product from adult *Echinostoma friedi* (Bernal et al., 2006) and enolase from ES product of *Fasciola hepatica* (Bernal et al., 2004), both trematodes, while also being identified on the surface of filarial parasites such as *Onchocerca volvulus* (Jolodar et al., 2003). Enolase and GAPDH have been reported to facilitate invasion and migration in host tissue. Therefore, the presence of shared proteins between CE and ES may not be due to contamination (Jolodar et al., 2003). Since a number of ES proteins from *A. pegreffii* were found in both CE and ES, one can suggest based on this that this group most likely include proteins critical for survival, to manage stress of change of environment and to deflect

possible immune response. In addition, the presence of such proteins in both CE and ES products suggests that secretion of these proteins might follow non-conventional secretory pathway (Sotillo et al., 2010). Many of the proteins gave significant matches to the same band indicating that each band comprises more than one protein.

3.4.2 Excretory/Secretory proteins of A. pegreffii

A number of proteins, identified as part of *A. pegreffii* excretory/secretory molecules in this study were not predicted to be secreted molecules. These proteins must have reached the exterior or be released by novel or alternative mechanisms indicating that the mechanism, by which these molecules are released, needs further investigation. According to Hewitson *et al.* (Hewitson *et al.*, 2009), bioinformatic approaches to predict secreted proteins on the basis of signal peptide sequences may have some merit (Harcus et al., 2004, Nagaraj et al., 2008), however, it has been noted that in metazoans not all secretory proteins will be exported from the organism. It is also reported that a large proportion of proteomic data show a significant number of ES proteins are not encoded with a signal peptide (Cass et al., 2007, Hewitson et al., 2008, Moreno and Geary, 2008). This emphasizes the importance of empiric proteomic studies.

The secretome of *A. pegreffii* was found to be high in abundance for particular sets of proteins, which include (i) *Enzyme regulator proteins* implicated in immunomodulatory roles (Hewitson et al., 2009). These include serpins, cystatins and Alpha-2-macroglobulins. The macroglobulins are known to inhibit proteases from all catalytic classes including serine-, cysteine-, aspartic- and metalloproteinases and in addition function as an inhibitor of thrombin, coagulation and fibrinolysis. (Sottrup-Jensen, 1989, de Boer et al., 1993).

(*ii*) *Peptidases*, such as neprilysin known to regulate and inactivate signalling peptides involved in the immune system (Bland et al., 2008); aminopeptidases such as leucine aminopeptidases and puromycin-

sensitive aminopeptidases belonging to the M17 and M1 classes of aminopeptidases and cysteine peptidases, all of which have been implicated in functions critical to the development, establishment and survival of parasites within the mammalian host (Robinson et al., 2008). Damage associated molecular pattern (DAMP) homologous proteins such as annexins, and pathogen-associated molecular pattern (PAMP) molecules such as thioredoxin peroxidase, able to modulate immune cells were also identified. Normally, classical PAMPs such as bacterial lipopolysaccharide activate innate immune cells (including dendritic cells and macrophages) that promote pathogen clearance by pro-inflammatory Th1-mediated responses. In contrast, helminths PAMPs stimulate innate cells that drive a Th2-biased environment (Perrigoue et al., 2008). Other helminth proteins with immunomodulatory properties identified include nematode galectins and macrophage migration inhibitory factors (MIFs). Hewitson *et al.* suggested that in a Th2 environment, MIF may be functioning to prevent the classical, pro-inflammatory, activation of macrophages in mammalian hosts (Hewitson et al., 2009).

The proteins found in the ES of *AP* indicate specific functional adaptation for immune modulation, tissue invasion, feeding and digestion with nematode development. The result of this study agrees with the statement by Dissous *et al.* (Dissous et al., 2006) which states that parasitic helminths remain major pathogens of both humans and animals throughout the world and the success of their infection is dependent on their capacity to counteract host immune responses and to exploit host-derived signal molecules for their development.

3.4.3 Allergens identified in A. pegreffii

The results of this work show that some of the previously described allergens of *Anisakis simplex* were not identified in this study. These include Ani s 6, Ani s 11, Ani s 11-like, Ani s 12 and Ani s 14. However, they have been identified in the transcriptome of *A. pegreffii* (Baird et al., 2016). Their absence in the proteomic data generated from this study might be as a result of low expression of these proteins in the proteome at the time of collection of *A. pegreffii* extracts which is an indicator of the regulation of

particular processes, only some of which were defined at the time of extract collection (Bennuru et al., 2011). In addition, this may also be due to instability of some proteins under the conditions used for extraction. Most of the allergenenic proteins were found in both crude and excretory/secretory products except for the structural molecule allergens (paramyosin and tropomyosin) which were present in only the crude extract. The result of this work has increased our knowledge of the repertoire of *A. pegreffii* ES antigenic/allergenic proteins and the identification of ES proteins may help in the discovery of new candidates for immunodiagnosis.

3.4.4 Absence of potential allergy-reducing molecules in the A. pegreffii proteome

The results from this study also showed that among the protein repertoire of *A. pegreffii* identified, certain molecules critical for allergy-reduction were absent. Homology Blast search of the transcriptome and genome of *A. simplex* using the sequences of these molecules found in other helminths, confirmed the absence of these proteins in *Anisakis*.

The best-characterized helminth-derived product shown to reduce allergic responses is suggested to be ES-62, a secreted 62 kDa glycoprotein from a filarial nematode (*Acanthocheilonema viteae*) (Melendez et al., 2007, McInnes et al., 2003, Erb, 2009). This molecule is reported to contain phosphorylcholine moieties, which are largely responsible for immunomodulation. Other suggested known helminth-derived products that may have the potential to reduce allergic responses as reported by Daniłowicz-Luebert (Danilowicz-Luebert et al., 2011) include smCKBP (*S. mansoni* egg-secreted chemokine-binding protein), sm22.6 (soluble protein associated with the *S. mansoni* tegument) PIII (a multivalent antigen of *S. mansoni* adult worms) and sm29 (a membrane bound glycoprotein on the S. mansoni adult worm tegument), schistosomal lysophosphatidylserine (lyso-PS) and PAS-1 (protein of *Ascaris suum* 1) of *Ascaris* spp. Homologs of these molecules were not found among the proteins identified in the proteome of *A. pegreffii* in this study. A further confirmatory search of the whole transcriptome data of *A. simplex*

and *A. pegreffii* as well as in the genomic data of *A. simplex* by a homology Blast using the sequences of the above named proteins resulted in homologs of these proteins not being identified in *Anisakis*.

Human anisakidosis has been known to be peculiar because the implicated parasite in this infection is not adapted to live in humans and infection is transitory. Hence, differences have been expected between *A*. *simplex* pathogenesis and those caused by other helminths in humans. Overt hypersensitivity reactions as is seen in *Anisakis* infection are rare in other helminths unless provoked by natural or drug-induced death of parasites residing in tissues (Audicana and Kennedy, 2008). The result of this work, which shows the absence of major allergy-reducing molecules in *Anisakis*, has shed more light on the biology of this parasite and its secretion of molecules that result in overt hypersensitivity. The absence of major molecules associated with allergy-reduction in *Anisakis*, may be one of the contributing factors as to why *Anisakis* nematodes are able to induce a Th2-biased immune response like all other helminths and yet be able to also elicit allergic responses. Further studies need to be done to affirm that the absence of these molecules contribute significantly to the allergy-inducing properties of *Anisakis* spp.

In conclusion, one-dimensional liquid chromatography followed by mass spectrometry (1D/LC/MS/MS) analyses of *AP* crude and excretory/secretory products have identified proteins of key metabolic pathways, immunomodulation and allergenicity. This study provides the first in-depth characterization of the ES products from the third larval stage of *Anisakis pegreffii*, comparing the excretory/secretory molecule content with the crude extract. This is a crucial step in enhancing our knowledge and understanding of the biology of this parasite and its interactions with its mammalian host. The study provides a basis for further molecular investigations aimed at exploring the biological role of the proteins identified and their potential utilisation as diagnostic and/or therapeutic targets.

CHAPTER 4: **PROTEOMIC ANALYSIS OF** *ANISAKIS PEGREFFII* **EXOSOMES**

4.1 Introduction

Different cellular pathways, which include conventional and unconventional secretory routes, are employed in exporting eukaryotic molecules (Nickel and Rabouille, 2009, Schekman, 2010). Proteins secreted conventionally go through the classical endoplasmic reticulum (ER) Golgi dependent secretory pathway (Schekman, 2010). This pathway is dependent on a *N*-terminal signal peptide and is responsible for polypeptide translocation into the lumen of the ER (Schekman, 2010). Alternatively, proteins lacking these signal peptides are transported independently of the classical ER Golgi route by the unconventional secretion pathway (Nickel and Rabouille, 2009). Microvessicles and exosomes are the major types of nano-sized lipid bilayer membrane-bound vesicles described, known to carry several atypical secreted proteins (Tkach and Théry, 2016). Their size and cargo content determine their names (Marcilla et al., 2012). They are described to be secreted into the extracellular space after fusion of the multivesicular bodies with the cell plasma membrane, often in a regulated manner (Pasquale, 2016). The extracellular vesicles with a size range of 30 to 100nm in diameter are defined as exosomes (Urbanelli et al., 2013) while vesicles with sizes ranging from 100-1000nm in diameter are called microvesicles (Muralidharan-Chari et al., 2010).

4.1.1 Biogenesis of Exosomes

According to van Niel and colleagues, inward budding of endosomal membranes is known to result in progressive accumulation of intraluminal vesicles (ILVs) within large multivesicular bodies (MVBs). The components of the cytosolic environment are engulfed within the ILVs while the transmembrane proteins are incorporated into the invaginating membrane (van Niel et al., 2006). Depending on their biochemical

properties, intracellular MVBs could either traffic to lysosomes, where they undergo proteosomal degradation (i.e., 'degradative MVBs') or, alternatively, to the plasma membrane (PM), where they fuse with the PM and release their contents (ILVs) into the extracellular space (exocytic MVBs); ILVs released into the extracellular space are referred to as 'exosomes' (Simpson et al., 2009). Three known mechanisms by which membrane vesicles are released into the extracellular microenvironment are described as (i) exocytic fusion of MVBs resulting in exosomes, (ii) budding of vesicles directly from the PM resulting in shedding microvessicles (SMVs) and (iii) cell death leading to apoptotic blebs (Abs), (which are vesicles released by dying /apoptotic cells) (Mathivanan et al., 2010a).



Figure 4.1. A schematic diagram of protein and RNA transfer by extracellular vesicles

[Adapted from (<u>Mullin, 2016</u>)]. Rectangles=transmembrane proteins; Triangles=membrane associated proteins; Exosomes are released into the extracellular region after fusion of multivesicular endosomes (MVEs) with the plasma membrane. Exosomes are released into the extracellular milieu when MVEs fuse with the plasma membrane. (1) Microvesicles (MVs) and exosomes may anchor at the plasma membrane of a target cell. (2) Vesicles bound to the plasma membrane either fuse with the plasma membrane of an endocytic compartment.

4.1.2 History and Origin of Exosomes

The first report of exosomes was in 1983 when they were first identified in reticulocytes and as a mechanism to release transferrin receptors during maturation (Pan and Johnstone, 1983, Harding et al., 1983). They later became of interest to immunologists when it was discovered that they contain major histocompatibility complexs (MHCs) and that they can present antigens (Raposo et al., 1996). With the report of transferable functional mRNAs and miRNAs between mast cells via exosomes (Valadi et al., 2007), this had been an additional driving force in the study of EVs as a mechanism of cell–cell communication.

4.1.3 Functions of Exosomes

Exosomes have been shown to have various functions in immune cell activation and suppression (Montecalvo et al., 2012, Deng et al., 2013) as well as play roles in tissue homeostasis (Aswad et al., 2014). Other roles have also been demonstrated for EVs in diseases including cancer, since tumors also secrete these vesicles (Saleem and Abdel-Mageed, 2015). Exosomes are now being tried in clinical initiatives to determine their potential for drug delivery, their usefulness as diagnostic biomarkers, and their potential as therapeutics. Their roles in parasite infection are also being detailed in recent investigation outputs (Coakley et al., 2015).

These vesicles transport a variety of bioactive molecules, which includes specific proteins, lipids and nucleic acids that subsequently become enriched in these vesicles while being assembled (<u>Tkach and Théry, 2016</u>). Exosomes in recent and current investigations are shown to effect distinctive and substantial intercellular forms of communication on recipient cells.

The transfer of their exosomal cargo drastically influences the properties of recipient cells (<u>Tkach and</u> <u>Théry, 2016</u>). In other words, exosomes have been described to mediate the spread of immune regulatory biomolecules as well as other pathogenic molecules. Hence, their association with dampening immunological responses, neural communication and tissue repair (<u>Pasquale, 2016</u>).

4.1.4 Mechanisms of Exosomes Cell-to-Cell Communication

Possible mechanisms by which exosomes communicate with their target cells include (i) juxtacrine (close contact) fashion, which activates the target cell or (ii) by protease cleavage of exosomal membrane to release the content, which acts as ligands for cell surface receptor in target cells or fusion of exosomes with the target cell resulting in the non selective transfer of of exosomal contents to the target cell (Mathivanan et al., 2010a).

4.1.5 Exosomes in Parasites

EVs have been described in a number of parasites including *Schistosoma japonicum* (<u>Wang et al., 2015</u>); *Schistosoma mansoni* (<u>Sotillo et al., 2016</u>), *Echinostoma caproni*, *Fasciola hepatica* (<u>Marcilla et al., 2012</u>), *Dicrocoelium dendriticum* (<u>Marcilla et al., 2014</u>) and *Opisthorchis viverrine* (<u>Chaiyadet et al., 2015</u>).

4.1.6 Cell-to-Cell Communication by means of Parasite Exosomes

Most parasites at different stages in their life cycle rely on the ability to communicate with one another, between themselves as well as with their hosts, but the mechanisms underpinning this communication are under investigation. Research in this area has largely been directed to parasite secreted soluble proteins, most of which are known to down-modulate the host immune response (Coakley et al., 2015).

In the past few years, EVs have been shown to be another component of parasite secretion products that may provide the answer to the unrecognized mechanism that packages and protects information in certain sets of proteins for cargo, uptake and integration into other cells (<u>Coakley et al., 2015</u>).

4.1.7 Communication with Hosts

Active release of these microvesicles by the parasites occurs in the host with the host cells taking up these vesicles. In a report by Marcilla *et al.* (Marcilla *et al.*, 2012), it was shown that trematode extracellular vesicles contain most of the proteins previously identified as components of excretory/secretory product (ESP), as confirmed by proteomic, electron microscopy and immunogold labelling studies. Demonstration of uptake of these vesicles by host cells suggests important functions for these structures in host-parasite communication. In addition to these parasitic proteins, host proteins have been identified in these structures (Marcilla *et al.*, 2012). The fusion of exosomes with host cells has also been shown for the protozoan parasite *Trichomonas vaginalis* (Hansen *et al.*, 2015). The results from these previous studies suggest that parasite-secreted exosomes or microvesicles containing parasite proteins are able to unpack their content into host cells. This results in the molecules released playing roles in host gene regulation, leading to host immune response dampening and subsequent increased parasite survival (Hansen *et al.*, 2015).

AIMS

Based on the findings of Chapter three, which showed that certain proteins in the excretory/secretory system of *A. pegreffii* must have reached the exterior or be released by novel or alternative mechanisms, this chapter therefore **aims** to:

- 1) Identify the exosomes of A. pegreffii
- 2) Investigate by LC-MS/MS the cargo protein content of exosomes of A. pegreffii

4.2 Specific Methods

The general methods of parasite materials collection; molecular identification of *A. pegreffii*, preparation of excretory/secretory products (ES) and parasite crude extracts (CE); 1D- LC-MS/MS analysis and protein identification are as described in the general methods in Chapter 2. The following are the specific methods for this chapter.

4.2.1 Purification of extracellular vesicles

Exosomes secreted by *A. pegreffii* L3 larvae were purified from the culture media obtained from preparation of excretory/secretory product. Exosome purification was by differential ultracentrifugation according to the protocol described by The'ry et al. (Thery et al., 2006). The culture media was divided equally into 2 centrifuge tubes (50 ml each), and centrifuged. The first 3 centrifugations were 10 min at 3000 X g, 20 min at 2,000 X g, and 30 min at 10,000 X g to remove large dead cells and cell debris. After each centrifugation the supernatants were collected and used in the subsequent step. The final supernatants were ultracentrifuged at 100,000 X g for 70 min at 4°C to pellet the exosomes using ultraspeed centrifuge (L8-80M) (Beckman, USA). Finally, the pellets from the 2 tubes, which were not visible to the naked eye, were washed in PBS and another ultracentrifugation at 100,000 X g for 70 min was performed to eliminate contaminating proteins. The final pellet obtained was resuspended in PBS and stored at -80 ° C until samples were analysed by transmission electron microscopy (TEM) and SDS-PAGE with LC-MS/MS. Proteomic analysis method for the exosomes is as described under general methods.

4.2.2 Transmission Electron Microscope

Exosome samples were processed according to the protocol of Thery et al. (Thery et al., 2006). Briefly, purified concentrated exosomes frozen at -80° C were thawed and mixed with an equal volume of 4% paraformaldehyde to fix the sample. Kumeda and colleagues (2017) have shown that the membrane structure of

exosomes retained integrity irrespective of the storage temperature. In addition, they also reported that freezing and thawing had little effect on particle size (Kumeda et al., 2017).

On each Formvar-carbon coated electron microscope grid, 5 µl of the resuspended pellet was deposited and covered to let the membranes adsorb for 20 min in a dry environment. Phosphate buffered saline (PBS) (100-µl) drops were added to a sheet of Parafilm. Grids were transferred, membrane side down on to drops of PBS with clean forceps to wash the sample on the grid. Thereafter, grids were transfered to a 50-µl drop of 1% glutaraldehyde for 5 min. The grid was then transferred to a 100-µl drop of distilled water and allowed to stand for 2 minutes. This was repeated seven times for a total of eight water washes. Samples were then contrasted first in a solution of uranyl oxalate, (pH 7) for 5 minutes and then contrasted and embedded in a mixture of 4% uranyl acetate and 2% methyl cellulose in a ratio of 1:9, respectively. Subsequently, the grids were transfered to a 50-µl drop of methyl cellulose-UA for 10 min on ice. The grids were then removed with stainless steel loops and excess fluid blotted dry by gently pushing the loop sideways on filter paper leaving behind a thin film over the exosome side of the grid. The grid was air-dried for 5 minutes while still on the loop. Grids were then stored in an appropriate grid box until use. The samples were observed under the TEM microscope at 80 kV.

4.2.3 1-D LC-MS/MS

A portion of the pellet was precipitated with acetone. SDS-PAGE was performed for both the acetone precipitated and non-acetone precipitated exosome pellets. Exosomes protein on SDS-PAGE gel with protein bands and without protein bands were cut up into small pieces and digested with trypsin. In addition, the acetone–precipitated pellet was resuspended in 500µl of 0.5 M triethylammonium bicarbonate buffer (TEAB), reduced with 100 µl of 10 mM dithiothreitol and incubated at 60° C for 1 h. This was taken through the in-solution tryptic digestion method as described in the general methods. Hence, LC-MS/MS was performed on 3 samples per replicate, namely the non-acetone precipitated sample on SDS-PAGE gel (in-gel digestion), acetone-precipitated sample on SDS-PAGE gel (in-gel digestion).

digestion) and an in-solution sample of acetone precipitated proteins dissolved in buffer and thereafter digested, on which LC-MS/MS was subsequently performed. This was to ensure recovery of almost all exosomes proteins that may be present.

4.3 Results

4.3.1 SDS-PAGE Analysis

The pellet obtained after ultracentrifugation was analysed by SDS-PAGE to profile the proteins of the exsomses. Initially, no protein bands were observed on the SDS-PAGE gel (Figure not shown). Subsequently, the protein content of the exosomes was precipitated with acetone. The pellet was resuspended in SDS-PAGE buffer. Most of the proteins bands were below the limit of detection of SDS-PAGE stained with Coomassie. (Figure 4.2). Silver staining was not used in this study as it is known to interfere strongly with mass spectrometry analysis and would require specific modifications for compatibility with mass spectrometry (<u>Rabilloud, 2012</u>). Though, there are Silver staining protocols that do exist that are compatible with mass spectrometry, use of such protocol would be at the expense of sensitivity, making it less suitable for quantification.



Figure 4.2. SDS-PAGE analysis of *Anisakis pegreffii* exosomes stained with Coomassie Blue.

M=10-250kDa Molecular marker, (Biorad).

4.3.2 Transmission Electron Microscopy (TEM)

The pellets were further processed for visualization by TEM. Small vesicles that displayed the features and size of exosomes and microvessicles were observed. Ultrafiltration and size exclusion were employed to rule out the possibility of presence of artifacts as recommended by Wilms *et al.* (Willms et al., 2016). The sizes ranged between 48-100nm (Figure 4.3 2A-D).



Figure 4.3. (A-D)- Transmission Electron Microscopy (TEM) of A. pegreffii exosome proteins.

Red arrows indicate exosome-like materials in different samples of TEM-processed ultracentrifuged pellets.

4.3.3 LC-MS/MS Analysis

Anisakis pegreffii EVs in-gel and in-solution were digested with trypsin and LC-MS/MS was performed. Sixty different proteins were identified and all the 3 samples analysed for each replicate (2 replicates) by LC-MS/MS had almost the same content of proteins. Thirty-two of these sixty (53%) were homologous to mammalian EV proteins in Exocarta (http: //www .exocarta .org). Among the proteins identified were key exosome markers which include Heat Shock protein (HSP)-70, enolase and elongation factor 1-alpha.

4.3.4 GO Annotation

Uniprot Gene ontology, analysis of *A. pegreffii* exosome proteins yielded 23 biological process terms. Using the quantitative value of normalized spectra analysed in scaffold software, actin domain containing protein was the most abundant protein enriched in *A. pegreffii* exosomes, followed by vitellogenin-6 and polyprotein ABA-1. A well-represented functional group is the structural molecule proteins (9 matches), which included tropomyosin, myosin heavy chain, alpha sarcomeric, and tubulin proteins. Other proteins representation varied across a wide group of functionalities, such as metabolism, binding and oxidoreductases (Figures 4.4 - 4.6).



Figure 4.4. Uniprot GO Annotation of the Molecular Functions of *A. pegreffii* exosomes proteins.



Figure 4.5. Uniprot GO Annotation of the Biological Processes of *A. pegreffii* exosomes proteins.



Figure 4.6. Uniprot GO Annotation of the Cellular Component origin of *A. pegreffii* exosomes proteins.

4.3.5 Relative abundance and expression of 4 antigenic proteins identified in the exosomes

Other proteins enriched in the vesicles included some allergernic proteins such as tropomyosin, polyprotein ABA-1 and glyceraldehyde-3-dehydrogenase.Normalized spectral counts were assigned to each identified protein using the "Quantitative Value" assignment tool within the Scaffold software used for organizing protein identifications and comparing spectral counts across samples. Spectral counts across all samples were compared and the relative abundance and expression of 4 antigenic proteins identified in the exosomes, crude extract and excretory/secretory product of *A. pegreffii* are shown in Figures 4.7-4.11. In biosamples 1 for both ES and CE, the quantity of these protein were too low to detect as shown in the Figures.The proteins identified in the *A. pegreffi* exosomes are shown in Table 4.1.



Figure 4.7: Relative abundance of Tropomyosin normalized spectra (Ani s 3) in *A. pegreffii* proteome.

Spectral counts across all samples were compared and the relative abundance and expression of tropomyosin protein identified in the exosomes, crude extract and excretory/secretory product of *A. pegreffii* is shown. Biosample 1_CE-1=biological replicate 1 for crude extract Biosample 2_CE-2=Biological replicate 2 for crude extract Biosample 3_ES-1=Biological replicate 1 for excretory/secretory product Biosample 4_ES-2=Biological replicate 2 for excretory/secretory product Biosample 5_Exosome samples

Note: Biosamples 1- No protein spectra identified in these replicates for CE and ES.



Figure 4.8: Relative abundance of Polyprotein ABA-1 allergen normalized spectra in *A. pegreffii* proteome.

Spectral counts across all samples were compared and the relative abundance and expression of polyprotein ABA-1 allergen protein identified in the exosomes, crude extract and excretory/secretory product of *A. pegreffii* is shown.

Biosample 1_CE-1=biological replicate 1 for crude extract

Biosample 2_CE-2=Biological replicate 2 for crude extract

Biosample 3_ES-1=Biological replicate 1 for excretory/secretory product

Biosample 4_ES-2=Biological replicate 2 for excretory/secretory product

Biosample 5_ Exosome samples

Note: Biosamples 1- No protein spectra identified in these replicates for CE and ES.



Figure 4.9: Relative abundance of Glyceraldehyde-3-dehydrogenase normalized spectra in *A. pegreffii* proteome.

Spectral counts across all samples were compared and the relative abundance and expression of Glyceraldehyde-3-dehydrogenase protein identified in the exosomes, crude extract and excretory/secretory product of *A. pegreffii* is shown.

Biosample 1_CE-1=biological replicate 1 for crude extract

Biosample 2 CE-2=Biological replicate 2 for crude extract

Biosample 3_ES-1=Biological replicate 1 for excretory/secretory product

Biosample 4_ES-2=Biological replicate 2 for excretory/secretory product

Biosample 5_ Exosome samples

Note: Biosamples 1- No protein spectra identified in these replicates for CE and ES.



Figure 4.10: Relative Abundance of Vitellogenin-6 normalized spectra in *A. pegreffii* proteome.

Spectral counts across all samples were compared and the relative abundance and expression of vitellogenin-6 protein identified in the exosomes, crude extract and excretory/secretory product of *A. pegreffii* is shown.

Biosample 1_CE-1=biological replicate 1 for crude extract

Biosample 2_CE-2=Biological replicate 2 for crude extract

Biosample 3_ES-1=Biological replicate 1 for excretory/secretory product

Biosample 4_ES-2=Biological replicate 2 for excretory/secretory product

Biosample 5_ Exosome-Exosome samples

Note: Biosamples 1- No protein spectra identified in these replicates for CE and ES.



Figure 4.11: Relative Abundance of Leucine Aminopeptidase (LAP) in *A. pegreffii* proteome.

Spectral counts across all samples were compared and the relative abundance and expression of leucine aminopeptidase protein identified in the exosomes, crude extract and excretory/secretory product of *A. pegreffii* is shown. Biosample 1_CE-1=biological replicate 1 for crude extract Biosample 2_CE-2=Biological replicate 2 for crude extract Biosample 3_ES-1=Biological replicate 1 for excretory/secretory product Biosample 4_ ES-2=Biological replicate 2 for excretory/secretory product Biosample 5_ Exosome-Exosome samples **Note: Biosamples 1- No protein spectra identified in these replicates for CE and ES.**

#	Homologous	Uniprot ID	Signal	Trans-	Homolog
	protein		peptide	membrane	found in Exocarta
					database
1	Myosin-4	A0A0B2VVW7	Ν	Ν	Y
	(Unc-54)				
2	Elongation factor 1-alpha	A0A0B2W5Q7	Ν	Ν	Y
3	Neprilysin-1	A0A0B2VA80	Ν	Y	Ν
4	V-type	F1L3T5	Ν	Ν	Y
	proton ATPase				
_	subunit c	E1LEC7	N	NT	V
5	40s ribosomal	FILFC/	IN	IN	Ŷ
6	60s ribosomal		N	N	V
U	protein 127a	U IWIAQ4	1	1 N	1
7	Centromere-	A0A0B2VLA2	Ν	Ν	Y
•	associated protein	11011022 (2112			-
	E (CENPE)				
8	Gut esterase 1	A0A0B2W709	Ν	Ν	Ν
9	Leucine	U1NWM0	Ν	Ν	Y
	aminopeptidase				
10	Vitellogenin-6	A0A0B2V8F3	Y	Ν	Ν
11	Polyprotein ABA- 1*	Q06811	Ν	Ν	Ν
12	Aminoacylase-1	F1L6C7		Ν	Y
10	(peptidase M20)	00017	X 7	X 7	N
13	Serotonin	Q86LL/	Y	Ŷ	Ν
14	Tronomyosin *	COLSKO	N	N	V
14	Hypothetical	Unknown	N	N	I Unknown
15	protein	ulikilowii	19	18	UIKIIOWII
	ASU 01958				
16	TBA-1 precursor	Q06811	Ν	Ν	Ν
17	Glyceraldehyde-	A0A0M3K2Y3	Ν	Ν	Y
	3-phosphate				
	dehydrogenase *				
18	PREDICTED:	G1MZV0	Ν	Ν	Y
	histone H3.3-like,				
10	partial	E1VOE1	NT	NT	N7
19	Myosin heavy	FIKQFI	N	IN	Ŷ
20	Spindle- and	F1K060	N	N	Ν
20	centromere-	Inqui	1	1	14
	associated protein				
21	Pyruvate kinase	F1LFH3	Ν	Ν	Y
	muscle isozyme				
22	Protein RHY-1	Q9XVW1	Ν	Y	Ν
23	Succinate	Q09545	Ν	Ν	Ν
	dehydrogenase				
	iron-sulfur				

Table 4.1: A. pegreffii Exosome Proteins and Homologs in Exocarta database.

24	kynureninase	U1NUN5	Ν	Ν	Y
25	Ascaris suum		N	V	V
25	dollchyl-	UTM/N6	IN	Ŷ	Y
	dipnosphooligosa				
	contandeprotein				
	glycosyltransieras				
26	e subuiit i	E1V7N6	N	N	N
20	intermediate	TIKZINO	IN	11	18
	filement protein				
27	heat sheels protein		N	N	V
21		AUAUKJQAUJ	IN	IN	I
28	40S ribosomal	A 0 A 1 S 0 1 10 1 1	N	N	V
20	405 HUOSOIIIai	A0A1500911	IN	11	1
20	Protein 525	A 0 A 0 D 2 V 7 2 2	N	N	N
49	rutative leucille-	AUAUD2 V /22	IN	IN	IN
	containing protain				
30	malata	1010M3KB15		v	N
50	dehydrogenase	AUAUWIJKDAJ		1	1
31	adenvlate kinase	F11 HW2	N	N	V
32	galactoside-	F1LQM1	V	N	I V
54	binding lectin		I	1	1
	(galactin)				
33	(galectili)	U1NDO3	N	N	N
55	anhydrase 1	UINDQJ	19	1	14
34	ribosomal protein	F11 HF1	Ν	Ν	V
54	S14	TILILI	11	14	1
35	hypothetical	A0A0B2W0I 0	Ν	Ν	Unknown
55	protein		1	14	Chikhowh
	ASU 07427				
36	nutative	F1L9C6	Ν	Ν	Y
	elongation factor	112,00			-
	1-gamma				
37	LIM domain and	A0A0B2VMH7	Ν	Ν	Y
	actin-binding				
	protein 1				
	(LIMA1)				
38	Endoplasmin	A0A0B2URQ0	Y	Ν	Y
	(Hsp90b1)				
39	F-actin capping	F1LBI3	Ν	Ν	Ν
	protein beta				
	subunit				
40	Ascaris suum	F1KPN0	Ν	Ν	Y
41	cat eye syndrome	F1L8B6	Ν	Ν	Y
	critical region				
	protein 5				
42	beta-tubulin	A0A0M3IZK3	Ν	Ν	Y
	isotype 1				
43	nad-dependent	P27443	Ν	Ν	Ν
	nua aepenaem				
	malic				
44	malic spermidine	F1L7H4	Ν	Ν	Y
44	malic spermidine synthase	F1L7H4	Ν	Ν	Y

Chapter 4

	1				
	membrane				
	proteoglycan				
• -	(unc-52)				
46	propionyl-	A0A0B2UYS3	Ν	Ν	Ν
	carboxylase alpha				
47	sucrase- intestinal	U1NX15	Ν	Ν	Ν
48	extracellular	F1L7A0	Ν	Ν	Ν
	superoxide				
	dismutase				
49	UV excision	A0A1I7VLX6	Ν	Ν	Y
	repair protein				
	Rad23				
50	cytoplasmic	P23730	Ν	Ν	Ν
	intermediate				
	filament protein				
51	alpha- sarcomeric	U1MST7	Ν	Ν	Y
52		A0A0B2VEN6	Ν	Ν	Y
53	None	None	Y	Ν	
54	tubulin alpha	A0A183UCC8	Ν	Ν	Y
	chain - mouse				
55	Hypothetical	NONE	Ν	Ν	Unknown
	protein				
56	apolipophorin	A0A0B2VHM0	Ν	Ν	Ν
57	shTK	A0A0B1TEE9	Y	Ν	Ν
	domain protein				
58	Actin 2	A0A0B4SVM4	Ν	Ν	Ν
59	Histone H2B 1	A0A0B2V381	Ν	Ν	
60	Putative 3-	A0A0B2W1B9	Ν	Ν	Ν
	hydroxyacyl-				
	CoA-				
	dehydrogenase				

Note: *=Allergenic proteins in exosome cargo; N=not present; Y=yes, present.

4.3.6 Secretory Pathways of Proteins Identified In Exosomes

A number of peptidases, such as leucine aminopeptidases, neprilysin and peptidase M20 were found in A. pegreffii exosomes. Four hits corresponded to proteins with unknown functions. About 25% of the proteins identified in A. pegreffii exosomes either possess N-terminal signal peptides or were predicted to be secreted through unconventional pathways. A comparison of the proteome dataset of A. pegreffii with the exosome cargo content of A. pegreffii, showed that of the remaining proteins, 9 hits were proteins found only in crude extract, three were found also exclusively in exosomes and were not present in the ES while the remaining proteins, which constitute half of the proteins identified in the exosomes, were all ES proteins. These proteins were not predicted to have signal peptides or to be secreted through the unconventional route. The five matches corresponding to membrane proteins include protein RHY-1 (regulation hypoxia-inducible dolichyl-diphosphooligosaccharide of factor 1). protein, a glycosyltransferase protein, a serotonin-receptor protein, and neprilysin-1 and malate dehydrogenase protein. The proteins exclusively found in exosomes, and not identified in the ES and crude extracts of A. pegreffi, include serotonin-receptor, adenylate kinase and an unknown/uncharacterized protein.

4.4 Discussion

In this study, L3 larvae of *Anisakis pegreffii* were found to secrete exosomes-like bodies. Secretory activity is critical for *Anisakis* pathogenesis. Over 53% of the protein content identified in the exosomes of *A. pegreffii* in this study were homologues of proteins reported in the exosomes of other organisms which have been deposited in Exocarte database. The vast majority of allergens and immunomodulatory molecules characterized for *A. pegreffii* are extracellular. Most of the *A. pegreffii* molecules identified in the previous chapter from the CE and ES lacked the leader peptide necessary for conventional secretion, which strongly suggests an unconventional secretion pathway for the molecules characterized in this chapter.

Abundant round-shaped material with the expected size of exosomes was obtained after ultracentrifugation in this study. Visualization with TEM confirmed their presence in the excreted/secreted material of *A. pegreffii*. Exosome protein compositions are known to vary depending on the cell type of origin (Mathivanan et al., 2010b). The results of this study agrees with this statement as it is clearly evident that exosomes from different cell types of L3 larvae of *A. pegreffii* were isolated as reflected in the group of proteins identified. Cytoskeletal proteins identified in this study, including actin, myosin, tubulin, alpha sarcomeric and tropomyosin are among the subset of proteins reported to be common to all exosomes (Mathivanan et al., 2010a, Mathivanan et al., 2010b). Their presence indicates that the exosomes from different cellular sources are known to contain proteins specific for their cell type of origin and when released into the extracellular milieu, can be taken up by recipient cells at sites distal to their release (Therry et al., 2002).
Exosomes are also known to be enriched with heat shock proteins, such as Hsp70 and Hsp90. Hsp70 was one of the proteins identified in *A. pegreffii* exosomes in this study. It is reported that Hsp70 is identified in 89% of the proteomic studies on exosomes (Mathivanan et al., 2010a). In addition, a high portion of proteins enriched in *A. pegreffii* exosomes were implicated in carbohydrate metabolism, indicative that the parasite's main energy source is derived from carbohydrate metabolism and exosomes might be involved in transporting proteins needed for this function within the parasites and to the host for parasite survival.

Molecules carried by exosomes are described to have the ability to tap into the regulatory networks in host cells if the proteins are homologs of host cells. Exosomes have been extensively studied for their contributions to physiology, immunity, cancer, and intercellular communication, revealing an impressive diversity of functions depending on their cellular source (Del Cacho et al., 2016). The presence of proteins in *A. pegreffii* exosomes, such as the allergens tropomyosin, polyprotein ABA-1 and peptidases such as Leucine aminopeptidase as observed in this study, implies that exosome transport is probably the mechanism by which these molecules are released to be taken up by host cells. Host cells that may take up these parasite molecules include antigen presenting cells. The effect of this may be to dampen the host cell immune response as in the case of parasite peptidase molecules uptake and/or to provoke an immune response when an allergenic molecule such as tropomyosin is taken up. The presence of allergens, such as tropomyosin and polyprotein ABA-1, as identified in this study, in *A. pegreffii* exosomes, provides evidence for the route of allergic sensitisation to live parasites.

In conclusion, the present study constitutes the first report of the existence and composition of exosomelike vesicles in the L3 larvae of the parasite, *A. pegreffii* and in Anisakids parasites as a whole. The identified structures appear to play critical role in transportation of immunomodulatory and allergenic proteins. These proteins are stabilized against degradation by encapsulation within vesicles. The existence of extracellular vesicles in *A. pegreffii* explains the secretion of atypical proteins. In addition, exosomes

have been reported to interact with and manipulate host gene expression. It has been demonstrated that exosomes contribute to functions such as tissue repair, neural communication, immunological response and the transfer of pathogenic proteins (Simons and Raposo, 2009, Couzin, 2005). For instance, in *H. polygyrus*, it was shown that exosomes could suppress immunological response *in vivo* (Buck et al., 2014). In summary, the demonstration of the existence of exosome-like vesicles in *A. pegreffii* EVs may offer a new point of view for the study of *Anisakis* infections. *A. pegreffii* could be implicated in important roles in the regulation of host immunological responses to tolerate the parasite living in the host. Further studies will address whether these vesicles constitute good targets for new control strategies and diagnostic tools (Marcilla et al., 2012).

CHAPTER 5: IMMUNOPROTEOMIC IDENTIFICATION OF CROSS-REACTIVE ALLERGENIC PROTEINS IN ANISAKIS PEGREFFII

5.1 Introduction

Food allergy is believed to be on the increase (Hadley, 2006, Benede et al., 2016). In this period of globalization, it is observed that it is not only population that migrates but also foods; as the populace of various nations import and embrace foreign diets and exotic products (Hadley, 2006). The situation is made more complicated because of the different perceptions of the term 'food allergy' by different groups of people in a population. Food allergy is different from food intolerance and hypersensitivity, which could be a metabolic condition, such as lactose tolerance and coeliac disease (Pereira et al., 2005). The former is involved with the immune system whilst the latter is not. This has resulted in either an over-estimation or under-reporting of food allergy and thus makes diagnosis difficult (Pereira et al., 2005).

Fish, a common food, with a consumption growth rate of 3.6% yearly since 1963 (Tomm et al., 2013) is the exposure link between the parasitic marine nematode, *Anisakis* and man. It is logical that seafood allergy prevalence is higher in areas of high seafood consumptions (Sicherer and Sampson, 2006). Occurrence of food allergies is high in both children and adults and represents one of the most common causes of anaphylactic reactions. (Lopata and Lehrer, 2009).

5.1.1 Anisakis and Allergic reactions

Allergic reactions to proteins from acquatic parasitic nematodes of the genus *Anisakis*, family Anisakidae, are major contributors to adverse effects from consumption of contaminated fish and shellfish (Amin and Davis, 2012, Baird et al., 2014). Humans become infected accidentally with third-stage larvae (L3) of *Anisakis* by consuming parasitized raw or undercooked fish (Berland, 1961). *Anisakis simplex sensu stricto* and *Anisakis pegreffii* are frequently associated with allergic reactions and anaphylaxis (Mattiucci et al., 2013). It has been suggested that anisakiasis in Japan is associated mainly with infections by *A. simplex* (Suzuki et al., 2010).

However, multiple reports of complicated clinical cases of anisakiasis in humans, linked to *A. pegreffii* and associated with multiple cases of gastro-allergic anisakiasis, have been documented in Italy (Mattiucci et al., 2013, D'Amelio et al., 1999). Whilst anisakiasis is relatively common in these two countries, cases have been reported from other countries including Australia (Shamsi and Butcher, 2011), China (Qin et al., 2013) and the USA (Ramanan et al., 2013). In Spain, *Anisakis* allergy is responsible for up to 8% of acute urticarial reactions, 25% of which progress to anaphylactic shock (Gamboa et al., 2012). Indeed, it has been suggested that *Anisakis* allergy may account for up to 10% of all cases of idiopathic anaphylaxis in adults, particularly in regions where seafood consumption is high (Fernandez de Corres et al., 1996, Baeza et al., 2005). Therefore, this parasite is now considered as one of the masqueraders in seafood allergic reactions (Banks and Gada, 2013).

5.1.2 Seafoods and Allergy.

The term 'seafood' refers to both fish and shellfish (crustaceans and molluscs), which are considered two of the "big eight" food sources implicated in about 90% of all food allergies (Lopata and Lehrer, 2009, Lopata et al., 2010, Lopata et al., 2016, Wild and Lehrer, 2005). Seafood is also one of the major food commodities worldwide (Wild and Lehrer, 2005), and a high portion (up to 34%) of seafood consumed in most countries is imported from Asia (Shafique et al., 2012, Tacon and Metian, 2008). A report in 2008 showed shellfish as one of the most important food sources responsible for about 30,000 food-induced anaphylactic events occurring annually in the USA, in persons aged 6 years or older (Ross et al., 2008). Of these, 200 or more were reported as fatal (Ross et al., 2008).

In Singapore, crustaceans and fish were reported as the most significant sensitisers in 40% and 13% of children with food hypersensitivity, respectively (Thong et al., 2007). In the same study, up to 33% of adults were sensitised to crustaceans, followed by molluscs (19%) and fish (4%) (Thong et al., 2007). In a recent study conducted in Australia, fatal food anaphylaxis increased by 9.7% / year (1997-2013), with seafood being the most frequent trigger (Mullins et al., 2016).

In a randomized study from Japan, a higher prevalence of sensitisation to *Anisakis* was reported as compared to seafood (Kimura et al., 1999). Furthermore, a Spanish study reported *Anisakis* as a hidden food allergen which was the leading cause of food allergy in Spain (GarciaPalacios et al., 1996). Several other reports have demonstrated that a risk for *Anisakis*-related allergic reactions exists among occupationally exposed seafood-processing workers (Scala et al., 2001). These findings support other reports of *Anisakis*-related allergic symptoms when handling fish or fishmeal (Scala et al., 2001).

5.1.3 Seafoods, Anisakis and Allergy Cross-Reactivity.

While a steady increase of allergic reactions to seafood is being acknowledged worldwide, the whole complement of allergens responsible for these reactions is yet to be fully elucidated. Indeed, molecules implicated in seafood allergy in shellfish (Lopata et al., 2010) and fish (Stephen et al., 2017) are numerous and diverse. Importantly, few data are thus far available on the number and nature of cross-reactive allergens between both seafood groups and contaminating parasites. In particular, to date, the majority of studies on allergens from parasites contaminating seafood have focused on the nematode *A*. *simplex* (Faeste et al., 2014, Audicana and Kennedy, 2008).

While possible clinical cross-reactivity between *Anisakis* and other nematodes, as well as some invertebrates, has been discussed (Lozano et al., 2004, Pascual et al., 1997, Johansson et al., 2001, Rodriguez-Perez et al., 2014), only a handful of studies have provided data on possible implicated allergens (Lozano et al., 2004, Pascual et al., 1997, Johansson et al., 2001, Rodriguez-Perez et al., 2014). The proteins Ani s 2 (paramyosin) and Ani s 3 (tropomyosin) from *A. simplex*, whose homologues can be found in crustaceans, dust-mites and cockroaches, are considered as major cross-reactive allergens (Ayuso et al., 2002, Guarneri et al., 2007). However, the whole repertoire of allergenic proteins from *A. pegreffii*, potentially cross-reacting with allergens from shellfish, fish or other allergen sources is not known. Recently, we have undertaken comparative analyses of the transcriptomes of *A. simplex* and *A. pegreffii*, coupled with in silico allergen prediction, which has led to the identification of up to 31 putative allergens in the latter (<u>Baird et al., 2016</u>). These data now requires experimental validation, together with a comprehensive assessment of the presence of cross-reactive allergens in this parasite, which is pivotal for the enhancement of current diagnostic procedures for seafood allergy.

AIM

Based on these findings the aim of the following experiments is to:

1) Identify and characterize A. *pegreffii* novel and potential cross-reactive allergens in shellfish

allergic patients.

5.2 Specific Methods.

The general methods of parasite materials collection, molecular identification of *A. pegreffii*, preparation of excretory/secretory products (ES) and parasite crude extracts (CE), 1D- LC-MS/MS analysis and protein identification are as described in the general methods in Chapter 2. The following are the specific methods for this Chapter.

5.2.1 Patient Sera.

Serum samples were obtained from 19 patients (mean age 32 ± 10.5 years; 11 females and 8 males) with a clinical history of allergic reactions to shellfish and/or positive by skin prick test (SPT) and/or PhadiaImmunoCAP system-(Uppsala, Sweden; >0.35kU/L;) to prawn, crab or lobster, as well as a nonatopic control. Informed, written consent was obtained from each study subject and experimental protocols were approved by The Alfred Hospital Research Ethics Committee (Project number 192/07) and the Monash University Human Ethics Committee (MUHREC CF08/0225).

5.2.2 Immunoblotting.

Protein extracts of *A. pegreffii* and controls were separated by SDS gel-electrophoresis using 6 µg per lane and transferred to a Polyvinylidene difluoride (PVDF) membrane using a semi-dry blotting system (BioRad). Subsequently, the membrane was blocked with 5% w/v skim milk powder in phosphate buffered saline containing 0.5% Tween-20 (PBS-T) for 1 h. Patient serum was added (1:20 in 2% w/v skim milk in PBS-T) using the slot blot apparatus (Idea Scientific, MN, USA) and incubated overnight.

To detect IgE binding, the immunoblot was sequentially incubated with rabbit anti-human IgE antibody (Dako; 1:10000) and goat anti-rabbit IgG-HRP conjugated antibody (Promega; 1:40,000); after washing with PBS-T, the immunoblot was visualized using the enhanced chemiluminescent method (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO) (Kamath et al., 2014b).

To detect the presence of specific cross-reactive crustacean allergens, the protein extracts were probed with one rat monoclonal anti-tropomyosin (mAb) (Abcam, Cambridge, MA, USA) (<u>Kamath et al.</u>, <u>2014a</u>), one in-house generated rabbit polyclonal anti-crustacean antibody and one in-house generated rabbit anti-crustacean myosin light chain antibody (<u>Kamath et al.</u>, <u>2014b</u>).

In addition, the presence of possible fish allergens was evaluated using one frog monoclonal antiparvalbumin antibody (PARV-19; Sigma, USA) (Saptarshi et al., 2014), one in-house generated rabbit anti-parvalbumin antibody (pAb) and one rabbit anti-aldolase antibody (Rockland, Inc.) with their corresponding secondary HRP-conjugated antibodies (Dako, USA); binding was visualized as described above.

5.2.3 Mass Spectrometry (LC-MS/MS) and Analysis of Proteins.

Following gel-electrophoresis, bands were excised, in-gel digested using trypsin and analysed by LC-MS/MS using a Q-Exactive mass spectrometer (Thermo Scientific) as described in Chapter 2.

5.2.4 Bioinformatic Analysis.

An alignment using Blast against the Structural Database of Allergenic Proteins (SDAP) with the sequences of proteins identified by LC-MS/MS from the reactive bands was performed. This was to identify proteins with \geq 65% sequence identity with allergens in the database.

5.2.5 Molecular phylogenetic analysis.

The allergen database (WHO/IUIS) was interrogated for cross-reacting crustacean, mollusc and fish allergens homologues identified in *A. pegreffii*. Amino acid sequence alignments were generated using MUSCLE (Edgar, 2004) and phylogenetic relationships were inferred using the Neighbour-Joining method (10,000 replicates) (Stephen et al., 2017, Jenkins et al., 2007). Evolutionary distances were computed using the Poisson correction method and analyses were conducted using the MEGA 6 software (Tamura et al., 2013).

5.3 Results

5.3.1 Immunoblotting with allergen specific Antibodies.

There was no reactive band observed in either CE or ES with (i) anti-frog mono and anti-rabbit polyparvalbumin antibody. (Figure shown for only mono-parvalbumin; Figure 5.1). (ii) Myosin light chain antibody (Figure 5.2) or anti-aldolase antibody (Figure 5.3). The lack of binding may be due to the absence of the target protein in *A. pegreffii* as in the case of polyclonal antibodies or absence of a specific antibody epitopes in the case of the monoclonal antibodies. In contrast, the presence of tropomyosin (TM) in the CE was confirmed using a TM-specific mAb as well as a pAb anti-crustacean antibody (Fig. 5.4).



Figure 5.1: SDS-PAGE and immunoblotting profile using anti-parvalbumin monoclonal antibody.

(A) 12% SDS-PAGE of crude extracts (CE), excretory/secretory (ES) products of *A. pegreffii* and different fish samples stained with Coomassie brilliant blue; (B) immunoblotting with Parv 19 Monoclonal Antibody.

Note: the positive controls were Barramundi, Basa and Salmon.



Figure 5.2: SDS-PAGE and immunoblotting profile using anti-myosin light chain monoclonal antibody.

(A) 12% SDS-PAGE of crude extracts (CE), excretory/secretory (ES) products of *Anisakis pegreffii* and heated prawn extract stained with Coomassie brilliant blue; (B) Immunoblotting with in-house made myosin light chain antibody. Note: the positive control Heated Prawn.



Figure 5.3: SDS-PAGE and immunoblotting profile using anti-aldolase antibody.

(A) 12% SDS-PAGE of crude extracts (CE), excretory/secretory (ES) products of *A. pegreffii* and different fish samples stained with Coomassie brilliant blue; (B) Immunoblotting with anti-human aldolase antibody against six fish species and *Anisakis pegreffii* crude extract and excretory/secretory product. Note: the positive controls Barramundi to Tuna.



Figure 5.4: SDS-PAGE and immunoblot analysis using monoclonal anti-tropomyosin and polyclonal anti-crustacean antibody.

(A) 12% SDS-PAGE of crude extracts (CE), excretory/secretory (ES) products of *A. pegreffii* and heated prawn extract (HPE) stained with Coomassie brilliant blue; (B) immunoblotting of CE, ES and HPE with monoclonal anti-TM antibody and (C) immunoblotting of CE, ES and HPE with polyclonal anti-crustacean antibody. Note: the positive control Heated Prawn.

5.3.2 Patient IgE immunoblotting analysis.

The 19 patients analysed in this study had a history of clinical allergy to one or several shellfish species, and/or elevated IgE to shrimp, lobster and crab by ImmunoCAP (Table 5.1).

Identification	Sex	Total IgE	Shrimp	Lobster	Crab	HDM	Symptoms
		(IU/mL)	specific	specific	specific	specific	
			(kU_A/L)	(kU_A/L)	kU_A/L)	(kU_A/L)	
Α	М	136	4.54	ND	ND	ND	0
* B	F	150	0.16	ND	0.06	3.25	As, R, An,O
*C	Μ	221	0.10	0.00	0.03	3.14	As, R, An, U, O
D	F	1946	9.5	9.43	2.42	14.1	R, An, O
\mathbf{E}	F	2195	19.1	ND	0.91	>100	As, R, An,O
\mathbf{F}	F	461	0.36	0.32	0.3	54.8	R, An, O
G	Μ	183	6.84	4.10	ND	31.7	NA
\mathbf{H}	Μ	976	9.03	ND	ND	13.6	R, An, O
Ι	F	238	5.93	2.73	6.05	16.7	O, An
J	F	372	1.82	0.35	0.53	3.9	0
K	F	28	9.8	ND	8.42	2.66	A, U
L	Μ	127	1.65	0.18	0.15	0.09	An
Μ	Μ	194	1.41	0.24	ND	0.35	R, An, O
*N	F	201	0.03	< 0.01	0.01	0.05	R, An, U, O
0	F	440	0.5	0.39	0.55	ND	An, U, O
* P	F	12	0.04	0.01	0.01	0.02	An, O
*Q	Μ	164	0.04	ND	ND	ND	R, An, O
R	F	242	1.32	1.65	1.17	ND	As, R, U
*S	М	243	0.04	ND	ND	26.8	R, An, O

Table 5.1: Information and clinical features of enrolled subjects sensitised to shellfish.

F: female, M: Male, As: Asthma, R: Rhinitis, An: Anaphylaxis, U: Urticaria, O: Oral/facial symptoms, ND: Not determined; *patient sera negative for shellfish-specific IgE (ssIgE) by ImmunoCAP but positive history and positive on IgE immunoblot.

In addition, IgE antibodies binding to the invertebrate allergen house dust-mite (HDM) were quantified by ImmunoCAP. Immunoblot results revealed proteins from both the CE and the ES products of *A*. *pegreffii* cross-reacting to IgE in sera of patients used for this study. However, the binding patterns corresponding to ES were characterised by fewer protein bands when compared to those corresponding to the CE (Figures 5.5 and 5.6), indicating possible differences between proteins' relative abundance and presence in these proteomes. Major bands were observed for the CE at ~37-39 kDa and ~100 kDa and 195 kDa (Figure 5.5). A non-atopic control serum did not show significant binding to any CE and ES proteins of *A. pegreffii* (Figures 5.5 and 5.6).



Figure 5.5. IgE antibody reactivity to A. pegreffii crude extracts.

IgE immunoblot with sera from 19 shellfish sensitised patients, as well as from one non-atopic control. Numbers denote specific IgE binding reactive bands and are interpreted in Tables 5.2 and 5.3.

Table 5.2: Allerlogram of l	gE Binding Patt	erns To Proteins	From Crude	Extract Of A.
Pegreffii.				

Patient ID	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
А									
В									
С									
D									
E									
F									
G									
Н									
Ι									
J									
К									
L									
М									
Ν									
0									
Р									
Q									
R									
S									

Note: IgE binding intensities are graded as low (light grey), medium and strong (black). Sera from 19 shellfish allergic patients as well as from one atopic control were used.



Reactive bands # and % of reactive shellfish allergic patient sera	Proteins in reactive band Identified by LC-MS/MS	MW at which protein migrated (kDa)	Uniprot MW (kDa)	Sequence similarity to allergen by blast in SDAP (%)	Name of allergen	Accession number and Organism
1 (5%)	Fatty acid-binding protein-like protein 3	16	20	23	Lep d 13	Q9U5P1- Lepidoglyphus destructor [storage mite]
	Essential light chain	16	18	42	Art fr.5.0101	A7L499-Artemia franciscana [brine shrimp]
	Myosin regulatory light chain 1	16	19	35	Lit v 3.0101	EU449515- <i>Litopenaeus</i> <i>vannamei</i> [white leg shrimp]
	Protein MCE-1	15	18	26	Ory s 33kD	BAB71741-Oryza sativa [Rice]

Table 5.3: List of proteins in *A. pegreffii* crude extract reactive bands and sequence identity to allergens.

None of the above proteins present in reactive band 1, satisfied the defined parameters for cross-reactive allergen as specified for this study which is $\geq 65\%$ sequence similarity to an allergen and reactivity with 50% of shellfish allergic patients sera.

2 (5%)	estradiol 17-beta- dehydrogenase 8	25	26	37	Alt a 8.0101	P0C0Y4- Alternaria alternate
	Triosephosphate isomerase	25	27	62	Arc s 8.0101	[moulds) Q8T5G9- Archaeopotamobi us sibiriensis
	24 kDa protein	25	24	10	Art v 3.0202	(crustaceans species) ACE07187- <i>Prunus persica</i> [peach]

None of the above proteins found in reactive band 2, satisfied the defined parameters for cross-reactive allergen for this study.

3 (5%)	14-3-3 zeta	28	29	16	Pan s 1	O61379-
	Putative peroxiredoxin prdx-3	28	29	29	Tri a 32.0101	Panulirus stimpsoni [spiny lobster] AAQ74769- Triticum aestivum[wheat]

None of the above proteins found in reactive band 3, satisfied the defined parameters for cross-reactive allergen for this study.

4 (5%)	Malate dehydrogenase	35	36	57	Mala f 4	AAD25927- Malassezia furfur
	Transaldolase	36	42	54	Cla c 14.0101	ADK47394- Cladosporium cladosporioides
	Annexin-A6	34	34	19	Eur m 14	AAF14270- Euroglyphus maynei [mite]

None of the above proteins found in reactive band 4, satisfied the defined parameters for cross-reactive allergen for this study.

5 (≥50%)	fructose-bisphosphate	38	39	66	Sal s	B5DGM7-
	aldolase 1 *				3.0101	Salmo
						salar[atlantic
						salmon]
	Tropomyosin*	38	41	99	Asc 1	Q9NAS5-Ascaris
					3.0101	lumbricoides
				72	Pen a 1	11893851-
						Penaeus aztecus
						[shrimp]
				72	Lit v	EU410072-
					1.0101	Litopenaeus
						vannamei
						[whiteleg shrimp]
	fructose-bisphosphate	38	39	64	Sal s	B5DGM7-
	aldolase 2				3.0101	Salmo salar
						[atlantic salmon]

Three proteins were found in reactive band 5; two of the proteins identified (*) in this same band, had $\geq 65\%$ sequence similarity with an allergen; and $\geq 50\%$ of shellfish allergic patient sera reacted to this band.

6 (indeterminate)	Enolase	48	48	71	Sal s 2.0101	B5DGQ7- Salmo salar[atlantic salmon]
	putative phosphoglycerate kinase	48	45	15	Der f 16.0101	AAM64112- Dermatophagoide s farina [mites]
	4-hydroxybutyrate coenzyme a transferase	48	51	9	Sch c 1.0101	D8Q9M3- Schizophyllum commune [mould]

The protein <u>enolase</u> was among the proteins identified in reactive band 6 with sequence similarity to an allergen $\geq 65\%$, however reactive bands were too faint to ascertain if $\geq 50\%$ of shellfish allergic patients' sera reacted with this protein in crude extract of A. pegreffii.

7 (26%)	heat shock protein 70	70	71	76	Cla h 5.0101	P40916- <i>Cladosporium</i> <i>herbarum</i> [mould]
	myosin tail family protein	71	108	38	Blo t 11	AAM83103- Blomia tropicalis [mites]
	myosin heavy chain	66	138	40	Der p 11	AAO73464-

					Dermatophagoide s pteronyssinus [mites]
chaperone DnaK	67	84	51	Cla h 5.0101	P40918- <i>Cladosporium</i> herbarum[mould]

Among proteins found in reactive band 7 which had sequence similarity above the threshold specified, was HSP 70, however, the percentage of shellfish allergic patients sera which reacted to this band was less than 50%

8 (50%)	Myosin tail family protein	71	108	38	Blo t 11	AAM83103- <i>Blomia tropicalis</i> [mites]
	Myosin heavy chain	66	138	40	Der p 11	AAO73464- Dermatophagoide s pteronyssinus [mites]
	Myosin-4	46	93	42	Ani s 2	AAF72796- Anisakis simplex
None of the above this study.	proteins found in reactiv	e band 8 satisfied	d the define	d parameters j	for cross-rea	ctive allergen for
9 (11%)	Vitellogenin-6	187	201	21	Gal d vitelloge nin	CAA49139- Gallus domesticus

The only protein found in reactive band 9, vitellogenin, did not satisfy the defined parameters for cross-reactive allergen for this study.

*=Novel putative cross-reactive allergens identified.

SDAP=Structural database of allergenic proteins; MW=Molecular weight.



Figure 5.6. IgE antibody reactivity to A. pegreffii excretory/secretory product.

IgE immunoblot with sera from 19 shellfish sensitised patients, as well as from one non-atopic control. Numbers denote specific IgE binding reactive bands and are interpreted in Tables 5.4 and 5.5.

Table 5.4: Allergogram of IgE binding patterns to excretory/secretory proteins of A	1.
pegreffii.	

Patient ID	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
А							
В							
С							
D							
Е							
F							
G							
Н							
Ι							
J							
К							
L							
М							
N							
0							
Р							
Q							
R							
S							

Note: IgE binding intensities are graded as low (light Grey), medium and strong (Black).



Table 5.5: List of proteins in A.	pegreffii excretory/secretory	product reactive bands and
sequence identity to allergens.		

Reactive bands number and % of reactive shellfish allergic patient sera	Proteins in reactive band Identified by LC- MS/MS	MW at which protein migrated (kDa)	Uniprot MW (kDa)	Highest sequence similarity to an allergen by blast in SDAP (%)	Name of allergen	Accession number and Organism
1 (5%)	Major allergen Ani s 1	18	21	96	Ani s 1	AB100095- A. simplex
	Peptidyl-prolyl cis- trans isomerase 3	18	19	79	Cat r 1.0101	CAA59468- Catharanthus roseus (Rosy periwinkle)
	fatty acid-binding protein-like protein 3	18	19	23	Lep d 13	Q9U5P1- Lepidoglyphus destructor [storage mite]

The number of patient sera reactive to proteins in this band was only one; hence none of the proteins with $\geq 65\%$ sequence similarity to an allergen could be identified as a putative cross-reactive allergen since reactivity with 50% of shellfish allergic patients' sera was not satisfied as one of the parameters defined to identify putative cross-reactive allergen in this study.

2 (5%)	Triosephosphate isomerase	25	27	62	Arc s 8.0101	Q8T5G9- Archaeopotamobius sibiriensis (crustaceans species)
	superoxide dismutase	25	25	51	Hev b 10.0101	AAA16792- Hevea brasiliensis [latex)
	Glutathione S- transferase 1	25	24	38	Bla g 5	O18598- Blatella germanica
	24 kDa protein	25	24	10	Art v 3.0202	ACE07187- Prunus persica [peach]

None of the above proteins found in reactive band 2 for ES, satisfied the defined parameters for cross-reactive allergen for this study.

3 (5%)	Malate dehydrogenase	35	36	57	Mala f 4	AAD25927- Malassezia furfur [mould]
	Transaldolase	35	42	54	Cla c 14.0101	ADK47394- Cladosporium cladosporioides [mould]
	YjeF-related protein, C-terminus containing protein	35	33	20	Der f 3	P49275- Dermatophagoides farinae
	Annexin-A6	35	34	19	Eur m 14	AAF14270-
						Euroglyphus maynei [mite]

None of the above proteins found in reactive band 3 for ES, satisfied the defined parameters for cross-reactive allergen for this study.

4 (≥50%)	fructose-bisphosphate aldolase 1 *	38	39	66	Sal s 3.0101	B5DGM7-
						Salmo salar[atlantic
						salmon]
	fructose-bisphosphate aldolase 2	38	39	64	Sal s 3.0101	B5DGM7-
						Salmo salar[atlantic
						salmon]
	hemoglobin	38	39	9	Chi t 8	P02227- Chironomus
						thummi thummi [midge]
	Galactoside-binding lectin	38	37	10	Tab y 2.0101	ADM18346-

Four proteins were found in reactive band 4; one of the proteins identified in this band, has $\geq 65\%$ sequence similarity with an allergen; and $\geq 50\%$ of shellfish allergic patient sera reacted with this band.

5 (≥50%)	Enolase	48	48	71	0.1.00101	B5DGQ7-
					Sal s 2.0101	<i>Salmo salar</i> [atlantic salmon]
	4-hydroxybutyrate coenzyme a transferase	48	51	9	Sch c 1.0101	D8Q9M3- Castanea sativa [chestnut tree]
	Imidazolonepropionase	48	45	5	Cas s 1	CAD10374- Dermatophagoides farina [mites]

Three proteins were found in reactive band 5; one of the proteins identified in this band, enolase, has \geq 65% sequence similarity with an allergen; and \geq 50% of shellfish allergic patient sera reacted with this band.

6 (5%)	cytosolic 10-formyltetrahydrofolate	53	100	41	Alt a 10	P42041- Alternaria
	dehydrogenase					alternata [mould]
	6-phosphogluconate	53	55	8	Alt a 3	P78983- Alternaria
	decarboxylating					alternata [mould]

None of the above proteins found in reactive band 6 satisfied the defined parameters for cross-reactive allergen for this study

7 (5%)	Vitellogenin-6	187	201	21	Gal d	CAA49139-Gallus
					vitellogenin	domesticus

The only protein found in reactive band 9, vitellogenin, did not satisfy the defined parameters for cross-reactive allergen for this study.

The shaded column = (%) sequence similarity to an allergen with the darker shade indicating the protein with \geq 65% sequence similarity to an allergen; *-Novel putative cross-reactive allergens identified; SDAP=Structural database of allergenic proteins; MW=Molecular weight.

5.3.3 Identification of IgE-binding proteins by MS analysis

The intensity of the reactive bands in the IgE immunoblots are graded in the allerlogram Tables 5.2 and 5.4 for CE and ES of *A. pegreffii*, respectively. The grade ranged from strong to moderate and light intensity. Protein bands were excised from SDS-PAGE gels of CE and ES products based on IgE-binding patterns. Proteins with the molecular weight size corresponding to the reactive bands were further analysed by 1D-LC-MS/MS.

5.3.4 Bioinformatic Analysis

The sequences of proteins identified were used in a Blast search against the Structural Database of Allergenic Proteins (SDAP) database. However, the focus was on reactive bands in which $\geq 50\%$ of patients reacted and in which the protein of interest has a sequence similarity of $\geq 65\%$ with one or more allergens in SDAP. The list of proteins identified in both crude extract and excretory/secretory product of *A. pegreffii* reactive bands as well as similarity in their sequence identity to allergens, are listed in Tables 5.3 and 5.5, respectively.

Putative cross-reactive allergens were then identified from these groups of protein in selected reactive bands, based on high mascot score and $\geq 65\%$ sequence identity with an allergen. Two reactive bands were further characterized in the CE-the band corresponding to 37-39kDa because of the signal strength and over 50% patient sera reactivity; while in the ES, 2 other protein bands were also characterized. Though the intensities of reactive bands in the ES were not as strong as those in the CE, they were however characterised as these bands were considered of moderate signal strength.

Hence, fructose bisphosphate aldolase 1 and enolase were identified in the ES of *A. pegreffii* as putative cross-reactive allergens, while tropomyosin, in addition to fructose bisphosphate aldolase 1, was identified in the CE. Peptides of the putative cross-reactive allergens identified by LC-MS/MS in this study are listed in supplementary Tables S1 and S2.

5.3.5 Molecular phylogenetic analysis

To investigate the nature of the potential immunological cross-reactivity between *Anisakis* allergens and related invertebrate allergens, the phylogenetic relationships between the three-major IgE binding proteins of *A. pegreffii* and their crustacean homologues were evaluated (Figures 5.7A and B, Figure 5.8). *A. pegreffii* enolase (Figure 5.7A) clustered together with the banana prawn homologue to the exclusion of fish enolases, while the *A. pegreffii* aldolase clustered separately from the fish homologues (Figure 5.7B). Tropomyosin clustered together with homologues from prawn and crab, to the exclusion of those from oyster and abalone (Figure 5.8).

(A). Enolase



Figure 5.7. The phylogenetic tree of A. pegreffi putative novel cross-reactive allergens.

Phylogenetic relationship of *A. pegreffii*'s novel putative cross-reactive allergens (A) Enolase (B) Fructose bisphosphate aldolase- with homologues from shellfish, based on Neighbour Joining analysis. Bootstrap values supporting each clade are indicated.

Tropomyosin



Figure 5.8. The phylogenetic tree of A. pegreffi tropomyosin, a cross-reactive allergen.

Phylogenetic relationship of *A. pegreffii*'s tropomyosin with homologues from shellfish, based on Neighbour Joining analysis. Bootstrap values supporting each clade are indicated.

5.4 Discussion

Hypersensitivity reactions to a variety of food sources containing homologous proteins is a significant clinical problem (Sicherer, 2001, Popescu, 2015). Infected fish contaminated with parasitic nematodes of the genus *Anisakis* may induce possible clinical cross-reactive responses in subjects with allergies to crustaceans, as a consequence of a high amino acid sequence identity between crustaceans and parasite proteins, such as tropomyosin (Lopata et al., 2010). *A. simplex* is recognised by the WHO/IUIS nomenclature committee as the parasite with the largest number of known allergens (Caraballo and Acevedo, 2011, Fitzsimmons et al., 2014). In particular, while recent transcriptomic investigations of *A. simplex* and *A. pegreffii* led to the identification of up to 38 and 31 putative allergens, respectively (Baird et al., 2016), it is likely that the full repertoire of allergens for these parasite nematodes is yet to be discovered (Baird et al., 2016).

Fructose bisphosphate aldolase was identified in the proteome of AP in this study. Reactivity was not observed with rabbit anti-goat aldolase antibody although reactivity occurred between the rabbit anti-goat aldolase and fish aldolase. However, 24 hour exposure (figure not shown) showed weak reactivity in crude extract and a weaker reactivity in ES. This result may be due to (i) variation of protein and allergen composition or (ii) the aldolase protein of *Anisakis* not having significant similarity to that of human, due to differences in the epitope binding site. In addition, there was no reactivity with the antibody against parvalbumin. Parvalbumin was not identified in the proteome of *A. pegreffii* in this study. Hence absence of reactive band with parvalbumin in *A. pegreffii* extracts may indicate absence of the protein in *A. pegreffii*.

Further analysis focused on *A. pegreffii* allergens potentially responsible for cross-reactivity in shellfish allergic patients. Over 50% (n=>10) of shellfish allergic patients reacted to tropomyosin from CE of *A. pegreffii*. Tropomyosin has been long known as an important pan-allergen. It has been isolated from crustaceans (Kamath et al., 2013), as well as HDM and storage mites (Aki et al., 1995), insects including

cockroaches (<u>Asturias et al., 1999</u>) and from nematodes such as *Anisakis* and *Ascaris* species (<u>Reese et al., 1997</u>). Tropomyosin is a major cross-reactive allergen widely reported in shellfish and HDM-sensitised subjects (<u>Kamath et al., 2017</u>). It is however, suggested that it might not be the only allergen responsible for cross-reactivity in such individuals (<u>Boquete et al., 2011</u>, <u>Kamath et al., 2017</u>).

In this study, 2 novel cross-reactive allergens were identified in addition to tropomyosin in *A. pegreffii* proteome. Fructose bisphosphate aldolase migrated at the same molecular weight size as tropomyosin. It could be observed that 2 bands were merged together for some patients at 37-39kDa in the crude extract and the intensity was strong. Fructose bisphosphate aldolase protein also gave a high reactivity in ES with sera of shellfish allergic patients. FBA has recently been described by our group (Baird et al., 2016) as well as by other researchers (Faeste et al., 2014) as a putative allergen of *A. pegreffii* and *A. simplex*. It was also just recently described as an allergen in prawns (Kamath et al., 2014a). Though FBA was previously identified as a major fish allergen with limited cross-reactivity (Kuehn et al., 2013), IgE-binding frequency of *Anisakis* FBA was >50% against sera of shellfish allergic patients in this study.

An additional protein was identified in the ES, namely enolase. This protein was also identified in the CE of *A. pegreffii* in this study. Due to the weakness of the intensity of the reactive bands, the number of sera reactive to this protein in the CE was indeterminate; however, its presence in the ES was significant. Enolase has been previously described as an allergen in *Anisakis* and fish but not yet in crustaceans (Faeste et al., 2014). Enolase has furthermore been described as a major cross-reactive allergen not only in fish and cockroaches, but also in plants and fungi (Chuang et al., 2010, Tomm et al., 2013). In this study, enolase in *A. pegreffii* extracts, displayed a high frequency of IgE-binding (\geq 50%) to sera from shellfish allergic patients. Reactivity to enolase in CE and ES, however, varied across subjects as observed in their binding intensity, which may indicate differences in the sources of enolase expression and/or relative abundance in *A. pegreffii*. According to information available for patients whose sera were

tested in this study, four subjects with IgE binding to enolase had a history of allergy to fish and crustaceans.

Sera from patients sensitised to crustacean shellfish utilised in this study have reacted to additional allergen proteins, other than tropomyosin, which suggests a role for these proteins as cross-reactive allergens between crustaceans and *Anisakis*, and supports the hypothesis that multiple proteins are responsible for immunological and clinical cross-reactivity between crustaceans and the fish parasite *Anisakis*. Although six of the patients in our study had negative ImmunoCAP for shellfish-specific IgE (ssIgE) against shrimp, crab or lobster they were each atopic with a strong clinical history of seafood allergy and positive serum IgE immunoblotting. This reflects the current issue with limited reliable diagnostic agents.

Other protein bands were observed at positions consistent with the known shellfish allergens, however, these proteins did not satisfy the criteria defined for cross-reactive allergens in this study as fewer than 50% of patients sera reacted to these proteins. This might have been due to a low abundance of these proteins in *A. pegreffii* extracts in this study. Such proteins include myosin regulatory light chain (~15 kDa) and paramyosin (~100 kDa), a cross-reactive protein described in diverse invertebrates (Popescu, 2015). Other proteins detected include 70 kDa heat shock protein, which has been known to be implicated in insect-nematode cross-allergies (Johansson et al., 2001); transaldolase protein previously identified as a significant IgE cross-reactive allergen family of *Cladosporium* and *Penicillium* species (Chou et al., 2011); fatty acid binding proteins (FABPs) identified as minor allergens in mites (group 13) and cockroaches (Thomas et al., 2002), with the mite FABP shown by Munera *et al.* (Munera, 2015) to have a high degree of IgE cross-reactivity with shrimp FABP. A larger study needs to be carried out to confirm that these proteins are not implicated in cross-reactivity between shellfish and *Anisakis*.

In summary, in this study, three proteins (tropomyosin, enolase and fructose bisphosphate aldolase 1) have been identified as putative IgE binding cross-reactive allergens between *A. pegreffii* and shellfish. The data obtained from the result of this study provide a platform for further investigations into hidden allergens in shellfish and *Anisakis*, as well as other unrelated allergen sources, which may assist in the development of novel sensitive diagnostic tools for allergy detection.

Improved component-resolved diagnosis is not only relevant for patients with possible allergy to *A*. *pegreffii*, but also for the estimated ~3% of the world's population affected by shellfish and/or fish allergy (Liu et al., 2010). Knowledge of allergens that are cross-reactive between *A. pegreffii* and the many different species of fish and shellfish consumed worldwide is central to improved patient management and future development of immunotherapeutics.

CHAPTER 6: IDENTIFICATION AND MOLECULAR CHARACTERISATION OF LEUCINE AMINOPEPTIDASE OF A. SIMPLEX AND A. PEGREFFII.

6.1 Introduction.

Proteolytic enzymes have been found to contribute significantly to the function of almost all organisms (Rawlings, 2013). They are required to remove the initiating methionine from newly synthesized, cytoplasmic proteins, to cleave the signal peptides from proteins that have gone through the secretory pathway, to remove propeptides from enzymes, as well as receptors and hormones synthesized as precursors in order to activate these proteins, to release individual proteins and peptides from polyproteins, to destroy potentially lethal proteins from parasites and pathogens, to release antigenic peptides from parasites and pathogens as well as to obtain amino acids from food proteins (Rawlings, 2013).

Key activities in the host-parasite interface have been connected to proteases. Proteases have been discovered to be associated with critical molecular tasks that lead to successful parasitism. These enzymes contribute to parasite nutrition, tissue invasion, and evasion of the host immune response. Increasingly recognised as potential targets for chemotherapeutic agents, parasite proteases play important roles in parasite biology (Rawlings et al., 2014). Proteases have been classified into serine, threonine, cysteine, aspartic and metalloproteases, based on their catalytic sites.

6.1.1 Proteases of Anisakis Described

A number of proteases secreted by Anisakinae have been investigated. These include the D-like aspartic protease cloned by Ni and colleagues (Ni et al., 2012). In another study, activity of selected hydrolases in the ES of *Contracaecum rudolphii* showed activity of leucine arylamidase, valine arylamidase and chymotrypsin, while the remaining proteases revealed no detectable activity (Dziekonska-Rynko and Rokicki, 2005). A serine protease and serine protease inhibitor from infective larvae of the parasitic nematode *Anisakis simplex* ((Morris and Sakanari, 1994) was purified by Morris and Sakanari. The serine protease was found identical with that of porcine trypsin. Another serine protease identified, was found to

be similar to a secreted tissue-destructive serine protease from the pathogenic bacterium *Dichelobacter nodosus* (Morris and Sakanari, 1994). Furthermore, in the investigation by Sakanari and Mckerrow, 2 classes of proteases were detected in *A. simplex*: a metallo aminopeptidase and a trypsin-like serine protease (Sakanari and McKerrow, 1990). Recently, a group of peptidases with roles in host tissue penetration and digestion encoded by transcripts in both *A. simplex* and *A. pegreffii* were shown to be differentially expressed as reported in a study by Cavallero et al. (Cavallero et al., 2018). Putative peptidases identified in that study included (i) aspartic peptidases M1 (n = 1), (ii) astacin peptidase M12A (n = 5), (Grandea et al.) (iii) peptidase M13 (n = 2), (iv) serine carboxypeptidase S10 (n = 1), as well as hemopexin-like metallopeptidases, carboxylesterases and ShKT *Stichodactyla helianthus* toxin (n = 3). In same study it was noted that in particular, transcripts encoding for metalloproteinases (i.e. aminopeptidases, astacins and neprilysins) were particularly abundant in *A. simplex*.

6.1.2 Leucine Aminopeptidases (LAPs)

Metallo-aminopeptidases that catalyse the removal of *N*-terminal amino acid residues are the leucine aminopeptidases (LAPs). LAP is an exopeptidase metallo-exoprotease belonging to the M17 peptidase family. It preferentially cleaves a leucine residue at the *N*-terminus of proteins and peptides, although they display a broad amidolytic activity to other amino acid hydrolysis (Rawlings et al., 2014). Leucine aminopeptidases (LAPs) are found in animals, plants and microorganisms and they comprise a diverse set of enzymes with different biochemical and biophysical properties. Catabolism of endogenous and exogenous proteins, gene expression modulation, peptide and protein processing and turnover, antigen processing and defense are the physiological processes in which these proteins have been implicated (Matsui et al., 2006).

The active site of LAPs of the M17 peptidase family is located in the *C*-terminal domain, considering most LAPs contain two unrelated domains. Two metal ions are required for activity by LAP and activity is usually best at neutral or basic pH. LAPs are sensitive to bestatin and amastatin (<u>Rawlings et al., 2014</u>).
Due to their important functions in the life cycle of pathogenic microorganisms such as *Plasmodium*, *Fusobacterium nucleatum* and *Trypanosoma brucei*, LAPs have emerged as novel and promising targets for drug design (Stack et al., 2007, Skinner-Adams et al., 2012, Rogers et al., 1998). In addition, a strong IgG response was shown in vaccination trials using *Fasciola hepatica* LAP (FhLAP) for rabbit immunization. A high level of protection was achieved after experimental infection with *F. hepatica* metacercariae. This affirmed FhLAP as a relevant candidate for vaccine development (Acosta et al., 2008).

6.1.3 LAP in other parasites and localization

The function of LAP in different parasites is under investigation. LAP null mutants of *Caenorhabditis elegans* were shown to exhibit growth rate reduction, which subsequently delayed onset of egg laying (Joshua, 2001). In a study by Jia et al., the enzymatic activity of LAP was characterized in *T. gondii* LAP (TgLAP) (Jia et al., 2010). Furthermore, in *Streptomyces coelicolor*, leucine aminopeptidase deletion was found to increase actinorhodin production and sporulation (Song et al., 2013). In malaria parasites, leucine aminopeptidase-like enzymes have been ascribed with the function of haemoglobin digestion. They are believed to function in the terminal stages of haemoglobin digestion in order to generate free amino acids, used for parasite protein synthesis (Gavigan et al., 2001). In *T. gondii*, TgLAP has also been found to have the ability to release free amino acids as the final step in protein catabolism (Jia et al., 2010).

The LAP of liver fluke has been shown to be expressed in the excretory/secretory product and therefore in the gut of the fluke (Marcilla et al., 2008, Marcilla et al., 2012). In *Clonorchis sinensis*, the carcinogenic liver fluke, LAPs (CsLAP1 and CsLAP2) have been demonstrated to be expressed throughout the development of the parasite, co-localizing in the epithelial cells of the gut of the fluke. They are believed to probably participate in the terminal cleavage of peptides just before absorption from the gut lumen (Kang et al., 2012). Peptidases related to LAPs expressed in the gut and tegument of Schistosomes (*S*.

japonicum and *S. mansonii*), have also been described (McCarthy et al., 2004). LAPs in schistosomes have been found in eggs, miracidia, cercaria and egg hatching fluid.In addition, it was demonstrated in Schistosomes that egg hatching did not occur when the specific inhibitor for metalloproteinases, bestatin, was applied. Both LAPs of *S. mansonii* SmLAP1 and SmLAP2 were implicated in egg hatching (Xu and Dresden, 1986).

The work described in this chapter extends the study of proteases in *Anisakis* species to investigating activity, function and localization of secreted leucine aminopeptidase (LAP) in both *A. simplex* and *A. pegreffii*.

AIMS

Metallopeptidases were the most abundant among the classes of peptidases identified in the proteome of *Anisakis pegreffii* (as described in Chapter 3). In addition, one of these classes of aminopeptidases, leucine aminopeptidase (LAP), was identified in Chapter 4 among the cargo content of exosomes of *A. pegreffii*. Hence this chapter therefore aims to:

- 1. Express and purify a functional recombinant leucine aminopeptidase (LAP) protein of *Anisakis* in *Escherichia coli*.
- 2. Evaluate the biochemical properties and function of this protease.
- 3. Demonstrate the localisation region of the enzyme in Anisakis pegreffii L3 Larvae.

6.2 Methods

The general methods of parasite materials collection, molecular identification of *A. pegreffii*, preparation of excretory/secretory products (ES) and parasite crude extracts (CE), 1D- LC-MS/MS analysis and protein identification are as described in the general methods in Chapter 2. The following are the specific methods for this chapter.

6.2.1 Specific Materials

Leucine-7-amido-4-methylcoumarin hydrochloride and L-Leu- β -naphthylamide substrates with bestatin, Fast Blue B Salt, potassium cyanide BioUltra, \geq 98.0% (AT), Methyl Green Zinc chloride salt for microscopy, ES-62 and 1, 10-phenanthroline were purchased from Sigma Aldrich (Australia). Pre-cast gels (4-12%), buffers, molecular weight markers and all standard molecular biology reagents used were from Sigma Aldrich (Australia) except otherwise stated.

6.2.2 Specific Methods

6.2.2.1 Leucine Aminopeptidase Gene Synthesis

Due to time constraints and unsuccessful amplification of the LAP gene from *A. pegreffii* L3 larvae extract at the first few trials, a fragment of a secreted LAP gene from *A. simplex*, based on the published genomic data of *A. simplex* was synthesized by G-block script (Australia) (Uniprot accession number: A0A0M3KDK6). Restriction enzyme sites for both *Hind*III and *Nde*1 were introduced into the synthesized fragment at the 5' and 3' end, respectively. In designing of the sequence, introns of the LAP gene from *A. simplex* were removed and the final gene size synthesized was a 950bp gene (See Appendix for details of gene synthesized). The synthesized gene fragment was provided in a lyophilized tube, which was then re-suspended in the laboratory as specified by the manufacturer for further downstream application.

6.2.2.2 PCR Primer Design

PCR Primers based the whole LAP Forward primer (5'gene: on GCATGAAAGCTTTTACAGGTAGTAATTTAAATA) which contained an *Hind*III site (underlined) and the Reverse primer (5'-GCATGACATATGATGATGATTGTTGTTGTTTCAGC), which introduces an Nde1 site (underlined) were designed using Primer 3 software. Both enzyme sites are able to fuse N-terminal and C-terminal His₆ tag. Those restriction enzymes were chosen because they both do not have recognition sites within the gene but do have in the pET28a vector. Six nucleotides were added at the 5' end of each primer to increase their stability. The primers were ordered from GeneWorks Custom Oligo Service, Australia.

6.2.2.3 Appropriate Gene Size Confirmation

The synthesized gene used as a template, was amplified according to instructions by manufacturers using the above-mentioned primers with a cycling condition of: 94 °C for 1 min; 94 °C for 30 s; 50 °C for 1 min; 72 °C for 2 min; 15 cycles, followed by a 7 min extension at 72 °C. Amplified product was run for 1 hour at 100 volts on a 1.5% agarose gel (0.5 agarose dissolved in 50 ml TAE buffer) premixed with Sybr safe (5µl to 50mls of agarose gel=1:10,000 dilution) to confirm the right gene size has been amplified. This was visualised under the Biorad UV transilluminator.

6.2.2.4 Digestion of Gene and Plasmid

The amplified product was purified using the Isolate II PCR and Gel purification kit (Bioline) according to the manufacturer's instruction. Subsequently, the purified gene product and the plasmid to which the gene would be inserted (pET28a) were separately double digested by *HindIII* and *Nde1* (NEB) to create two sticky-ended DNA fragments using the NEB protocol for double digestion as shown below (Table 6.1). Equal amounts of digested DNA were thereafter electrophoresed on 1.5% agarose gels as earlier described for 2 hours at 60V.

Components	Reaction volume
Restriction enzyme 1	10units (1µl)
Restriction enzyme 2	10units (1µl)
DNA	1µg
10 X NEBuffer	48 µl
Total reaction volume	~50 µl
Incubation time	1 hour
Incubation Temperature	37°C

Table 6.1: Double Digestion Protocol.

6.2.2.5 Ligation of Gene (LAP) into Plasmid (pET28a).

The digested products were purified after electrophoresis and visualization of bands which indicated complete and correct digestion. The LAP gene was inserted and ligated into the pET28a plasmid vector using the T4 DNA Ligase NEB protocol as described below in table 6.2. Plasmid with insert was amplified and PCR products were purified with Isolate II PCR and Gel purification kit (Bioline). The reaction was set up as shown below on ice.

Components	20 µl Reaction
T4 DNA Ligase Buffer (10X), thawed and resuspended at room temperature	2 µl
pET 28a Vector DNA (5369bp)	50 ng (0.020 pmol)
Insert DNA (950bp)	37.5ng (0.060 pmol)
Nuclease free water	To 20 μl
T4 DNA Ligase	1 μl

 Table 6.2: Ligation Protocol.

The table shows a ligation procedure using a molar ratio of 1:3 vector to insert. The reaction was gently mixed by pipetting up and down and given a brief microfuge. The mixture was then incubated at room temperature for 10 minutes and subsequently heat inactivated at 65°C for another 10 minutes.

6.2.2.6 Sequencing.

To the purified plasmid DNA with the insert (10µl), was added 1µl of the forward and reverse sequencing primers in separate tubes according to Australian Genome Research Facility (AGRF) specification and primer sent for sequencing. The sequence used are forward primer-5`was TAATACGACTCACTATAGGG-3` (20bp) primer-5`and reverse TTATGCTAGTTATTGCTCAGCGGTGG-3` (26bp) obtained from the Biotechnology Laboratory,

RMIT University, Bundoora, Victoria, Australia. This was to confirm the correct orientation and insertion of the gene in the pET 28a plasmid vector.

6.2.2.7 Competent Cells Preparation.

E. coli DH5 α and *E. coli* BL21 DE3 were separately grown overnight in 5ml LB broth each. The overnight culture was then inoculated into 200ml LB broth and grown at 37°C on the shaker (220 rpm) until an OD 600 nm 0.35 to 0.4 (Early-Mid-Log-Phase) was reached. The *E. coli* cultures were chilled on ice for 30 minutes and divided 50ml each in Falcon tubes, which were thereafter centrifuged at 3500 x g for 15 minutes at 4°C. Supernatant was removed and pellets were resuspended in 50ml ice-cold sterile Milli-Q water until the pellets disappeared. The centrifugation process was performed again using the same conditions. Pellets were resuspended in 25ml ice-cold sterile Milli-Q water and centrifugation, the pellets were resuspended in 25ml of 10% ice cold glycerol, and the tubes for each *E. coli* strain were pooled to have 1 tube for each strain and the centrifuge protocol repeated as described. Finally, the cells were resuspended into a double pellet volume (around 300 µl) of 10% ice-cold sterile glycerol, and cell aliquots of 50µl in each eppendorf tube were stored at - 80°C.

6.2.2.8 Transformation.

Chilled reaction mixture of ligated plasmid with insert was used to transform 50 μ l competent cells of each of *E. coli* strain dH5 α (for maintenance and propagation) and *E. coli* BL21 DE3 (for protein expression). Briefly, competent cells were thawed on ice and 50 μ l of competent cells was added to chilled 5 ng (2 μ l) of the ligation mixture DNA. The cells and DNA were mixed gently by pipetting up and down and subsequently placing on ice for 30 minutes. The mixture was then heat shocked at 42°C for 30 seconds. At room temperature, 950 μ l of SOC media was added to the tubes and placed at 37°C for 60 minutes with vigorous shaking (250 rpm). Selection plates incorporated with kanamycin (50 μ g/ μ l) was warmed to 37°C. The cells and ligation mixture (100 μ l) were then spread onto the plates and incubated

overnight at 37°C. True transformants were selected and presence of the gene was verified by amplification of the gene using the designed primers. This protein was expressed and purified from the transformed *E. coli* BL21 DE3.

6.2.2.9 Protein Expression.

Expression of the protein was carried out using an in-house terrific broth protocol. Briefly, *E. coli* strain was transformed and grown overnight on LB agar with kanamycin antibiotics at 37 °C. Pre-induction terrific broth (200 mL) (recipe stated under Appendix 1) was inoculated with 1 colony or 20 μ l transformant from the selection plate or culture. Culture was incubated overnight at 28 °C with fast shaking. The overnight culture was harvested by centrifugation at 4000 X g for 10 minutes. Pellets were washed and resuspended in 20mL PBS and then re-harvested by centrifugation. Resulting pellet was resuspended in 200 mL expression terrific broth (recipe in general methods). The new culture was equilibrated by incubating at induction temperature for 15 minutes. Isopropyl β -D-1thiogalactopyranoside (IPTG) was added to desired concentration (1 mM). Protein was then expressed for 2-6 hours at 28 °C with fast shaking.

6.2.2.10 Protein Purification.

E. coli cell culture expression culture was pelleted by centrifuging at 5000 x g for 10 minutes at 4 $^{\circ}$ C and frozen at -80 $^{\circ}$ C until use. For purifying His₆-LAP, cell pellets were resuspended in lysis buffer (20mM Phosphate buffer pH 7.4 and 1mg/ml lysozome). Volume is 1/10th volume of cell culture suspension that pellet was obtained from. Resuspended pellet was sonicated using a probe sonicator (Branson digital sonifier, 35% amplitude, Pulse On: 15 sec; Pulse Off: 30 sec; three cycles), and thereafter centrifuged for 5 min at 10,000 x *g* to remove debris. The supernatant was collected and filtered using a 0.45 µm membrane filter (Millipore, Billerica, MA, USA).

6.2.2.11 Preparation and Packing of Immobilized Metal Affinity Chromatography (IMAC).

A 1ml polypropylene column (Qiagen) was prepared for IMAC purification of LAP protein by washing with 10ml Milli-Q water, with both sides of the column open, to obtain a steady speed of water flow and removal of air bubbles. Iminodiacetic (IDA) sepharose was added to the column and left to settle to the pre-marked 1ml column level with the end of the column stoppered with a cap. The resin was then washed with 10ml MilliQ water (10 column volumes (CV)) to remove the ethanol in which the resin was stored. Next, the column was charged with 0.5ml (0.5 CV) of 0.2M NiSO4 and washed with 10ml (10 CV) of MilliQ water to remove unbound metal ions. The flow through was collected in a disposable tube and discarded. Finally, the column was equilibrated with 5 ml (5 CV) of the equilibration wash buffer containing 20mM Phosphate buffer, 400mM NaCl and 5mM Imidazole at pH of 7.4.

6.2.2.12 Optimization of IMAC protein purification.

A 5ml sample of cell lysate obtained as described above was added to the column and mixed with the resin by slowly flipping the column up and down. The column was incubated at 4°C for 1 hour with gentle horizontal shaking to keep the sample mixed with the resin. Column was thereafter returned to the vertical position and left to settle for 30 minutes. Crude eluent was collected and the column was washed with 10 ml (10 CV) post sample wash buffer, and then the flow through eluent containing unbound protein was collected. Successively, 1ml of elution buffer containing increasing concentrations (20 mM - 500mM) of imidazole was added to the column and fractions of 1 ml were collected in 1.5ml microcentrifuge tubes.

6.2.2.13 SDS-PAGE Electrophoresis and Western blotting

Samples were heated with SDS-loading buffer at 37°C for 10 minutes before being subjected to SDS-PAGE. Gels were stained with Coomassie blue for 1 hour and destained overnight. Presence of protein of interest was confirmed with Western Blot. A separate SDS-PAGE electrophoresis, which was unstained with a pre-stained marker (listed in general methods and reagents), were used. The proteins on the gel were transferred to a nitrocellulose membrane using the iBlot TM Dry Blotting System (Invitrogen). Briefly, the anode stack containing the membrane was placed on the iBlot, and the SDS-PAGE gel was carefully placed on the membrane anode stack. A filter-paper pre-soaked in deionized water was placed on top of the gel and air bubbles rolled out using the blotting roller provided in the iBlot equipment. Subsequently, the cathode stack was placed on the filter paper with the electrode side facing up. A disposable sponge was positioned on the top of the cathode stack. Blotting was performed following a preset program and time (7 minutes). The nitrocellulose membrane was thereafter ready for further processing.

The nitrocellulose membrane was blocked in 25ml of 5% (w/v) bovine serum albumin (BSA) in Trisbuffered saline with 0.05% Tween 20 (TBST) for 1 hour on the shaker at room temperature. The membrane was then washed 3X for 5 minutes each time. The membrane was probed with primary antibody (anti-his antibody developed in mouse and diluted (1:3,000) in 1% BSA in TBST for 1 hour. Subsequent washing of the membrane with TBST 3X as before, was followed. The secondary antibody (rabbit anti-mouse antibody-25 ml diluted 1:3,000) in 1% BSA in TBST conjugated to alkaline phosphatase (AP) substrate was then applied to the membrane for 1 hour, as before on the shaker. Membrane was washed again 3X with TBST for 5 minutes each and then immersed in the AP detection buffer (Biorad), following the manufactuer's instructions. Membrane was left to develop colour intensity

in the dark for 3-5 minutes before washing excess detection buffer off with distilled water. Coloured protein bands were visualized.

6.2.2.14 Evolutionary relationships of *Anisakis* LAP with homologs.

LAP sequence was used as a query for Blast searches of databases at the NCBI and EBI servers and also the transcriptome of *A. pegreffii* in-house generated database. Relevant matches were retrieved. Sequence alignments were generated with MEGA 6 (Tamura et al., 2013). The evolutionary history was inferred using the Neighbour-Joining method (Saitou and Nei, 1987). The tree is drawn to scale, with branch lengths (next to the branches) in the same units as those of the evolutionary distances used to infer the phylogenetic tree. The evolutionary distances were computed using the Poisson correction method (Zuckerkandl and Pauling, 1965) and are in the units of the number of amino acid substitutions per site. The analysis involved 13 amino acid sequences. All positions containing gaps and missing data were eliminated. Evolutionary analyses were conducted in MEGA6 (Tamura et al., 2013).

6.2.2.15 Enzymatic analysis of *Anisakis* LAP.

The aminopeptidase activities of recombinant *Anisakis* LAP was measured by monitoring the release of cleaved moieties from the fluorogenic peptidyl substrates l-Leucine (Leu)-7-amido-4-methylcoumarin hydrochloride in a 96-well black plates using a final volume of 200 μ l, enzyme (final concentration 20 μ M)) and substrate (final concentration 10 μ M) (Acosta et al., 2008, Song et al., 2008). All experiments were carried out in duplicate, and the mean and standard deviation (SD) were calculated.

6.2.2.15.1 Optimum pH for LAP of Anisakis spp.

The optimum pH for enzymatic activity was first determined by incubating the purified enzyme in 0.1 M sodium acetate (pH 3.5, 4.5, 5.0 and 6.0), 0.1 M Sodium phosphate (pH 7.0), 0.1 M Tris-HCL (pH 7.4) and 0.1 Sodium phosphate (pH 8, pH 8.8), respectively. For each pH step, the appropriate blank was

separately measured as a control. The optimum buffer and pH was subsequently used in all other enzyme activity assays.

6.2.2.15.2 Effect of Metal ions on enzymatic activity of *Anisakis* spp LAP.

The effect of metal ions on the enzymatic activity was assayed by incubating LAP with the divalent cations generated from MgCl₂, MnCl₂, CaCl₂, FeCl₂ and ZnCl₂ at a final concentration of 1mM for each metal ion (<u>Chen et al., 2011</u>). The enzyme activities of the aliquots of sample against the substrate were analyzed as described above. Results were expressed as percentage of enzymatic activity with respect to a control without metal ions.

6.2.2.15.3 Inhibition studies for LAP of *Anisakis* spp.

For inhibition studies, *Anisakis* LAP was incubated first for 15 minutes separately in the presence of N,Nethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA), 1,10-phenanthroline, trans-epoxy-succinyl-L-leucylamido (4guanidino) butane (E-64) or bestatin (a final concentration of 10μ M for all the inhibitors) and thereafter the substrate was added and incubated for 1hr. Results were expressed as percentage of enzymatic activity with respect to a control without inhibitors. Activity was measured and expressed as the mean of two different experiments. The effects of different concentrations of bestatin inhibitor, the specific aminopeptidase inhibitor were assayed by pre-incubating the enzyme with different concentrations of the inhibitor (10μ M, 20 μ M, 30 μ M, 40 μ M and 50 μ M) for 10 min at 37 °C. After the incubation period, remaining enzyme activity was assayed as above adding the substrate and incubating for 2 hr at 37 °C. Results are expressed as % of or relative activity with respect to control conditions.

6.2.2.16 Processing of procathepsin L5 protease of *Fasciola hepatica* by *Anisakis* LAP.

Recombinant *Anisakis* LAP was incubated with recombinant procathepsin FhCL5 (inactivated or unprocessed CL5) at pH 4.5 or pH 7.4. Purified recombinant pro FhCL5 (50 µg) was mixed with 1µg

recombinant *Anisakis* LAP according to Robinson *et al.* (Robinson et al., 2011). Briefly, the mixtures were incubated in either 0.1M sodium acetate (pH 4.5) or 0.1 M sodium phosphate (pH 7.4), each containing 1 mM DTT for 3 h at 37^oC. Reactions were stopped by the addition of E-64 (10 mM). Samples were taken at different time-points to observe the progress of digestion. The time points were 0, 45minutes, 1 hour 30 minutes, 2 hour 15 minutes and 3 hours, respectively. Samples were analyzed on 4-12% SDS-PAGE gels, stained with Coomassie stain and/or transferred to nitrocellulose membranes for immuno-detection as previously described.

6.2.2.17 Histochemical Staining of Leucine Aminopeptidase of A. pegreffii in L3 Larvae.

The parasite tissues/larvae were either fixed in formol-calcium or were put in small plastic cassette and embedded in optimal cutting temperature (Cygler et al., 1993) compound medium. After the samples in OCT became solid (indicated by white color), they were frozen for 3 minutes and then cut into many sections (10 um thick) by a microtome and thereafter spread over gelatin coated slides. LAP histochemical staining was performed according to the method described by Pokharel and colleagues (Pokharel et al., 2006) referring to Nachlas et al's protocol (Nachlas et al., 1957) with little modification. Briefly, the sections were incubated with the incubating solution [L-Leu- β -naphthylamide 0.5 mM, sodium chloride (0.34%) and Fast Blue B salt (0.05%)] and kept in a moist dark chamber for 2 h. Thereafter, the slides were rinsed consecutively in 0.85% saline, 0.1 M copper sulphate and again with saline for 2 min each. The sections were counterstained with 2% methyl green for 3 min and rinsed in distilled water. Finally, the counterstained sections previously fixed in formol-calcium were mounted in DPX for permanent slide preparation. Sections for negative controls were incubated in the incubating medium without the substrate. The slides were observed under a stereomicroscope fitted with Infinity Capture software for image capture.

6.3 Results

6.3.1 Database searched.

When the project described in this chapter was designed, the peptide data generated from the first proteomic analysis, which identified aminopeptidases in *A. pegreffii*, was searched against the then just released draft genome of *A. simplex*, which was made into a database for this analysis. This was before the transcriptome data of *A. pegreffii* was published. Proteases identified were confirmed encoded in the transcriptome of *A. pegreffii*, published thereafter.

6.3.2 Anisakis simplex and A. pegreffii LAP proteins.

A fragment of a secreted LAP gene based on the published genomic data of *A. simplex* was synthesized by G-block script (Australia) (Uniprot accession number: A0A0M3KDK6) and cloned in the laboratory into a pET28a vector transformed into *E. coli* BL21 DE3.

A subsequent search with *A. pegreffii* proteome data against the newly constructed database of *A. pegreffii* trasncriptome identified two leucine aminopeptidases in the *A. pegreffii* proteome. These are leucine aminopeptidase LAP-1; (Unigene648_APIA; 477aa) and a hypothetical protein (CL3092.Contig1_AP1A; 246aa) identified as leucyl aminopetidase (LAP-2) by Blast search. Protein based Blast program comparing the *A. simplex* LAP sequence with each of these LAPs in *A. pegreffii*, showed 87% identity and 56% query coverage with the leucyl aminopetidase of 246aa (LAP-2). The protein sequences blast and sequence alignment is shown in Figures 6.1 and 6.2. However, there was no significant similarity with LAP 1 of *A. pegreffii*.





tr|A0A0M3KDK6|A0A0M3KDK6_ANISI Putative aminopeptidase (inferred by orthology to a C. elegans protein) OS=Anisakis simplex OX=6269 PE=4 SV=1 Sequence ID: Query_102217 Length: 309 Number of Matches: 1

Range 1: 148 to 292 Graphics Vext Match 🔺 Previous Match								
Score 253 bits(645)	Expect 10-88	Method Compositional matrix adjust.	Identities 126/145(87%)	Positives 129/145(88%)	Gaps 6/145(4%)		
Query	1	EES EES	EQKTKLSALALLPVSYEASK EOKTKLSALALLPVSYEASK	FLRLVQTIEAA	FTVCRDIGDAI	PORMSPPKV	VAEYVEE VAEYVEE	60
Sbjct	148	EES	EQKTKLSALALLPVSYEASK	FLRLVQTIEAA	FTVCRDIGDAI	PORMSPPKV	AEYVEE	207
Query	61	IFR TFR	GGCVKVHVTSDAKEIEREYP GGCVKV VTSDAKEIEREYP	LMIAVNRASMG	IEAHRPRLIAI	EYIPEGPIE	ETIMLV ETIMLV	120
Sbjct	208	IFR	GGCVKVRVTSDAKEIEREYP	LMIAVNRASMG	IEAHRPRLIAI	EYIPEGPIE	ETIMLV	267
Query	121	GKG	VTLDMGGADLKLHG	AM 139				
Sbjct	268	GKG	HGRRPYCSSQLPNSSAGLHG	QM 292				

Figure 6.1. Protein Sequence Blast of A. simplex LAP and A. pegreffii LAP-2.

A. Pegreffii LAP-2 is also known as leucyl aminopeptidase (CL3092.Contig1_AP1A; 246aa).

AOAOM3KDK6_A. CL3092.A.	MIVVFSLLSAPLDLAKSLSEPTSDGVIVVSYCAKQLAECAPLKSLAPVVSEYLQLNAGAN
A0A0M3KDK6_A. CL3092.A.	NTASLIVVDKSVVPSGRLVYSGTGPVTRDQDDVRRFSTAARNAMKLALSAGMKSPILVTV
AOAOM3KDK6_A.	PHQKYPQAELVAALGALHELHIPLNVREESEQKTKLSALALLPVSYEASKFLRLVQTIEA
CL3092.A.	EESEQKTKLSALALLPVSYEASKFLRLVQTIEA
A0A0M3KDK6_A.	AFTVCRDIGDADPQRMSPPKVAEYVEEIFRGGCVKVRVTSDAKEIEREYPIMIAVNRASM
CL3092.A.	AFTVCRDIGDADPQRMSPPKVAEYVEEIFRGGCVKVHVTSDAKEIEREYPIMIAVNRASM
AOAOM3KDK6_A.	GIEAHRPRLIALEYIPEGPIEETIMLVGKGNGRRPYCSSQLPNSSAGLHGQMAQLKN-HY
CL3092.A.	GIEAHRPRLIALEYIPEGPIEETIMLVGKGVTLDMGGADLKLHGAMYGMSSDKY
AOAOM3KDK6_A.	SRMKYLNYYL
CL3092.A.	GSAIVAGFFKALEVLRPKGIKVLGYMSMVRNALGADAYTTDEVIKSRSGKRIQICNTDAE
A0A0M3KDK6_A. CL3092.A.	GRLIMLDPLTKMRELAVNEKNPHLFTLATLTGHVILSNG

Figure 6.2. Sequence alignment of *A. simplex* LAP gene (A0A0M3KDK6) and *A. pegreffii* LAP-2 (CL3092).

Note: The LAP-2 protein obtained from the transcriptome data of *A. pegreffii* has a shorter sequence, which may be due to incomplete transcripts of such proteins obtained from the transcriptome data.

Chapter 6

Due to the high sequence similarity between the LAP proteins from *A. simplex* and *A. pegreffii*, from this point forward, I would also refer to the LAP protein in this chapter as *A. pegreffii* LAP.

6.3.3 Restriction Digestion.

The vector used in this study for cloning was pET28a with a size of 5369 base pairs (bp) (Figure 6.3). The double digestion using *Hind*III and *Nde*1 restriction enzymes produced fragments that are approximately 4419 and 950 bp as expected (Figure 6.4).



Figure 6.3. Vector Map of Pet 28a (5369 bp): Kan^R, *lacl*, f1 origin of replication.



LAP=Leucine aminopeptidase

Figure 6.4. Agarose gel electrophoresis of restriction digests.

6.3.4 Expression and Purification of Anisakis LAP.

The active recombinant form of Anisakis LAP was produced in E. coli BL21 DE3, expressed as a soluble

protein and purified by IMAC using 20mM phosphate buffer with 400mM NaCl and 150mM Imidazole

at pH 7.4. It is a protein migrating at 33kDa, as confirmed by SDS-PAGE and Western blotting (Figure

6.5 A, B).



Lane 3=5mM Imidazole 1* Wash Lane 3=5mM Imidazole 2nd Wash Lane 4=20mM Imidazole Gradient Lane 5=40mM Imidazole Lane 6=60mM Lane 7=100mM Lane 8=150mM Lane 9=150mM(2nd 1ml application) Leucine Aminopeptidase Purification Lane 1=Molecular marker (Blue protein standard broad range) Lane 2=20mM Imidazole Gradient Lane 3= 40mM Imidazole Gradient Lane 4=60mmM Gradient Lane 5=100mM Gradient Lane 6=150mM Lane 7=150mM (2nd 1ml application)

Figure 6.5. Leucine Aminopeptidase of Anisakis Expression and Purification by IMAC.

(A)= 4-12% SDS-PAGE (B) Western blot of expression and purification of Anisakis LAP.

6.3.5 Sequence Alignment and Phylogenetic Analysis.

A comparison of the amino acid sequence of *Anisakis* LAP with sequences in the GenBank database indicated that *Anisakis* LAP has characteristic features of members of the family peptidase M17. This protein is identified in *Toxocara canis, Brugia malayi* and other species as LAP-2, while in some other species it is referred to as cytosol aminopeptidase. Multiple sequence alignment of the amino acid sequence of *Anisakis* LAP with other organisms including helminth, shellfish, other parasites and humans was performed. This phylogenetic comparison with homologous enzymes from different species

demonstrates that the all metazoan LAPs constitute a well-defined group diverse from similar enzymes from Cestodes, Apicomplexa and vertebrates. *Fh*LAP and other flatworm orthologs constitute a welldefined cluster distant to the LAP enzymes of vertebrate. In addition, *Anisakis* LAP was evolutionary closer to shellfish LAP than to other helminths. Interestingly, LAP-1 of *Anisakis* was shown to be evolutionary closer to human LAP than to LAP-2 of *Anisakis*, or other helminths and shellfish LAP proteins (Figure 6.6).



Figure 6.6. Phylogenetic Analysis of Leucine Aminopeptidase of Anisakis spp.

6.3.6 Activation of ProCathepsin L5 of Fasciola hepatica by Anisakis LAP.

SDS-Page analysis of processing of inactivated FhCatL5 by *Anisakis* LAP is shown in Figure 6.7 (A-C). The 37 kDa unprocessed FhCatL5 was processed by LAP at pH 4.5. After 1hr 30min, the band of FhCatL5 at ~37kDa decreased in intensity and by 3hrs, the band was no longer visible while a second band at ~25kDa was still visible.



Figure 6.7. 4-12% SDS-PAGE Activity of Anisakis LAP.

(A-C): 4-12% SDS-PAGE Gel of the Activity of (A). Leucine Aminopeptidase (LAP) of *Anisakis* on *in*activated Cathepsin L5 (CL5) at pH (B). 4.5 and (C). 7.4. Lane L5=catL5 as control, M=Molecular marker (Sigma , Colour burst). Lanes 1-5 (pH 4.5) are time points 0, 45 mins, 1.30 min, 2.45 min and 3hours, respectively. Lanes 7-11(pH 7.4) are time points 0, 45 mins, 1.30 min, 2.45 and 3hours, respectively.

At pH 7.4, there was no observed activity of LAP on FhCatL5, as the band at ~37kDa retained its intensity for the time period of the experiment. This is shown in both the SDS-PAGE (Figure 6.7C) and Western blot (Figure 6.8). Within the time period of 3 hours *Anisakis* LAP had processed the pro FhCatL5 at pH 4.5 while no activity occurred at pH7.4.



Lane 1= Cathepsin L5 control.

Lanes 2-5 (pH 4.5) are time points 0, 45 mins, 1.30 min, 2.45 min and 3 hours, respectively. Lanes 7-10 (pH 7.4) are time points 0, 45 mins, 1.30 min and 3 hours, respectively M=Molecular marker (colour burst electrophoresis marker).

Figure 6.8. Western blot showing activity of Anisakis LAP on cathepsin L5.

Western blot showing the activity of Leucine Aminopeptidase (LAP) of *A. pegreffii on in*activated Cathepsin L5 (CL5) at pH 4.5 and 7.4.

6.3.7 Enzymatic properties of recombinant Anisakis LAP.

6.3.7.1 Optimal pH.

To investigate the enzymatic characteristics of *Anisakis* LAP, recombinant *Anisakis* LAP was prepared and aminopeptidase activity was determined using the fluorogenic peptide Leucine-7-amido-4methylcoumarin hydrochloride substrate. Best activity was observed at pH 7.4, exhibiting a slight decline under mildly acidic (pH \leq 7) and basic (pH 8.5) conditions. The optimal pH was pH7.4 for *Anisakis* LAP (Figure 6.9).



Figure 6.9. The Optimal pH of recombinant Anisakis LAP.

Optimum pH of recombinant *Anisakis* LAP was carried out at 37° C for 1 h. Each point represents the mean \pm SD of duplicate samples that were incubated.

6.3.7.2 Metal ion activity on Anisakis LAP.

Since LAP of the M17 class is a metalloenzyme, the effect of divalent metal cations on recombinant *Anisakis* LAP was examined, as shown in Figure 6.10. The effect of divalent metal ions investigated showed that for *Anisakis* LAP, manganese was the optimal metal ion resulting in activity increment in the presence of Mn^{2+} , closely followed by Mg^{2+} and Zn^{2+} with Ca^{2+} (Table 6.3).

Metal ions	Concentrations (mM)	Activity (%)
Control (no metal ion)	0	100 ±2.8
MgCl ₂	1	127 ±8.5
MnCl ₂	1	138 ±5
ZnCl ₂	1	127 ±0.5
FeCl ₂	1	105 ±2.83
CaCl ₂	1	124 ±5.7

 Table 6.3: The effect of various divalent cations on the enzymatic activity of Anisakis

 LAP.

The data was repeated in duplicate and reflected the mean relative activity \pm SD (n = 2).

6.3.7.3 Effect of Inhibitors on Anisakis LAP.

The effects of different protease inhibitors or metal chelators on the activity of each *Anisakis* LAP were assayed by preincubating each enzyme with each inhibitor or metal chelator as described previously. This was followed by measurement of residual enzyme activity on the substrate. Results were expressed as % of relative activity with respect to control, which did not contain any inhibitor or metal chelator, taken as 100%. The inhibitor profile of *Anisakis* LAP is shown in Figure 6.10. The chelating agent 1-10-*o*-phenantroline inhibited *Anisakis* LAP activity the most, followed by EDTA and then bestatin. E62, a cysteinase inhibitor, had no inhibitory effect on *Anisakis* LAP. In addition, hydrolytic activity of *Anisakis* LAP was significantly inhibited by bestatin with increased concentration (Figure 6.11).



Figure 6.10. The effect of inhibitors on the enzymatic activity of *Anisakis* LAP at a concentration of 1mM.

The assays were performed in duplicate s and the mean and standard deviation (SD) was calculated.



Figure 6.11. Effect of Different Concentration of Bestatin on the Enzymatic Activity of *Anisakis* LAP.

6.3.8 Localization of Leucine Aminopeptidase of A. pegreffii by Histochemistry.

Using a chromogenic substrate, leucine amidolytic activity was predominantly detected by histochemistry at the cells of the lumen of *Anisakis* with reactivity distributed throughout the cells lining the gut epithelium. The pink to magenta (purple) colour obtained due to reaction of β -naphtylamine and Fast Blue B salt in the presence of Cu²⁺ ions was considered as the positive (Figure 6.12).



Negative control showing absence of unspecific staining within the gut lumen (GL) and body wall (BW) of *A. pegreffii*

В



A. Pegreffii intense positive staining of the gut lumen (GL) and body wall (BW) for LAP while oesophagus (OE) remain unstained



Moderate positive staining of *A. pegreffii* intestinal cells

Figure 6.12. : LAP Localisationin Anisakis pegreffii L3 larvae tissues.

Stereomicroscope images of histochemically stained *Anisakis* L3 larvae tissues (10uM) for LAP Localisation. (Magnification ×40).

6.4 Discussion

A number of reports have documented that the M17 family of metalloproteinase contains two metal binding sites having different affinity for metal ions (Kim and Lipscomb, 1993). Each binding site contains a Zn^{2+} ion for enzyme activity. Substitution of Mg^{2+} or Mn^{2+} at the first binding site occurs readily and activates LAP, whereas the second binding site binds Zn^{2+} much more strongly and substitution occurs slower than at the first binding site. In *Anisakis* LAP, we observed that the enzyme activity of LAP was increased by Mn^{2+} , Mg^{2+} and Zn^{2+} in this order, supporting previous reports that divalent cations are essential for metallopeptidase activity and that the activity of M17 LAPs is enhanced by their addition (Acosta et al., 2008).

Bestatin is an inhibitor that slowly attains equilibrium with the enzyme to form a tightly bound complex (Segel, 1975). The reaction progress curves observed for the hydrolysis of the substrate in this study in the presence of bestatin inhibitor shows a slow binding inhibition mechanism. The high inhibition profile shown by other compounds, apart from E64, can be explained by the faster chelating effect of these compounds.

Acosta and colleagues (Acosta et al., 2008) reported that LAP activity was consistently very low in cathepsin L-rich ES products and this could be as a result of degradation of LAP by cathepsin Ls. Interestingly, the result of this study showed interaction between *Anisakis* LAP and proFhCatL5, in which proCathepsin L5 (37kDa) was processed by *Anisakis* LAP. A most probable thought with regards to Acosta *et al*'s observation is that LAP is being used up as it processes inactivated CatLs, particularly CatL5. Further investigation on the interaction of LAP and CatL5 to confirm this, needs to be carried out.

Anisakis LAP was observed to be situated close to the lumen where proteolytic events degrading host proteins takes place. It is predominantly distributed in cells lining the gut epithelium, in which the digestion of host protein occurs; this localization is similar to that of *Schistosoma mansonii* LAP (SmLAP) (McCarthy et al., 2004) and *Paragonimus westermanii* LAP (PwLAP) (Song et al., 2008), suggesting that *Anisakis* LAP is involved in process of protein digestion in the L3 larvae.

The activity of *Anisakis* LAP in this study implies this enzyme may have multiple functions in *Anisakis*. The enzyme's interaction with proFhCatL5 at pH of 4.5, as well as its location in *Anisakis* gut lumen, suggests this. Furthermore, its enhanced activity at optimal pH of 7.4 suggests intracellular functions for *Anisakis* LAP. To further buttress this, LAP was among the proteases found in *A. pegreffii* exosomes in this study. The exosomes of a number of parasites have been reported to have among their protein contents a high number of proteases (Marcilla et al., 2012, Silverman et al., 2010). *A. pegreffii* LAP enzyme was identified in both the crude and excretory/secretory product. This overlap in LAP being found in the secretome and also in the exosome vesicle is an indication that the vesicles might be a mechanism by which LAP is released to sites of activity in the host by the parasite and may imply intracellular involvement in *Anisakis* spp.

In addition, through the phylogenetic analysis, it was observed that LAP-1 of both *A. simplex* and *A. pegreffii* were evolutionary closer to human LAP than to LAP-2 of *Anisakis*, or other helminths and shellfish LAP proteins. This suggests that LAP-1 of *Anisakis* may be involved in immunomodulation as it is a homolog of human LAP. It may be able to mimick human LAP and dampen immune responses. *Anisakis* LAP's association with exosomes enhances *Anisakis's* LAP to modulate immune response. This is because such molecules carried by exosomes can be taken up by recipient cells at sites distal to their release and they can tap into the regulatory networks in host cells if the proteins are homologs of host cells (Thery et al., 2002).

In conclusion, studies on LAP in other parasites has highlighted it as a vaccine antigen candidate. The result of this study highlights *Anisakis* LAP as a protein of interest in immunomodulatory activities.

CHAPTER 7: GENERAL DISCUSSION

General Discussion

Existing as a complex of cryptic species with similar morphology but different genetic traits, are the morphospecies *A. simplex sensu lato (s.l.)*, which consists of three sibling species, namely *A. simplex sensu stricto (s.s)*, *A. pegreffii* and *A. simplex* C. They differ in their ecological traits, such as host preference and geographical distribution as well as in their genetic structure (Mattiucci et al., 1997). Among these species of *Anisakis*, *A. simplex (s.s.)* and *A. pegreffii* are known as the zoonotic species responsible for human anisakiasis and allergic sensitisation (Mattiucci et al., 2011, Mattiucci et al., 2013, Umehara et al., 2007, Fumarola et al., 2009, D'Amelio et al., 1999, De Luca et al., 2013).

Various studies on the distribution of *Anisakis* spp. in fishes and cephalopods of the Mediterranean Sea have shown *A. pegreffii* as the Anisakidae parasite more widely distributed in the Mediterranean while *A. simplex* s.s. have a wider distribution in the Atlantic Ocean (Cavallero et al., 2012, Cipriani et al., 2015, Mattiucci and Nascetti, 2008). However, migratory events of different host organisms and other accidental events also enable the presence of *A. simplex* s.s. in the Mediterranean and vice versa for *A. pegreffii*.

Over the last 20 -years, there has been an increase in reported cases of human anisakiasis throughout the world and in particular, reports of *A. pegreffii* implicated in human anisakiasis. This is probably attributable to: (*i*) the application of better diagnostic techniques (Mattiucci et al., 2011, Mattiucci et al., 2013, Umehara et al., 2007, Fumarola et al., 2009, D'Amelio et al., 1999) (*ii*) the increasing global demand for seafood; and (Grandea et al.) a growing preference for raw or lightly cooked food with the corresponding increased risk of exposure to live parasites (European Food Safety Authority, 2010).

Indeed, *A. pegreffii* thus far has been reported as the aetiological agent of invasive anisakiasis in Europe (Croatia, Italy (<u>Umehara et al., 2007</u>, <u>Fumarola et al., 2009</u>, <u>D'Amelio et al., 1999</u>, <u>Mattiucci et al., 2011</u>,

Mattiucci et al., 2013), Japan (Umehara et al., 2007, Arai et al., 2014) and South Korea (Lim et al., 2015). It has been demonstrated with molecular markers that *A. pegreffii* is able to cause gastric, gastro allergic and intestinal anisakiasis (Umehara et al., 2007, Mattiucci et al., 2013, Lim et al., 2015, Fumarola et al., 2009, D'Amelio et al., 1999, Arai et al., 2014, Mladineo et al., 2016, Mattiucci et al., 2011). Furthermore, the *Anisakis* species mostly identified in Australia is *Anisakis pegreffii* (Shamsi et al., 2011, Jabbar et al., 2012, Asnoussi et al., 2017). However, no detailed information is available regarding the secretome of *A. pegreffii*. Contents of secretomes are usually implicated in parasite survival, infection, invasion and immune evasion in the host as reported for other helminth parasites (Maizels and Yazdanbakhsh, 2003, Cass et al., 2007, Zhu et al., 2016, Ferguson et al., 2015).

A central objective of the experimental work performed in this thesis was to look, in depth, at the protein repertoire of *A. pegreffii* through proteomic analysis of both the crude extract as well as the secretome. Comparative analysis of the content of these two extracts from *A. pegreffii* as well as with the protein content of *A. simplex* identified from previous proteomic analysis of *A. simplex* proteins (Arcos et al., 2014, Faeste et al., 2014) was the focus of Chapter 3 of this thesis. The results in Chapter 3 of this study highlight the proteins identified in the proteome of *A. pegreffii* and their sources (either crude extract or excretory/secretory product). It also demonstrated the bias of most of the protein in ES for immunomodulatory activities. Over 95% of proteins identified in previously reported proteomic studies of *A. simplex* were also found present in the proteomic analysis of *A. pegreffii* CE and ES in this study. This affirms the cryptic relationship between these 2 sibling species. The result of this chapter provided the first in-depth characterization of the ES products from the third larval stage of *Anisakis pegreffii*, comparing the excretory/secretory molecule content with the crude extract. This is a crucial step in enhancing our knowledge and understanding of the biology of this parasite and its interactions with its vertebrate hosts.

Recently reported microscopy studies have shown evidence of extracellular vesicles in helminths such as *Fasciola hepatica* and *Echinostoma caproni* (Marcilla et al., 2012), *Schistosoma japonicum* (Zhu et al., 2016) and *Schistosoma mansoni* (Sotillo et al., 2016). These vesicles were found to be actively released by the parasites and were found to be captured by the host cells playing a critical role in dissemination of parasite proteins in hosts, informing host-parasite interactions (Zhu et al., 2016). Chapter 4 of this thesis demonstrates that *A. pegreffii* secretes specific sets of proteins that are preserved against degradation by being enclosed within vesicles. This result constitutes the first report of the existence and composition of exosome-like vesicles in the L3 larvae of the marine parasite, *A. pegreffii*. The identified structures appear to play critical roles in transportation of metabolic, immunomodulatory and allergenic proteins. These proteins are stabilized against degradation by encapsulation within vesicles. The result of this work has contributed to the increase in the knowledge of mechanisms employed by this parasite to release leaderless secreted molecules to sites of activity via non-classical pathways.

Anisakis simplex third stage larvae (L3) have been described as a source of hidden allergens in fish (Fernandez-Caldas et al., 1998). Hypersensitivity to allergens of this nematode is found to be common in subjects who have anaphylaxis, urticaria/angioedema, or both after consumption of fish and who show negative skin test responses to fish proteins (Audicana et al., 1995, Kasuya et al., 1990). Antigenic cross-reactivity has been described between *A. simplex* and *Ascaris lumbricoides, Ascaris suum, Toxocara canis, Blattella germanica, Chironomus* spp, *Dermatophagoides pteronyssinus, Acarus siro* and wasp venom (Kennedy et al., 1988, Pascual et al., 1997, Johansson et al., 2001, Bernardini et al., 2005, Rodriguez-Perez et al., 2014). The results of Chapter 5 of this thesis extend the cross-reactivity study in *Anisakis* to *A. pegreffii*. A comprehensive IgE-cross reactive allergen binding analysis was performed with *A. pegreffii* whole parasite extract, as well as the excretory/secretory products, against the sera of confirmed shellfish allergic patients using an immunoproteomic approach. Tropomyosin was identified in the whole parasite extract in addition to two other cross-reactive allergens (enolase and fructose

Chapter 7-General Discussion and Future Direction

bisphosphate aldolase) found in both whole parasite extract and the ES. More than 50% of shellfish allergic patients demonstrated reactivity to these 3 allergens in *A. pegreffii*. The recombinant protein of tropomyosin of *A. pegreffii* was recently confirmed as having cross-reactivity with shellfish allergic confirmed patients' sera by our group (Asnoussi et al., 2017). Hence, in this study, we have identified 2 new different reactive bands in addition to tropomysin, which are putative novel cross-reactive allergens described in *A. pegreffii*. These two novel putative cross-reactive allergens are proteins with close homologues in fish. The implications of these findings could be far reaching, as unexpected exposure to these cross-reactive allergenic proteins could trigger allergic reactions when shellfish-sensitised individuals ingest fish contaminated with *Anisakis* allergens. This result furnishes an important contribution towards the development of improved and sensitive allergy diagnostic platforms.

Helminth parasites secrete proteases to gain entry into their hosts, and to feed on and migrate through tissues (Donnelly et al., 2006). A group of peptidases with roles in host tissue penetration and digestion encoded by transcripts were differentially expressed in both *A. simplex* and *A. pegreffii* as shown in a recent study (Cavallero et al., 2018). In that study it was noted that transcripts encoding metalloproteinases (i.e. aminopeptidases, astacins and neprilysins) were particularly abundant in *A. simplex*. A number of proteases secreted by Anisakinae have been previously investigated (Ni et al., 2012). Little data exists on the peptidases found in the proteome of *A. pegreffii*. In Chapter 6 of this thesis, limited information on extracellular proteases from the *Anisakis* proteome was expanded by the proteomic analysis of *A. pegreffii* whole worm extract and excretory/secretory products. A family of M17 aminopeptidase designated as leucine aminopeptidase (LAP) identified in the proteome of *A. pegreffii* when searched against the genome of *A. simplex* was identified. This was before the transcriptome data of *A. pegreffii* was released to the public. The 33kDa recombinant protein had a 87% identity to *A. pegreffii* LAP-2 which was identified later in this study by a search of the *A. pegreffii* proteome against the *A. pegreffii* transcriptome database. This LAP recombinant protein of *Anisakis simplex* showed many

Chapter 7-General Discussion and Future Direction

properties in common with other parasite LAPs, which have been extensively studied (Xu and Dresden, 1986, Pokharel et al., 2006, McCarthy et al., 2004, Deng et al., 2012, Acosta et al., 2008). These include substrate specificity, pH optimum and activation by Mn2+ and Mg2+. As a result of this similarity, we were interested in determining whether the recombinant protein would exhibit any activity on procathepsin L5 protein of *Fasciola hepatica* as it has been previously reported by Acosta and colleagues that LAP activity was consistently very low in cathepsin L-rich ES products (Acosta et al., 2008).

The result of this experiment was interesting as *Anisakis* LAP was found to process inactivated CL5. In addition, we further confirmed the abundant presence of LAP-2 in the gut lumen of L3 larvae of *A. pegreffii* by histochemistry. The results of this Chapter imply roles for LAP in *Anisakis*. These roles may be important for the parasite to activate its many proteases for invasion and digestion or may be used to release a modulated active form of mammalian cathepsin proteases to suppress the potency of the hosts' immune response. Data emanating from this chapter has allowed the identification of one of the specific modulatory pathways targeted by this parasite. It also provides an interesting insight into studies involving homologs of this protein in other organisms and activity on cathepsin proteases, particularly those implicated in human inflammatory diseases. The results from such a study may initiate development of new therapeutic options in this direction.
Future Direction

The results of this study has lead to much possible future work, however, the points below are considered important initial work that should be addressed:

- Future work involving cloning and production of recombinant proteins of described putative cross-reactive allergens of *A. pegreffii* to confirm if they retained their cross-reactivity and for potential diagnosis of allergic sensitisation in patients.
- In addition, investigating the effect of heat on the whole parasite extracts as well as the ES to ascertain their IgE-binding reactivity.
- Future studies investigating comparative cross-reactive proteins of *Anisakis* to confirmed allergic sensitisation in children. This may provide insights into cross-reactive allergens in children as well as provide information on the development of a children-specific allergen panel.
- Future studies would also focus on the characterization of *A. pegreffii*-derived miRNAs and their functional analysis in host-parasite communication and gene regulation.
- Future studies investigating further the interaction between *Anisakis* LAP or LAP homologs in other species and cathepsin proteases implicated in human inflammatory diseases in order to develop new therapeutic options.
- Future studies on production of recombinant protein of *Anisakis* LAP-1 and investigation of immunomodulatory functions in this protein.

- ABDEL RAHMAN, A. M., KAMATH, S., LOPATA, A. L. & HELLEUR, R. J. 2010. Analysis of the allergenic proteins in black tiger prawn (Penaeus monodon) and characterization of the major allergen tropomyosin using mass spectrometry. *Rapid Commun Mass Spectrom*, 24, 2462-70.
- ABE, N. & YAGI, K. 2005. Identification of Anisakinae Larvae by Diagnostic PCR. SEIKATSU EISEI (Journal of Urban Living and Health Association), 49, 168-171.
- ABOLLO, E., GESTAL, C. & PASCUAL, S. 2001. Anisakis infestation in marine fish and cephalopods from Galician waters: an updated perspective. *Parasitol Res*, 87, 492-9.
- ACEVEDO, N. & CARABALLO, L. 2011. IgE cross-reactivity between Ascaris lumbricoides and mite allergens: possible influences on allergic sensitization and asthma. *Parasite Immunol*, 33, 309-21.
- ACEVEDO, N., SANCHEZ, J., ERLER, A., MERCADO, D., BRIZA, P., KENNEDY, M., FERNANDEZ, A., GUTIERREZ, M., CHUA, K. Y., CHEONG, N., JIMENEZ, S., PUERTA, L. & CARABALLO, L. 2009. IgE cross-reactivity between Ascaris and domestic mite allergens: the role of tropomyosin and the nematode polyprotein ABA-1. *Allergy*, 64, 1635-43.
- ACOSTA, D., CANCELA, M., PIACENZA, L., ROCHE, L., CARMONA, C. & TORT, J. F. 2008. Fasciola hepatica leucine aminopeptidase, a promising candidate for vaccination against ruminant fasciolosis. *Mol Biochem Parasitol*, 158, 52-64.
- AKBAR, A. & GHOSH, S. 2005. Anisakiasis--a neglected diagnosis in the West. Dig Liver Dis, 37, 7-9.
- AKI, T., KODAMA, T., FUJIKAWA, A., MIURA, K., SHIGETA, S., WADA, T., JYO, T., MUROOKA, Y., OKA, S. & ONO, K. 1995. Immunochemical characterization of recombinant and native tropomyosins as a new allergen from the house dust mite, Dermatophagoides farinae. *J Allergy Clin Immunol*, 96, 74-83.
- ALLEN, J. E. & MAIZELS, R. M. 2011. Diversity and dialogue in immunity to helminths. *Nat Rev Immunol*, 11, 375-88.
- ALONSO-GOMEZ, A., MORENO-ANCILLO, A., LOPEZ-SERRANO, M. C., SUAREZ-DE-PARGA, J. M., DASCHNER, A., CABALLERO, M. T., BARRANCO, P. & CABANAS, R. 2004. Anisakis simplex only provokes allergic symptoms when the worm parasitises the gastrointestinal tract. *Parasitol Res*, 93, 378-84.
- ALTSCHUL, S. F., MADDEN, T. L., SCHAFFER, A. A., ZHANG, J., ZHANG, Z., MILLER, W. & LIPMAN, D. J. 1997. Gapped BLAST and PSI-BLAST: a new generation of protein database search programs. *Nucleic Acids Res*, 25, 3389-402.
- AMIN, A. J. & DAVIS, C. M. 2012. Changes in prevalence and characteristics of IgE-mediated food allergies in children referred to a tertiary care center in 2003 and 2008. *Allergy Asthma Proc*, **33**, 95-101.
- ANADON, A. M., ROMARIS, F., ESCALANTE, M., RODRIGUEZ, E., GARATE, T., CUELLAR, C. & UBEIRA, F. M. 2009. The Anisakis simplex Ani s 7 major allergen as an indicator of true Anisakis infections. *Clin Exp Immunol*, 156, 471-8.
- ARAI, T., AKAO, N., SEKI, T., KUMAGAI, T., ISHIKAWA, H., OHTA, N., HIRATA, N., NAKAJI, S., YAMAUCHI, K., HIRAI, M., SHIRATORI, T., KOBAYASHI, M., FUJII, H., ISHII, E., NAITO, M., SAITOH, S., YAMAGUCHI, T., SHIBATA, N., SHIMO, M. & TOKIWA, T. 2014. Molecular genotyping

of anisakis larvae in Middle Eastern Japan and endoscopic evidence for preferential penetration of normal over atrophic mucosa. *PLoS One*, 9, e89188.

- ARCOS, S. C., CIORDIA, S., ROBERSTON, L., ZAPICO, I., JIMENEZ-RUIZ, Y., GONZALEZ-MUNOZ, M., MONEO, I., CARBALLEDA-SANGIAO, N., RODRIGUEZ-MAHILLO, A., ALBAR, J. P. & NAVAS, A. 2014. Proteomic profiling and characterization of differential allergens in the nematodes Anisakis simplex sensu stricto and A. pegreffii. *Proteomics*, 14, 1547-68.
- ARRIETA, I., DEL BARRIO, M., VIDARTE, L., DEL POZO, V., PASTOR, C., GONZALEZ-CABRERO, J., CARDABA, B., ROJO, M., MINGUEZ, A., CORTEGANO, I., GALLARDO, S., ACEITUNO, E., PALOMINO, P., VIVANCO, F. & LAHOZ, C. 2000. Molecular cloning and characterization of an IgEreactive protein from Anisakis simplex: Ani s 1. *Mol Biochem Parasitol*, 107, 263-8.
- ASNOUSSI, A., AIBINU, I. E., GASSER, R. B., LOPATA, A. L. & SMOOKER, P. M. 2017. Molecular and immunological characterisation of tropomyosin from Anisakis pegreffii. *Parasitol Res*, 116, 3291-3301.
- ASTURIAS, J. A., ERASO, E. & MARTINEZ, A. 2000a. Cloning and high level expression in Escherichia coli of an Anisakis simplex tropomyosin isoform. *Mol Biochem Parasitol*, 108, 263-7.
- ASTURIAS, J. A., ERASO, E., MONEO, I. & MARTINEZ, A. 2000b. Is tropomyosin an allergen in Anisakis? *Allergy*, 55, 898-9.
- ASTURIAS, J. A., GOMEZ-BAYON, N., ARILLA, M. C., MARTINEZ, A., PALACIOS, R., SANCHEZ-GASCON, F. & MARTINEZ, J. 1999. Molecular characterization of American cockroach tropomyosin (Periplaneta americana allergen 7), a cross-reactive allergen. *J Immunol*, 162, 4342-8.
- ASWAD, H., FORTERRE, A., WIKLANDER, O. P., VIAL, G., DANTY-BERGER, E., JALABERT, A., LAMAZIERE, A., MEUGNIER, E., PESENTI, S., OTT, C., CHIKH, K., EL-ANDALOUSSI, S., VIDAL, H., LEFAI, E., RIEUSSET, J. & ROME, S. 2014. Exosomes participate in the alteration of muscle homeostasis during lipid-induced insulin resistance in mice. *Diabetologia*, 57, 2155-64.
- AUDICANA, M. T., ANSOTEGUI, I. J., DE CORRES, L. F. & KENNEDY, M. W. 2002. Anisakis simplex: dangerous--dead and alive? *Trends Parasitol*, 18, 20-5.
- AUDICANA, M. T., FERNANDEZ DE CORRES, L., MUNOZ, D., FERNANDEZ, E., NAVARRO, J. A. & DEL POZO, M. D. 1995. Recurrent anaphylaxis caused by Anisakis simplex parasitizing fish. J Allergy Clin Immunol, 96, 558-60.
- AUDICANA, M. T. & KENNEDY, M. W. 2008. Anisakis simplex: from obscure infectious worm to inducer of immune hypersensitivity. *Clin Microbiol Rev*, 21.
- AURIAULT, C., OUAISSI, M. A., TORPIER, G., EISEN, H. & CAPRON, A. 1981. Proteolytic cleavage of IgG bound to the Fc receptor of Schistosoma mansoni schistosomula. *Parasite Immunol*, 3, 33-44.
- AYUSO, R., LEHRER, S. B. & REESE, G. 2002. Identification of continuous, allergenic regions of the major shrimp allergen Pen a 1 (tropomyosin). *Int Arch Allergy Immunol*, 127, 27-37.
- BACH, J. F. 2002. The effect of infections on susceptibility to autoimmune and allergic diseases. *N Engl J Med*, 347, 911-20.
- BACH, J. F. 2017. The hygiene hypothesis in autoimmunity: the role of pathogens and commensals. *Nat Rev Immunol*.

- BAEZA, M. L., CONEJERO, L., HIGAKI, Y., MARTÍN, E., PÉREZ, C., INFANTE, S., RUBIO, M. & ZUBELDIA, J. M. 2005. Anisakis simplex allergy: a murine model of anaphylaxis induced by parasitic proteins displays a mixed Th(1)/Th(2) pattern. *Clin Exp Immunol*, 142, 433-40.
- BAEZA, M. L., ZUBELDIA, J. M. & RUBIO, M. 2001. Anisakis simplex allergy. ACI International, 13, 242-9.
- BAHLOOL, Q. Z., SKOVGAARD, A., KANIA, P. W. & BUCHMANN, K. 2013. Effects of excretory/secretory products from Anisakis simplex (Nematoda) on immune gene expression in rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss). *Fish Shellfish Immunol*, 35, 734-9.
- BAIRD, F. J., GASSER, R. B., JABBAR, A. & LOPATA, A. L. 2014. Foodborne anisakiasis and allergy. *Mol Cell Probes*, **28**, 167-74.
- BAIRD, F. J., SU, X., AIBINU, I., NOLAN, M. J., SUGIYAMA, H., OTRANTO, D., LOPATA, A. L. & CANTACESSI, C. 2016. The Anisakis Transcriptome Provides a Resource for Fundamental and Applied Studies on Allergy-Causing Parasites. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis*, 10, e0004845.
- BALDO, B. A. & BAKER, R. S. 1988. Inhalant allergies to fungi: reactions to bakers' yeast (Saccharomyces cerevisiae) and identification of bakers' yeast enolase as an important allergen. *Int Arch Allergy Appl Immunol*, 86, 201-208.
- BANKS, T. A. & GADA, S. M. 2013. Cross-reactivity and masqueraders in seafood reactions. *Allergy Asthma Proc*, 34, 497-503.
- BAO, M., PIERCE, G. J., PASCUAL, S., GONZALEZ-MUNOZ, M., MATTIUCCI, S., MLADINEO, I., CIPRIANI, P., BUSELIC, I. & STRACHAN, N. J. 2017. Assessing the risk of an emerging zoonosis of worldwide concern: anisakiasis. Sci Rep, 7, 43699.
- BAUR, X. & POSCH, A. 1998. Characterized allergens causing bakers' asthma. . Allergy, 53.
- BENDTSEN, J. D., JENSEN, L. J., BLOM, N., VON HEIJNE, G. & BRUNAK, S. 2004. Feature-based prediction of non-classical and leaderless protein secretion. *Protein Eng Des Sel*, 17, 349-56.
- BENEDE, S., BLAZQUEZ, A. B., CHIANG, D., TORDESILLAS, L. & BERIN, M. C. 2016. The rise of food allergy: Environmental factors and emerging treatments. *EBioMedicine*, 7, 27-34.
- BENKERT, P., BIASINI, M. & SCHWEDE, T. 2011. Toward the estimation of the absolute quality of individual protein structure mo dels. *Bioinformatics*, 27, 345-350.
- BENNURU, S., MENG, Z., RIBEIRO, J. M., SEMNANI, R. T., GHEDIN, E., CHAN, K., LUCAS, D. A., VEENSTRA, T. D. & NUTMAN, T. B. 2011. Stage-specific proteomic expression patterns of the human filarial parasite Brugia malayi and its endosymbiont Wolbachia. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 108, 9649-54.
- BENNURU, S., SEMNANI, R., MENG, Z., RIBEIRO, J. M., VEENSTRA, T. D. & NUTMAN, T. B. 2009. Brugia malayi excreted/secreted proteins at the host/parasite interface: stage- and gender-specific proteomic profiling. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis*, 3, e410.
- BERLAND, B. 1961. Nematodes from some Norwegian marine fishes. Sarsia, 2, 1-50.
- BERNAL, D., CARPENA, I., ESPERT, A. M., DE LA RUBIA, J. E., ESTEBAN, J. G., TOLEDO, R. & MARCILLA, A. 2006. Identification of proteins in excretory/secretory extracts of Echinostoma friedi (Trematoda) from chronic and acute infections. *Proteomics*, 6, 2835-43.

- BERNAL, D., DE LA RUBIA, J. E., CARRASCO-ABAD, A. M., TOLEDO, R., MAS-COMA, S. & MARCILLA, A. 2004. Identification of enolase as a plasminogen-binding protein in excretory-secretory products of Fasciola hepatica. *FEBS Lett*, 563, 203-6.
- BERNARDINI, R., MISTRELLO, G., NOVEMBRE, E., RONCAROLO, D., ZANOTTA, S., LOMBARDI, E., CIANFERONI, A., PUCCI, N., DE MARTINO, M. & VIERUCCI, A. 2005. Cross-reactivity between IgEbinding proteins from Anisakis simplex and Dermatophagoides pteronyssinus. *Int J Immunopathol Pharmacol*, 18, 671-5.
- BHARGAVA, D., RAMAN, R., EL AZZOUNI, M. Z., BHARGAVA, K. & BHUSNURMATH, B. 1996. Anisakiasis of the tonsils. *J Laryngol Otol*, 110, 387-8.
- BLAND, N. D., PINNEY, J. W., THOMAS, J. E., TURNER, A. J. & ISAAC, R. E. 2008. Bioinformatic analysis of the neprilysin (M13) family of peptidases reveals complex evolutionary and functional relationships. *BMC Evol Biol*, 8, 16.
- BLAXTER, M. L., DE LEY, P., GAREY, J. R., LIU, L. X., SCHELDEMAN, P., VIERSTRAETE, A., VANFLETEREN, J. R., MACKEY, L. Y., DORRIS, M., FRISSE, L. M., VIDA, J. T. & THOMAS, W. K. 1998. A molecular evolutionary framework for the phylum Nematoda. *Nature*, 392, 71-5.
- BLOOM, B. R. & BENNETT, B. 1966. Mechanism of a reaction in vitro associated with delayed-type hypersensitivity. *Science*, 153, 80-82.
- BOQUETE, M., IRAOLA, V., MORALES, M., PINTO, H., FRANCISCO, C., CARBALLAS, C. & CARNES, J. 2011. Seafood hypersensitivity in mite sensitized individuals: is tropomyosin the only responsible allergen? *Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol*, 106, 223-9.
- BUCCI, C., GALLOTTA, S., MORRA, I., FORTUNATO, A., CIACCI, C. & IOVINO, P. 2013. Anisakis, just think about it in an emergency! *Int J Infect Dis*, 17, e1071-2.
- BUCK, A. H., COAKLEY, G., SIMBARI, F., MCSORLEY, H. J., QUINTANA, J. F., LE BIHAN, T., KUMAR, S., ABREU-GOODGER, C., LEAR, M., HARCUS, Y., CERONI, A., BABAYAN, S. A., BLAXTER, M., IVENS, A. & MAIZELS, R. M. 2014. Exosomes secreted by nematode parasites transfer small RNAs to mammalian cells and modulate innate immunity. *Nat Commun*, 5, 5488.
- CABALLERO, M. L. & MONEO, I. 2002. Specific IgE determination to Ani s 1, a major allergen from Anisakis simplex, is a useful tool for diagnosis. *Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol*, 89, 74-7.
- CABALLERO, M. L. & MONEO, I. 2004. Several allergens from Anisakis simplex are highly resistant to heat and pepsin treatments. *Parasitol Res*, 93.
- CABALLERO, M. L., UMPIERREZ, A., MONEO, I. & RODRIGUEZ-PEREZ, R. 2011. Ani s 10, a new Anisakis simplex allergen: cloning and heterologous expression. *Parasitol Int*, 60, 209-12.
- CARABALLO, L. & ACEVEDO, N. 2011. New Allergens of Relevance in Tropical Regions: The Impact of Ascaris lumbricoides Infections. *World Allergy Organ J*, 4, 77-84.
- CARBALLEDA-SANGIAO, N., RODRIGUEZ-MAHILLO, A. I., CARECHE, M., NAVAS, A., CABALLERO, T., DOMINGUEZ-ORTEGA, J., JURADO-PALOMO, J. & GONZALEZ-MUNOZ, M. 2016. Ani s 11-Like Protein Is a Pepsin- and Heat-Resistant Major Allergen of Anisakis spp. and a Valuable Tool for Anisakis Allergy Component-Resolved Diagnosis. *Int Arch Allergy Immunol*, 169, 108-12.
- CASS, C. L., JOHNSON, J. R., CALIFF, L. L., XU, T., HERNANDEZ, H. J., STADECKER, M. J., YATES, J. R., 3RD & WILLIAMS, D. L. 2007. Proteomic analysis of Schistosoma mansoni egg secretions. *Mol Biochem Parasitol*, 155, 84-93.

- CAVALLERO, S., LIGAS, A., BRUSCHI, F. & D'AMELIO, S. 2012. Molecular identification of Anisakis spp. from fishes collected in the Tyrrhenian Sea (NW Mediterranean). *Vet Parasitol*, 187, 563-6.
- CAVALLERO, S., LOMBARDO, F., SU, X., SALVEMINI, M., CANTACESSI, C. & D'AMELIO, S. 2018. Tissue-specific transcriptomes of Anisakis simplex (sensu stricto) and Anisakis pegreffii reveal potential molecular mechanisms involved in pathogenicity. *Parasit Vectors*, 11, 31.
- CEBALLOS-MENDIOLA, G., VALERO, A., POLO-VICO, R., TEJADA, M., ABATTOUY, N., KARL, H., DE LAS HERAS, C. & MARTIN-SANCHEZ, J. 2010. Genetic variability of Anisakis simplex s.s. parasitizing European hake (Merluccius merluccius) in the Little Sole Bank area in the Northeast Atlantic. *Parasitol Res*, 107, 1399-404.
- CHAI, J. Y., DARWIN MURRELL, K. & LYMBERY, A. J. 2005. Fish-borne parasitic zoonoses: status and issues. *Int J Parasitol*, 35, 1233-54.
- CHAIYADET, S., SOTILLO, J., SMOUT, M., CANTACESSI, C., JONES, M. K., JOHNSON, M. S., TURNBULL, L., WHITCHURCH, C. B., POTRIQUET, J., LAOHAVIROJ, M., MULVENNA, J., BRINDLEY, P. J., BETHONY, J. M., LAHA, T., SRIPA, B. & LOUKAS, A. 2015. Carcinogenic Liver Fluke Secretes Extracellular Vesicles That Promote Cholangiocytes to Adopt a Tumorigenic Phenotype. J Infect Dis, 212, 1636-45.
- CHANDRASHEKAR, R., CURTIS, K. C., RAMZY, R. M., LIFTIS, F., LI, B. W. & WEIL, G. J. 1994. Molecular cloning of Brugia malayi antigens for diagnosis of lymphatic filariasis. *Mol Biochem Parasitol*, 64 SRC GoogleScholar, 261-271.
- CHEN, Q., ZHANG, H., SONG, H., YU, H., LIN, R. & ZHU, X. 2008. Prevalence of anisakid larvae in maricultured sea fish sold in Guangzhou, China.
- CHEN, S. H., CAO, M. J., HUANG, J. Z. & WU, G. P. 2011. Identification of a puromycin-sensitive aminopeptidase from zebrafish (Danio rerio). *Comp Biochem Physiol B Biochem Mol Biol*, 159, 10-7.
- CHO, Y., JONES, B. F., VERMEIRE, J. J., LENG, L., DIFEDELE, L., HARRISON, L. M., XIONG, H., KWONG, Y. K., CHEN, Y., BUCALA, R., LOLIS, E. & CAPPELLO, M. 2007. Structural and functional characterization of a secreted hookworm Macrophage Migration Inhibitory Factor (MIF) that interacts with the human MIF receptor CD74. *J Biol Chem*, 282, 23447-56.
- CHOI, S. J., LEE, J. C., KIM, M. J., HUR, G. Y., SHIN, S. Y. & PARK, H. S. 2009. The clinical characteristics of Anisakis allergy in Korea. *Korean J Intern Med*, 24, 160-3.
- CHOU, Y. Y., WANG, C. S., CHEN, H. G., CHEN, H. Y., CHEN, S. N. & SHIH, H. H. 2011. Parasitism between Anisakis simplex (Nematoda: Anisakidae) third-stage larvae and the spotted mackerel Scomber australasicus with regard to the application of stock identification. *Vet Parasitol*, 177, 324-31.
- CHUANG, J. G., SU, S. N., CHIANG, B. L., LEE, H. J. & CHOW, L. P. 2010. Proteome mining for novel IgEbinding proteins from the German cockroach (Blattella germanica) and allergen profiling of patients. *Proteomics*, 10, 3854-67.
- CIPRIANI, P., SMALDONE, G., ACERRA, V., D'ANGELO, L., ANASTASIO, A., BELLISARIO, B., PALMA, G., NASCETTI, G. & MATTIUCCI, S. 2015. Genetic identification and distribution of the parasitic larvae of Anisakis pegreffii and Anisakis simplex (s. s.) in European hake Merluccius merluccius from the Tyrrhenian Sea and Spanish Atlantic coast: implications for food safety. *Int J Food Microbiol*, 198, 1-8.
- COAKLEY, G., MAIZELS, R. M. & BUCK, A. H. 2015. Exosomes and Other Extracellular Vesicles: The New Communicators in Parasite Infections. *Trends Parasitol*, 31, 477-89.

- CONESA, A., GOTZ, S., GARCIA-GOMEZ, J. M., TEROL, J., TALON, M. & ROBLES, M. 2005. Blast2GO: a universal tool for annotation, visualization and analysis in functional genomics research. *Bioinformatics*, 21, 3674-6.
- CORREALE, J. 2014. Helminth/Parasite treatment of multiple sclerosis. Curr Treat Options Neurol, 16, 296.
- CORREALE, J. & FAREZ, M. F. 2013. Parasite infections in multiple sclerosis modulate immune responses through a retinoic acid-dependent pathway. *J Immunol*, 191, 3827-37.
- COUZIN, J. 2005. Cell biology: The ins and outs of exosomes. Science, 308, 1862-3.
- CRAIG, R. & BEAVIS, R. C. 2004. TANDEM: matching proteins with tandem mass spectra. *Bioinformatics*, 20, 1466-7.
- CUELLAR, C., DASCHNER, A., VALLS, A., DE FRUTOS, C., FERNANDEZ-FIGARES, V., ANADON, A. M., RODRIGUEZ, E., GARATE, T., RODERO, M. & UBEIRA, F. M. 2012. Ani s 1 and Ani s 7 recombinant allergens are able to differentiate distinct Anisakis simplex-associated allergic clinical disorders. *Arch Dermatol Res*, 304, 283-8.
- CUENDE, E., AUDICANA, M. T., GARCIA, M., ANDA, M., FERNANDEZ CORRES, L., JIMENEZ, C. & VESGA, J. C. 1998. Rheumatic manifestations in the course of anaphylaxis caused by Anisakis simplex. *Clin Exp Rheumatol*, 16, 303-4.
- CYGLER, M., SCHRAG, J. D., SUSSMAN, J. L., HAREL, M., SILMAN, I., GENTRY, M. K. & DOCTOR, B. P. 1993. Relationship between sequence conservation and three-dimensional structure in a large family of esterases, lipases, and related proteins. *Protein Sci*, 2, 366-82.
- D'AMELIO, S., MATHIOPOULOS, K. D., BRANDONISIO, O., LUCARELLI, G., DORONZO, F. & PAGGI, L. 1999. Diagnosis of a case of gastric anisakidosis by PCR-based restriction fragment length polymorphism analysis. *Parassitologia*, **41**, 591-3.
- D'AMELIO, S., MATHIOPOULOS, K. D., SANTOS, C. P., PUGACHEV, O. N., WEBB, S. C., PICANCO, M. & PAGGI, L. 2000. Genetic markers in ribosomal DNA for the identification of members of the genus Anisakis (Nematoda: ascaridoidea) defined by polymerase-chain-reaction-based restriction fragment length polymorphism. *Int J Parasitol*, 30, 223-6.
- DANILOWICZ-LUEBERT, E., O'REGAN, N. L., STEINFELDER, S. & HARTMANN, S. 2011. Modulation of specific and allergy-related immune responses by helminths. *J Biomed Biotechnol*, 2011, 821578.
- DASCHNER, A., ALONSO-GOMEZ, A., CABALLERO, T., SUAREZ-DE-PARGA, J. M. & LOPEZ-SERRANO, M. C. 1999. Usefulness of early serial measurement of specific and total immunoglobulin E in the diagnosis of gastro-allergic anisakiasis. *Clin Exp Allergy*, 29, 1260-4.
- DASCHNER, A., ALONSO-GOMEZ, A. & LOPEZ SERRANO, C. 2000. What does Anisakis simplex parasitism in gastro-allergic anisakiasis teach us about interpreting specific and total IgE values? *Allergol Immunopathol (Madr)*, 28, 67-70.
- DASCHNER, A. & PASCUAL, C. Y. 2005. Anisakis simplex: sensitization and clinical allergy. *Curr Opin Allergy Clin Immunol*, 5, 281-5.
- DE BOER, J. P., CREASEY, A. A., CHANG, A., ABBINK, J. J., ROEM, D., EERENBERG, A. J., HACK, C. E. & TAYLOR, F. B., JR. 1993. Alpha-2-macroglobulin functions as an inhibitor of fibrinolytic, clotting, and neutrophilic proteinases in sepsis: studies using a baboon model. *Infect Immun*, 61, 5035-43.

- DE LUCA, F., VOVLAS, A., TROCCOLI, A. & VOVLAS, N. 2013. A polyphasic approach with molecular phylogeny for the characterization of Anisakis pegreffii (Anisakidae: Nematoda) in fishes from Adriatic Sea. *Helminthologia*, 50, 112-118.
- DEARDORFF, T. L., JONES, R. E. & KAYES, S. G. 1991. Adherence of eosinophils to the epicuticle of infective juveniles of Anisakis simplex (Nematoda: Anisakidae). *J Helminthol Soc Wash.*, 58.
- DEL CACHO, E., GALLEGO, M., LILLEHOJ, H. S., QUILEZ, J., LILLEHOJ, E. P. & SANCHEZ-ACEDO, C. 2016. Induction of protective immunity against experimental Eimeria tenella infection using serum exosomes. *Vet Parasitol*, 224, 1-6.
- DEL POZO, M. D., MONEO, I., DE CORRES, L. F., AUDICANA, M. T., MUNOZ, D., FERNANDEZ, E., NAVARRO, J. A. & GARCIA, M. 1996. Laboratory determinations in Anisakis simplex allergy. *J Allergy Clin Immunol*, 97, 977-84.
- DENG, C., SUN, J., LI, X., WANG, L., HU, X., WANG, X., CHEN, W., LV, X., LIANG, C., LI, W., HUANG, Y., LI, R., WU, Z., YU, X. & XU, J. 2012. Molecular identification and characterization of leucine aminopeptidase 2, an excretory-secretory product of Clonorchis sinensis. *Mol Biol Rep*, 39, 9817-26.
- DENG, Z. B., ZHUANG, X., JU, S., XIANG, X., MU, J., LIU, Y., JIANG, H., ZHANG, L., MOBLEY, J., MCCLAIN, C., FENG, W., GRIZZLE, W., YAN, J., MILLER, D., KRONENBERG, M. & ZHANG, H. G. 2013. Exosome-like nanoparticles from intestinal mucosal cells carry prostaglandin E2 and suppress activation of liver NKT cells. *J Immunol*, 190, 3579-89.
- DEWITT, A. M., MATTSSON, L., LAUER, I., REESE, G. & LIDHOLM, J. 2004. Recombinant tropomyosin from Penaeus aztecus (rPen a 1) for measurement of specific immunoglobulin E antibodies relevant in food allergy to crustaceans and other invertebrates. *Mol Nutr Food Res*, 48, 370-9.
- DISSOUS, C., KHAYATH, N., VICOGNE, J. & CAPRON, M. 2006. Growth factor receptors in helminth parasites: signalling and host-parasite relationships. *FEBS Lett*, 580, 2968-75.
- DITGEN, D., ANANDARAJAH, E. M., MEISSNER, K. A., BRATTIG, N., WRENGER, C. & LIEBAU, E. 2014. Harnessing the helminth secretome for therapeutic immunomodulators. *Biomed Res Int*, 2014, 964350.
- DONNELLY, S., DALTON, J. P. & LOUKAS, A. 2006. Proteases in helminth- and allergen- induced inflammatory responses. *Chem Immunol Allergy*, 90, 45-64.
- DUJARDIN, F. 1845. *Histoire naturelle des helminthes ou vers intestinaux,* Paris :, Librairie Encyclopédique de Roret.
- DZIEKONSKA-RYNKO, J. & ROKICKI, J. 2005. Activity of selected hydrolases in excretion-secretion products and extracts of adult Contracaecum rudolphii. *Wiad Parazytol*, 51, 227-31.
- EDGAR, R. C. 2004. MUSCLE: a multiple sequence alignment method with reduced time and space complexity. *BMC Bioinformatics*, **5**, 113.
- EGUIA, A., AGUIRRE, J. M., ECHEVARRIA, M. A., MARTINEZ-CONDE, R. & PONTON, J. 2003. Gingivostomatitis after eating fish parasitized by Anisakis simplex: a case report. *Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod*, 96, 437-40.
- EL RIDI, R. & TALLIMA, H. 2009. Schistosoma mansoni ex vivo lung-stage larvae excretory-secretory antigens as vaccine candidates against schistosomiasis. *Vaccine*, 27, 666-73.
- ERB, K. J. 2009. Can helminths or helminth-derived products be used in humans to prevent or treat allergic diseases? *Trends Immunol*, 30, 75-82.

- EUROPEAN FOOD SAFETY AUTHORITY, E. 2010. Scientific Opinion on risk assessment of parasites in fishery products1 EFSA Panel on Biological Hazards (BIOHAZ). *EFSA J.*, 8, 1.
- F.D.A. 2011. Parasites. In Fish and fishery products:. *In:* ADMINISTRATION, T. U. S. F. A. D. (ed.) *hazards and controls guidance*.
- FAESTE, C. K., JONSCHER, K. R., DOOPER, M. M., EGGE-JACOBSEN, W., MOEN, A., DASCHNER, A., EGAAS, E. & CHRISTIANS, U. 2014. Characterisation of potential novel allergens in the fish parasite *Anisakis simplex. EuPA Open Proteom*, 4, 140-155.
- FEARY, J., BRITTON, J. & LEONARDI-BEE, J. 2011. Atopy and current intestinal parasite infection: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Allergy*, 66, 569-78.
- FERGUSON, B. J., NEWLAND, S. A., GIBBS, S. E., TOURLOMOUSIS, P., FERNANDES DOS SANTOS, P., PATEL, M. N., HALL, S. W., WALCZAK, H., SCHRAMM, G., HAAS, H., DUNNE, D. W., COOKE, A. & ZACCONE, P. 2015. The Schistosoma mansoni T2 ribonuclease omega-1 modulates inflammasomedependent IL-1beta secretion in macrophages. *Int J Parasitol*, 45, 809-13.
- FERNANDEZ-CALDAS, E., QUIRCE, S., MARANON, F., DIEZ GOMEZ, M. L., GIJON BOTELLA, H. & LOPEZ ROMAN, R. 1998. Allergenic cross-reactivity between third stage larvae of Hysterothylacium aduncum and Anisakis simplex. J Allergy Clin Immunol, 101, 554-5.
- FERNANDEZ DE CORRES, L., AUDICANA, M., DEL POZO, M. D., MUNOZ, D., FERNANDEZ, E., NAVARRO, J. A., GARCIA, M. & DIEZ, J. 1996. Anisakis simplex induces not only anisakiasis: report on 28 cases of allergy caused by this nematode. *J Investig Allergol Clin Immunol*, 6, 315-9.
- FERREIRA, I., SMYTH, D., GAZE, S., AZIZ, A., GIACOMIN, P., RUYSSERS, N., ARTIS, D., LAHA, T., NAVARRO, S., LOUKAS, A. & MCSORLEY, H. J. 2013. Hookworm excretory/secretory products induce interleukin-4 (IL-4)+ IL-10+ CD4+ T cell responses and suppress pathology in a mouse model of colitis. *Infect Immun*, 81, 2104-11.
- FITZSIMMONS, C. M., FALCONE, F. H. & DUNNE, D. W. 2014. Helminth Allergens, Parasite-Specific IgE, and Its Protective Role in Human Immunity. *Front Immunol*, 5, 61.
- FLEMING, J. O. 2013. Helminth therapy and multiple sclerosis. Int J Parasitol, 43, 259-74.
- FLEMING, J. O., ISAAK, A., LEE, J. E., LUZZIO, C. C., CARRITHERS, M. D., COOK, T. D., FIELD, A. S., BOLAND, J. & FABRY, Z. 2011. Probiotic helminth administration in relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis: a phase 1 study. *Mult Scler*, 17, 743-54.
- FUJIWARA, R. T., ZHAN, B., MENDEZ, S., LOUKAS, A., BUENO, L. L., WANG, Y., PLIESKATT, J., OKSOV, Y., LUSTIGMAN, S., BOTTAZZI, M. E., HOTEZ, P. & BETHONY, J. M. 2007. Reduction of worm fecundity and canine host blood loss mediates protection against hookworm infection elicited by vaccination with recombinant Ac-16. *Clin Vaccine Immunol*, 14, 281-7.
- FUMAROLA, L., MONNO, R., IERARDI, E., RIZZO, G., GIANNELLI, G. & LALLE, M. 2009. Anisakis pegreffii etiological agent of gastric infections in two Italian women. *Foodborne Path Dis.*, 6.
- GALLIN, M. Y., TAN, M., KRON, M. A., RECHNITZER, D., GREENE, B. M., NEWLAND, H. S., WHITE, A. T., TAYLOR, H. R. & UNNASCH, T. R. 1989. Onchocerca volvulus recombinant antigen: physical characterization and clinical correlates with serum reactivity. *J Infect Dis*, 160, 521-9.
- GALLO, R., CECCHI, F. & PARODI, A. 2012. Intractable chronic pruritus as the only manifestation of IgE hypersensitivity to Anisakis. *J Am Acad Dermatol*, 67, e261.

- GAMBOA, P. M., ASTURIAS, J., MARTINEZ, R., ANTEPARA, I., JAUREGUI, I., URRUTIA, I., FERNANDEZ, J. & SANZ, M. L. 2012. Diagnostic utility of components in allergy to Anisakis simplex. J Investig Allergol Clin Immunol, 22, 13-9.
- GARCIA-MAYORAL, M. F., TREVINO, M. A., PEREZ-PINAR, T., CABALLERO, M. L., KNAUTE, T., UMPIERREZ, A., BRUIX, M. & RODRIGUEZ-PEREZ, R. 2014. Relationships between IgE/IgG4 epitopes, structure and function in Anisakis simplex Ani s 5, a member of the SXP/RAL-2 protein family. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis*, 8, e2735.
- GARCIAPALACIOS, L., GONZALEZ, M. L., ESTEBAN, M. I., MIRABENT, E., PERTEGUER, M. J. & CUELLAR, C. 1996. Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay, immunoblot analysis and RAST fluoroimmunoassay analysis of serum responses against crude larval antigens of Anisakis simplex in a Spanish random population. *Journal of Helminthology*, 70, 281-289.
- GASSER, R. B., HU, M., CHILTON, N. B., CAMPBELL, B. E., JEX, A. J., OTRANTO, D., CAFARCHIA, C., BEVERIDGE, I. & ZHU, X. 2006. Single-strand conformation polymorphism (SSCP) for the analysis of genetic variation. *Nat Protoc*, 1, 3121-8.
- GAVIGAN, C. S., DALTON, J. P. & BELL, A. 2001. The role of aminopeptidases in haemoglobin degradation in Plasmodium falciparum-infected erythrocytes. *Mol Biochem Parasitol*, 117, 37-48.
- GOMEZ, B., TABAR, A. I., TUNON, T., LARRINAGA, B., ALVAREZ, M. J., GARCIA, B. E. & OLAGUIBEL, J. M. 1998. Eosinophilic gastroenteritis and Anisakis. *Allergy*, 53, 1148-54.
- GONZALEZ-FERNANDEZ, J., DASCHNER, A., NIEUWENHUIZEN, N. E., LOPATA, A. L., FRUTOS, C. D., VALLS, A. & CUELLAR, C. 2015. Haemoglobin, a new major allergen of Anisakis simplex. *Int J Parasitol*, 45, 399-407.
- GRANDEA, III, COHEN, C., TUYEN, L. K., ASIKIN, N., DAVIS, T. B., PHILIPP, M. & MCREYNOLDS, L. A. A. 1989a. A.G., and gt11 cDNA recombinant that encodes Dirofilaria immitis paramyosin Mol. *Biochem Parasitol*, 35 SRC - GoogleScholar, 31-42.
- GRANDEA, A. G., TUYEN, L. K., ASIKIN, N., DAVIS, T. B., PHILIPP, M., COHEN, C. & MCREYNOLDS, L. A. 1989b. A λgt11 cDNA recombinant that encodes Dirofilaria immitis paramyosin. *Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology*, 35, 31-41.
- GREGORY, W. F., BLAXTER, M. L. & MAIZELS, R. M. 1997. Differentially expressed, abundant trans-spliced cDNAs from larval Brugia malayi. *Mol Biochem Parasitol*, 87, 85-95.
- GRENCIS, R. K. 2015. Immunity to helminths: resistance, regulation, and susceptibility to gastrointestinal nematodes. *Annu Rev Immunol*, 33, 201-25.
- GUARNERI, F., GUARNERI, C. & BENVENGA, S. 2007. Cross-reactivity of Anisakis simplex: possible role of Ani s 2 and Ani s 3. *Int J Dermatol*, 46, 146-50.
- GUEX, N. & PEITSCH, M. C. 1997. SWISS-MODEL and the Swiss-PdbViewer: an environment for comparative protein modeling. *Electrophoresis*, 18, 2714-23.
- HADLEY, C. 2006. Food allergies on the rise? EMBO reports.
- HANSEN, E. P., KRINGEL, H., WILLIAMS, A. R. & NEJSUM, P. 2015. Secretion of RNA-Containing Extracellular Vesicles by the Porcine Whipworm, Trichuris suis. *J Parasitol*, 101, 336-40.

- HARCUS, Y. M., PARKINSON, J., FERNANDEZ, C., DAUB, J., SELKIRK, M. E., BLAXTER, M. L. & MAIZELS, R. M. 2004. Signal sequence analysis of expressed sequence tags from the nematode Nippostrongylus brasiliensis and the evolution of secreted proteins in parasites. *Genome Biol*, 5, R39.
- HARDING, C., HEUSER, J. & STAHL, P. 1983. Receptor-mediated endocytosis of transferrin and recycling of the transferrin receptor in rat reticulocytes. *J Cell Biol*, 97, 329-39.
- HARNETT, W. 2014. Secretory products of helminth parasites as immunomodulators. *Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology*, 195, 130-136.
- HERNANDEZ, J. L., LEUNG, G. & MCKAY, D. M. 2013. Cestode regulation of inflammation and inflammatory diseases. *Int J Parasitol*, 43, 233-43.
- HEWITSON, J. P., GRAINGER, J. R. & MAIZELS, R. M. 2009. Helminth immunoregulation: the role of parasite secreted proteins in modulating host immunity. *Mol Biochem Parasitol*, 167, 1-11.
- HEWITSON, J. P., HARCUS, Y., MURRAY, J., VAN AGTMAAL, M., FILBEY, K. J., GRAINGER, J. R., BRIDGETT, S., BLAXTER, M. L., ASHTON, P. D., ASHFORD, D. A., CURWEN, R. S., WILSON, R. A., DOWLE, A. A. & MAIZELS, R. M. 2011. Proteomic analysis of secretory products from the model gastrointestinal nematode Heligmosomoides polygyrus reveals dominance of venom allergen-like (VAL) proteins. *J Proteomics*, 74, 1573-94.
- HEWITSON, J. P., HARCUS, Y. M., CURWEN, R. S., DOWLE, A. A., ATMADJA, A. K., ASHTON, P. D., WILSON, A. & MAIZELS, R. M. 2008. The secretome of the filarial parasite, Brugia malayi: proteomic profile of adult excretory-secretory products. *Mol Biochem Parasitol*, 160, 8-21.
- HEWITSON, J. P., IVENS, A. C., HARCUS, Y., FILBEY, K. J., MCSORLEY, H. J., MURRAY, J., BRIDGETT, S., ASHFORD, D., DOWLE, A. A. & MAIZELS, R. M. 2013. Secretion of protective antigens by tissuestage nematode larvae revealed by proteomic analysis and vaccination-induced sterile immunity. *PLoS Pathog*, 9, e1003492.
- HOCHBERG, N. S. & HAMER, D. H. 2010. Anisakidosis: Perils of the deep. Clin Infect Dis, 51, 806-12.
- HUSSAARTS, L., VAN DER VLUGT, L. E., YAZDANBAKHSH, M. & SMITS, H. H. 2011. Regulatory B-cell induction by helminths: implications for allergic disease. *J Allergy Clin Immunol*, 128, 733-9.
- HWANG, D., PARK, S. I., PACK, S. C., LEE, K. S., CHOI, S. K., KANG, H., PARK, C. W. & LEE, S. 2012. A Case of Duodenal Anisakiasis with Duodenal Ulcer. *Chonnam Medical Journal*, 48, 73-75.
- IGLESIAS, R., D'AMELIO, S., INGROSSO, S., FARJALLAH, S., MARTINEZ-CEDEIRA, J. A. & GARCIA-ESTEVEZ, J. M. 2008. Molecular and morphological evidence for the occurrence of Anisakis sp. A (Nematoda, Anisakidae) in the Blainville's beaked whale Mesoplodon densirostris. *J Helminthol*, 82, 305-8.
- IGLESIAS, R., LEIRO, J., UBEIRA, F. M., SANTAMARINA, M. T., NAVARRETE, I. & SANMARTIN, M. L. 1996. Antigenic cross-reactivity in mice between third-stage larvae of Anisakis simplex and other nematodes. *Parasitol Res*, 82, 378-81.
- ISHII, N., MATSUDA, M., SETOYAMA, T., SUZUKI, S., UCHIDA, S., UEMURA, M., IIZUKA, Y., FUKUDA, K., HORIKI, N. & FUJITA, Y. 2009. Anisakiasis and vanishing tumor of the cecum. *Endoscopy*, 41 Suppl 2, E226-7.
- ITO, A. 2015. Basic and applied problems in developmental biology and immunobiology of cestode infections: Hymenolepis, Taenia and Echinococcus. *Parasite Immunol*, 37, 53-69.

- ITO, K., ISHIGURO, A., KANBE, T., TANAKA, K. & TORII, S. 1995. Characterization of IgE-binding epitopes on Candida albicans enolase. *Clin Exp Allergy*, 25, 529-535.
- ITO, Y., IKEMATSU, Y., YUZAWA, H., NISHIWAKI, Y., KIDA, H., WAKI, S., UCHIMURA, M., OZAWA, T., IWAOKA, T. & KANEMATSU, T. 2007. Chronic gastric anisakiasis presenting as pneumoperitoneum. *Asian J Surg*, 30, 67-71.
- JABBAR, A., FONG, R. W., KOK, K. X., LOPATA, A. L., GASSER, R. B. & BEVERIDGE, I. 2013. Molecular characterization of anisakid nematode larvae from 13 species of fish from Western Australia. *Int J Food Microbiol*, 161, 247-53.
- JABBAR, A., KHOON, A. T., HUI, T. X., SCHAEFFNER, B. C., JEX, A. R., NOLAN, M. J., LOPATA, A., GASSER, R. B. & BEVERIDGE, I. 2012. Mutation scanning-based analysis of anisakid larvae from Sillago flindersi from Bass Strait, Australia. *Electrophoresis*, 33, 499-505.
- JENKINS, J. A., BREITENEDER, H. & MILLS, E. N. 2007. Evolutionary distance from human homologs reflects allergenicity of animal food proteins. *J Allergy Clin Immunol*, 120, 1399-405.
- JENKINS, R. E., TAYLOR, M. J., GILVARY, N. J. & BIANCO, A. E. 1998. Tropomyosin implicated in host protective responses to microfilariae in onchocerciasis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 95, 7550-7555.
- JENKINS, S. J. & MOUNTFORD, A. P. 2005. Dendritic cells activated with products released by schistosome larvae drive Th2-type immune responses, which can be inhibited by manipulation of CD40 costimulation. *Infect Immun*, 73, 395-402.
- JEX, A. R., LIU, S., LI, B., YOUNG, N. D., HALL, R. S. & LI, Y. 2011. Ascaris suum draft genome. Nature, 479.
- JIA, H., NISHIKAWA, Y., LUO, Y., YAMAGISHI, J., SUGIMOTO, C. & XUAN, X. 2010. Characterization of a leucine aminopeptidase from Toxoplasma gondii. *Mol Biochem Parasitol*, 170, 1-6.
- JOHANSSON, E., APONNO, M., LUNDBERG, M. & VAN HAGE-HAMSTEN, M. 2001. Allergenic crossreactivity between the nematode *Anisakis simplex* and the dust mites *Acarus siro*, *Lepidoglyphus destructor*, *Tyrophagus putrescentiae*, and *Dermatophagoides pteronyssinus*. *Allergy*, 56, 660-6.
- JOLODAR, A., FISCHER, P., BERGMANN, S., BUTTNER, D. W., HAMMERSCHMIDT, S. & BRATTIG, N. W. 2003. Molecular cloning of an alpha-enolase from the human filarial parasite Onchocerca volvulus that binds human plasminogen. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 1627, 111-20.
- JONES, J. T., SMANT, G. & BLOK, V. C. 2000. SXP/RAL-2 proteins of potato cyst nematode Globodera rostochiensis: secreted proteins of the hypodermis and amphids. *Nematol*, 2 SRC - GoogleScholar, 887-893.
- JOSHUA, G. W. 2001. Functional analysis of leucine aminopeptidase in Caenorhabditis elegans. *Mol Biochem Parasitol*, 113, 223-32.
- KAGAWA, H., GENGYO, K., MCLACHLAN, A. D., BRENNER, S. & KARN, J. 1989. Paramyosin gene (unc-15) of C. *elegans Molecular cloning nucleotide sequence and models for the thick filament structure J Mol Biol*, 207 SRC - GoogleScholar, 311-333.
- KAMATH, S. D., ABDEL RAHMAN, A. M., KOMODA, T. & LOPATA, A. L. 2013. Impact of heat processing on the detection of the major shellfish allergen tropomyosin in crustaceans and molluscs using specific monoclonal antibodies. *Food Chem*, 141, 4031-9.

- KAMATH, S. D., JOHNSTON, E. B., IYER, S., SCHAEFFER, P. M., KOPLIN, J., ALLEN, K. & LOPATA, A. L. 2017. IgE reactivity to shrimp allergens in infants and their cross-reactivity to house dust mite. *Pediatr Allergy Immunol*.
- KAMATH, S. D., RAHMAN, A. M., VOSKAMP, A., KOMODA, T., ROLLAND, J. M., O'HEHIR, R. E. & LOPATA, A. L. 2014a. Effect of heat processing on antibody reactivity to allergen variants and fragments of black tiger prawn: A comprehensive allergenomic approach. *Mol Nutr Food Res*, 58, 1144-55.
- KAMATH, S. D., THOMASSEN, M. R., SAPTARSHI, S. R., NGUYEN, H. M., AASMOE, L., BANG, B. E. & LOPATA, A. L. 2014b. Molecular and immunological approaches in quantifying the air-borne food allergen tropomyosin in crab processing facilities. *Int J Hyg Environ Health*, 217, 740-50.
- KANG, J. M., JU, H. L., JU, J. W., SOHN, W. M., KIM, T. S., BAHK, Y. Y., HONG, S. J. & NA, B. K. 2012. Comparative biochemical and functional properties of two leucine aminopeptidases of Clonorchis sinensis. *Mol Biochem Parasitol*, 182, 17-26.
- KAPSENBERG, M. L. 2003. Dendritic-cell control of pathogen-driven T-cell polarization. *Nat Rev Immunol*, 3, 984-93.
- KASUYA, S., HAMANO, H. & IZUMI, S. 1990. Mackerel-induced urticaria and Anisakis. Lancet, 335, 665.
- KELLER, A., NESVIZHSKII, A. I., KOLKER, E. & AEBERSOLD, R. 2002. Empirical statistical model to estimate the accuracy of peptide identifications made by MS/MS and database search. *Anal Chem*, 74, 5383-92.
- KENNEDY, M. W., TIERNEY, J., YE, P., MCMONAGLE, F. A., MCINTOSH, A., MCLAUGHLIN, D. & SMITH, J. W. 1988. The secreted and somatic antigens of the third stage larva of Anisakis simplex, and antigenic relationship with Ascaris suum, Ascaris lumbricoides, and Toxocara canis. *Mol Biochem Parasitol*, 31, 35-46.
- KIM, H. & LIPSCOMB, W. N. 1993. Differentiation and identification of the two catalytic metal binding sites in bovine lens leucine aminopeptidase by x-ray crystallography. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 90, 5006-10.
- KIM, K. H., EOM, K. S. & PARK, J. K. 2006. The complete mitochondrial genome of Anisakis simplex (Ascaridida: Nematoda) and phylogenetic implications. *Int J Parasitol*, 36, 319-28.
- KIM, S. & PEVZNER, P. A. 2014. MS-GF+ makes progress towards a universal database search tool for proteomics. *Nat Commun*, 5, 5277.
- KIMURA, S., TAKAGI, Y. & GOMI, K. 1999. IgE response to Anisakis compared to seafood. *Allergy*, 54, 1225-6.
- KOBAYASHI, Y., ISHIZAKI, S., NAGASHIMA, Y. & SHIOMI, K. 2008. Ani s 1, the major allergen of Anisakis simplex: purification by affinity chromatography and functional expression in Escherichia coli. *Parasitol Int*, 57, 314-9.
- KOBAYASHI, Y., ISHIZAKI, S., SHIMAKURA, K., NAGASHIMA, Y. & SHIOMI, K. 2007. Molecular cloning and expression of two new allergens from Anisakis simplex. *Parasitol Res*, 100, 1233-41.
- KOBAYASHI, Y., KAKEMOTO, S., SHIMAKURA, K. & SHIOMI, K. 2015. Molecular Cloning and Expression of a New Major Allergen, Ani s 14, from Anisakis simplex. *Shokuhin Eiseigaku Zasshi*, 56, 194-9.
- KOBAYASHI, Y., OHSAKI, K., IKEDA, K., KAKEMOTO, S., ISHIZAKI, S., SHIMAKURA, K., NAGASHIMA, Y. & SHIOMI, K. 2011. Identification of novel three allergens from Anisakis simplex by chemiluminescent immunoscreening of an expression cDNA library. *Parasitol Int*, 60, 144-50.

- KUEHN, A., HILGER, C., LEHNERS-WEBER, C., CODREANU-MOREL, F., MORISSET, M., METZ-FAVRE, C., PAULI, G., DE BLAY, F., REVETS, D., MULLER, C. P., VOGEL, L., VIETHS, S. & HENTGES, F. 2013. Identification of enolases and aldolases as important fish allergens in cod, salmon and tuna: component resolved diagnosis using parvalbumin and the new allergens. *Clin Exp Allergy*, 43, 811-22.
- KUHN, T., CUNZE, S., KOCHMANN, J. & KLIMPEL, S. 2016. Environmental variables and definitive host distribution: a habitat suitability modelling for endohelminth parasites in the marine realm. *Sci Rep*, 6, 30246.
- KUHN, T., GARCIA-MARQUEZ, J. & KLIMPEL, S. 2011. Adaptive radiation within marine anisakid nematodes: a zoogeographical modeling of cosmopolitan, zoonotic parasites. *PLoS One*, 6, e28642.
- KUMEDA, N., OGAWA, Y., AKIMOTO, Y., KAWAKAMI, H., TSUJIMOTO, M. & YANOSHITA, R. 2017. Characterization of Membrane Integrity and Morphological Stability of Human Salivary Exosomes. *Biol Pharm Bull*, 40, 1183-1191.
- KWAK, S. Y. & YOON, Y. H. 2012. Laryngeal anisakiasis: an unusual cause of foreign-body sensation in the throat. *Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg*, 147, 588-9.
- LACLETTE, J. P., LANDA, A., ARCOS, L., WILLMS, K., DAVIS, A. E. & SHOEMAKER, C. B. 1991. Paramyosin is the Schistosoma mansoni (Trematoda) homologue of antigen B from Taenia solium (Cestoda). *Mol Biochem Parasitol*, 44, 287-95.
- LARANCE, M. & LAMOND, A. I. 2015. Multidimensional proteomics for cell biology. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol*, 16, 269-280.
- LEE, M. H., CHEON, D.-S. & CHOI, C. 2009. Molecular genotyping of Anisakis species from Korean sea fish by polymerase chain reaction-restriction fragment length polymorphism (PCR-RFLP). *Food Control*, 20, 623-626.
- LEID, R. W., SUQUET, C. M. & TANIGOSHI, L. 1987. Parasite defense mechanisms for evasion of host attack; a review. *Vet Parasitol*, 25, 147-62.
- LEONARDI-BEE, J., PRITCHARD, D. & BRITTON, J. 2006. Asthma and current intestinal parasite infection: systematic review and meta-analysis. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*, 174, 514-23.
- LIM, H., JUNG, B. K., CHO, J., YOOYEN, T., SHIN, E. H. & CHAI, J. Y. 2015. Molecular diagnosis of cause of anisakiasis in humans, South Korea. *Emerg Infect Dis*, 21, 342-4.
- LIU, A. H., JARAMILLO, R., SICHERER, S. H., WOOD, R. A., BOCK, S. A., BURKS, A. W., MASSING, M., COHN, R. D. & ZELDIN, D. C. 2010. National Prevalence and Risk Factors for Food Allergy and Relationship to Asthma: Results from the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey 2005-2006. *The Journal of allergy and clinical immunology*, 126, 798-806.e13.
- LIU, F., CUI, S. J., HU, W., FENG, Z., WANG, Z. Q. & HAN, Z. G. 2009. Excretory/secretory proteome of the adult developmental stage of human blood fluke, Schistosoma japonicum. *Mol Cell Proteomics*, 8, 1236-51.
- LOPATA, A. L., KLEINE-TEBBE, J. & KAMATH, S. D. 2016. Allergens and molecular diagnostics of shellfish allergy: Part 22 of the Series Molecular Allergology. *Allergo J Int*, 25, 210-218.
- LOPATA, A. L. & LEHRER, S. B. 2009. New insights into seafood allergy. *Curr Opin Allergy Clin Immunol*, 9, 270-7.

LOPATA, A. L., O'HEHIR, R. E. & LEHRER, S. B. 2010. Shellfish allergy. Clin Exp Allergy, 40, 850-8.

- LOPEZ, I. & PARDO, M. A. 2011. A phage display system for the identification of novel Anisakis simplex antigens. *J Immunol Methods*, 373, 247-51.
- LORENZO, S., ROMARIS, F., IGLESIAS, R., AUDICANA, M. T., ALONSO, J. M., LEIRO, J. & UBEIRA, F. M. 2000. O-glycans as a source of cross-reactivity in determinations of human serum antibodies to Anisakis simplex antigens. *Clin Exp Allergy*, 30, 551-9.
- LOZANO, M. J., MARTIN, H. L., DIAZ, S. V., MANAS, A. I., VALERO, L. A. & CAMPOS, B. M. 2004. Crossreactivity between antigens of *Anisakis simplex s.l.* and other ascarid nematodes. *Parasite*, 11, 219-23.
- LU, N., WANG, L., CAO, H., LIU, L., VAN KAER, L., WASHINGTON, M. K., ROSEN, M. J., DUBE, P. E., WILSON, K. T., REN, X., HAO, X., POLK, D. B. & YAN, F. 2014. Activation of the epidermal growth factor receptor in macrophages regulates cytokine production and experimental colitis. *J Immunol*, 192, 1013-23.
- LUND, M. E., O'BRIEN, B. A., HUTCHINSON, A. T., ROBINSON, M. W., SIMPSON, A. M., DALTON, J. P. & DONNELLY, S. 2014. Secreted proteins from the helminth Fasciola hepatica inhibit the initiation of autoreactive T cell responses and prevent diabetes in the NOD mouse. *PLoS One*, 9, e86289.
- LYNCH, N. R., HAGEL, I., PEREZ, M., DI PRISCO, M. C., LOPEZ, R. & ALVAREZ, N. 1993. Effect of anthelmintic treatment on the allergic reactivity of children in a tropical slum. *J Allergy Clin Immunol*, 92, 404-11.
- LYNCH, N. R., LOPEZ, R. I., DI PRISCO-FUENMAYOR, M. C., HAGEL, I., MEDOUZE, L., VIANA, G., ORTEGA, C. & PRATO, G. 1987. Allergic reactivity and socio-economic level in a tropical environment. *Clin Allergy*, 17, 199-207.
- MACHI, T., OKINO, S., SAITO, Y., HORITA, Y., TAGUCHI, T., NAKAZAWA, T., NAKAMURA, Y., HIRAI, H., MIYAMORI, H. & KITAGAWA, S. 1997. Severe chest pain due to gastric anisakiasis. *Intern Med*, 36, 28-30.
- MAIZELS, R. M. & YAZDANBAKHSH, M. 2003. Immune regulation by helminth parasites: cellular and molecular mechanisms. *Nat Rev Immunol*, 3, 733-44.
- MARCILLA, A., DE LA RUBIA, J. E., SOTILLO, J., BERNAL, D., CARMONA, C., VILLAVICENCIO, Z., ACOSTA, D., TORT, J., BORNAY, F. J., ESTEBAN, J. G. & TOLEDO, R. 2008. Leucine aminopeptidase is an immunodominant antigen of Fasciola hepatica excretory and secretory products in human infections. *Clin Vaccine Immunol*, 15, 95-100.
- MARCILLA, A., MARTIN-JAULAR, L., TRELIS, M., DE MENEZES-NETO, A., OSUNA, A., BERNAL, D., FERNANDEZ-BECERRA, C., ALMEIDA, I. C. & DEL PORTILLO, H. A. 2014. Extracellular vesicles in parasitic diseases. *J Extracell Vesicles*, 3, 25040.
- MARCILLA, A., TRELIS, M., CORTES, A., SOTILLO, J., CANTALAPIEDRA, F., MINGUEZ, M. T., VALERO, M. L., SANCHEZ DEL PINO, M. M., MUNOZ-ANTOLI, C., TOLEDO, R. & BERNAL, D. 2012. Extracellular vesicles from parasitic helminths contain specific excretory/secretory proteins and are internalized in intestinal host cells. *PLoS One*, 7, e45974.
- MARI, A., CIARDIELLO, M. A., TAMBURRINI, M., RASI, C. & PALAZZO, P. 2010. Proteomic analysis in the identification of allergenic molecules. *Expert Rev Proteomics*, 7, 723-34.
- MARI, A., RASI, C., PALAZZO, P. & SCALA, E. 2009. Allergen databases: current status and perspectives. *Curr. Allergy Asthma Rep*, 9, 376–83.

- MARIANI, V., KIEFER, F., SCHMIDT, T., HAAS, J. & SCHWEDE, T. 2011. Assessment of template based protein structure predictions in CASPS9. *Proteins*, 79, 37-58.
- MARTIN-SANCHEZ, J., ARTACHO-REINOSO, M. E., DIAZ-GAVILAN, M. & VALERO-LOPEZ, A. 2005. Structure of Anisakis simplex s.l. populations in a region sympatric for A. pegreffii and A. simplex s.s. Absence of reproductive isolation between both species. *Mol Biochem Parasitol*, 141, 155-62.
- MATHIVANAN, S., JI, H. & SIMPSON, R. J. 2010a. Exosomes: extracellular organelles important in intercellular communication. *J Proteomics*, 73, 1907-20.
- MATHIVANAN, S., LIM, J. W., TAURO, B. J., JI, H., MORITZ, R. L. & SIMPSON, R. J. 2010b. Proteomics analysis of A33 immunoaffinity-purified exosomes released from the human colon tumor cell line LIM1215 reveals a tissue-specific protein signature. *Mol Cell Proteomics*, 9, 197-208.
- MATSUI, M., FOWLER, J. H. & WALLING, L. L. 2006. Leucine aminopeptidases: diversity in structure and function. *Biol Chem*, 387, 1535-44.
- MATSUI, T., IIDA, M., MURAKAMI, M., KIMURA, Y., FUJISHIMA, M., YAO, Y. & TSUJI, M. 1985. Intestinal anisakiasis: clinical and radiologic features. *Radiology*, 157, 299-302.
- MATSUMOTO, T., IIDA, M., KIMURA, Y., TANAKA, K., KITADA, T. & FUJISHIMA, M. 1992. Anisakiasis of the colon: radiologic and endoscopic features in six patients. *Radiology*, 183, 97-9.
- MATSUOKA, H., NAKAMA, T., KISANUKI, H., UNO, H., TACHIBANA, N., TSUBOUCHI, H., HORII, Y. & NAWA, Y. 1994. A case report of serologically diagnosed pulmonary anisakiasis with pleural effusion and multiple lesions. *Am J Trop Med Hyg*, 51, 819-22.
- MATTIUCCI, S., CIPRIANI, P., WEBB, S. C., PAOLETTI, M., MARCER, F., BELLISARIO, B., GIBSON, D. I. & NASCETTI, G. 2014. Genetic and morphological approaches distinguish the three sibling species of the Anisakis simplex species complex, with a species designation as Anisakis berlandi n. sp. for A. simplex sp. C (Nematoda: Anisakidae). *J Parasitol*, 100, 199-214.
- MATTIUCCI, S., FARINA, V., CAMPBELL, N., MACKENZIE, K., RAMOS, P., PINTO, A. L., ABAUNZA, P. & NASCETTI, G. 2008. Anisakis spp. larvae (Nematoda: Anisakidae) from Atlantic horse mackerel: Their genetic identification and use as biological tags for host stock characterization. *Fisheries Research*, 89, 146-151.
- MATTIUCCI, S., FAZII, P., DE ROSA, A., PAOLETTI, M., MEGNA, A. S., GLIELMO, A., DE ANGELIS, M., COSTA, A., MEUCCI, C., CALVARUSO, V., SORRENTINI, I., PALMA, G., BRUSCHI, F. & NASCETTI, G. 2013. Anisakiasis and gastroallergic reactions associated with *Anisakis pegreffii* infection, Italy. *Emerg Infect Dis*, **19**, 496-9.
- MATTIUCCI, S. & NASCETTI, G. 2006. Molecular systematics, phylogeny and ecology of anisakid nematodes of the genus Anisakis Dujardin, 1845: an update. *Parasite*, 13, 99-113.
- MATTIUCCI, S. & NASCETTI, G. 2008. Advances and trends in the molecular systematics of anisakid nematodes, with implications for their evolutionary ecology and host-parasite co-evolutionary processes. *Adv Parasitol*, 66, 47-148.
- MATTIUCCI, S., NASCETTI, G., CLANCHI, R., PAGGI, L., ARDUINO, P., MARGOLIS, L., BRATTEY, J., WEBB, S., D'AMELIO, S., ORECCHIA, P. & BULLINI, L. 1997. Genetic and ecological data on the Anisakis simplex complex, with evidence for a new species (Nematoda, Ascaridoidea, Anisakidae). *J Parasitol*, 83, 401-16.

- MATTIUCCI, S., PAOLETTI, M., BORRINI, F., PALUMBO, M., PALMIERI, R. M., GOMES, V., CASATI, A. & NASCETTI, G. 2011. First molecular identification of the zoonotic parasite Anisakis pegreffii (Nematoda: Anisakidae) in a paraffin-embedded granuloma taken from a case of human intestinal anisakiasis in Italy. *BMC Infect Dis*, 11, 82.
- MATTIUCCI, S., PAOLETTI, M., COLANTONI, A., CARBONE, A., GAETA, R., PROIETTI, A., FRATTAROLI, S., FAZII, P., BRUSCHI, F. & NASCETTI, G. 2017. Invasive anisakiasis by the parasite Anisakis pegreffii (Nematoda: Anisakidae): diagnosis by real-time PCR hydrolysis probe system and immunoblotting assay. *BMC Infect Dis*, 17, 530.
- MCCARTHY, E., STACK, C., DONNELLY, S. M., DOYLE, S., MANN, V. H., BRINDLEY, P. J., STEWART, M., DAY, T. A., MAULE, A. G. & DALTON, J. P. 2004. Leucine aminopeptidase of the human blood flukes, Schistosoma mansoni and Schistosoma japonicum. *Int J Parasitol*, 34, 703-14.
- MCCLELLAND, G., R.K., M. & D.J., M. 1990. Larval anisakine nematodes in various fish species from Sable Island Bank and vicinity. *Can. Bull. Fish. aquat. Sci*, 222, 83–118.
- MCINNES, I. B., LEUNG, B. P., HARNETT, M., GRACIE, J. A., LIEW, F. Y. & HARNETT, W. 2003. A novel therapeutic approach targeting articular inflammation using the filarial nematode-derived phosphorylcholine-containing glycoprotein ES-62. *J Immunol*, 171, 2127-33.
- MCSORLEY, H. J., HEWITSON, J. P. & MAIZELS, R. M. 2013. Immunomodulation by helminth parasites: defining mechanisms and mediators. *Int J Parasitol*, 43, 301-10.
- MCSORLEY, H. J. & MAIZELS, R. M. 2012. Helminth infections and host immune regulation. *Clin Microbiol Rev*, 25, 585-608.
- MEHRDANA, F. & BUCHMANN, K. 2017. Excretory/secretory products of anisakid nematodes: biological and pathological roles. *Acta Veterinaria Scandinavica*, 59, 42.
- MELENDEZ, A. J., HARNETT, M. M., PUSHPARAJ, P. N., WONG, W. S., TAY, H. K., MCSHARRY, C. P. & HARNETT, W. 2007. Inhibition of Fc epsilon RI-mediated mast cell responses by ES-62, a product of parasitic filarial nematodes. *Nat Med*, 13, 1375-81.
- MESEGUER, J., NAVARRO, V., SANCHEZ-GUERRERO, I., BARTOLOME, B. & NEGRO ALVAREZ, J. M. 2007. Anisakis simplex allergy and nephrotic syndrome. *Allergol Immunopathol (Madr)*, 35, 216-20.
- MISHRA, P. K., PATEL, N., WU, W., BLEICH, D. & GAUSE, W. C. 2013. Prevention of type 1 diabetes through infection with an intestinal nematode parasite requires IL-10 in the absence of a Th2-type response. *Mucosal Immunol*, 6, 297-308.
- MLADINEO, I., POPOVIC, M., DRMIC-HOFMAN, I. & POLJAK, V. 2016. A case report of Anisakis pegreffii (Nematoda, Anisakidae) identified from archival paraffin sections of a Croatian patient. *BMC Infect Dis*, 16, 42.
- MOHANDAS, N., JABBAR, A., PODOLSKA, M., ZHU, X. Q., LITTLEWOOD, D. T., JEX, A. R. & GASSER, R. B. 2014. Mitochondrial genomes of Anisakis simplex and Contracaecum osculatum (sensu stricto)-comparisons with selected nematodes. *Infect Genet Evol*, 21, 452-62.
- MONEO, I., AUDICANA, M. T., ALDAY, E., CURIEL, G., DEL POZO, M. D. & GARCIA, M. 1997. Periodate treatment of Anisakis simplex allergens. *Allergy*, 52, 565-9.
- MONEO, I., CABALLERO, M. L., GÓMEZ, F., ORTEGA, E. & ALONSO, M. J. 2000. Isolation and characterization of a major allergen from the fish parasite Anisakis simplex. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*, 106, 177-182.

- MONEO, I., CABALLERO, M. L., GONZALEZ-MUNOZ, M., RODRIGUEZ-MAHILLO, A. I., RODRIGUEZ-PEREZ, R. & SILVA, A. 2005. Isolation of a heat-resistant allergen from the fish parasite Anisakis simplex. *Parasitol Res*, 96, 285-9.
- MONTALTO, M., MIELE, L., MARCHEGGIANO, A., SANTORO, L., CURIGLIANO, V., VASTOLA, M. & GASBARRINI, G. 2005. Anisakis infestation: a case of acute abdomen mimicking Crohn's disease and eosinophilic gastroenteritis. *Dig Liver Dis*, 37, 62-4.
- MONTECALVO, A., LARREGINA, A. T., SHUFESKY, W. J., STOLZ, D. B., SULLIVAN, M. L., KARLSSON, J. M., BATY, C. J., GIBSON, G. A., ERDOS, G., WANG, Z., MILOSEVIC, J., TKACHEVA, O. A., DIVITO, S. J., JORDAN, R., LYONS-WEILER, J., WATKINS, S. C. & MORELLI, A. E. 2012. Mechanism of transfer of functional microRNAs between mouse dendritic cells via exosomes. *Blood*, 119, 756-66.
- MORENO, Y. & GEARY, T. G. 2008. Stage- and gender-specific proteomic analysis of Brugia malayi excretorysecretory products. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis*, 2, e326.
- MORRIS, S. R. & SAKANARI, J. A. 1994. Characterization of the serine protease and serine protease inhibitor from the tissue-penetrating nematode Anisakis simplex. *J Biol Chem*, 269, 27650-6.
- MULLIN, E. 2016. Researchers Hot to Discover the Medical Potential of Exosomes. BioScience, 66, 536-541.
- MULLINS, R. J., WAINSTEIN, B. K., BARNES, E. H., LIEW, W. K. & CAMPBELL, D. E. 2016. Increases in anaphylaxis fatalities in Australia from 1997 to 2013. *Clin Exp Allergy*, 46, 1099-110.
- MUNERA, M., MARTINEZ D, CARABALLO L AND PUERTA L 2015. Analysis of cross-reactivity between the Fatty Acid Binding Proteins from Blomia tropicalis and Litopenaeus vannamei. *Frontiers in Immunology*.
- MURALIDHARAN-CHARI, V., CLANCY, J. W., SEDGWICK, A. & D'SOUZA-SCHOREY, C. 2010. Microvesicles: mediators of extracellular communication during cancer progression. *J Cell Sci*, 123, 1603-11.
- NACHLAS, M. M., CRAWFORD, D. T. & SELIGMAN, A. M. 1957. The histochemical demonstration of leucine aminopeptidase. *J Histochem Cytochem*, 5, 264-78.
- NAGARAJ, S. H., GASSER, R. B. & RANGANATHAN, S. 2008. Needles in the EST haystack: large-scale identification and analysis of excretory-secretory (ES) proteins in parasitic nematodes using expressed sequence tags (ESTs). *PLoS Negl Trop Dis*, 2, e301.
- NAKAJI, K. 2009. Enteric anisakiasis which improved with conservative treatment. Intern Med, 48, 573.
- NAMPIJJA, M., WEBB, E. L., KAWEESA, J., KIZINDO, R., NAMUTEBI, M., NAKAZIBWE, E., ODURU, G., KABUUBI, P., KABAGENYI, J., KIZITO, D., MUHANGI, L., AKELLO, M., VERWEIJ, J. J., NERIMA, B., TUKAHEBWA, E., ELLIOTT, A. M. & LA, V. T. T. 2015. The Lake Victoria Island Intervention Study on Worms and Allergy-related diseases (LaVIISWA): study protocol for a randomised controlled trial. *Trials*, 16, 187.
- NAWA, Y., HATZ, C. & BLUM, J. 2005. Sushi delights and parasites: the risk of fishborne and foodborne parasitic zoonoses in Asia. *Clin Infect Dis*, 41, 1297-303.
- NDIAYE, M. & BOUSQUET, J. 2004. Allergies and parasitoses in sub-Saharan Africa. *Clin Rev Allergy Immunol*, 26, 105-13.
- NESVIZHSKII, A. I., KELLER, A., KOLKER, E. & AEBERSOLD, R. 2003. A statistical model for identifying proteins by tandem mass spectrometry. *Anal Chem*, 75, 4646-58.

- NI, F., XU, S. S., ZHANG, S. L., XU, C. M. & LUO, D. M. 2012. [Cloning and expression of D-like aspartic protease of Anisakis simplex]. *Zhongguo Ji Sheng Chong Xue Yu Ji Sheng Chong Bing Za Zhi*, 30, 294-8.
- NICKEL, W. & RABOUILLE, C. 2009. Mechanisms of regulated unconventional protein secretion. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol*, 10, 148-55.
- NIEUWENHUIZEN, N., LOPATA, A. L., JEEBHAY, M. F., HERBERT, D. R., ROBINS, T. G. & BROMBACHER, F. 2006. Exposure to the fish parasite Anisakis causes allergic airway hyperreactivity and dermatitis. *J Allergy Clin Immunol*, 117, 1098-105.
- NIEUWENHUIZEN, N. E. & LOPATA, A. L. 2013. Anisakis--a food-borne parasite that triggers allergic host defences. *Int J Parasitol*, 43, 1047-57.
- NIEUWENHUIZEN, N. E., METER, J. M., HORSNELL, W. G., HOVING, J. C., FICK, L., SHARP, M. F., DARBY, M. G., PARIHAR, S. P., BROMBACHER, F. & LOPATA, A. L. 2013. A cross-reactive monoclonal antibody to nematode haemoglobin enhances protective immune responses to Nippostrongylus brasiliensis. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis*, 7, e2395.
- OKUTUCU, B., DINCER, A., HABIB, O. & ZIHNIOGLU, F. 2007. Comparison of five methods for determination of total plasma protein concentration. *J Biochem Biophys Methods*, 70, 709-11.
- OUAISSI, M. A., AURIAULT, C., SANTORO, F. & CAPRON, A. 1981. Interaction between Schistosoma mansoni and the complement system: role of IgG Fc peptides in the activation of the classical pathway by schistosomula. *J Immunol*, 127, 1556-9.
- PACIOS, E., ARIAS-DIAZ, J., ZULOAGA, J., GONZALEZ-ARMENGOL, J., VILLARROEL, P. & BALIBREA, J. L. 2005. Albendazole for the treatment of anisakiasis ileus. *Clin Infect Dis*, 41, 1825-6.
- PAN, B. T. & JOHNSTONE, R. M. 1983. Fate of the transferrin receptor during maturation of sheep reticulocytes in vitro: selective externalization of the receptor. *Cell*, 33, 967-78.
- PANCHOLI, V. 2001. Multifunctional alpha-enolase: its role in diseases. Cell Mol Life Sci, 58, 902-920.
- PARK, J. S., CHO, M. K., YU, H. S. & AHN, S. C. 2012. Identification of a 24 kDa excretory secretory protein in Anisakis simplex. *Exp Parasitol*, 130, 69-72.
- PARK, M. S., KIM, K. W., HA, H. K. & LEE, D. H. 2008. Intestinal parasitic infection. *Abdom Imaging*, 33, 166-71.
- PARK, S. K., CHO, M. K., PARK, H. K., LEE, K. H., LEE, S. J., CHOI, S. H., OCK, M. S., JEONG, H. J., LEE, M. H. & YU, H. S. 2009. Macrophage migration inhibitory factor homologs of anisakis simplex suppress Th2 response in allergic airway inflammation model via CD4+CD25+Foxp3+ T cell recruitment. J Immunol, 182, 6907-14.
- PASCUAL, C. Y., CRESPO, J. F., SAN MARTIN, S., ORNIA, N., ORTEGA, N., CABALLERO, T., MUNOZ-PEREIRA, M. & MARTIN-ESTEBAN, M. 1997. Cross-reactivity between IgE-binding proteins from *Anisakis*, German cockroach, and chironomids. *Allergy*, 52, 514-20.
- PASQUALE, E. B. 2016. Exosomes expand the sphere of influence of Eph receptors and ephrins. *J Cell Biol*, 214, 5-7.
- PASTRANA, D. V., RAGHAVAN, N., FITZGERALD, P., EISINGER, S. W., METZ, C., BUCALA, R., SCHLEIMER, R. P., BICKEL, C. & SCOTT, A. L. 1998. Filarial nematode parasites secrete a homologue of the human cytokine macrophage migration inhibitory factor. *Infect Immun*, 66, 5955-5963.

- PEARSON, W. R. 2013. An introduction to sequence similarity ("homology") searching. *Curr Protoc Bioinformatics*, Chapter 3, Unit3 1.
- PEREIRA, B., VENTER, C., GRUNDY, J., CLAYTON, C. B., ARSHAD, S. H. & DEAN, T. 2005. Prevalence of sensitization to food allergens, reported adverse reaction to foods, food avoidance, and food hypersensitivity among teenagers. *J Allergy Clin Immunol*, 116, 884-92.
- PEREZ-PEREZ, J., FERNANDEZ-CALDAS, E., MARANON, F., SASTRE, J., BERNAL, M. L., RODRIGUEZ, J. & BEDATE, C. A. 2000. Molecular cloning of paramyosin, a new allergen of Anisakis simplex. *Int Arch Allergy Immunol*, 123, 120-9.
- PERRIGOUE, J. G., MARSHALL, F. A. & ARTIS, D. 2008. On the hunt for helminths: innate immune cells in the recognition and response to helminth parasites. *Cell Microbiol*, 10, 1757-64.
- PERTEGUER, M. J., AGUILA, C., FENOY, S., GUILLEN, J. L. & CUELLAR, C. 2003a. Cross-reactivity induced by Anisakis simplex and Toxocara canis in mice. *J Helminthol*, 77, 331-4.
- PERTEGUER, M. J., ÁGUILA, C., FENOY, S., GUILLÉN, J. L. & CUÉLLAR, C. 2003b. Cross-reactivity induced by <I>Anisakis simplex</I> and <I>Toxocara canis</I> in mice. *Journal of Helminthology*, 77, 331-334.
- PERTEGUER, M. J., RAPOSO, R. & CUELLAR, C. 1996. In vitro study on the effect of larval excretory/secretory products and crude extracts from Anisakis simplex on blood coagulation. *Int J Parasitol*, 26, 105-8.
- PETERSEN, T. N., BRUNAK, S., VON HEIJNE, G. & NIELSEN, H. 2011. SignalP 4.0: discriminating signal peptides from transmembrane regions. *Nat Methods*, 8, 785-6.
- PEZZILLI, R., CASADEI, R. & SANTINI, D. 2007. Autoimmune pancreatitis associated with anisakis infection. *Dig Liver Dis*, 39, 273.
- POKHAREL, D. R., RAI, R., KUMAR, P., CHATURVEDI, C. M. & RATHAUR, S. 2006. Tissue localization of collagenase and leucine aminopeptidase in the bovine filarial parasite Setaria cervi. *Filaria J*, 5, 7.
- POPESCU, F. D. 2015. Cross-reactivity between aeroallergens and food allergens. World J Methodol, 5, 31-50.
- POZIO, E. 2013. Integrating animal health surveillance and food safety: the example of Anisakis. *Rev Sci Tech*, 32, 487-96.
- PRAVETTONI, V., PRIMAVESI, L. & PIANTANIDA, M. 2012. Anisakis simplex: current knowledge. *Eur Ann Allergy Clin Immunol*, 44, 150-6.
- QIN, Y., ZHAO, Y., REN, Y., ZHENG, L., DAI, X., LI, Y., MAO, W. & CUI, Y. 2013. Anisakiasis in China: the first clinical case report. *Foodborne Pathog Dis*, 10, 472-4.
- QUIAZON, K. M., SANTOS, M. D. & YOSHINAGA, T. 2013a. Anisakis species (Nematoda: Anisakidae) of Dwarf Sperm Whale Kogia sima (Owen, 1866) stranded off the Pacific coast of southern Philippine archipelago. *Vet Parasitol*, 197, 221-30.
- QUIAZON, K. M., ZENKE, K. & YOSHINAGA, T. 2013b. Molecular characterization and comparison of four Anisakis allergens between Anisakis simplex sensu stricto and Anisakis pegreffii from Japan. *Mol Biochem Parasitol*, 190, 23-6.
- RABILLOUD, T. 2012. Silver staining of 2D electrophoresis gels. *Methods Mol Biol*, 893, 61-73.

- RAMANAN, P., BLUMBERG, A. K., MATHISON, B. & PRITT, B. S. 2013. Parametrial anisakidosis. *J Clin Microbiol*, 51, 3430-4.
- RAO, K. V., ESWARAN, M., RAVI, V., GNANASEKHAR, B., NARAYANAN, R. B., KALIRAJ, P., JAYARAMAN, K., MARSON, A., RAGHAVAN, N. & SCOTT, A. L. 2000. The Wuchereria bancrofti orthologue of Brugia malayi SXP1 and the diagnosis of bancroftian filariasis. *Mol Biochem Parasitol*, 107, 71-80.
- RAPOSO, G., NIJMAN, H. W., STOORVOGEL, W., LIEJENDEKKER, R., HARDING, C. V., MELIEF, C. J. & GEUZE, H. J. 1996. B lymphocytes secrete antigen-presenting vesicles. *J Exp Med*, 183, 1161-72.
- RAWLINGS, N. D. 2013. Proteases: Structure and Function, Wien, Springer-Verlag.
- RAWLINGS, N. D., WALLER, M., BARRETT, A. J. & BATEMAN, A. 2014. MEROPS: the database of proteolytic enzymes, their substrates and inhibitors. *Nucleic Acids Res*, 42, D503-9.
- RAYBOURNE, R., DEARDORFF, T. L. & BIER, J. W. 1986. Anisakis simplex: larval excretory secretory protein production and cytostatic action in mammalian cell cultures. *Exp Parasitol*, 62.
- REESE, G., JEOUNG, B. J., DAUL, C. B. & LEHRER, S. B. 1997. Characterization of recombinant shrimp allergen Pen a 1 (tropomyosin). *Int Arch Allergy Immunol*, 113, 240-2.
- REMMERT, M., BIEGERT, A., HAUSER, A. & SODING, J. 2011. HHblits: lightning-fast iterative protein sequence searching by HMM-HMM alignment. *Nat Methods*, 9, 173-5.
- REPISO ORTEGA, A., ALCANTARA TORRES, M., GONZALEZ DE FRUTOS, C., DE ARTAZA VARASA, T., RODRIGUEZ MERLO, R., VALLE MUNOZ, J. & MARTINEZ POTENCIANO, J. L. 2003. [Gastrointestinal anisakiasis. Study of a series of 25 patients]. *Gastroenterol Hepatol*, 26, 341-6.
- ROBINSON, M. W., CORVO, I., JONES, P. M., GEORGE, A. M., PADULA, M. P., TO, J., CANCELA, M., RINALDI, G., TORT, J. F., ROCHE, L. & DALTON, J. P. 2011. Collagenolytic activities of the major secreted cathepsin L peptidases involved in the virulence of the helminth pathogen, Fasciola hepatica. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis*, 5, e1012.
- ROBINSON, M. W., DALTON, J. P. & DONNELLY, S. 2008. Helminth pathogen cathepsin proteases: it's a family affair. *Trends Biochem Sci*, 33, 601-8.
- RODRIGUEZ-MAHILLO, A. I., GONZALEZ-MUNOZ, M., GOMEZ-AGUADO, F., RODRIGUEZ-PEREZ, R., CORCUERA, M. T., CABALLERO, M. L. & MONEO, I. 2007. Cloning and characterisation of the Anisakis simplex allergen Ani s 4 as a cysteine-protease inhibitor. *Int J Parasitol*, 37, 907-17.
- RODRIGUEZ-PEREZ, R., MONEO, I., RODRIGUEZ-MAHILLO, A. & CABALLERO, M. L. 2008. Cloning and expression of Ani s 9, a new Anisakis simplex allergen. *Mol Biochem Parasitol*, 159, 92-7.
- RODRIGUEZ-PEREZ, R., MONSALVE, R. I., GALAN, A., PEREZ-PINAR, T., UMPIERREZ, A., LLUCH-BERNAL, M., POLO, F. & CABALLERO, M. L. 2014. Cross-reactivity between *Anisakis* spp. and wasp venom allergens. *Int Arch Allergy Immunol*, 163, 179-84.
- RODRIGUEZ, E., ANADON, A. M., GARCIA-BODAS, E., ROMARIS, F., IGLESIAS, R., GARATE, T. & UBEIRA, F. M. 2008. Novel sequences and epitopes of diagnostic value derived from the Anisakis simplex Ani s 7 major allergen. *Allergy*, 63, 219-25.
- RODRIGUEZ, E., ROMARIS, F., LORENZO, S., MORENO, J., BONAY, P., UBEIRA, F. M. & GARATE, T. 2006. A recombinant enolase from Anisakis simplex is differentially recognized in natural human and mouse experimental infections. *Med Microbiol Immunol*, 195, 1-10.

- ROGERS, A. H., GUNADI, A., GULLY, N. J. & ZILM, P. S. 1998. An aminopeptidase nutritionally important to Fusobacterium nucleatum. *Microbiology*, 144 (Pt 7), 1807-13.
- ROSCHE, B., WERNECKE, K. D., OHLRAUN, S., DORR, J. M. & PAUL, F. 2013. Trichuris suis ova in relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis and clinically isolated syndrome (TRIOMS): study protocol for a randomized controlled trial. *Trials*, 14, 112.
- ROSENZVIT, M. C., CAMICIA, F., KAMENETZKY, L., MUZULIN, P. M. & GUTIERREZ, A. M. 2006. Identification and intra-specific variability analysis of secreted and membrane-bound proteins from Echinococcus granulosus. *Parasitol Int*, 55 Suppl, S63-7.
- ROSS, M. P., FERGUSON, M., STREET, D., KLONTZ, K., SCHROEDER, T. & LUCCIOLI, S. 2008. Analysis of food-allergic and anaphylactic events in the National Electronic Injury Surveillance System. *J Allergy Clin Immunol*, 121, 166-71.
- RUSHOVICH, A. M., RANDALL, E. L., CAPRINI, J. A. & WESTENFELDER, G. O. 1983. Omental anisakiasis: a rare mimic of acute appendicitis. *Am J Clin Pathol*, 80, 517-20.
- RUYSSERS, N. E., DE WINTER, B. Y., DE MAN, J. G., LOUKAS, A., PEARSON, M. S., WEINSTOCK, J. V., VAN DEN BOSSCHE, R. M., MARTINET, W., PELCKMANS, P. A. & MOREELS, T. G. 2009. Therapeutic potential of helminth soluble proteins in TNBS-induced colitis in mice. *Inflamm Bowel Dis*, 15, 491-500.
- SAITO, W., KAWAKAMI, K., KUROKI, R., MATSUO, H., OISHI, K. & NAGATAKE, T. 2005. Pulmonary anisakiasis presenting as eosinophilic pleural effusion. *Respirology*, 10, 261-2.
- SAITOU, N. & NEI, M. 1987. The neighbor-joining method: a new method for reconstructing phylogenetic trees. *Mol Biol Evol*, 4, 406-25.
- SAKANARI, J. A. & MCKERROW, J. H. 1989. Anisakiasis. Clin Microbiol Rev, 2, 278-84.
- SAKANARI, J. A. & MCKERROW, J. H. 1990. Identification of the secreted neutral proteases from Anisakis simplex. *J Parasitol*, 76, 625-30.
- SALEEM, S. N. & ABDEL-MAGEED, A. B. 2015. Tumor-derived exosomes in oncogenic reprogramming and cancer progression. *Cell Mol Life Sci*, 72, 1-10.
- SANDBORN, W. J., ELLIOTT, D. E., WEINSTOCK, J., SUMMERS, R. W., LANDRY-WHEELER, A., SILVER, N., HARNETT, M. D. & HANAUER, S. B. 2013. Randomised clinical trial: the safety and tolerability of Trichuris suis ova in patients with Crohn's disease. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther*, 38, 255-63.
- SAPTARSHI, S. R., SHARP, M. F., KAMATH, S. D. & LOPATA, A. L. 2014. Antibody reactivity to the major fish allergen parvalbumin is determined by isoforms and impact of thermal processing. *Food Chem*, 148, 321-8.
- SCALA, E., GIANI, M., PIRROTTA, L., GUERRA, E. C., CADONI, S., GIRARDELLI, C. R., DE PITA, O. & PUDDU, P. 2001. Occupational generalised urticaria and allergic airborne asthma due to anisakis simplex. *European Journal of Dermatology*, 11, 249-250.
- SCHEKMAN, R. 2010. Charting the secretory pathway in a simple eukaryote. Mol Biol Cell, 21, 3781-4.
- SEGEL, I. H. 1975. *Enzyme kinetics: behaviour and analysis of rapid equilibrium and steady-state enzyme systems,* New York, John Wiley & Sons Inc., .

- SEREDA, M. J., HARTMANN, S. & LUCIUS, R. 2008. Helminths and allergy: the example of tropomyosin. *Trends Parasitol*, 24, 272-8.
- SHAFIQUE, R. H., INAM, M., ISMAIL, M. & CHAUDHARY, F. R. 2012. Group 10 allergens (tropomyosins) from house-dust mites may cause covariation of sensitization to allergens from other invertebrates. *Allergy Rhinol (Providence)*, 3, e74-90.
- SHAMSI, S. & BUTCHER, A. R. 2011. First report of human anisakidosis in Australia. Med J Aust, 194, 199-200.
- SHAMSI, S., EISENBARTH, A., SAPTARSHI, S., BEVERIDGE, I., GASSER, R. B. & LOPATA, A. L. 2011. Occurrence and abundance of anisakid nematode larvae in five species of fish from southern Australian waters. *Parasitol Res*, 108, 927-34.
- SHAMSI, S., NORMAN, R., GASSER, R. & BEVERIDGE, I. 2009. Genetic and morphological evidences for the existence of sibling species within Contracaecum rudolphii (Hartwich, 1964) (Nematoda: Anisakidae) in Australia. *Parasitol Res*, 105, 529-38.
- SHIRAHAMA, M., KOGA, T., ISHIBASHI, H., UCHIDA, S., OHTA, Y. & SHIMODA, Y. 1992. Intestinal anisakiasis: US in diagnosis. *Radiology*, 185, 789-93.
- SICHERER, S. H. 2001. Clinical implications of cross-reactive food allergens. *J Allergy Clin Immunol*, 108, 881-90.
- SICHERER, S. H. & SAMPSON, H. A. 2006. 9. Food allergy. J Allergy Clin Immunol, 117, S470-5.
- SILVERMAN, J. M., CLOS, J., DE'OLIVEIRA, C. C., SHIRVANI, O., FANG, Y., WANG, C., FOSTER, L. J. & REINER, N. E. 2010. An exosome-based secretion pathway is responsible for protein export from Leishmania and communication with macrophages. *J Cell Sci*, 123, 842-52.
- SIMON-NOBBE, B., PROBST, G., KAJAVA, A. V., OBERKLOFER, H., SUSANI, M., CRAMERI, R., FERREIRA, F., EBNER, C. & BREITENBACH, M. 2000. IgE binding epitopes of enolases, a class of highly conserved fungal allergens. J Allergy Clin Immunol, 106, 887-895.
- SIMONS, M. & RAPOSO, G. 2009. Exosomes--vesicular carriers for intercellular communication. *Curr Opin Cell Biol*, 21, 575-81.
- SIMPSON, R. J., LIM, J. W. E., MORITZ, R. L. & MATHIVANAN, S. 2009. Exosomes: Proteomic insights and diagnostic potential. *Expert Rev. Proteomics*, 6, 267-283.
- SINGH, B. P., SINHA, S. & ARORA, N. 2008. Cross reactive allergens: status and their clinical implications. *Indian J Allergy Asthma Immunol*, 22, 105-118.
- SKINNER-ADAMS, T. S., PEATEY, C. L., ANDERSON, K., TRENHOLME, K. R., KRIGE, D., BROWN, C. L., STACK, C., NSANGOU, D. M., MATHEWS, R. T., THIVIERGE, K., DALTON, J. P. & GARDINER, D. L. 2012. The aminopeptidase inhibitor CHR-2863 is an orally bioavailable inhibitor of murine malaria. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*, 56, 3244-9.
- SMITH, J. W. & WOOTTEN, R. 1978. Anisakis and anisakiasis. Adv Parasitol, 16, 93-163.
- SMITH, P., FALLON, R. E., MANGAN, N. E., WALSH, C. M., SARAIVA, M., SAYERS, J. R., MCKENZIE, A. N., ALCAMI, A. & FALLON, P. G. 2005. Schistosoma mansoni secretes a chemokine binding protein with antiinflammatory activity. J Exp Med, 202, 1319-25.

- SMITH, P., MANGAN, N. E., WALSH, C. M., FALLON, R. E., MCKENZIE, A. N., VAN ROOIJEN, N. & FALLON, P. G. 2007. Infection with a helminth parasite prevents experimental colitis via a macrophagemediated mechanism. *J Immunol*, 178, 4557-66.
- SONG, E., RAJESH, T., LEE, B. R., KIM, E. J., JEON, J. M., PARK, S. H., PARK, H. Y., CHOI, K. Y., KIM, Y. G., YANG, Y. H. & KIM, B. G. 2013. Deletion of an architectural unit, leucyl aminopeptidase (SCO2179), in Streptomyces coelicolor increases actinorhodin production and sporulation. *Appl Microbiol Biotechnol*, 97, 6823-33.
- SONG, S. M., PARK, J. H., KIM, J., KIM, S. I., HONG, Y. C., KONG, H. H. & CHUNG, D. I. 2008. Identification and characterization of Paragonimus westermani leucine aminopeptidase. *Parasitol Int*, 57, 334-41.
- SOTILLO, J., PEARSON, M., POTRIQUET, J., BECKER, L., PICKERING, D., MULVENNA, J. & LOUKAS, A. 2016. Extracellular vesicles secreted by Schistosoma mansoni contain protein vaccine candidates. *Int J Parasitol*, 46, 1-5.
- SOTILLO, J., VALERO, M. L., SANCHEZ DEL PINO, M. M., FRIED, B., ESTEBAN, J. G., MARCILLA, A. & TOLEDO, R. 2010. Excretory/secretory proteome of the adult stage of Echinostoma caproni. *Parasitol Res*, 107, 691-7.
- SOTTRUP-JENSEN, L. 1989. Alpha-macroglobulins: structure, shape, and mechanism of proteinase complex formation. *J Biol Chem*, 264, 11539-42.
- STACK, C. M., LOWTHER, J., CUNNINGHAM, E., DONNELLY, S., GARDINER, D. L., TRENHOLME, K. R., SKINNER-ADAMS, T. S., TEUSCHER, F., GREMBECKA, J., MUCHA, A., KAFARSKI, P., LUA, L., BELL, A. & DALTON, J. P. 2007. Characterization of the Plasmodium falciparum M17 leucyl aminopeptidase. A protease involved in amino acid regulation with potential for antimalarial drug development. J Biol Chem, 282, 2069-80.
- STEEL, C., LIMBERGER, R. J., MCREYNOLDS, L. A., OTTESEN, E. A. & NUTMAN, T. B. 1990. B cell responses to paramyosin. Isotypic analysis and epitope mapping of filarial paramyosin in patients with onchocerciasis. *The Journal of Immunology*, 145, 3917.
- STEPHEN, J. N., SHARP, M. F., RUETHERS, T., TAKI, A., CAMPBELL, D. E. & LOPATA, A. L. 2017. Allergenicity of bony and cartilaginous fish - molecular and immunological properties. *Clin Exp Allergy*, 47, 300-312.
- STRACHAN, D. P. 1989. Hay fever, hygiene, and household size. Bmj, 299, 1259-60.
- SUGANE, K., SUN, S. & MATSUURA, T. 1992. Molecular cloning of the cDNA encoding a 42 kDa antigenic polypeptide of Anisakis simplex larvae. *J Helminthol*, 66, 25-32.
- SUZUKI, J., MURATA, R., HOSAKA, M. & ARAKI, J. 2010. Risk factors for human Anisakis infection and association between the geographic origins of Scomber japonicus and anisakid nematodes. *Int J Food Microbiol*, 137, 88-93.
- TACON, A. G. & METIAN, M. 2008. Aquaculture feed and food safety. Ann N Y Acad Sci, 1140, 50-9.
- TAKEUCHI, K., HANAI, H., IIDA, T., SUZUKI, S. & ISOBE, S. 2000. A bleeding gastric ulcer on a vanishing tumor caused by anisakiasis. *Gastrointest Endosc*, 52, 549-51.
- TAMURA, K., STECHER, G., PETERSON, D., FILIPSKI, A. & KUMAR, S. 2013. MEGA6: Molecular Evolutionary Genetics Analysis version 6.0. *Mol Biol Evol*, 30, 2725-9.

- TAYLOR, M. D., VAN DER WERF, N. & MAIZELS, R. M. 2012. T cells in helminth infection: the regulators and the regulated. *Trends Immunol*, 33, 181-9.
- TETTEH, K. K., CAVANAGH, D. R., CORRAN, P., MUSONDA, R., MCBRIDE, J. S. & CONWAY, D. J. 2005. Extensive antigenic polymorphism within the repeat sequence of the Plasmodium falciparum merozoite surface protein 1 block 2 is incorporated in a minimal polyvalent immunogen. *Infect Immun*, 73, 5928-35.
- THERY, C., AMIGORENA, S., RAPOSO, G. & CLAYTON, A. 2006. Isolation and characterization of exosomes from cell culture supernatants and biological fluids. *Curr Protoc Cell Biol*, Chapter 3, Unit 3.22.
- THERY, C., ZITVOGEL, L. & AMIGORENA, S. 2002. Exosomes: composition, biogenesis and function. *Nat Rev Immunol*, 2, 569-79.
- THOMAS, W. R., SMITH, W. A., HALES, B. J., MILLS, K. L. & O'BRIEN, R. M. 2002. Characterization and immunobiology of house dust mite allergens. *Int Arch Allergy Immunol*, 129, 1-18.
- THONG, B. Y., CHENG, Y. K., LEONG, K. P., TANG, C. Y. & CHNG, H. H. 2007. Immediate food hypersensitivity among adults attending a clinical immunology/allergy centre in Singapore. *Singapore Med J*, 48, 236-40.
- TKACH, M. & THÉRY, C. 2016. Communication by Extracellular Vesicles: Where We Are and Where We Need to Go. *Cell*, 164, 1226-1232.
- TOMM, J. M., DO, T. V., JENDE, C., SIMON, J. C., TREUDLER, R., BERGEN, M. V. & AVERBECK, M. 2013. Identification of New Potential Allergens from Nile Perch (*Lates niloticus*) and Cod (*Gadus morhua*). J Investig Allergol Clin Immunol, 23, 159-167.
- TRINCHIERI, G. & GEROSA, F. 1996. Immunoregulation by interleukin-12. J Leukoc Biol, 59, 505-11.
- TRITTEN, L., TAM, M., VARGAS, M., JARDIM, A., STEVENSON, M. M., KEISER, J. & GEARY, T. G. 2017. Excretory/secretory products from the gastrointestinal nematode Trichuris muris. *Experimental Parasitology*, 178, 30-36.
- TYTGAT, T., VERCAUTEREN, I., VANHOLME, B., DE MEUTTER, J., VANHOUTTE, I., GHEYSEN, G., BORGONIE, G., COOMANS, A. & GHEYSEN, G. 2005a. An SXP/RAL-2 protein produced by the subventral pharyngeal glands in the plant parasitic root-knot nematode Meloidogyne incognita. *Parasitol Res*, 95, 50-4.
- TYTGAT, T., VERCAUTEREN, I., VANHOLME, B., MEUTTER, J. D., VANHOUTTE, I., GHEYSEN, G., BORGONIE, G., COOMANS, A. & AN, S. X. P. 2005b. RAL-2 protein produced by the subventral pharyngeal glands in the plant parasitic root-knot nematode Meloidogyne incognita. *Parasitol Res*, 95, 50-54.
- UBEIRA, F., VALINAS, B., LORENZO, S., IGLESIAS, R., FIGUEIRAS, A. & GARCIA-VILLAESCUSA, R. 2000. Anisaquiosis y alergia. Un estudio seroepidemiológico en la Comunidad Autónoma Gallega. Xunta de Galicia. Documentos Técnicos de Saúde Pública Serie B.
- ULOA, A. & RODRIGUEZ, R. 2008. Bioinformatic tools for proteomic data analysis: an overview *Biotechnologia Aplicada*, 25, 312-19.
- UMEHARA, A., KAWAKAMI, Y., ARAKI, J. & UCHIDA, A. 2007. Molecular identification of the etiological agent of the human anisakiasis in Japan. *Parasitol Int*, 56, 211-5.

- UMEHARA, A., KAWAKAMI, Y., MATSUI, T., ARAKI, J. & UCHIDA, A. 2006. Molecular identification of Anisakis simplex sensu stricto and Anisakis pegreffii (Nematoda: Anisakidae) from fish and cetacean in Japanese waters. *Parasitol Int*, 55, 267-71.
- UNIPROT 2015. UniProt: a hub for protein information. Nucleic Acids Res, 43, D204-12.
- URBANELLI, L., MAGINI, A., BURATTA, S., BROZZI, A., SAGINI, K., POLCHI, A., TANCINI, B. & EMILIANI, C. 2013. Signaling pathways in exosomes biogenesis, secretion and fate. *Genes (Basel)*, 4, 152-70.
- VALADI, H., EKSTROM, K., BOSSIOS, A., SJOSTRAND, M., LEE, J. J. & LOTVALL, J. O. 2007. Exosomemediated transfer of mRNAs and microRNAs is a novel mechanism of genetic exchange between cells. *Nat Cell Biol*, 9, 654-9.
- VALDIVIESO, E., PERTEGUER, M. J., HURTADO, C., CAMPIOLI, P., RODRIGUEZ, E., SABORIDO, A., MARTINEZ-SERNANDEZ, V., GOMEZ-PUERTAS, P., UBEIRA, F. M. & GARATE, T. 2015. ANISERP: a new serpin from the parasite Anisakis simplex. *Parasit Vectors*, 8, 399.
- VALERO, A., TERRADOS, S., DIAZ, V., REGUERA, V. & LOZANO, J. 2003. Determination of IgE in the serum of patients with allergic reactions to four species of fish-parasite anisakids. *J Investig Allergol Clin Immunol*, 13, 94-8.
- VALLE, J., LOPERA, E., SÁNCHEZ, M. E., LERMA, R. & RUIZ, J. L. 2012. Spontaneous splenic rupture and Anisakis appendicitis presenting as abdominal pain: a case report. *Journal of Medical Case Reports*, 6, 114-114.
- VALLS, A., PASCUAL, C. Y., MARTIN, E. M. & CAVANNA, J. 2003. Anisakis and anisakiosis. *Allergol Immunopathol (Madr)*, 31, 348-55.
- VALMONTE, G. R., CAUYAN, G. A. & RAMOS, J. D. 2012. IgE cross-reactivity between house dust mite allergens and Ascaris lumbricoides antigens. *Asia Pac Allergy*, 2, 35-44.
- VAN DER KLEIJ, D., LATZ, E., BROUWERS, J. F., KRUIZE, Y. C., SCHMITZ, M., KURT-JONES, E. A., ESPEVIK, T., DE JONG, E. C., KAPSENBERG, M. L., GOLENBOCK, D. T., TIELENS, A. G. & YAZDANBAKHSH, M. 2002. A novel host-parasite lipid cross-talk. Schistosomal lysophosphatidylserine activates toll-like receptor 2 and affects immune polarization. *J Biol Chem*, 277, 48122-9.
- VAN NIEL, G., PORTO-CARREIRO, I., SIMOES, S. & RAPOSO, G. 2006. Exosomes: a common pathway for a specialized function. *J Biochem*, 140, 13-21.
- VAN RIET, E., HARTGERS, F. C. & YAZDANBAKHSH, M. 2007. Chronic helminth infections induce immunomodulation: consequences and mechanisms. *Immunobiology*, 212, 475-90.
- VAN THIEL, P., KUIPERS, F. C. & ROSKAM, R. T. 1960. A nematode parasitic to herring, causing acute abdominal syndromes in man. *Trop Geogr Med*, 12, 97-113.
- VAUDEL, M., BARSNES, H., BERVEN, F. S., SICKMANN, A. & MARTENS, L. 2011. SearchGUI: An opensource graphical user interface for simultaneous OMSSA and X!Tandem searches. *Proteomics*, 11, 996-9.
- VENTURA, M. T., TUMMOLO, R. A., DI LEO, E., D'ERSASMO, M. & ARSIENI, A. 2008. Immediate and cellmediated reactions in parasitic infections by Anisakis simplex. J Investig Allergol Clin Immunol, 18, 253-9.

- VICTOR, B., KANOBANA, K., GABRIEL, S., POLMAN, K., DECKERS, N., DORNY, P., DEELDER, A. M. & PALMBLAD, M. 2012. Proteomic analysis of Taenia solium metacestode excretion-secretion proteins. *Proteomics*, 12, 1860-9.
- VIDAČEK, S., DE LAS HERAS, C., SOLAS, M. T., MENDIZÁBAL, A., RODRIGUEZ-MAHILLO, A. I., GONZÁLEZ-MUÑOZ, M. & TEJADA, M. 2009. Anisakis simplex allergens remain active after conventional or microwave heating and pepsin treatments of chilled and frozen L3 larvae. J. Sci. Food Agric, 89, 1997-2002.
- VIRGINIO, V. G., MONTEIRO, K. M., DRUMOND, F., DE CARVALHO, M. O., VARGAS, D. M., ZAHA, A. & FERREIRA, H. B. 2012. Excretory/secretory products from in vitro-cultured Echinococcus granulosus protoscoleces. *Mol Biochem Parasitol*, 183, 15-22.
- WANG, L., LI, Z., SHEN, J., LIU, Z., LIANG, J., WU, X., SUN, X. & WU, Z. 2015. Exosome-like vesicles derived by Schistosoma japonicum adult worms mediates M1 type immune- activity of macrophage. *Parasitol Res*, 114, 1865-73.
- WEINSTOCK, J. V., SUMMERS, R. W., ELLIOTT, D. E., QADIR, K., URBAN, J. F., JR. & THOMPSON, R. 2002. The possible link between de-worming and the emergence of immunological disease. *J Lab Clin Med*, 139, 334-8.
- WERNER, M. T., FÆSTE, C. K., LEVSEN, A. & EGAAS, E. 2011. A quantitative sandwich ELISA for the detection of Anisakis simplex protein in seafood. *European Food Research and Technology*, 232, 157-166.
- WHELAN, M., HARNETT, M. M., HOUSTON, K. M., PATEL, V., HARNETT, W. & RIGLEY, K. P. 2000. A filarial nematode-secreted product signals dendritic cells to acquire a phenotype that drives development of Th2 cells. *J Immunol*, 164, 6453-60.
- WHITE, R. R. & ARTAVANIS-TSAKONAS, K. 2012. How helminths use excretory secretory fractions to modulate dendritic cells. *Virulence*, 3, 668-77.
- WILD, L. G. & LEHRER, S. B. 2005. Fish and shellfish allergy. Curr Allergy Asthma Rep, 5, 74-9.
- WILLMS, E., JOHANSSON, H. J., MÄGER, I., LEE, Y., BLOMBERG, K. E. M., SADIK, M., ALAARG, A., SMITH, C. I. E., LEHTIÖ, J., EL ANDALOUSSI, S., WOOD, M. J. A. & VADER, P. 2016. Cells release subpopulations of exosomes with distinct molecular and biological properties. *Scientific Reports*, 6, 22519.
- XU, Y. Z. & DRESDEN, M. H. 1986. Leucine aminopeptidase and hatching of Schistosoma mansoni eggs. J *Parasitol*, 72, 507-11.
- YATSUDA, A. P., KRIJGSVELD, J., CORNELISSEN, A. W., HECK, A. J. & DE VRIES, E. 2003. Comprehensive analysis of the secreted proteins of the parasite Haemonchus contortus reveals extensive sequence variation and differential immune recognition. *J Biol Chem*, 278, 16941-51.
- YEUM, C. H., MA, S. K., KIM, S. W., KIM, N. H., KIM, J. & CHOI, K. C. 2002. Incidental detection of an Anisakis larva in continuous ambulatory peritoneal dialysis effluent. *Nephrol Dial Transplant*, 17, 1522-3.
- ZACCONE, P. & COOKE, A. 2013. Helminth mediated modulation of Type 1 diabetes (T1D). *Int J Parasitol*, 43, 311-8.
- ZANG, X., YAZDANBAKHSH, M., JIANG, H., KANOST, R. M. & MAIZELS, R. M. 1999. A novel serpin expressed by blood-borne microfilariae of the parasitic nematode Brugia malayi inhibits human neutrophil serine proteinases. *Blood*, 94, 1418-28.

- ZHU, L., LIU, J., DAO, J., LU, K., LI, H., GU, H., LIU, J., FENG, X. & CHENG, G. 2016. Molecular characterization of S. japonicum exosome-like vesicles reveals their regulatory roles in parasite-host interactions. *Sci Rep*, 6, 25885.
- ZHU, X., GASSER, R. B., PODOLSKA, M. & CHILTON, N. B. 1998. Characterisation of anisakid nematodes with zoonotic potential by nuclear ribosomal DNA sequences. *Int J Parasitol*, 28, 1911-21.
- ZUCKERKANDL, E. & PAULING, L. 1965. Evolutionary Divergence and Convergence in Proteins. *Evolving Genes and Proteins*. Academic Press.

APPENDIX 1

General Materials

All reagents and chemicals used were analytical laboratory reagent grade. Solutions were prepared in deionised water obtained by filtration through a Millipore Milli-Q-water system (Liquipure, Melbourne, Australia) except where stated otherwise. Glasswares used, were initially washed with Pyroneg detergent (Diverey Pty Ltd, Melbourne, Australia), rinsed in tap water and subsequently in deionised water. All reagents, media, pipette tips, microcentrifuge tubes, dissecting instruments and glassware were sterilised by autoclaving at (121°C for 15 min) standard conditions, except stated otherwise. Unautoclaveable solutions that required sterilization were filter sterilized using 0.45µm or 0.22µM filter as specified for the reagent. Solutions were dispensed using Finnpipette (Pathtech, Australia). The pipettes were calibrated regularly following manufacturer's recommendation.

Reagents and Equipment used are herein detailed

Reagents	Suppliers
λ -DNA stored at -20° C.	Promega, Australia.
Acetic acid, glacial.	Sigma-Aldrich Pty, Australia.
Acetone.	Sigma-Aldrich Pty, Australia.
Acrylamide/bisacrylamide 40% solution.	Australia Scientific, Australia.
Agarose (w/v) DNA grade.	Bioline, Australia.
Alkaline phosphatase (calf intestinal).	Sigma-Aldrich Pty, Australia.
Alkaline phosphatase conjugates substrate kit.	Biorad, Australia.
Ammonium acetate.	Ajax Chemicals Ltd, Australia.
Ammonium chloride.	BDH, Chemicals, Australia.
Ammonium hydroxide (NH ₄ OH).	Sigma-Aldrich Pty, Australia.
Ammonium persulphate (APS).	Bio-Rad Laboratories, USA.
Ammonium sulphate.	Sigma-Aldrich Pty, Ltd. MO, USA.
Bacteriological agar.	Neogen, USA.
B-mercaptoethanol.	Bio-Rad, Australia.
Bovine serum albumin, fraction V (BSA).	Sigma-Aldrich Pty, Australia.
Bradford reagent.	Sigma-Aldrich Pty, Australia.
Bromophenol blue.	Sigma-Aldrich Pty, Ltd, MO, USA.
Brilliant Blue G.	Sigma-Aldrich Pty, Ltd, MO, USA.
Chelating Sepharose.	GE Healthcare.
Chemiluminescent Peroxidase Substrate-3.	Sigma-Aldrich Pty, Ltd, MO, USA.
Chloroform.	Ajax Chemicals Ltd, Australia.
Coomassie brilliant blue R-250 (w/v).	Bio-Rad Laboratories, USA.

Copper sulphate.	Merck, Australia.	
Cover-slips.	Mediglass, Australia.	
Cryovials (1.8ml).	Naglene Company, USA.	
Dimethylsulphoxide (DMSO).	Merck, Australia.	
DNA Ligase (T4).	New England Biolab, Australia.	
DNase I (bovine pancreas, grade 1).	Boehringer Mannheim, Germany.	
EDTA.	Merck, Australia.	
Ethanol (analytic).	Merck, Australia.	
Ethidium bromide.	Sigma-Aldrich Pty, Ltd, MO, USA.	
Glacial acetic acid (v/v).	BDH Chemicals, Australia.	
Glucose.	Merck, Australia.	
Glycerol.	Merck, Australia.	
Glycine.	BDH Chemicals, Australia.	
Hydrochloric acid 32%.	Ajax Chemicals Ltd., Australia.	
Imidazole.	Sigma Aldrich.	
Immobilised Metal Affinity Chromatography	Qiagen.	
Column (IMAC).		
Isopropyl- β -D-thiogalactopyranosider (IPTG).	Bioline, Australia.	
Isoamyl alcohol.	BDH Chemicals, Australia.	
ISOLATE II Plasmid Mini Kit.	Bioline, Australia.	

Reagents	Suppliers
ISOLATE II PCR and Gel Kit.	Bioline, Australia.
ISOLATE II RNA Mini Kit .	Bioline, Australia.
Isopropanol.	Merck, Australia.
Kanamycin.	CSL, Australia.
Lambda DNA.	New England Biolab, Australia.
Lysozyme.	Boehringer Mannheim, Germany.
Magnesium chloride (Hexahydrate).	BDH Chemicals, Australia.
Methanol.	BDH Chemicals, Australia.
Microscope slides.	LOMB Scientific Co., Australia.
Microtitre plate (96, 48, 24, 12-wells).	Nunc denmark
Needle sterile (18G, 19G, 21G, 26G).	Terumo Pty, Ltd, Australia.
Newborn calf Serum (NCS).	Thermofischer, Australia.
Nickel Sulphate.	BDH Chemicals, Australia.
Nitrocellulose membrane (Hybond-C).	Amersham, USA.
Paraffin.	BDH Chemicals, Australia.
Petri dish.	Nunc, Denmark.
Phenol.	BDH Chemicals, Australia.
Phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride (PMSF).	Sigma chemicals, Co., Australia.
Phosphate buffer saline (PBS) tablets.	Oxoid limited, England.
Potassium chloride.	BDH Chemicals, Australia.
Pre-stained Protein Molecular Weight Marker.	Bio-Rad Laboratories, USA.
Protein standards (SDS gel marker).	Bio-Rad Laboratories, USA.
Proteinase K.	Promega, Australia.

Restriction enzymes.	Promega, Australia.
RNase.	Boehringer Mannheim, Germany.
Roswell Park Memorial Institute (RPMI) 1640	Thermofischer, Australia (Gibco).
Medium with 10 mM L-glutamine.	
Skim milk.	Bonlac Foods Limited, Australia.
Sodium acetate (NaOAc).	BDH Chemicals, Australia.
Sodium chloride NaCl (w/v).	BDH Chemicals, Australia.
Sodium citrate (dihydrate).	BDH Chemicals, Australia.
Sodium dihydrogen phosphate (NaH ₂ PO ₄).	BDH Chemicals, Australia.
Sodium dodecyl sulphate (SDS).	BDH Chemicals, Australia.
Sodium hydroxide (NaOH).	BDH Chemicals, Australia.
TEMED	Bio-Rad Laboratories, USA.
(N,N, N',N'-tetramethylethylenediamine).	
Tetro cDNA Synthesis Kit.	Bioline, Australia.
Tricine.	BDH Chemicals, Australia
Tris hydroxymethyl amino methane (Tris-) base.	Boehringer Mannheim, Germany.
Tris-HCL.	Boehringer Mannheim, Germany.
Triton-X-100.	Sigma-Aldrich Pty, Ltd, MO, USA.
Tryptone.	Oxoid, UK.
Tween-20.	BDH Chemicals, Australia.
Unstained Protein Molecular Weight Marker.	Bio-Rad Laboratories, USA.
Whatman blotting paper.	Whatman, England
Wizard® Genomic DNA Purification Kit.	Promega, WI, USA.
Yeast extracts.	Oxoid, UK.

Equipment/Materials	Supplier
Camera (135 mm Polaroid MP4 Land Camera).	Polaroid, USA.
Cellulose Acetate Filter (0.65 µm).	Sartorius GMBH, Germany.
DNA Thermocycler (for PCR).	G-Storm, England.
GELDOC system.	Bio-Rad Laboratories, USA.
pH meter.	Metrohm, Swiss.
Sonicator.	Branson Sonic Power Co., USA.
Syringe (1 ml, 5 ml, 10 ml, 20 ml, 50 ml).	Terumo Pty, Ltd., Australia.
Trans-blot electrophoretic transfer cell.	Bio-Rad Laboratories, USA.
Transilluminator (Novaline UV).	Novex Australia Pty Ltd.
Vortex mixer (V ml).	Ratek Instruments, Australia.
Balances:	
Analytical balance.	Sartorius GMBH, Germany.
Balance (0.1-500 g).	U-Lab, Australia.
Centrifuges:	
Microcentrifuge (EBA12).	Zentrifugen, Germany.
Bench top centrifuge (Centaur 2).	Graykon Scientific.
High-speed centrifuge (L2-21 M/E).	Beckman, USA.
Ultra-speed centrifuge (L8-80M).	Beckman, USA.
Centrifuge tubes:	
1.5 ml Eppendorf centrifuge tubes.	Sarstedt, Germany.
10 ml centrifuge tubes.	Labortechnik, Germany.
15 ml centrifuge tubes.	Labortechnik, Germany.
50 ml centrifuge tubes.	Labortechnik, Germany.

Electrophoresis Power Supply:	
PowerPac Basic.	Bio-Rad Laboratories, USA.
EPS 3000xi.	Bio-Rad Laboratories, USA.
Electrophoresis Units:	
DNA-Mini gel cast plate.	Bio-rad Laboratories, USA.
Protein - Mini Protean II gel system.	Bio-rad Laboratories, USA.
Filters:	
Syringe Filters (0.22µm, 0.45µm).	Gelman Sciences, USA.
Ultrafiltration-unit filters (XM, YM).	Amicon, USA.
Incubators:	
Bellsouth 100 still air incubator.	Bellsouth, USA.
Tissue culture (5 % CO2).	Forma Scientific, USA.
Microscopes:	
Light microscope.	Olympus Optical Co., Japan.
Phase contrast microscope.	Nikon Kogaku KK, Japan.
Stereomicrosocope.	Olympus Optical Co., Japan.
FEI Quanta 200 ESEM (ESEM TM) or the XL 30	Philips.
scanning Electron Microscope.	

General Chemicals and Stock Solutions.

Agarose Gel Electrophoresis.

(i). 0.5 M EDTA pH 8.0 (1L).

186.1g of disodium EDTA (NA₂ EDTA).

800 ml Milli-Q water.

Adjust pH of to 8 with NaOH. (~50ml of NaOH).

Bring volume to 1 L with Milli-Q water.

Stir vigorously on a magnetic stirrer and autoclave.

Store at room temperature.

(ii). 50X TAE Running Buffer

242 g Tris base.

- 100 ml 0.5M EDTA pH 8.
- 57.1 ml Glacial acetic acid.
- 900 ml Milli-Q water.

Adjust pH to 8.5 with glacial acetic acid.

Bring to final volume to 1 L with Milli-Q water.

To prepare 1L of 1X TAE, measure 100 ml of 10X TAE and make it up to 1L with 900 ml Milli-Q water.

(Grandea et al.). 1% agarose gel electrophoresis.

1 g Agarose.
100 ml 1X TAE buffer.

Melt in microwave for 2 min.

Cast gel in gel trays and wait to set.

(iv). 5X loading dye for agarose gels.

50 ml 50% glycerol.

10 ml 0.5 M EDTA pH 8.

5 ml 1M Tris pH 7.5.

Add 35 ml Milli-Q water to total 100 ml.

Protein Methods.

SDS-PAGE Stock Solutions.

(i). 2M Tris-HCI (pH=8.8), 100ml.

24.2gm Tris (hydroxymethy1) aminomethane.

50ml Milli-Q water.

Adjust pH of to 8.8 with HCL, and bring up the volume to 100 ml with Milli-Q water.

(ii) 1M Tris-HCI (pH=6.8), 100ml.

12.1gm Tris (hydroxymethy1) aminomethane.

50ml Milli-Q water.

Adjust pH of to 6.8 with HCL, and bring up the volume to 100 ml with Milli-Q water.

(Grandea et al.). 10% SDS (W/V), 100 ml.

1g Sodium Dodeyl Sulfate (SDS).

Milli-Q water to total volume of 100 ml.

(iv). 50% Glycerol (v/v), 100 ml.

50ml 100% Glycerol.

50ml Milli-Q water.

(v). 10X Gel Electrophoresis Running Buffer (2 Litter).

60 g Tris base.

288 g Glycine.

20 g SDS.

1.6 L Milli-Q water.

Adjust pH of to 8.3 with HCL, and bring up the volume to 2 L with Milli-Q water.

(vi). 1% Bromophenol Blue (w/v), 10ml.

100 mg Bromophenol Blue.

Milli-Q water to total volume of 10 ml.

SDS-PAGE Working Solutions

(i). 10 % Ammonium Presulphate, (10% APS).

50µg Ammonium Presulphate.

500µl Milli-Q water.

(ii). 1X Gel Electrophoresis Running Buffer.

100 ml 10X Gel Electrophoresis Running Buffer.

900 ml Milli-Q water.

(Grandea et al.). 5X Sample Buffer.

0.6 ml 1M Tris (pH 6.8).

5 ml 50% Glycerol.

2 ml 10% SDS.

0.5 ml 2-mercaptoethanol.

0.5 ml 1% Bromophenol Blue.

0.9 ml Milli-Q water.

SDS-PAGE Gel (1 gel).

(i). 12% Resolving gel.

3.13ml of 30% Acrylamide stock.

1.88ml of 1.5M Tris-HCL pH 8.8.

0.08ml of 10%SDS.

2.38ml of MG water.

37.5µl of 10% w/v APS.

 $2.5\mu l$ of TEMED.

(ii) 5% Stacking gel.

0.33 ml of 30% Acrylamide stock.

0.63 ml of 0.5 M Tris-HCL pH 6.8.

0.03 ml of 10%SDS.

1.50 ml of MG water.

12.5µl of 10% w/v APS.

 $1.25\mu l$ of TEMED.

Processing Gel after an SDS-PAGE run

(i). Coomassie Staining Solution (1 gel).

50 mg Coomassie Staining blue R220.

10 ml 100% Methanol.

5 ml 100% Acetic acid.

35 ml Milli-Q water.

(ii). Destaining Solution (1 L).

500 ml Methanol.

300 ml Milli-Q water.

100 ml of Acetic acid.

Adjust the total volume to 1000 ml with Milli-Q water.

(Grandea et al.). Gel Storage Solution (5% Acetic acid).

5 ml of Acetic acid.

95 ml Milli-Q water.

(iv). 10X PBS (Phosphate-Buffered Saline) Buffer (pH=7.4).

80 g Sodium chloride.

14.4g Sodium Phosphate dibasic (Na₂HPO4).

2.4g Potassium dihydrogen phosphate (KH₂PO4).

2g Potassium chloride (KCL).

Dissolve all together in 800 mL Milli-Q water, pH 7.4 adjusted with HCL.

Bring volume to 1L with Milli-Q water; stored at RT.

To prepare 1L of 1X PBS.

Measure 100ml of 10X PBS and make it up to 1L with Milli-Q water (900ml).

(v). 10X TBS (Tris-Buffered Saline) Buffer (pH=7.4).

30g Tris base.

2g Potassium chloride (KCL).

80 g Sodium chloride.

Dissolve all together in 800 mL Milli-Q water.

Bring volume to 1L with Milli-Q water; store at RT.

To prepare 1L of 1X TBS.

Measure 100ml of 10X TBS and make it up to 1L with Milli-Q water (900ml).

(vi). PBS 0.5 Tween

A 500µl Tween-20 was dissolved in 1LX PBS; stored at RT.

(Nampijja et al.). TBS 0.5 Tween

A 500µl Tween-20 was dissolved in 1LX TBS; stored at RT.

Processing Gel for Immunoblotting

(i). Membrane blocking Buffer (5% skim milk or 5% BSA), 100 ml.

5g skim milk or Bovine serum albumin.

100 ml TBS 0.5 Tween.

(ii) Antibodies dilution buffer, 100 ml.

1% skim milk/BSA TBS 0.5 Tween (1g skim milk/BSA + 100ml TBS 0.5 Tween) or

1% skim milk/BSA PBS 0.5 Tween (1g skim milk/BSA + 100ml TBS 0.5 Tween).

Cloning

10 X Potassium phosphate Stock (Should be filter sterilized).

 $170 \text{ mM KH}_2\text{PO}_4 - 2.31\text{g}/100\text{mL}.$

720 mM K₂HPO₄ - 12.5 g/100mL.

20% Glucose stock (Should be filter sterilized through 0.22 µm filter).

10 g in 50mL of MilliQ Water.

Terrific broth buffer recipe table

Ingredients	Final concentration required	Pre-induction TB media (200 mL)	Recombinant expression TB media (200 mL)	
Tryptone	1.2% w/v	2.4 g	2.4 g	
Yeast extract	2.4% w/v	4.8 g	4.8 g	
Glycerol	0.4% v/v	800 µL	800 μL	
10X [KH2PO4 (170mM) K2HPO4 (720 mM)]	17 mM 72 mM	20 mL	10 mL	
20% Glucose	2% w/v	20mL	DON'T ADD	
MilliQ water	Upto required volume	Upto 200 mL	Upto 200 mL	
IPTG 1M (238mg/mL)	1 mM	DON'T ADD	200 uL	
pH adjusted to 7.2- 7.4				

Lysis Buffer.

0.1M Tris 0.5M Glycine Buffer (pH=8.7), 100ml.

1.2114gm Tris (hydrooxymethy1) aminomethane.

3.75gm Glycine.

Dissolve all together in 80 mL Milli-Q water, adust pH to 7.4 with HCL.

Bring volume to 100ml with Milli-Q water; store at RT.

25mM Tris-HCL (pH8.0)

300mM NaCL

1mg/ml or 2mg/ml lysozyme (freshly prepared)

1mM or 2mM imidazole

Store at 4°C.

APPENDIX 2

Molecular Markers



10-20% Tris-Tricine

Sigma Aldrich–Colour burst Electrophoresis Marker



Hyperladder 1 11 1KB (Bioline)



Blue protein standard broad range marker (NEB)



Precision Plus Protein[™] Kaleidoscope[™] Prestained Protein Standards (Biorad)



Unstained Protein Standards (Biorad)

Sequences of Lap-2 of A. simplex and A. pegreffii

>tr|A0A0M3KDK6|A0A0M3KDK6_ANISI Putative aminopeptidase (inferred by orthology to a C. elegans protein) OS=Anisakis simplex OX=6269 PE=4 SV=1 MIVVFSLLSAPLDLAKSLSEPTSDGVIVVSYCAKQLAECAPLKSLAPVVSEYLQLNAGAN NTASLIVVDKSVVPSGRLVYSGTGPVTRDQDDVRRFSTAARNAMKLALSAGMKSPILVTV PHQKYPQAELVAALGALHELHIPLNVREESEQKTKLSALALLPVSYEASKFLRLVQTIEA AFTVCRDIGDADPQRMSPPKVAEYVEEIFRGGCVKVRVTSDAKEIEREYPLMIAVNRASM GIEAHRPRLIALEYIPEGPIEETIMLVGKGNGRRPYCSSQLPNSSAGLHGQMAQLKNHYS RMKYLNYYL

>A. pegreffii LAP-2 (CL3092.Contig1_AP1A) EESEQKTKLSALALLPVSYEASKFLRLVQTIEAAFTVCRDIGDADPQRMSPPKVAEYVEEIFR GGCVKVHVTSDAKEIEREYPLMIAVNRASMGIEAHRPRLIALEYIPEGPIEETIMLVGKGVTL DMGGADLKLHGAMYGMSSDKYGSAIVAGFFKALEVLRPKGIKVLGYMSMVRNALGADA YTTDEVIKSRSGKRIQICNTDAEGRLIMLDPLTKMRELAVNEKNPHLFTLATLTGHVILSNG

> Sequenced Leucine Aminopeptidase A. pegreffü Nucleotide sequence 3' 5' frame 3 A. pegreffü

TGCGCGATAGTGACTCTTCAACTGAGCCATTTGGCCATGTAATCCAGCTGAACTGT TTGGTAACTGAGAGGAACAATATGGCCTTCTACCATTACCTTTGCCTACTAGCATA ATCGTTTCTTCGATTGGTCCTTCTGGAATGTATTCAAGAGCTATCAAACGAGGACG ATGTGCTTCGATACCCATTGATGCACGATTCACTGCTATCATCAGCGGATACTCAC GCTCTATTTCTTTGCATCAGACGTGACACGAACTTTCACACAACCGCCTCGGAAT ATCTCCTCAACGTATTCGGCCACTTTCGGCGGAGACATCCGTTGCGGATCCGCAT CACCGATATCTCGACATACTGTGAAAGCAGCTTCGATCGTCTGAACGAGTCGCAG AAATTTACTCGCTTCATACGAAACAGGTAGCAATGCAAGTGCTGAAAGTTTTGTTT TCTGTTCACTTTCTTCGCGAACATTCAACGGTATATGTAGTTCGTGAAGTGCACCA AGCGCAGCCACCAGCTCGGCTTGTGGGGTATTTCTGGTGTGGTACTGTGACCAATA TTGGTGACTTCATGCCCGCACTCAACGCCAATTTCATCGCGTTACGGGCTGCAGTC GAGAATCTTCGCACGTCATCTTGATCGCGAGTCACGGGTCCAGTTCCCGAGTAAA CCAAACGACCTGACGGTACCACTGACTTGTCAACTACGATCAACGATGCGGTATT GTTCGCTCCAGCATTCAACTGAAGATATTCAGAGACAACGGGAGCGAGTGATTTC AGTGGAGCACATTCTGCGAGTTGCTTGGCACAGTACGAAACAACAATGACTCCGT CTGATGTAGGCTCTGATAACGATTTGGCCAAATCCAAAGGTGCTGAGAGAAGGCT GAAAACAACATCTNAAATTGTTTCAGGACAAA

>Leucine Aminopeptidase A. pegreffii Protein sequence

M K L A L S A G M K S PI L V T V P H Q K Y P Q A E L V A A LG A L H E L H I P L N V R E E S E Q K T K L S A L A L L P V S Y E A S K F L R L V Q T I E A A F T V C R D I G D A D P Q R M S P P K V A E Y V E E I F R G G C V K V R V T S D A K E I E R E Y P L M I A V N R A S M G I E A H R P R L I A L E Y I P E G P I E E T I M L V G K G N G R R P Y C S S Q L P N S S A G L H G Q Met A Q L K S H Y R A



Anisakis spp Leucine Aminopeptidase Sequence Electrophoregram

Supplementary Tables

#	Predicted protein Mass	Protein accession	Protein name	Mascot score	Peptide sequences
1	<u>(kDa)</u> 38307	Unigene8452_ AP1A	Fructose- bisphosphate aldolase 1	450	ALQASALAAWGGKK AQANSLAAQGK ATVTCLQR AAFMKR GIIPGIK KGIIPGIK VSHEDIAR IAHAIVAPGK QILFTSSDEASK RAQANSLAAQGK ITEAVLAYTYK KIAHAIVAPGK GILAADESTGSMDKK KLKPIGLENVEENRR LKPIGLENVEENRR TDDGTPFVQVLQKK
2	47148	Unigene2939_ AP1A	Enolase	1127	GMPLYK IAPAIVAK YDLDFK YNQLLR IQMAIDK AVANINDK NFTEAMR KYDLDFK IQMAIDKK YIAELAGVK ACDCLLLK ERIQMAIDK LAKYNQLLR KACDCLLLK KACDCLLLK ANGWGVMVSHR MGSEIYHHLK ERIQMAIDKK AGAVHKGMPLYK ADEKKYDLDFK GNPTVEVDLTTEK YDLDFKNPNSDK VNQIGSVTESIEAAK VSIAMDTAASEFYK IEEELGSAAVYAGEK LAMQEFMIMPIGAK KYDLDFKNPNSDK LAMQEFMIMPIGAK

 Table S1. Peptide sequences and Mascot score of IgE antibody reactive proteins identified in Excretory/Secretory product of A. pegreffü.

#	Predicte d protein Mass (kDa)	Protein accession	Protein name	Mascot score	Peptide sequences
1	32137	Unigene11859	Tropomyosin	800	ALOREDSYEEOIR
		AP1A	F)		ANTVESOLK
					AQEDLSTANSNLEEKEK
					DLADGKAK
					DNALDRADAAEEKVR
					EAQMLAEEADRK
					EAQMLAEEADRKYDEVAR
					EDSYEEQIR
					EVDRLEESKDLADGK
					IEEELRDTQKK
					IEKDNALDRADAAEEK
					IVELEEELR
					KLAMVEADLERAEER
					KVQEAEAEVAALNRR
					KYDEVAR
					LAMVEADLERAEER
					LATDKLEEATHTADESERVR
					LEEATHTADESER
					LERIEEELR
					MMQTENDLDK
					MTLLEEELER
					QMTDKLER
					SFQDEERANTVESQLK
					SLEVSEEK
					SVQKLQK
					VQEAEAEVAALNRR
					VRQMTDKLER

 Table S2. Peptide sequences and Mascot score of IgE antibody reactive proteins identified in Crude Extract of A. pegreffii.

Supplementary Tables

					~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~
2	47148	Unigene2939_A	Enolase	1011	GMPLYK
		P1A			IAPAIVAK
					YDLDFK
					YNQLLR
					IQMAIDK
					AVANINDK
					NFTEAMR
					KYDLDFK
					IQMAIDKK
					YIAELAGVK
					ACDCLLLK
					LAKYNQLLR
					KACDCLLLK
					MGSEIYHHLK
					ADEKKYDLDFK
					GNPTVEVDLTTEK
					YDLDFKNPNSDK
					DGDKAVNHGKSVLK
					VNQIGSVTESIEAAK
					IEEELGSAAVYAGEK
					KYDLDFKNPNSDK
					AVANINDKIAPAIVAK
					LAMQEFMIMPIGAK
					VSIAMDTAASEFYK
					ERIQMAIDKK
					ANGWGVMVSHR
					AGAVHKGMPLYK
					EIDQFMLDMDGTANK
					EGLDLLNTAIALAGYTGK
					-